

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI CATANIA

International PhD in Translational Biomedicine

XXXIV cycle

AN EPIDEMIOLOGICAL APPROACH TO STUDY THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN GENOME, EPIGENOME AND EXPOSOME IN WOMEN

PhD Thesis Roberta Magnano San Lio

PhD coordinator Prof. Lorenzo Malatino PhD tutor Prof.ssa Antonella Agodi

Academic year 2020-21

Table of Contents

List of publications	
Acknowledgments	10
Abbreviations	11
1. Introduction	
1.1 The relationship between genome and exposome	
1.2 Biomarkers	
1.2.1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms	
1.2.2 Epigenetic biomarkers	
1.2.3 Biomarkers of aging	
1.3 The Predictive, Preventive, Personalized and Participatory Medicine	19
1.4 The determinants of health	
1.4.1 The social determinants of health	21
1.4.2 The environmental determinants of health	
1.4.3 The determinants of health for women during the reproductive age	
1.5 Pregnancy	
1.5.1 Pregnancy and adverse outcomes	
1.5.2 Lifestyles and pregnancy	
1.5.3 The relationship between exposome, genome and epigenome during pregnancy	
1.6 The female cancers	
1.6.1 Breast cancer	
1.6.2 Cervical cancer	
1.7 Rationale and specific aims	32
2. The main determinants of adherence to the Mediterranean diet: a cross-sectional study in he women	ealthy 39
2.1 Background	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Study Design	
2.2.2 Data Collection	40
2.2.3 Dietary Assessment	
2.2.4 Mediterranean Diet Score	
2.2.5 Statistical Analysis	
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Characteristics of Study Population	
2.3.2 Determinants of Ideal Consumption of Cereals, Fruits and Vegetables, Legumes and	Fish. 42
2.3.3 Determinants of Ideal Consumption of Meat, Dairy Products, Alcohol and Lipids	43

2.4 Discussion 44 3. The effect of lifestyles on LINE-1 methylation levels: a cross-sectional study in healthy women 50 3.1 Background 50 3.2. Methods 51 3.2.1 Study design 51 3.2.2 Dietary assessment. 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dictary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dictary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.3 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Coloeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Behavioral data collection. 70 4.3.4 Sociacion between ducati	2.3.4 Determinants of Adherence to Mediterranean Diet	43
3. The effect of lifestyles on LINE-1 methylation levels: a cross-sectional study in healthy women 50 3.1 Background 50 3.2. Methods 51 3.2.1 Study design 51 3.2.2 Dictary assessment 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 53 3.3.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dictary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dictary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioceconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 71 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 72 4.3 Results 72 4.3 LINE-1 methylation 72	2.4 Discussion	44
3.1 Background 50 3.2. Methods 51 3.2.1 Study design 51 3.2.2 Dietary assessment 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 53 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.2 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 72 4.3.1 Study population	3. The effect of lifestyles on LINE-1 methylation levels: a cross-sectional study in healthy women	50
3.2. Methods 51 3.2.1 Study design 51 3.2.2 Dietary assessment 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 53 3.3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 71 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 72 4.3.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 <tr< th=""><th>3.1 Background</th><th> 50</th></tr<>	3.1 Background	50
3.2.1 Study design 51 3.2.2 Dietary assessment 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.3 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.3.4 Sociation between in LINE-1 methylation 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 72 4.3.3 Association between elucational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 The effects of behavio	3.2. Methods	51
3.2.2 Dietary assessment 52 3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 72 4.3 Results 72 4.3 Results 72 4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73	3.2.1 Study design	51
3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis 52 3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 72 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation between in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.6 Socioaconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 72 4.3.7 Subjection between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation	3.2.2 Dietary assessment	52
3.2.4 Statistical analysis 53 3.3 Results 54 3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 71 4.3.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3 Benavioral data collection 72 4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 Study population 72 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4.4 LINE-1 methylation 73	3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis	52
3.3 Results543.3.1 Study population543.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population543.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation553.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation553.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories563.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation563.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation563.4 Discussion574. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1694.1 Background694.2 Methods704.2.1 Study design704.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment704.2.3 Behavioral data collection714.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.3.1 Study population724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	3.2.4 Statistical analysis	53
3.3.1 Study population 54 3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 73 5.2 Methods 81	3.3 Results	54
3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population 54 3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 74 5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy 79 5.1 Background 79	3.3.1 Study population	54
3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.2.5 Statistical analysis 71 4.3 Results. 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 74 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population	54
3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation 55 3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment. 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.2.5 Statistical analysis 71 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 72 4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 74 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation	55
3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories 56 3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3.5 Statistical analysis 71 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.6 In the effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.7 Mediation analysis 73 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation	55
3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation 56 3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.6 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.7 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.8 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.9 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 74 5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy 79	3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories	56
3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation 56 3.4 Discussion 57 4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.3.5 Statistical analysis 71 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.6 Succession 74 5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy 79 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation	56
3.4 Discussion574. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level694.1 Background694.2 Methods704.2.1 Study design704.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment704.2.3 Behavioral data collection704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.2 Methods81	3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation	56
4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 69 4.1 Background 69 4.2 Methods 70 4.2.1 Study design 70 4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment 70 4.2.3 Behavioral data collection 70 4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis 71 4.2.5 Statistical analysis 71 4.3 Results 72 4.3.1 Study population 72 4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation 72 4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.6 Subject 73 4.3.7 Mediation analysis 73 4.3.8 Sociation between educational level and behaviors 73 4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation 73 4.3.5 Mediation analysis 73 4.4 Discussion 74 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	3.4 Discussion	57
4.1 Background694.2 Methods704.2.1 Study design704.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment704.2.3 Behavioral data collection704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.2.6 Statistical analysis724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE- methylation level	1 69
4.2 Methods704.2.1 Study design704.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment704.2.3 Behavioral data collection704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.2.6 Statistical analysis724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.2 Methods81	4.1 Background	69
4.2.1 Study design704.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment704.2.3 Behavioral data collection704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.2.6 Statistical analysis714.3 Results724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.2 Methods	70
4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment.704.2.3 Behavioral data collection.704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis.714.2.5 Statistical analysis.714.3.6 Sexults.724.3.1 Study population.724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation.724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation.734.3.5 Mediation analysis.734.4 Discussion.745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy.795.1 Background.795.2 Methods.81	4.2.1 Study design	70
4.2.3 Behavioral data collection704.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.3 Results724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.2 Methods81	4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment	70
4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis714.2.5 Statistical analysis714.3 Results724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.2.3 Behavioral data collection	70
4.2.5 Statistical analysis714.3 Results724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.2 Methods81	4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis	71
4.3 Results724.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.2.5 Statistical analysis	71
4.3.1 Study population724.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.3 Results	72
4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation724.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.3.1 Study population	72
4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors734.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation	72
4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation734.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors	73
4.3.5 Mediation analysis734.4 Discussion745. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy795.1 Background795.2 Methods81	4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation	73
4.4 Discussion 74 5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy 79 5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	4.3.5 Mediation analysis	73
5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy	4.4 Discussion	74
5.1 Background 79 5.2 Methods 81	5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy	79
5.2 Methods	5.1 Background	79
	5.2 Methods	81

5.2.1 Study design	81
5.2.2 Data collection	81
5.2.3 Assessment of dietary data and dietary patterns	82
5.2.4 Use of folic acid supplements	83
5.2.5 Neonatal outcomes	83
5.2.6 Statistical analysis	83
5.3 Results	84
5.3.1 Dietary folate intake among pregnant women	84
5.3.2 Use of folic acid supplements	84
5.3.3 Determinants of folic acid supplement use among women with inadequate folate intake	85
5.3.4 Use of supplements and neonatal outcomes	85
5.3.5 Dietary patterns among pregnant women	85
5.3.6 The association of socio-demographic characteristics and lifestyle with dietary patterns	86
5.3.7 Vaccination choice among women	86
5.3.8 Vaccination choice among children	87
5.3.9 Association between age and vaccination choice	87
5.4 Discussion	88
6. The effect of dietary habits on pregnancy outcomes	. 101
6.1 Background	. 101
6.2 Methods	. 101
6.2.1 Study design	. 101
6.2.2 Definitions of pre-pregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain	. 102
6.2.3. Assessment of Dietary patterns	. 102
6.2.5. Statistical analysis	. 102
6.3 Results	. 103
6.3.1 Characteristics of the study population	. 103
6.3.2. Dietary patterns and pre-pregnancy body mass index	. 103
6.3.3. Dietary patterns and gestational weight gain	. 104
6.4 Discussions	. 104
7. The effect of genetic variants on pregnancy outcomes	. 111
7.1 Background	. 111
7.2 Methods	. 113
7.2.1 Study design	. 113
7.2.2 VDR genotyping	. 113
7.2.3 Assessment of vitamin D intake	. 113
7.2.4 Statistical analyses	. 114
7.2.5 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Search strategy	. 114
	4

7.2.6 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Selection criteria	
7.2.7 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Study selection and data extraction	115
7.2.8 Procedures of meta-analysis	115
7.3 Results	115
7.3.1 "Mamma & Bambino" cohort	115
7.3.2 Systematic review: study characteristics	116
7.3.3 Systematic review: VDR polymorphisms and neonatal anthropometric measures	117
7.3.4 Systematic review: VDR polymorphisms and PTB risk	117
7.3.5 Meta-analyses of the association between VDR polymorphisms and PTB risk	118
7.4 Discussion	119
8. The effects of dietary factors on telomere length	129
8.1 Background	129
8.2 Methods	130
8.2.1 Study design	130
8.2.2 Data collection	130
8.2.3 DNA extraction and relative telomere length assessment	131
8.2.4 Estimation of statistical power	132
8.2.5 Statistical analyses	132
8.2.6 Systematic review: search strategy	133
8.2.7 Systematic review: study selection	133
8.2.8 Systematic review: data extraction	133
8.3 Results	133
8.3.1 Characteristics of the study population	133
8.3.2 The relationship between relative telomere intake and nutrient intakes	134
8.3.3 The association of magnesium intake with relative telomere length	134
8.3.4 Pilot study	134
8.3.5 Systematic review: selection of the studies	135
8.3.6 Systematic review: study characteristics	135
8.3.7 Systematic review: Telomere length in patients with alcohol-related disorders	135
8.3.8 Systematic review: Alcohol consumption and telomere length	136
8.4 Discussion	136
9. The relationship between telomere length and adverse pregnancy outcomes	141
9.1 Background	141
9.2 Methods	142
9.2.1 Study design	142
9.2.2 Assessment of Gestational Weight Gain	142
9.2.3 Covariate Ascertainment	142

9.2.4 DNA extraction	143
9.2.5 Relative telomere length	143
9.2.6 Statistical analysis	143
9.3 Results	144
9.3.1 Characteristics of study population	144
9.3.2 Relationships of telomere length with maternal characteristics	144
9.3.3 Relationships between gestational weight gain and telomere length	145
9.4 Discussion	145
10. The main determinants of adherence to breastfeeding practice and their impact on DNA methylation signatures	151
10.1 Background	. 151
10.2 Methods	. 152
10.2.1 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": study design	152
10.2.2 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": data collection	152
10.2.3 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": statistical analyses	153
10.2.4 The HELIX project: study design	154
10.2.5 The HELIX project: exposure and DNA methylation assessment	. 154
10.2.6 The HELIX project: statistical analysis	155
10.3 Results	155
10.3.1 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": characteristics of study population	. 155
10.3.2 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": association between maternal characteristics and breastfeeding status	155
10.3.3 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": association between maternal characteristics and adherence to breastfeeding recommendations	156
10.3.4 The HELIX project: study population	156
10.3.5 The HELIX project: major determinants of breastfeeding	156
10.3.6 The HELIX project: association between breastfeeding and DNA methylation	157
10.4 Discussion	157
11. The effects of antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet on the risk of HPV infection and cervical cancer	166
11.1 Background	166
11.2 Methods	167
11.2.1 Study design	167
11.2.2 Data collection	167
11.2.3 Dietary assessment	168
11.2.4 Statistical analyses	169
11.3 Results	169
11.3.1 Study population	169

11.3.2 Intake of foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential	170
11.3.3 Composite dietary antioxidant index	170
11.3.4 Dietary inflammatory index	170
11.3.5 The associations of dietary antioxidant and inflammatory indexes with cervical canc	er 170
11.3.6 Dietary intake of antioxidants according to HPV status	171
11.3.7 Population characteristics according to the Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index	171
11.3.8 Association of Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index with HPV status	172
11.4 Discussion	172
12. Dietary interventions effective for improving the quality of life of breast cancer survivors	183
12.1 Background	183
12.2 Methods	184
12.2.1 Cross-sectional study: study population	184
12.2.2 Cross-sectional study: dietary assessment	184
12.2.3 Cross-sectional study: assessment of Quality of Life	184
12.2.4 Cross-sectional study: statistical analyses	185
12.2.5 Systematic review: literature search and study selection	185
12.2.6 Systematic review: data extraction	185
12.2.7 Systematic review: risk of bias assessment	185
12.3 Results	186
12.3.1 Cross-sectional study: study population and Quality of Life	186
12.3.2 Cross-sectional study: Mediterranean Diet and Quality of Life	186
12.3.3 Cross-sectional study: physical activity and Quality of Life	187
12.3.4 Cross-sectional study: weight status and Quality of Life	187
12.3.5 Systematic review: principal findings	187
12.4 Discussion	189
13. Discussion and Conclusions	193
14. References	206

List of publications

This PhD thesis is based on the following original publications:

- Barchitta M, Maugeri A, La Rosa MC, Magnano San Lio R, Favara G, Panella M, Cianci A, Agodi A. Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Vitamin D Receptor Gene Affect Birth Weight and the Risk of Preterm Birth: Results From the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort and A Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2018 Aug 27;10(9). pii: E1172. doi: 10.3390/nu10091172. PubMed PMID: 30150529; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6164379.
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Agrifoglio O, Favara G, La Mastra C, La Rosa MC, Magnano San Lio R, Panella M, Cianci A, Agodi A. The impact of social determinants and lifestyles on dietary patterns during pregnancy: evidence from the "Mamma & Bambino" study. Ann Ig. 2019 Mar-Apr;31(2 Supple 1):81-89. doi: 10.7416/ai.2019.2280. PubMed PMID: 30994167.
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Favara G, La Rosa MC, La Mastra C, Magnano San Lio R, Agodi A. Maternal Dietary Patterns Are Associated with Pre-Pregnancy Body Mass Index and Gestational Weight Gain: Results from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort. Nutrients. 2019 Jun 10;11(6). pii: E1308. doi: 10.3390/nu11061308. PubMed PMID: 31185656; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6627583.
- 4. Barchitta M, Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, Favara G, La Rosa MC, La Mastra C, Quattrocchi A, Agodi A. Dietary Patterns are Associated with Leukocyte LINE-1 Methylation in Women: A Cross-Sectional Study in Southern Italy. Nutrients. 2019 Aug 9;11(8). pii: E1843. doi: 10.3390/nu11081843. PubMed PMID: 31395820; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6722720
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Fiore V, Rosta G, Favara G, La Mastra C, La Rosa MC, Magnano San Lio R, Agodi A. Determinants of Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet: Findings from a Cross-Sectional Study in Women from Southern Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019 Aug 17;16(16). pii: E2963. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16162963. PubMed PMID: 31426512; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6720012.
- Barchitta M, Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, Favara G, La Mastra C, La Rosa MC, Agodi A. Dietary Folate Intake and Folic Acid Supplements among Pregnant Women from Southern Italy: Evidence from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Jan 19;17(2):638. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17020638. PMID: 31963813; PMCID: PMC7013905.
- Barchitta M, Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, Quattrocchi A, Degrassi F, Catalano F, Basile
 G, Agodi A. The Effects of Diet and Dietary Interventions on the Quality of Life among

Breast Cancer Survivors: A Cross-Sectional Analysis and a Systematic Review of Experimental Studies. Cancers (Basel). 2020 Jan 30;12(2):322. doi: 10.3390/cancers12020322. PMID: 32019093; PMCID: PMC7072135.

- Barchitta M, Maugeri A, La Mastra C, Rosa MC, Favara G, Lio RMS, Agodi A.Dietary Antioxidant Intake and Human Papillomavirus Infection: Evidence from a Cross-Sectional Study in Italy. Nutrients. 2020 May 12;12(5): E1384. doi: 10.3390/nu12051384.
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Magnano San Lio R, Favara G, La Rosa MC, La Mastra C, Basile G, Agodi A. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet partially mediates socioeconomic differences in leukocyte LINE-1 methylation: evidence from a cross-sectional study in Italian women. Sci Rep. 2020 Sep 1;10(1):14360. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-71352-9. PMID: 32873815; PMCID: PMC7463235
- Magnano San Lio R, Maugeri A, La Rosa MC, Cianci A, Panella M, Giunta G, Agodi A, Barchitta M. The Impact of Socio-Demographic Factors on Breastfeeding: Findings from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021 Jan 24;57(2):103. doi: 10.3390/medicina57020103. PMID: 33498814; PMCID: PMC7912184.
- Barchitta M, Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, La Rosa MC, La Mastra C, Favara G, Giunta G, Cianci A, Agodi A. Vaccination Status of Mothers and Children from the 'Mamma & Bambino' Cohort. Vaccines (Basel). 2021 Feb 17;9(2):168. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9020168. PMID: 33671412; PMCID: PMC7921954.
- 12. Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Magnano San Lio R, Scalisi A, Agodi A. Antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet among women at risk of cervical cancer: findings from a cross-sectional study in Italy. Public Health Nutr. 2021 May 7:1-9. doi: 10.1017/S1368980021001944. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 33958013.
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Magnano San Lio R, La Rosa MC, La Mastra C, Favara G, Ferlito M, Giunta G, Panella M, Cianci A, Agodi A. The Effect of Alcohol on Telomere Length: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological Evidence and a Pilot Study during Pregnancy. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 May 10;18(9):5038. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18095038. PMID: 34068820; PMCID: PMC8126216.
- Maugeri A, Barchitta M, Magnano San Lio R, Favara G, La Mastra C, La Rosa MC, Agodi A. The relationship between body mass index, obesity and LINE-1 methylation: a crosssectional study on women from Southern Italy.
- 15. Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, La Rosa MC, Giunta G, Panella M, Cianci C, Caruso M, Agodi A, Barchitta M. The relationship between telomere length and gestational weight gain: findings from the Mamma &Bambino cohort.

16. Maugeri A, Magnano San Lio R, La Rosa MC, Giunta G, Panella M, Cianci C, Caruso M, Agodi A, Barchitta M. The effect of nutrient intake on telomere length of cell-free circulating DNA from amniotic fluid: findings from the Mamma & Bambino cohort. *Submitted.*

The publications have been adapted with the permission of the copyright owners.

Acknowledgments

The research was carried out at the Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences and Advanced Technologies GF Ingrassia, University of Catania (Catania, Italy) in collaboration with the Obstetrics and Gynecology Unit, Department of General Surgery and Medical Surgical Specialties, University of Catania (Catania, Italy), the Cytogenetic laboratory, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Policlinico "G.Rodolico - San Marco" (Catania, Italy) and the Barcelona Institute for Global Health, ISGlobal (Barcelona, Spain).

The research activities were supported by Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences and Advanced Technologies GF Ingrassia, University of Catania (Piano triennale di sviluppo delle attività di ricerca scientifica del Dipartimento - 2016-18 and Linea di intervento 2 - PIAno di inCEntivi per la RIcerca di Ateneo 2020/2022).

Abbreviations

5mC	5-Methyl-cytosines
ACS	American Cancer Society
AFAR	American Federation for Aging Research
AGA	Adequate for gestational age
ANC	Antenatal care
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BiB	(The) Born in Bradford (study)
BMI	Body mass index
CDAI	Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index
cfDNA	Cell-free circulating fetal DNA
CI	Confidence interval
CIN	Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
CpG	Cphosphate—G
DII	Dietary Inflammatory Index
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
DOHaD	Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (hypothesis)
DTaP	Diphtheria – Tetanus – and acellular Pertussis
EDEN	Etude de cohorte généraliste, menée en France sur les Déterminants pré et post natals
	précoces du développement psychomoteur et de la santé de l'Enfant
ELBW	Extremely low-birth weight
EORIC	European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality-of-Life
QLQ-C30	Questionnaire-Core 50
	Epigenome-wide association study
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization
rrų CDM	Costational diabates mallitus
GDM	Genome Wide Association Study
GWG	Gestational weight gain
HELIX	Human Farly-Life Exposome (study)
HGP	Human Genome Project
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA-E	Human Leucocyte Antigen E
HPV	Human Papilloma Virus
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
INMA	Infancia v Medio Ambiente (cohort)
IOM	Institute of Medicine
IPAO	International Physical Activity Questionnaire
IOR	Interquartile range
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
KANK	Kaunas cohort

LBW	Low-birth weight
LGA	Large for gestational age
LINE	Long Interspersed Nuclear Element
MD	Mediterranean Diet
MDS	Mediterranean Diet Score
mlDNA	Maternal leucocyte DNA
MMR	Measles – Mumps - Rubella
MoBa	(The) Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acid
NIH	National Institute of Health
NK	Natural killer (cells)
OR	Odds ratio
ORF	Open reading frame
PCA	Principal component analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PE	Preeclampsia
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
РТВ	Pre-term birth
PUFA	Polyinsatured fatty acid
QLQ-BR23	Quality of Life Questionnaire Breast Cancer Module 23
QoL	Quality of life
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristic (curve)
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SD	Standard deviation
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SE	Standard error
SES	Socioeconomic status
SGA	Small for gestational age
SINE	Short Interspersed Nuclear Element
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
USDA	U.S. Department of Agriculture
UTR	Untranslated Region
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE	Vitamin D receptor elements
VLBW	Very-low birth weight
VPD	Vaccine-preventable disease
WHO	World Health Organization

1. Introduction

1.1 The relationship between genome and exposome

From Mendel's discovery of trait inheritance models to the identification of DNA as the genetic material [1], genetics grew as a field of biology in the 1900s. In the mid to late 1970s [2], the development of sequencing technologies allowed to sequence the first genes [3] and genomes [4]. In the early 2000s, the identification of the first human genome by the Human Genome Project (HGP) represented a great scientific achievement, a turning point for human genetics and a starting point for human genomics [5]. Following the first human genome sequencing [6, 7], several projects - such as the Personal Genome Project - were proposed to take genomics into the medical field for personalized healthcare [8], with the aim to identify genetic factors involved in several disease etiology. In 2005, the development of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) started solidifying genomics into an understanding of disease at genome level [9], including larger cohorts for evaluating neurological [10], cardiovascular [11], metabolic [12], renal [13], hepatic [14], and reproductive factors [15] over time.

In parallel with the concept of the genome, the terms "exposome" has been coined to address chronic human health issues in a broader perspective [16, 17]. In 2005, Christopher Wild firstly introduced the concept of the exposome, which comprises all environmental exposures across the lifetime. Thus, the exposome is defined as the totality of exposure that individuals experience from conception until death and its impact on chronic diseases [18]. Exposure is a generic term that includes toxicants in the environment, diet, other lifestyles and socio-economic characteristics [19]. In general, the exposome includes: i) internal factors, ii) specific external factors, and iii) general external factors, which are overlapping and intertwining with each other. Internal factors include all internal biological factors such as age, metabolic factors, gut microflora, inflammation, oxidative stress. Specific external factors regard contaminants such as diet and tobacco, as well as physical, biological, and physiological exposures. The third domain includes social factors such as education level and socioeconomic status, as well as urban environment and climate [20] (**Figure 1**).

The definition of the exposome was further expanded by Miller and Jones as "the cumulative measure of environmental influences and associated biological responses throughout the lifespan, including exposures from the environment, diet, behavior, and endogenous processes" [16].

As such, in epidemiology the exposome approach is considered and presented as highly innovative [21]. Since the research suggests that environmental exposures have a greater impact on health and disease than genetic factors alone, an integrated approach is necessary to understand the relationship between genome, exposome and human health [22]. In fact, the low penetrance of genetic variants

— as opposed to their high prevalence — implies that their contribution to disease burden is crucially linked to the presence of some exposures. Conceptually, the exposome lies in a two-fold relation with the genome. On the one hand, the innovations of genome-sequencing are continually mentioned in discussions on the exposome. On the other hand, the idea of the exposome as the necessary complement of the genome puts it into a critical position, underlying the need for new and different approaches [23]. However, tools that could integrate the genome and exposome for complex trait analyses are currently scarce.

Technologies such as omics, sensors, and geographic information are allowing for a more comprehensive understanding of the exposome, which is dynamic, as opposed to the static genome [16]. To a large extent, the exposome aims to move the developments of the omic techniques to epidemiological research, trying to get a similar level of precision in measuring the exposures and their effects on human health [22].

1.2 Biomarkers

In 1998, the lack of agreement on the term "biomarker" led the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to define biomarkers as those "characteristics that are objectively measured and evaluated as indicators of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention" [24]. Next, the word "genotype" was added to the definition, indicating how the focus of the research has changed since 2001. Furthermore, the World Health Organization (WHO) has stated that an accurate definition of biomarkers includes "almost any measurement reflecting an interaction between a biological system and a potential hazard, which may be chemical, physical, or biological. The measured response may be functional and physiological, biochemical at the cellular level, or a molecular interaction" [25]. In fact, a common objective of studies on biomarkers is to investigate the association between an exposure (e.g., a hypothesized risk factor for a disease) and the risk of disease or, more generally, of any health outcome [26]. However, an even broader definition takes into account not just incidence and outcome of disease, but also the effects of treatments. For these reasons, an ideal biomarker would be highly sensitive and specific, with biologic plausibility and capability of being easily measured and rapidly reported. According to the Dictionary of Epidemiology, a biomarker - or biological marker - is "a cellular, biochemical, or molecular indicator of exposure, biological, subclinical, or clinical effects, or of possible susceptibility". Specifically, a biomarker of exposure is an exogenous substance or its metabolite that is measured in a compartment within an organism to confirm and assess the exposure of individuals or populations to a particular substance [27]. Differently from biomarkers of exposure, a biomarker of effect is a biochemical, physiological, behavioral, or other measurable

alteration within an organism that can be recognized as associated with an established or possible disease [27]. Thus, the linkage of biomarkers between the exposure and its effects contributes to the definition the so-called dose-response relationships. In addition to the above-mentioned, a biomarker of susceptibility is an indicator of pre-existing genetic factors regardless of exposure, but which may affect the probability of disease development as a result of exposure [27]. In the context of the gene-environment interaction, genetic variants assume the role of effect modulators determining an increase (susceptibility) or a decrease (protection) of the strength of the interaction. Particularly, several genetic variants are potentially considered to be responsible for disease susceptibility [28].

In addition to these biomarkers, epigenetic biomarkers are considered as emerging tools for the early detection of various diseases, for prognostic and treatment monitoring, and for predicting the risk of future diseases in a personalized medicine perspective [29]. Epigenetic modifications involve the interplay between DNA methylation, histone modification and micro-RNA expression in modulating gene expression and, in turn, the risk of several diseases (e.g., cardiovascular diseases, obesity, type-2 diabetes and cancer) [30-32]. More recently, several lines of evidence proposed that biological aging is reflected by highly reproducible DNA methylation changes at specific sites in the genome, suggesting a panel of DNA methylation-based biomarkers of aging that characterize the so-called "epigenetic age". Additionally, telomere length represents a promising biomarker for biological aging and age-related diseases, suggesting how shorter telomeres are associated with diabetes [33], cancer [34] and cardiovascular disease [35] in adults. In this scenario, quantitative biomarkers of aging can be considered as valuable tools to measure physiological age and to potentially improve human health, preventing age-associated diseases [36].

1.2.1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

In 2006, it has been introduced the concept of "Genomic Biomarker", which is defined as a DNA or RNA characteristic that is an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, and/or response to therapeutic or other intervention. Robust and reproducible accessible genomic biomarkers are of diagnostic value and may lead to the identification of causal factors. They could be used for the diagnosis of a disease, as well as to guide molecularly targeted therapy and to personalise regimens [37]. Therefore, a genomic biomarker should reflect the expression, the function, and the regulation of gene activity. With respect to DNA characteristics, the following should certainly be considered: single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), variability of short sequence repeats, DNA modification, insertions/deletions, copy number variation and cytogenetic rearrangements. Nowadays, SNPs are largely the easiest to ascertain, and the most applied markers

in genetic studies because of their high prevalence in the genome and their amenability to automated analyses [38]. Particularly, SNPs are gene variations occurring approximately every 500–1000 base pairs. They can occur in noncoding regions of the genome, as well as in genes (both exons and introns), with a frequency of at least 1%. Depending on the potential application, SNP markers might be selected outside of exons or the direct cause of a genetic mutation [39].

Recently, it has been suggested that SNPs can be used as biological markers to identify and map common diseases such as high blood pressure, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, which in turn are caused by the interplay of genetic and non-genetic factors [40]. Accordingly, genetic variants could determine a different answer to an environmental exposure, resulting in the development of several diseases. For this reason, new technologies and computational approaches are being studied to tease out the gene and environment interactions that underpin disease. Thus, studies on gene–environment interaction are required to improve accuracy and precision in the assessment of both genetic and environmental influences [41].

1.2.2 Epigenetic biomarkers

Epigenetics mechanisms - including DNA methylation, histone modifications, histone variants, chromatin remodelling and non-coding RNAs - can be defined as hereditary modifications that influence gene expression and the phenotype without changing the genotype. These molecular processes characterize the epigenome, which is dynamic in response to environmental signs, modifiable during cell differentiation and heritable in daughter cells [42].

Nowadays, an epigenetic biomarker could be redefined as "any epigenetic mark or altered epigenetic mechanism which is stable and reproducible during sample processing and can be measured in the body fluids or primary types of tissue preparations (i) that predicts risk of future disease development; (ii) defines a disease; (iii) reveals information about natural history of disease (iv) predicts the outcome of disease; (v) responds to therapy; and (vi) monitors responses to therapy or medication, and and/or (vii) allows simultaneously conduction of diagnosis and targeted therapy (theragnosis)"[29]. Moreover, compared to a genetic biomarker, an epigenetic biomarker can provide relevant information about the gene function in individual cell types, as well as on the effects of the environment and lifestyle [43].

DNA methylation- known as the covalent addition of a methyl group to the C-5 position of cytosine to form 5-methylcytosine (5mC) - is one of the most investigated epigenetic mechanisms. DNA methylation almost exclusively occurs within CpG islands – short sequences that typically contain about 5-10 CpG dinucleotides per 100 bp [44]. In humans, approximately 60% promoters include CpG islands and ~90% of them is unmethylated [45]. However, up to 80% CpG dinucleotides occur

in repetitive sequences scattered throughout the genome [46], such as Long Interspersed Nuclear Elements (LINEs), disrupting gene expression and eventually leading to genomic instability. In mammals, DNA methylation is regulated by the activity of three DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs): while DNMT1 has a maintenance role, DNMT3a and 3b are de novo methylases. To protect from this potential deleterious effect, DNMT1 works to maintain these sequences highly methylated [47, 48]. DNMTs functions are associated with several key physiological processes, including genomic imprinting, X-chromosome inactivation, regulation of gene expression, maintenance of chromosome integrity through chromatin modulation, DNA stabilization and DNAprotein interactions [49]. Dysregulation of DNA methylation is implicated in the pathogenesis of numerous diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases, obesity, type-2 diabetes, and cancer [30-32]. Nowadays, methylation levels can be assessed through global and gene-specific DNA methylation approaches. Gene-specific DNA methylation refers to methylation level of specific gene, whereas global DNA methylation refers to the average methylation status that occurs across the whole genome [50]. As Long Interspersed Nuclear Element-1 (LINE-1) constitutes approximately 17% of the human genome, LINE-1 methylation is considered as a surrogate marker of global DNA methylation [51]. Specifically, LINE-1 elements are retrotransposons capable of independent and autonomous retro-transposition via RNA intermediate. LINE-1 sequence consists of a 5' untranslated region (UTR), a 3'UTR containing a polyadenylation signal and 2 Open Reading Frames (ORF1 and ORF2) encoding an endonuclease and a protein machinery for retrotransposition [52]. Interestingly, LINE-1 is amplified to more than 500,000 copies and occurs in a truncated form on both homologous chromosomes in the human genome [46]. Even if only a restricted proportion of LINE-1 sequences exists in a potentially active form, accumulating evidence suggests their important role in various processes. In fact, LINE-1 can continuously rearrange the genome and influence gene expression, inducing genetic variations and polymorphisms through the recombination and rearrangement [53]. Although LINE-1 methylation is not universally accepted as a solid marker of global methylation, aberrant methylation of these sequences was associated with cancer, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases [54-56].

1.2.3 Biomarkers of aging

The aging phenotype can be described as a complex mosaic resulting from the interplay of environmental, genetic, and epigenetic events during lifetime [57, 58]. Human aging is currently defined as a dynamic process involving the recurrent adaptation to internal and external stressors [59]. Despite its enormous complexity, a slight number of molecular mechanisms underpin the aging process, which represents an important risk factor for many non-communicable diseases [36].

Given its complex nature, biomarkers of aging are multifaceted. Following the guidelines of The American Federation for Aging Research (AFAR), a biomarker of aging should predict the rate of aging and monitor the process that underlies the aging progression, not the effects of disease [60, 61]. Moreover, a biomarker of aging should be minimally invasive and reproducible without harm to human subjects and testable in both laboratory animals and humans.

In general, measurable biomarkers could be classified into the following hallmarks of aging: genomic instability [62-65], telomere attrition [66, 67], epigenetic alterations [68-74], loss of proteostasis [75, 76], mitochondrial dysfunction [77, 78], cellular senescence [79-82], deregulated nutrient-sensing [83, 84], steam cell exhaustion [85] and altered intercellular communication [86, 87].

Telomeres of vertebrates are repetitive (TTAGGG)n sequences at the ends of chromosomes that progressively shorten with cell division [88]. Shorter telomere length in leukocytes has been associated with aging [89] and age-related diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases [35], cancer [34], and neurological disorders [90]. The advantages of using telomere length as a biomarker of aging include its correlation with chronological age throughout lifetime, the predictive power for disease condition and mortality, and the huge responsiveness to exposures [91]. However, its compliance with the first two criteria is rather questionable [92]. Nevertheless, despite this uncertainty, telomere length currently remains one of the most widely used biomarker of aging in epidemiological studies, and a potential biomarker in personalized medicine [93].

With respect to epigenetic alterations, several lines of evidence have demonstrated substantial DNA methylation changes that occur with aging [94-96]. In normal tissues, CpG islands methylation within gene promoters rises with aging, while global DNA methylation levels decrease [60, 96, 97]. Interestingly, some of these changes might be associated with higher risk for various diseases, including cancer [55, 98-103].

During the last decades, several biomarkers have been proposed to improve the measure of biological aging compared to conventional chronological age [104, 105]. Accordingly, the analysis of methylation profiles outlined a panel of DNA methylation-based biomarkers of aging that characterize the so-called "epigenetic age" of an individual. Epigenetic age is a strong biomarker for aging, even if it is unclear as to what age-related biological process it is measuring [106]. Various age-predictors used methylation measures from CpG sites across the genome to predict chronological age in humans [68, 69]. For instance, Horvath and colleagues developed an age predictor index - named "epigenetic clock" - based on the DNA methylation levels of 353 CpG sites, summarizing the most important DNA methylation-based age estimators [69]. Horvath and

colleagues presented the first multi-tissue epigenetic age estimator, trained on 8000 microarray profiles of different tissue and cell types from children and adults, to overcome the Hannum's algorithm based on whole blood from adults [68]. Next, Levine and colleagues developed the DNAm PhenoAge based on 513 CpG sites, with the aim to predict mortality, risk for cardiovascular disease, and numerous indexes of multimorbidity [71]. Finally, Weidner and colleagues presented an epigenetic age estimator, based only on three CpG sites, that might predict chronological age with an absolute deviation of less than 5 years [107]. Hence, a positive difference between epigenetic age and chronological age has been identified as a measure of accelerated "biological" aging that is associated with the risk of obesity, age-related diseases, several cancers and all- cause of mortality in later life[108].

1.3 The Predictive, Preventive, Personalized and Participatory Medicine

As stated by the physician Caleb Parry in the 18th century: "It is much more important to know what kind of patient has a disease than to know what kind of disease a patient has". The concept of Personalized Medicine, embracing the concept of "right medicine, right patient, right time," has been around at least since the late 1990s. Then, results reached by the Human Genome Project have changed and improved the biomedical research towards the development of treatments tailored to specific genomic profiles and the proposal of targeted therapies for specific individual genetic variations [109]. In recent years, huge advances have been made in developing a wide range of biomedical technologies, which have enhanced the description of several diseases. In this scenario, the idea of medicine as Predictive, Preventive, Personalized and Participatory ('P4') has long been encouraged by Leroy Hood and other pioneers of systems medicine, that is the application of systems biology to the challenge of human disease [110-112]. P4 medicine proposes the integration of numerous aspects of biological data, including molecular, cellular, and phenotypical measurements, as well as genome sequences of individuals [113, 114]. In fact, with the implementation of high-performance technology, data are gathered on multiple levels and regard genomic, transcriptomic, proteomic, metabonomic and interactomic information (-omics). An integrative analysis of these multiple omics data may lead to a systematic evaluation of the patient to find a personalized and an applicable health approach. In this way, from a clinical point of view, the implementation of the P4 medicine aims to create predictive and personalized models for better defining the wellbeing of every patient, predicting transitions to illness, and orienting medical interventions [115, 116].

Particularly, predictive diagnoses for Predictive Medicine are conventionally represented by tests based on the genome and on imaging markers. For Preventive Medicine, measures against complex

illnesses are to identify people at risk before the development of symptoms. Thus, preventive biomarkers should be able to stratify the individuals with higher risk by measuring the association between their molecular profile and disease phenotype [117]. Additionally, Personalized Medicine promotes the wellbeing, increasing the opportunity of a successful prevention, detection and treatment of diseases [118]. In line, personalized medicine is being developed taking into account patient-oriented research [119]. Thus, with Participatory Medicine approach patients seeking medical care take a more active role is encouraged to participate actively in every step of the medical process. By adding the 'participatory' component, P4 medicine exploits the effectiveness of medical systems by expanding its application out from hospital settings. With the addition of self-assessments in the participatory component, new data will be aggregated and used to develop health strategies for public health [120].

Thus, P4 medicine implies a deep understanding of inter-individual differences due to genetic and environmental factors. In this context, both biological and socio-cultural aspects can affect risk factors, prevalence, age of onset, clinical manifestation, prognosis, biomarkers and treatment effectiveness [121]. Evidence of sex and gender differences has been reported in chronic diseases, such as diabetes, cardiovascular disorders, neurological diseases[122], cancer [123], and aging [124]. Additionally, differences in lifestyle (i.e., diet, physical activity, tobacco and alcohol consumption) have been also associated with the epidemiology of diseases [125].

Therefore, the challenge is to find strategies for translating the potential research excellence into clinical reality, which should be tailored on the basis of individual genome profile, lifestyle and environment.

1.4 The determinants of health

The "health sciences" are grounded in the belief that the phenomena which we label "health" display more or less associations with other events. Those events bearing a relationship to health are labelled "determinants of health." The health sciences deal with the detection, characterization, and the effects of such determinants on health. The combination of many factors affects the health of individuals and populations. To a large extent, environmental and genetic factors, socio-economic characteristics and lifestyles have considerable impacts on health, whereas the more commonly considered factors (i.e., access and use of health care services) often have less of an impact [126]. In this scenario, the WHO Department of Equity, Poverty and Social Determinants of Health defines health equity as "the absence of unfair and avoidable or remediable differences in health among population groups defined socially, economically, demographically or geographically". Since 2015, the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development has tackle the emerging problem of health

inequalities, proposing the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) as a global action plan which all states are committed to achieving by 2030. In this perspective, SDGs have been designed for achieving sustainable development in its three dimensions – economic, social and environmental [127] (**Figure 2**).

In general, health inequalities can arise already in the foetus, delaying the maturation of tissues and having unfavourable effects in adulthood [128]. In this scenario, Barker was the first who proposed the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) hypothesis, which states that uterine environment programs the fetus for environmental challenges that is likely to experience after birth [129]. Additionally, during childhood, biological programming is associated with social and environmental factors that constitute the main etiopathogenetic mediators of health inequalities in adulthood [130]. In recent years, health inequalities have represented an important issue in both European and global public health, whose mission is to reduce human suffering and enhance quality of life. These efforts are guided by public health principles, which include a scientific basis for action, an orientation towards the prevention of diseases and promotion of wellness, a population-wide perspective, community-based participation and problem solving, and a respect for diversity. Thus, public health strategies should address all the determinants of health – social, economic, and environmental – to ensure health equity and to promote wellness for both individuals and communities.

1.4.1 The social determinants of health

The social determinants of health – the non-medical factors that influence health outcomes – are conditions in which people are born and coexist, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the context of daily life. According to the definition of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the social determinants of health are "conditions in which people are born, grow up, live, work and age, which affect the health of an individual, or more generally of a community or population" [131].

Specifically, the main social determinants of health are represented by:

- Social gradient at each level of the social position, those in an advantaged social position have a better health profile than those in a less one. This disadvantage has been documented for a wide range of health indicators, in both sexes, for all age groups, and for different social indicators [132, 133];
- Early life social determinants with significant association of low social position with adverse pregnancy outcomes (i.e., pre-term birth, low birth weight, stillbirth) [134, 135], as well as with childhood obesity [136];

- Social exclusion which concerns, in addition to the homeless and immigrants, especially children and adolescents from poor families [131];
- Employment and working conditions [137];
- Unemployment which affects health with poverty, stress and behavior modification [138]
- Lifestyles including smoking status, alcohol consumption, diet, physical activity, and breastfeeding [139].

Therefore, the social determinants of health have an important effect on health inequities found within and between countries. This inequity is seen in the conditions of early childhood, employment status, lifestyles and, in general, quality of life. Social stratification, thus, determines differential access to health care, with consequences for well-being, disease prevention, and survival [140]. With respect to the social dimension of sustainable development, the following SDGs aim to combat social inequalities through critical global action:

- Goal 4 Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all;
- Goal 5 Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls;
- Goal 10 Reduce inequality within and among countries;
- Goal 11 Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable;
- Goal 16 Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels;
- Goal 17 Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development [127].

With respect to the economic dimension of sustainable development, the following SDGs aim to combat inequalities through critical global action:

- Goal 1 End poverty in all its forms everywhere;
- Goal 2 End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture;
- Goal 3 Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages;
- Goal 8 Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all;
- Goal 9 Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation [127].

1.4.2 The environmental determinants of health

Human health is influenced by economic factors, employment, education status, access to green spaces, walkability, water and air quality and individual behaviors [141-145]. From a health perspective, therefore, the definition of environmental determinants of health may be wide. However, not considering this broad perspective of environment, environmental determinants are characterized by all the physical, chemical, and biological factors external to the individual that affect health. Nowadays, local health hazards (i.e., air and water pollution) have been added to by other global risk, such as stratospheric ozone depletion and climate change. In general, the Global Burden of Disease Study estimated that environmental factors are responsible for 13–20% of the burden of disease in Europe [146]. However, it is difficult to provide definitive estimates of the environmental burden of disease because of issues of definition, incomplete evidence about aetiology, and the complexities of assessing exposures and their longer-term effects [147]. With respect to the environmental dimension of sustainable development, the following SDGs aim

to combat inequalities through critical global action:

- Goal 6 Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all;
- Goal 7 Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all;
- Goal 12 Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns
- Goal 13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts;
- Goal 14 Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development;
- Goal 15 Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss [127].

1.4.3 The determinants of health for women during the reproductive age

As stated above, several factors are considered as determinants of health and their complex interactions may have a profound impact on human health [148]. In general, men and women – especially during the reproductive age - are exposed to determinants of health in different ways. In 2008, the Social Determinants of Health - promoted by WHO – have been developed to identify and determine health inequalities according to groups of people [149], also considering that women's health during the reproductive age affect long-term health of theirs and their family. Even though women account for more than half of the population and drive the majority of health care decisions, in 2018 the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention found that most avoidable deaths among women in reproductive age were attributable to "broader failures of social support". Thus, there are

some ways by which social determinants of health impact women in reproductive age, including economic security, caregiving, violence, health care access (especially for black women) and maternal health. During the reproductive age, women could have high and varying determinants of health-related needs, with disparities across ethnicities and other socioeconomic dimensions. These needs regard food, medical care, housing, and heating, as well as employment assistance and childcare support [150]. Reproductive outcomes confirm that social determinants of health play an important role also during pregnancy. Women with low socioeconomic status experience adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as spontaneous abortions, infant mortality, and low birth weight. This is a critical issue since infant health, particularly for metabolic and respiratory pathologies, affects health in adult life. Similarly, differences in lifestyles, such as smoking, use of alcohol, unhealthy diet, obesity, and physical inactivity, have a similar effect [151].

For all these reasons, prioritizing health of women helps the achievement of the 4^{th} – "Reduce child mortality" - and 5^{th} – "Improve maternal health" - goals of Millennium Development Program, later replaced by several SDGs. Particularly, ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages (Goal 3) also implies to reduce the number of women deaths due to preventable causes related to pregnancy and childbirth, for aiming an average global ratio of less than 70 deaths per 100 000 births by 2030. In fact, according to the Barker's theory, any insult at a critical period of embryonic and foetal development can have effects both at birth and during adulthood, thereby predisposing an individual to several diseases [152]. Moreover, guarantee education equality (Goal 4), gender equality (Goal 5) and decent work (Goal 8) will help to reduce health inequalities (Goal 10) [127].

1.5 Pregnancy

Pregnancy is a physiological condition in women which leads to rapid and continuous changes in body composition and metabolism. Socio-demographic and lifestyle characteristics of pregnant women are changing over the years. Worldwide, about 140 million births take place every year. Deaths from complications during pregnancy, childbirth, and the postnatal period have declined by 38% in the last two decades, but at an average reduction of just 3% per year [153]. Particularly, every day in 2017, approximately 810 women died from preventable causes related to adverse pregnancy outcomes, with 94% of all maternal deaths occur in low and lower middle-income countries. For this reasons, SDGs offer an opportunity to accelerate progress for improving maternal health for all women, in all countries and circumstances [154].

In Italy, deliveries represent one of the most common interventions for healthcare. The most detailed information on assistance during pregnancy is those collected at the time of birth and taken from certificates of childbirth assistance, for which the most recent national survey has been

published in 2007. These data partly describe changes occurred in the profiles of pregnant women, showing, for instance, that age is increasing over the years. In fact, the mean age of Italian pregnant women was 32.3 years, while it was 28.8 years for foreigners that represented 15.9% of pregnancies [155].

In 2016, the WHO guidelines have provided a set of updated recommendations on *antenatal care* (ANC), which provides a platform for important health-care functions, consisting in health promotion, screening and diagnosis, and disease prevention. Particularly, these recommendations are about:

- Nutritional interventions, including calcium, zinc, iron and folic acid supplements, as well as Vitamin A, B, C, D and E supplements and restricted caffeine intake;
- Maternal and fetal assessment;
- Preventive measures;
- Interventions for common physiological symptoms, such as nausea and vomiting;
- Health system interventions to improve utilization and quality of ANC.

1.5.1 Pregnancy and adverse outcomes

During the 282 days from the first day of the last menstruation to delivery, which represent the average duration of a term pregnancy, the fetus goes through different stages of development [155]. Since growth is due to many factors, such as maternal nutrition and *in utero* environment, prenatal monitoring plays a key role for the prevention of adverse pregnancy outcomes [156]. Although some of these outcomes do not represent an issue for health-care interventions, others, including pre-term birth (PTB), low-birth weight (LBW), small for gestational age (SGA) and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR), as well as gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and preeclampsia (PE), continue to be major Public Health problems [157]. For this reason, preventing deaths and complications start with a healthy pregnancy and the quality of care - before, between and during pregnancies - ensures all women have a positive pregnancy experience.

PTB, the major cause of death among newborns and the second leading cause of death under five years, is defined as the condition in which mother gives birth before 37 weeks of gestation [158]. Every year, approximately 15 million babies are born pre-term, representing more than one in ten babies. Moreover, nearly one million children die each year due to complications of preterm birth [159], while survivors face a lifetime of disability. Recent data show that PTB and its complications are responsible for the highest rates of mortality and morbidity. Indeed, 70% of neonatal deaths and 75% of cases of neurological, respiratory and gastrointestinal disorders could

be attributed to PTB [160]. Although PTB is common, its etiology is still unclear. In addition to well-established genetic susceptibility [161], more recently it has been also demonstrated the effect of novel fetal and maternal genomic variants which in turn can affect intrauterine environment and pregnancy duration [162]. It is worth mentioning that the increased risk of PTB is associated with maternal age (both in younger and older), short inter-pregnancy interval, multiple gestation, drug abuse, smoking, low maternal pre-pregnancy weight or inadequate gestational weight gain [163].

If fetal growth does not occur regularly during pregnancy, growth restriction can manifest as LBW, SGA and ,in general, as IUGR [156]. LBW refers to newborns weight under 2.5 Kg, which in turn can be classified as very-low birth weight (VLBW, birth weight less than 1.5 kg) and extremely low-birth weight (ELBW, birth weight less than 1.0 kg). As reported by the WHO, LBW contributes from 60% to 80% of all newborn's deaths. While LBW is independent of gestational age, SGA indicates a birth weight below the 10th percentile for gestational age, often caused by placental insufficiency and mal-perfusion [164-166]. IUGR is a prenatal outcome of growth restriction in which fetal growth velocity, defined as the change in fetal size between two time points during pregnancy, is reduced [167]. About one third of the risk of SGA is due to genetic susceptibility, while two thirds to maternal behaviors, such as diet, smoking and alcohol consumption [168-170]. The burden of SGA is also motivate by the fact that children born SGA are at higher risk of developing obesity and metabolic diseases as diabetes mellitus [171].

Inadequate gestational weight gain (GWG) affects a growing number of pregnancies. To face the increasing burden of several adverse pregnancy outcomes, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) published a set of guidelines on recommended GWG. In spite of these recommendations, weight gain outside of the suggested values is still widespread. As shown in **Figure 3**, the adequate GWG depends on pre-pregnancy nutritional status, with particular attention on women who start pregnancy with a higher body mass index (BMI).

GWG influences the intrauterine environment and, in general, the long-term health. With regard to mother health, excessive GWG is associated with an increased risk of high blood pressure [172], diabetes [173], cesarean section [174], postpartum weight retention [175] and obesity [176]. For newborns, an excessive GWG causes a lower chance of survival.

1.5.2 Lifestyles and pregnancy

Women's health throughout life represents an important target for Public Health strategies, due to several biological and socio-cultural reasons. During the reproductive period - especially in pregnancy - environmental factors and lifestyles can affect physiological and pathological conditions both in women and in future generations. For instance, several intrauterine exposures

and factors (i.e., famine, folate intake, pre-pregnancy BMI and hyperglycaemia) are associated with fetal growth and hence with birth weight [177-179].

With respect to women nutrition, maternal diet plays a key role in ensuring the correct development and growth of newborns, suggesting an interplay between newborn and mother metabolism, which in turn involves nutrient stores and intakes [180-182]. For this reason, maternal diet should be as varied as possible [155], including: proteins, fats, carbohydrates, mineral salts, vitamins and water, fruit and vegetables, flour products (i.e. bread, pasta, rice, potatoes), proteins derived from fish, meat, legumes, plenty of fiber derived from whole-meal bread, and dairy products like milk, cheese, yogurt [183]. Moreover, it is also recommended to take 4-5 meals a day and to drink at least 2 liters of mineral water a day.

Since micronutrients - vitamins and mineral supplied to organism in small amounts - support maternal health and fetal development, it is necessary to determine their intake by assessing the physiological requirements of nutrients for a healthy pregnancy [184]. Examples of micronutrient interventions include supplementation of (i) folic acid to prevent neural tube defects, that can cause lifelong problems affecting health, growth and learning [185]; (ii) iodine to prevent cretinism; (iii) zinc to reduce the risk of PTB and (iv) iron to reduce the risk of LBW. Moreover, during pregnancy, the fetus is entirely dependent on maternal sources of vitamin D, which regulates placental function [186] and it is associated with several adverse outcomes [187, 188] [189] [190, 191] [192]. For these reasons, maternal micronutrient deficiencies are a global public health concern, compromising length of gestation and fetal development, which can lead to pregnancy loss, preterm delivery, small birth size, birth defects and long-term metabolic disturbances. Thus, both preconception and periconception interventions are needed to further assess the full effect of micronutrient adequacy on pregnancy outcomes [184]. However, since diet is characterized by a mixture of foods and nutrients, the best approach to investigate the relationship between maternal nutrition and adverse pregnancy outcomes requests the study of dietary patterns. Thus, several lines of evidence suggest an association of Mediterranean diet (MD) with reduced risk of PTB [193] [194] and shorter gestational age [195]. By contrast, women who do not adhere to MD are at higher risk of having neonates born LBW or SGA [196]. By contrast, those who adhere to a traditional diet have a lower risk of SGA [197]. Beyond diet, physical activity during pregnancy may reduce the risk of adverse outcomes for both mothers and their children. Current recommendations suggest pregnant women to perform at least 30 minutes of physical activity on most days of the week [198]. However, at the dawn of the 21st century, the larger part of humanity faces two major epidemics: the sedentary lifestyle and the obesity epidemic [199]. Obese women – those who are less likely

physically active in pregnancy [200] – have an increased risk for adverse outcomes [201, 202]. Of note, the health risks dramatically increase as mothers gain excessive weight during pregnancy [203]. Similarly, women who smoke are at higher risk for LBW, placental abruption, and sudden infant death syndrome [204, 205].

In conclusion, healthy lifestyles during pregnancy play an important role for maternal and child health during lifetime [18].

1.5.3 The relationship between exposome, genome and epigenome during pregnancy

Individual exposome is dynamic, making its assessment more challenging. Several critical life stages – such as fetus development - have been identified as those in which some exposures may have a greater impact on future diseases [206]. Embryos rapidly mature and may not have all the protective mechanisms in place to repair damage experienced from an exposure. For example, in the 1950s and 1960s, offspring exposed *in utero* to diethylstilboestrol had at risk of reproductive tract cancers, decreased fertility, and difficult pregnancies [207, 208].

Beyond maternal diet – considered as major determinant of fetal growth – it has been well established that also genetic risk factors are associated with adverse neonatal outcomes. For instance, polymorphisms in genes involved in the one-carbon metabolism affect the normal metabolic functions and several SNPs can create metabolic deficiencies, influencing dietary requirements for pregnant women. Similarly, genetic variants in genes involved in fatty acids, proteins and micronutrients metabolism can affect the course of pregnancy. Therefore, deficiencies or imbalance of nutrients, as well as polymorphisms in both maternal and fetal genes, may influence fetal growth [209, 210].

However, predicting adverse outcomes or risk of diseases from genetic background is complicated by its interactions with environmental risk factors. The so-called gene-environment interactions are ubiquitous and may account for the greater part of disease risk seen across genotypes [211]. Despite the difficulties, with the recent revolutionary advances in high-throughput genotyping technology, a large body of GWAS have been conducted and located hundreds of genomic variations related to several diseases, such as risk of obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease [212, 213].

Because the genetic background of a certain population has been relatively constant for many generations, modifications of lifestyles could represent a main-stream prevention approach in public health practice. Thus, genetic variation plays a key role both for determining individual susceptibility to diseases and for influencing the response to the diet modifications. The novel knowledge of gene-diet interaction will be useful for tailoring lifestyle modifications to a personalized manner [214].

In this scenario, the term "Nutrigenomics" - also defined as "nutritional genomics"- refers to the study of the relationship between human genome, nutrition, and health. While Epigenetics can be defined as hereditary changes that modify gene expression and influence the phenotype, without altering the genotype, Epigenomics is the study of genome-wide epigenetic modifications [215, 216]. In line with these broader definitions, Nutrigenomics investigates the influence of dietary components on the Genome, Transcriptome, Proteome and Metabolome [217-219]. Nowadays, evidence that nutrient-induced changes in gene expression could determine modifications in metabolism and disease susceptibility has become more than a hypothesis [220, 221]. Environmental and lifestyle factors can potentially influence epigenetic mechanism, which in turn are involved in adult obesity, diabetes mellitus, aging process and cancer development [222]. For instance, several classes of nutrients - folate, polyphenols, selenium, retinoids, fatty acids, isothiocyanates and allyl compounds - modulate DNA methylation process via different mechanisms [223], leading to genome reprogramming in exposed individuals and in future generations [224]. The strong relationship between the intrauterine environment and the long-term health of the growing fetus can explain fetal origin of adult diseases [225-227]. A well-balanced supply of maternal nutrients before conception, as well as during pregnancy and breastfeeding, promotes the optimal development of the fetus and the offspring [228]. The significant role of maternal diet in epigenetic mechanisms has been confirmed by several studies, showing how DNA methylation [229], microRNAs [230] and histone modifications [231] are involved in IUGR and other adverse outcomes.

1.6 The female cancers

Worldwide, cancer is a leading cause of death among women in both high and middle-income countries. In 2012, there were an estimated 6.7 million new cancer cases and 3.5 million deaths among females [232]. However, cancer burden is expected to increase by 2030, due to increasing prevalence of risk factors (i.e., smoking, excess body weight, physical inactivity, and changes in reproductive patterns), as well as to the increasing average life expectancy derived from the improvement of the control of infectious diseases and from the reduction in maternal and childhood mortality [233]. Addressing the cancer burden in women is important for its health impact and for tackling gender inequalities. In this context, breast cancer is the most diagnosed cancer among women in 140 of 184 countries, whereas cervical cancer is the most common in 39 countries.

With respect to breast cancer, it represents the most frequently diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer-related death among women worldwide, with an estimated 1.7 million cases and 521,900 deaths in 2012 [234]. Established risk factors for breast cancer include both genetic – as

family history of the disease, BRCA1 or 2 mutations [235] – and non-genetic factors [236]. Among these, it has been established the role of reproductive factors [237], which influence endogenous estrogenic exposure, as well as lifestyles such as obesity [238], physical inactivity, smoking [239] and alcohol drinking [240]. On the other hand, breastfeeding has been reported to slightly reduce breast cancer risk [241]. Since about 20% of breast cancers are due to modifiable risk factors, a potential reduction in the disease burden could be possible by increasing healthy behaviors [242].

In 2012, an estimated 6.2 million women who had survived after 5 years from the diagnosis of breast cancer. Among these survivors, many experience lasting physical effects [243] and treatment-related side effects (i.e., impaired fertility or premature menopause) [244], as well as several long-term effects (i.e., increased risk of osteoporosis, cognitive impairment, chronic fatigue, and vaginal dryness) [245]. Thus, breast cancer survivors represent an important target population for promoting prevention strategies [246].

As regard cervical cancer, it is the fourth most frequently cancer and the fourth leading cause of cancer-related death. In 2012, there were an estimated 527,600 cases and 265,700 deaths worldwide.

Established risk factors for cervical cancer include the chronic infection with human papillomavirus, HPV. According to the IARC classification, among the 12 HPV types that are carcinogenic for humans, [247] HPV 16 and 18 are responsible for 70% of cervical cancers worldwide [248]. However, only women with persistent infections are at risk of cervical cancer, while 80-90% of these infections are cleared within a few years [249]. HPV infection interacts with multiple cofactors, which influence the risk of virus persistence and progression, such as having multiple sexual partners, higher parity, oral contraceptive use, HIV infection, smoking [250, 251] and diet [252]. Nowadays, cervical cancer is considered nearly completely preventable thorough screening and HPV vaccine. Prevention plays a key role in reducing the burden of cervical cancer, which is responsible for short and long-term effects experienced by cervical cancer survivors, such as treatment-related impaired sexual function and worse quality of life [253].

1.6.1 Breast cancer

In addition to age, a variety of non- modifiable risk factors for breast cancer (e.g., race, ethnicity, and genetics) and modifiable exposures (e.g., diet, physical inactivity, exogenous hormones and reproductive factor) have been identified [232].

To date, several GWAS studies have been conducted to discover the potential effects of genetic risk factors for breast cancer, accounting for more than 200 common susceptibility loci [254]. However, even if all the common genetic factors are taken together, they could explain only about 30% of the

familiar risk. For this reason, it is necessary to understand how genetic factors combine with environmental factors to influence the risk of breast cancer [255]. By accounting for the geneenvironment interactions, better estimates of the population-attributable risk in specific subgroups can be obtained [256]. However, inconclusive results have been reported by several studies conducting in European populations [254]. Beyond genetic risk factors, epigenetic aberrations are known to play an important role in the development and progression of breast cancer. Hypermethylation of promoters for tumor suppressor genes and/or oncogenes hypomethylation can affect cancer development [257, 258], explaining how epigenetic can translate the same genotype into different phenotype. Recent developments in high-throughput technologies have led to the identification of distinctive genetic and epigenetic modifications in different breast cancer molecular subtype [259]. Nowadays, gene expression signatures in peripheral blood cells have shown a good performance to early detect breast cancer [260]. Similarly, DNA methylation changes might be useful markers for early detection of breast cancer since DNA can be easily obtained from different samples [261]. In this scenario, the identification and characterization of exposures, as well as their potential interactions with genetic and epigenetic factors, could be useful for the detection of individual breast cancer risk, which would enable personalized breast cancer prevention.

1.6.2 Cervical cancer

As already stated for breast cancer, numerous genetic and non-genetic risk factors are involved in the development and the progression of cervical cancer [262]. Among modifiable risk factors, several lines of evidence have suggested a relationship between healthy diet – rich in fruit and vegetables, antioxidants, folates, and minerals – and decreased risk of HPV infection, precursor lesions, and cervical cancer [263-268]. Additionally, inherited genetic predisposition may contribute to the risk of cervical cancer, suggesting how genetic polymorphisms in tumor suppressor genes might be related to HPV persistence and cancer progression [269]. A persistent high-risk HPV infection is not sufficient to immortalize and transform host epithelial cells, thus genetic and epigenetic alterations are needed for the development of carcinogenesis [270]. Since in cancer-free cells there is a well-controlled balance between DNA methylation and demethylation, aberrant DNA methylation might be an important event in cervical cancer, as reflected by its sensitivity for prognosis and therapeutic scopes in clinical practice. More than 100 human host genes have been reported as candidate methylation biomarkers of cervical cancer [273]. Furthermore, several studies have shown that methylation has a good performance to detect lesions of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2) or more severe lesions (CIN2+ or high-grade intraepithelial lesions), and that can be used as a triage method in women with positive hrHPV status [274]. Since the occurrence of cancer is dependent on the interplay between the genome, the epigenome, and the exposome, the epigenotype could be useful also for assessing the effectiveness of dietary modifications to reduce such risk. For these reasons, studies that address the relationship between exposome, epigenome and genome are needed for developing appropriate public health strategies and interventions [275]. Nowadays, there is an increasing focus on epigenetics, because genotype alone does not account for all cancer risk, and that many of them could be avoided through changes in lifestyle, which in turn affects epigenetic mechanisms.

1.7 Rationale and specific aims

In line with the current state of the art, investigating the relationship between exposome, genome and epigenome is becoming an attractive field of research with perspectives for personalized medicine. Indeed, uncovering this relationship would be important to understand the molecular mechanisms underpinning the effect of lifestyles – and particularly of diet – on women health during lifetime. Thus, this thesis describes several studies applying an integrated approach of nutritional and molecular epidemiology to answer the following questions:

What are the main determinants of the adherence to the MD in healthy women?

Several studies have already demonstrated how the determinants of health might act on some behaviors such as the adherence to healthy dietary patterns. To confirm this evidence in Sicilian women, we conducted a cross-sectional analysis to assess the overall degree of adherence to MD and its main determinants, among healthy women from Catania, Italy.

How do lifestyles affect DNA methylation in healthy women?

Although lifestyles, such as dietary habits and weight status, affect the global methylation level, further studies are necessary to investigate the influence of obesity and complex dietary patterns among Sicilian women. To do that, we first derived different dietary patterns among healthy women from Catania, and then we assessed their relationship with global DNA methylation levels, using LINE-1 sequences as surrogate marker. Moreover, we evaluated the association of BMI and obesity with LINE-1 methylation levels.

Could differences in lifestyle explain the social effects on DNA methylation?

Previous studies suggested some social disparities in epigenetic markers, including DNA methylation levels. However, the social status alone cannot explain these inequalities that might be

mediated by behavioral factors. For this reason, we tested the mediating effect of behaviors (i.e., adherence to MD, smoking status, physical activity, and weight status) in the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level.

What are the main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy?

The determinants of health often influence our choices about recommendations on healthy behaviors. Since pregnancy is a crucial stage of life for the health of women and their children, we investigated the main determinants of some women choices before and during pregnancy. In particular, we focused on the intake of specific nutrients and supplements (i.e., folate and folic acid supplements), on the adherence to dietary patterns of women, and on their vaccination status. To do that, we used data from the Mamma & Bambino cohort, a prospective study enrolling pregnant women from Catania, Italy.

What is the effect of dietary habits on pregnancy outcomes?

Maternal dietary habits before and during pregnancy could affect weight trajectories, which in turn are associated with pregnancy outcomes. However, studies on the association between maternal dietary patterns and GWG during pregnancy are still lacking. To fill this gap, we used data from the Mamma & Bambino cohort to derive maternal dietary patterns and examine their relationship with GWG.

What are the effects of genetic variants on pregnancy outcomes?

As discussed above, genetic variants might affect enzymatic activity and hence individual dietary requirements. However, the study on this field of research is complex because it is necessary to simultaneously assess the genetic background, the intake of specific nutrients, and how they interact on our health. In this scenario, as for an example, we investigated the effect of some polymorphisms in Vitamin D receptor (VDR) gene on pregnancy outcomes (i.e., PTB and neonatal anthropometric measures), taking into account the intake of vitamin D through the diet and supplements. To corroborate our findings obtained on the Mamma & Bambino cohort, we also carried out a systematic review with meta-analysis of previously published epidemiological studies.

How do nutrients and foods affect telomere length in women and their children?

Biological aging is a dynamic process that starts in the early phase of our life as a response to internal and external stressors. However, further studies are needed to understand what maternal factors affect the aging process of their children. Here, we first tested the relationship between

maternal nutrient intake and telomere length in blood and amniotic fluid samples obtained from the Mamma & Bambino cohort. In this context, we also carried out a systematic review of epidemiological studies investigating the effect of alcohol consumption on telomere length. The lack of evidence about this effect during pregnancy has pushed us to conduct a pilot study using data and sample from the Mamma & Bambino cohort.

Is there a relationship between telomere length and adverse outcomes of pregnancy?

Beyond maternal dietary habits, other factors might modulate the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, also affecting the biological aging process. However, studies on this field of research are scarce and further efforts are needed to understand the relationship between aging and risks for pregnant women. For these reasons, we also assessed if inadequate GWG – a risk factor of adverse pregnancy outcomes – might produce an early effect on telomere length of DNA extracted from amniotic fluid.

What factors influence breastfeeding practice and how the adherence to recommendations affect DNA methylation signatures?

As defined by the WHO, breastfeeding is an important practice to sustain healthy development and growth of newborns. For this reason, the understanding of factors that might be associated with the adherence to the WHO recommendations is crucial. Thus, we evaluated the main determinants of breastfeeding status among women from the Mamma & Bambino cohort. Moreover, since molecular mechanisms associated with breastfeeding are currently unclear, we investigated its effect on the epigenome-wide methylation status of DNA extracted from blood samples of children. To do that, we used data and samples from the HELIX project, which involves six existing prospective birth cohort studies in Europe.

How do antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet affect the risk of HPV infection and cervical cancer?

Bioactive food components, as well as the adherence to specific dietary patterns, might be associated with the risk of female cancer. However, there is still the need for a full understanding of the effects of antioxidant and inflammatory properties of foods and nutrients against the risk of cervical cancer. Thus, we conducted a cross-section analysis to evaluate the antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet among women at risk for cervical cancer from Catania, Italy.

Are dietary interventions effective for improving the quality of life of breast cancer survivors?

The promotion of healthy dietary habits might be crucial for sustaining the survival and the quality of life of women diagnosed with cancer. However, the evidence about the success of dietary interventions among breast cancer survivors is still inconclusive. For this reason, we carried out a systematic review of epidemiological studies evaluating the effects of dietary interventions on the quality of life of women, after a breast cancer diagnosis.





Three overlapping domains within the exposome have been described as follows: (1) a general external environment; (2) a specific external environment and (3) an internal environment. Vrijheid M. Thorax 2014; 69:876–878. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204949.


Figure 2. The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

The 17 SDGs arranged into three pillars: social, environmental, and economic. Olivera Kostoska and Ljupco Kocarev. Sustainability 2019, 11(7), 1961;

https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071961.

Maternal Weight: Before Pregnancy	Maternal Body Mass Index (BMI)
Underweight	<18.5
Average/normal weight	18.5 - 24.9
Overweight	25 - 29.9
Obese	30+

Figure 3. Gestational weight gain according to pre-pregnancy BMI

Institute of Medicine (US). Weight gain during pregnancy: re-examining the guidelines. Washington, DC. National Academies Press, 2009.

2. The main determinants of adherence to the Mediterranean diet: a cross-sectional study in healthy women

2.1 Background

In the last decades, several studies have demonstrated that the adherence to a "healthy" dietary pattern - rich in fruit, vegetables, whole grains, and fish - can reduce the risk of many noncommunicable diseases [276-278]. However, since people consume a complex mixture of foods and nutrients that may interact synergistically or antagonistically [279], consider single nutrients or food group is not the best approach [280-283]. For this reason, nutritional research is shifting to the analysis of dietary pattern as a whole [284]. In this scenario, the MD is the common dietary pattern among the populations near to the Mediterranean Sea, and it has been associated to an encouraging health status and a better quality of life [276]. The comparison of disease rates between Mediterranean and other European countries demonstrated the beneficial effects of the MD [285]. Indeed, greater adherence to MD has been associated with a reduced risk of overall and cardiovascular mortality, cancer incidence and mortality, and incidence of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases [286, 287]. Despite this evidence, a nutrition transition from the MD to a Western diet has emerged for Mediterranean populations [282]. Therefore, identifying social and behavioral factors associated with adherence to MD might help tailor nutritional strategies and interventions in a more efficient manner. In general, diet quality follows a socioeconomic gradient in terms of education, employment and income. People with higher socio-economic status eat more vegetables, fruit, whole grains, fish, and low-fat products, while those with lower socio-economic status consume more refined grains and added fats [288]. Moreover, people with unhealthy lifestyles, such as smoking and a sedentary life, tend to consume more fast-food products and fewer fruits and vegetables [289-292]. Hence, we performed a cross-sectional study on adult healthy women recruited in Catania, Southern Italy. We focused on women since their crucial role in food choice by providing meals for their families and making up most of the workforce in food-related jobs, health care and education. Our aim was to assess major social and behavioral determinants of adherence to MD in general, and the consumption of its specific food components.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study Design

The current cross-sectional study was conducted on women who were referred for routine medical examination to three clinical laboratories in Catania (Italy) from 2010 to 2017. In particular, we included non-pregnant women, aged 25–64 years, with a complete assessment of social and behavioral characteristics and anthropometric measures, and no history of diseases (e.g., cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, neurodegenerative and autoimmune diseases). The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committees of the involved institutions, and the study was conducted in agreement with the Helsinki declaration. All women gave their signed informed consent to participate in the study.

2.2.2 Data Collection

Data were collected by trained interviewers using structured questionnaires. Age was considered according to tertile distribution as follows: 1st tertile (25–33 years; n = 276), 2nd tertile (34–46 years; n = 289) and 3rd tertile (47–65 years; n = 276). Educational level was categorized as low (i.e., primary education or apprenticeship), medium (i.e. secondary education), or high (i.e. tertiary education). Marital status was categorized into living alone (including single, divorced, or widowed) or living in couple (including married and other relationships). Employment status was categorized into employed (including full-time or part-time employment) or unemployed (including retired). Smoking status was categorized as current, former, or never smoking. Body weight and height were measured using standard procedures [18,19]. BMI, defined as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared, was classified as underweight (BMI < 18.5 kg/m2), normal weight (18.5 kg/m2 \leq BMI \leq 25 kg/m2), overweight (25 \leq BMI \leq 30 kg/m2) or obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m2), according to the WHO criteria [293]. Physical activity was assessed using the long form of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ-L) [294], and categorized as poor (no moderate or vigorous activity), intermediate (1-149 min/week moderate, 1-74 min/week vigorous or 1-149 min/week moderate + vigorous), or ideal (≥150 min/week moderate, ≥75 min/week vigorous or ≥ 150 min/week moderate + vigorous), according to the American Heart Association criteria [295].

2.2.3 Dietary Assessment

Dietary information was collected using a 95-item semi-quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ), referring to the previous month [97, 268, 296-300]. FFQ was adapted from a 46-item FFQ validated for the assessment of folate intake in Italian women of child-bearing age [296]. For each

food item, participants indicated: frequency of consumption - classified into specific categories, ranging from "almost never" to "six or more times a day" - and serving size (low, medium, or large). The medium serving size was defined by standard weight or volume measures commonly consumed in the Italian population, while small and large serving sizes were half a medium serving size or 1.5 times or larger than a medium serving size, respectively. A photograph atlas was used to calculate the amount of each food item and to minimize inaccuracies. Food intakes were obtained by multiplying the frequency of consumption by the daily portion size of each food group and adjusted for total energy intake using the residual method [301].

2.2.4 Mediterranean Diet Score

The adherence to MD was assessed by the Mediterranean Diet Score (MDS) [302, 303], based on the ideal/poor consumption of nine food categories: fruits and nuts, vegetables, legumes, cereals, lipids, fish, dairy products, meat products, alcohol and the ratio of unsaturated to saturated lipids. For vegetables, legumes, fruits and nuts, cereals, fish, and the ratio of unsaturated to saturated lipids, women whose consumption was below or equal to the median value of the population were assigned a value of 0, and a value of 1 was assigned otherwise. For dairy and meat products, women whose consumption was below the median were assigned a value of 1, and a value of 0 was assigned otherwise. With respect to alcohol, a value of 1 was given to women consuming 5 to 25 g per day. Thus, MDS ranged from 0 (non-adherence) to 9 (perfect adherence), and the adherence was categorized as follows: low adherence (MDS range: 0–3), medium adherence (MDS range: 4–6), or high adherence (MDS range: 7–9) [304].

2.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS software (version 21.0, SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables - expressed as median (interquartile range, IQR) - were tested for normality using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and compared using the Mann–Whitney U test or Kruskal–Wallis test. Categorical variables were expressed as frequency (percentage) and compared using the Chi-square test. Logistic regression models were applied to find independent determinants of the ideal consumption of each food category and of medium-to-high adherence to MD. The models included both social (i.e., age groups, educational level, employment status, and having children) and behavioral (i.e., smoking status, use of supplements, physical activity level, and BMI) characteristics. Results were expressed as odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). All statistical tests were two-sided, and p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Characteristics of Study Population

The present cross-sectional study included 841 women from 25 to 64 years, with a complete assessment of dietary data. In brief, 50.6% of women lived in couple and 69.0% had at least one child. Moreover, about a third (35.7%) reported a low educational level, while 55.3% were unemployed. With respect to lifestyles, 34.2% were current smokers and 17.3% were poorly physical active. According to BMI (mean = 23.87; SD = 4.69), nearly a third of women (32.5%) were overweight or obese. We also stated that 15.4% of women were in menopause, while 15.5% used folic acid supplements.

2.3.2 Determinants of Ideal Consumption of Cereals, Fruits and Vegetables, Legumes and Fish

We first evaluated women characteristics according to their consumption of food categories that positively characterized the MD – cereals, vegetables, fruits and nuts, legumes, fish, and the ratio of unsaturated to saturated lipids (Table 1). In particular, women with an ideal consumption of cereals were more likely to be unemployed (p = 0.030), to live in a couple (p = 0.002), to use supplements (p = 0.010), to have children (p = 0.010) and to have a reported higher BMI (p = 0.028) than those with poor consumption. Logistic regression analysis, which included all social and behavioral characteristics, showed that living in a couple was associated with an ideal intake of cereals (OR = 2.801 95%CI = 1.188-6.602; p = 0.018). Instead, women belonging to the category characterized by an ideal consumption of vegetables were older (p < 0.001), with more women between 34–46 and 47–65 years old (p < 0.001) in this category. Compared to women with poor consumption, they were also less likely to be unemployed (p = 0.029) and current smokers (p = 0.019) and more likely to live in a couple (p = 0.001). Interestingly, they also had a higher BMI if compared with their counterpart (p = 0.001). Logistic regression analysis suggested that more engagement in physical activity was the only determinant of an ideal consumption of vegetables (OR = 6.148; 95%CI =1.506-25.104; p = 0.011). However, univariate analysis did not show statistical significance. With respect to women with an ideal consumption of fruits and nuts, they were older (p = 0.004) and most of them aged between 47–65 years old (p = 0.027). They were also more educated (p = 0.040), less likely to be unemployed (p = 0.039) and more likely to perform physical activity (p = 0.037) if compared with those with poor consumption. However, after applying logistic regression model, having children was the only positive determinant of the ideal consumption of fruits (OR = 3.149; 95%CI = 1.245–7.762; p = 0.015). Similarly, women with an ideal consumption of legumes were older (p < 0.001), with more women between 47–65 years old (p < 0.001). They were also more

likely to live in a couple (p = 0.001) and to have children (p = 0.011) and less likely to smoke (p = 0.038). They also had a higher BMI than those who consumed less legumes (p = 0.007). Logistic regression analysis revealed that more engagement in physical activity was the only determinant of an ideal consumption of legumes (OR = 5.832; 95%CI = 1.414–24.063; p = 0.015). However, univariate analysis did not show statistical significance. By contrast, univariate analysis also showed that women with an ideal consumption of fish were older (p < 0.001), with a higher proportion of women between 47–65 years old (p < 0.001). They were also more educated (p = 0.006), less likely to be unemployed (p = 0.006) and current smokers (p = 0.040) and to have children (p = 0.030) than those with poor consumption of fish. However, none of these characteristics was associated with the consumption of fish in multivariable analysis.

2.3.3 Determinants of Ideal Consumption of Meat, Dairy Products, Alcohol and Lipids

We next evaluated women characteristics according to their consumption of food categories that negatively characterized the MD (Table 2). Specifically, women belonging to the category of an ideal consumption of meat were older (p < 0.001) and less likely to smoke (p = 0.050) than those with poor consumption. Particularly, the highest proportion of those women were aged 47-65 years old (p < 0.001). By contrast, if compared to women with poor consumption of dairy products, women with an ideal consumption of dairy products were younger (p = 0.012), with a higher proportion of women between 25-33 years old (p = 0.029). Logistic regression analysis showed that smoking tobacco was negatively associated with an ideal consumption of meat (OR = 0.449; 95%CI = 0.0220-0.917; p = 0.028). Instead, none of the social or behavioral factors was associated with an ideal consumption of dairy products in multivariable analysis. We also found that women with an ideal consumption of alcohol were less likely to be obese (p = 0.006) and in menopause (p = 0.030) than those with poor consumption. However, as suggested by logistic regression analysis, being moderately or highly educated was a positive determinant of ideal consumption of alcohol (OR = 4.059; 95%CI = 1.311-12.570; p = 0.015; OR = 4.258; 95%CI = 1.068-16.976; p = 0.040; respectively). Finally, we observed that women with an ideal ratio of unsaturated to saturated fatty acids were less educated (p = 0.020), more likely to have children (p = 0.013) and with higher BMI (p = 0.037) than those with a poor ratio. However, none of these characteristics was significantly associated with the ratio of unsaturated to saturated fatty acids in multivariable analysis.

2.3.4 Determinants of Adherence to Mediterranean Diet

We next evaluated the adherence to MD using the MDS (mean = 4.2; range = 0–8), which allowed us to identify women with low adherence to MD (33.8%; MDS \leq 3), as well as with medium (56.8%; 3 < MDS < 7), and high adherence to MD (9.4%; MDS \geq 7). **Table 3** displays the 43 characteristics of the recruited women according to the adherence to MD. Particularly, we observed that adherence to MD increased with increasing age, and hence women with high adherence to MD were older (p < 0.001). In particular, women who highly adhered to MD were more likely to be 47–65 years old than those with medium or low adherence (p < 0.001). Moreover, women belonging to the category of high adherence to MD were more educated (p < 0.001), less likely to be unemployed (p = 0.017) and more likely to live in a couple (p = 0.017). With respect to lifestyles, people with high adherence to MD were less likely to smoke (p < 0.001). Moreover, they showed a lower BMI than those who adhered less to MD (p < 0.001), which resulted in a lower prevalence of overweight and obesity (p < 0.001). However, multivariable logistic regression analysis showed that only the engagement in physical activity was associated with moderate to high adherence to MD (OR = 5.500; 95%CI = 1.293–18.575; p = 0.031).

2.4 Discussion

Our analysis pointed out several social factors and behaviors associated with the ideal consumption of specific foods and the adherence to MD. However, in multivariable models, more engagement in physical activity was the only positive determinant of the ideal consumption of vegetables and legumes, as well as of high adherence to MD in general. People who perform more physical activity are more likely to be healthier than their sedentary counterparts [305], probably due to the mixture of foods consumed by physically and socially active people [306]. By contrast, sedentary individuals are more likely to eat fast food products and less likely to consume fruits and vegetables [289, 290]. Although a direct association between physical activity and food choices has not been yet elucidated, it has been well-known that a lack of exercise and an unhealthy diet tend to coexist among individuals [307].

Similarly, our analysis showed that current smoking was a negative determinant of the ideal consumption of meat products. This is in line with previous evidence that smokers had an unhealthier diet if compared with non-smokers [291, 292, 308]. As stated by a meta-analysis of 51 studies, people who smoked had a higher intake of energy, total and saturated fat and cholesterol, while a lower intake of vitamins and fibers than non-smokers [309]. Notably, the coexistence of these unhealthy habits may exacerbate their adverse effects on health, increasing the risk of non-communicable diseases. Thus, changes in one health behavior might promote changes in overall lifestyle. For instance, a study of 500 smokers demonstrated that reducing and quitting smoking were associated with an increased intake of fruits and vegetables and more engagement in physical activity [310].

Among social determinants, educational level is a widely used indicator of socio-economic status, due to its availability in a variety of national and international studies. In our study, having a medium-high educational level was the only positive determinant of an ideal consumption of alcohol. This partially was in line with the current concept that healthy dietary behaviors are more common among high-educated individuals, since they have more knowledge about the benefits and risks of their food choices [311]. Indeed, education might affect several health outcomes through its influence on lifestyles - such as physical activity, smoking habits, and diet - and on problemsolving capacity and values (e.g., awareness of preventive behaviors) [312, 313]. Other social characteristics, such as household size and composition, are rarely investigated in this field of research. In our study, living in couple was associated with an ideal consumption of cereals, while having children was the only positive determinant of an ideal consumption of fruits. Although these findings suggested that a healthier diet was more recurrent among those who were members of large families, an increasing household size also implies more mouths to feed and increased costs on food, which in turn might reduce diet quantity and variety [314]. However, our research on women and mothers confirmed their awareness about healthy food choices for themselves and their families. Thus, further research should be encouraged to better understand whether the relationships between household size, composition, and diet quality might be affected by the role of each member in their family.

To the best of our knowledge, it is the first study exploring the effect of social and behavioral determinants of adherence to MD among women from Southern Italy. Moreover, data were collected using standard and validated tools, and the socioeconomic information covers different aspects of the social status contributing individually to the relationship with MD. Finally, most of our results are robust, as they have been obtained after adjusting for total energy intake and by using logistic regression models.

However, our study also has some limitations. Its cross-sectional design does not allow us to assess the causality of observed relationships. With respect to dietary assessment, data were collected using FFQs, which did not preclude inaccuracies. However, other widely used tools for assessing dietary data (e.g., weighted records and 24-hour recalls) are prone to a degree of misreporting. Thus, the use of FFQs still remains a widely tool for dietary assessment in epidemiological studies [315]. Finally, we cannot completely exclude the effect of unmeasured residual factors, such as household income, food security and food access.

In conclusions, in our study we reported a low adherence to MD in Southern Italy, confirming that nutrition transition is also developing for Mediterranean populations. This reflects the need to

improve public health strategies, which should consider determinants of diet quality. Our study shows that more engagement in physical activity is a major positive determinant of the adherence to MD. By contrast, the coexistence of sedentary habits with unhealthy food choices exacerbates their adverse effects on health. However, the promotion of changes in one health behavior could lead to an overall improvement of lifestyle.

Characteristics		Cereals			Vegeta	ables		Fru	its		Legumes			Fish	
	Poor	Ideal	<i>p</i> -Value	Poor	Ideal	<i>p</i> -Value	Poor	Ideal	<i>p</i> -Value	Poor	Ideal	<i>p</i> -Value	Poor	Ideal	p-Value
Age, years	43(14)	44(13)	0.876	43(14)	44(13)	<0.001	43(13)	44(14)	0.004	43(14)	44(14)	<0.001	43(14)	44(12)	<0.001
1 st tertile (25–33 years)	35.1%	30.6%		39.8%	25.9%		35.4%	30.3%		38.6%	27.3%		37.8%	27.9%	
2 nd tertile (34–46 years)	31.3%	37.4%	0.148	35.5%	33.3%	<0.001	36.1%	32.6%	0.027	36.7%	32.2%	<0.001	37.1%	31.7%	<0.001
3 rd tertile (47–65 years)	33.7%	32.0%		24.8%	40.9%	-	28.5%	37.1%	-	24.8%	40.6%	-	25.1%	40.4%	
Educational level															
Low	32.9	38.4		38.6	32.8		39	32.4		37.6	33.8		40.9	30.5	
Medium	45.3	44.8	0.110	42.9	47.3	0.210	44.7	45.4	0.040	43.4	46.6	0.518	40.9	49.2	0.006
High	21.7	16.8		18.6	20	-	16.3	22.2	-	18.9	19.6	-	18.2	20.3	
Employment status (% unemployed)	51.6	59	0.030	59	51.5	0.029	58.9	51.8	0.039	53.6	56.9	0.350	60	50.6	0.006
Marital status (% living in couple)	42.8	56.3	0.002	44.6	58.9	0.001	49.3	51.9	0.540	44.3	59.4	0.001	50.3	50.9	0.359
Smoking status															
Never smokers	53.2	58.2		54.3	57.1		52.9	58.5		52.7	58.6		55.6	55.8	
Former smokers	11.2	9	0.300	7.9	12.4	0.019	9.3	10.9	0.085	9	11.2	0.038	7.7	12.5	0.040
Current smokers	35.6	32.8		37.9	30.5	-	37.8	30.6	-	38.3	30.1	_	36.7	21.7	
Use of supplements (% users)	10.9	18.8	0.010	15	16.1	0.730	16.5	14.2	0.460	15.6	15.2	0.890	15	16.1	0.737
Having children (% yes)	65.9	71.2	0.190	66.9	71.9	0.220	66.9	71.2	0.290	64.6	75	0.011	72.6	63.8	0.030
Body Mass Index. kg/m ²	23.4(4.5)	23.1(5.5)	0.028	22.9(4.5)	23.7(5.1)	0.001	23.4(5.6	23.05(4.6)	0.820	23.1(4. 7)	23.5(5.7)	0.007	23.2(4.9	23.3(5.2)	0.973
Underweight	6.3	7.4		7.9	5.7		8.4	5.2		6.9	6.8		7.7	5.9	
Normal weight	58.7	62.7	0.280	63.5	58	-	57.3	64	. 0.120	64	57.6	- 0.225	58.2	63.2	0.425
Overweight	22.5	21.1	0.280	18.3	25.3	- 0.062	23.4	20.2	0.130	19.1	24.4	- 0.233	23.4	20.2	0.425
Obese	12.6	8.8		10.3	11	-	10.8	10.5	-	10	11.2	-	10.6	10.7	
Physical activity															
Poor	17.6	17		19.6	15.8		15.7	18.6		16.3	17.9		13.3	19.8	
Intermediate	74.7	75	0.980	75	74.8	0.270	80.1	70.6	0.037	77.8	73.2	0.570	78.3	72.7	0.276
Ideal	7.7	8		5.4	9.5	-	4.2	10.8	-	5.9	8.9	_	8.4	7.5	

Table 1. Characteristics of women according to consumption of cereals, fruits, vegetables, legumes, and fish

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2019

		Meat			Dairy Product	s		Alcohol		Unsatur	ated/Saturate	d Ratio
Characteristics	Poor	Ideal	p-Value	Poor	Ideal	p-Value	Poor	Ideal	p-Value	Poor	Ideal	p-Value
Age. Years	43(13)	44(14)	<0.001	45(12)	42(15)	0.012	43(13)	45(15)	0.481	44(14)	44(13)	0.056
1 st tertile (25–33 years)	39.0%	26.7%		29.5%	36.2%		31.9%	36.5%		34.3%	31.4%	
2 nd tertile (34–46 years)	34.4%	34.3%	<0.001	33.7%	35.0%	0.029	34.9%	32.4%	0.524	35.2%	33.5%	0.343
3 rd tertile (47–65 years)	26.6%	39.0%		36.8%	28.8%		33.2%	31.2%		30.5%	35.2%	
Educational level												
Low	38.2	33.1		34.2	37.1		37.1	30		31.7	39.7	
Medium	45.6	44.5	0.054	46.8	43.3	0.582	44.6	47.1	0.174	46.2	43.9	0.021
High	16.2	22.4		19	19.5		18.3	22.9		22.1	16.4	
Marital status (% living in couple)	49.5	51.8	0.621	52.4	49	0.426	51.8	45.2	0.223	48.5	52.5	0.352
Smoking status												
Never smokers	53.6	57.9		61	50.5		55.1	30.2		59.2	52.3	
Former smokers	8.6	11.7	0.050	9.8	10.5	0.006	9.7	58	0.407	8.8	11.4	0.113
Current smokers	37.9	30.5		29.3	39		35.2	11.8		32	36.3	
Having children (% yes)	66.2	72	0.155	67.3	70.3	0.453	69.6	66.3	0.523	63.8	73.7	0.013
Body Mass Index. kg/m ²	23.4(5.7)	22.9(4.6)	0.774	23.3(4.9)	23.2(5.1)	0.331	23.14(4.7)	23.8(6)	0.211	23.05(5.1)	23.43(5)	0.037
Underweight	7.7	6		5.5	8.1		5.4	12.4		8.6	5	
Normal weight	58.9	62.6	0.612	60.7	60.8	0.465	62.3	54.4	0.004	59.7	61.7	0.147
Overweight	22	21.6	0.012	22.5	21.1	0.405	21.2	24.3	0.000	22.3	21.3	0.147
Obese	11.5	9.8		11.3	10		11.1	8.9		9.4	12	
Physical activity												
Poor	19.8	15.2		16.9	17.8		17.5	16.7		16.1	18.3	
Intermediate	72.7	76.8	0.501	75.8	73.6	0.866	74.7	75.6	0.986	76.8	73.3	0.741
Ideal	7.6	8.1		7.2	8.6		7.9	7.7		7.1	8.4	
Menopause (% yes)	13	18	0.143	16.1	14.8	0.715	17.3	7.9	0.030	12.6	18	0.112

Table 2. Characteristics of women according to consumption of meat, dairy products, alcohol, and lipids

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2019

		Mediterra	nean Diet	
Characteristics	Low	Medium	High	<i>p</i> -Value ^b
Age, years	36.0 (17.0)	41.0 (20.0)	50.0 (25.0)	<0.001
1 st tertile (25–33 years)	41.2%	29.5%	22.8%	<0.001
2 nd tertile (34–46 years)	37.3%	34.5%	22.8%	
3 rd tertile (47–65 years)	21.5%	36.0%	54.4%	
Educational level				
Low	44.6%	37.0%	25.4%	<0.001
Medium	40.7%	41.6%	52.9%	
High	14.6%	21.4%	21.8%	
Employment status (% unemployed)	57.9%	54.8%	53.2%	0.017
Marital status (% living in couple)	44.5%	56.6%	58.1%	0.017
Smoking status				
Never smokers	46.4%	59.4%	61.3%	<0.001
Former smokers	7.5%	7.1%	15.8%	
Current smokers	46.1%	33.5%	22.9%	
Use of supplements (% users)	14.7%	14.5%	29.0%	0.097
Having children (% yes)	65.1%	72.8%	74.2%	0.142
Number of children	2.0 (1.0)	2.0 (1.0)	2.0 (1.0)	0.275
Body Mass Index , kg/m ²	26.30 (9.10)	23.34 (4.30)	23.05 (5.10)	<0.001
Underweight	2.5%	8.2%	9.7%	<0.001
Normal weight	54.3%	66.3%	61.5%	
Overweight	28.1%	18.3%	19.1%	
Obese	15.1%	7.2%	9.7%	
Physical activity				
Poor	13.1%	17.0%	19.2%	0.344
Intermediate	82.1%	71.6%	73.2%	
Ideal	4.8%	11.4%	7.6%	
Menopause (% yes)	11.6%	19.3%	20.8%	0.072

Table 3. Characteristics of women according to adherence to Mediterranean diet

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2019

3. The effect of lifestyles on LINE-1 methylation levels: a cross-sectional study in healthy women

3.1 Background

Progresses in the field of genetics, especially after the conclusion of the Human Genome Project, raised questions about the effects of gene-environment interaction on human health. For these reasons, several studies have been developed to investigate molecular mechanisms underpinning the effects of lifestyles – and in particular dietary interventions - against aging and age-related diseases [221]. In the last years, it has been shown that environmental factors can potentially modify DNA methylation process, leading to altered gene expression and genome instability both in exposed individuals and in future generations [224]. This process almost exclusively occurs within CpG islands [44], of which nearly 80% happen in repetitive sequences scattered throughout the human genome, such as LINEs and Short Interspersed Nuclear Elements (SINEs) [46]. In general, CpG islands located within LINE-1 sequences and their methylation levels correlate with the global genomic DNA methylation level [316]. For these reasons, LINE-1 methylation has been widely used as a surrogate marker of global DNA methylation [51] in the research on cancer, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases [54-56, 317]. Recent studies have proposed a remarkable link between epigenetic and environmental exposure, suggesting how nutrients, pollutants and other environmental factors can influence the turnover of epigenetic marks [318].

With respect to diet, several nutrients - folate, polyphenols, selenium, retinoids, fatty acids, isothiocyanates and allyl compounds - and bioactive compounds of fruit, vegetables and spices can influence epigenetic mechanisms by inhibiting enzymes and substrates involved [223, 297, 319-321]. To date, there is a growing interest in investigating overall diet or dietary patterns, rather than focusing on single foods or nutrients. To the best of our knowledge, Zhang and colleagues were the first to report a positive association between *a posteriori* prudent dietary pattern – rich of vegetables and fruits - and LINE-1 methylation in a cancer-free population [322]. In line, we demonstrated the positive association of the adherence to the MD with the increased LINE-1 methylation level, counteracting the harmful effect of particulate matter exposure [97].

With respect to other habits, it would be also interesting to uncover epigenetic mechanisms associated with raised BMI and obesity, due to their potential role in development of obesity from the early stages of life [323]. It has been well established the involvement of DNA methylation, aberrant miRNA expression, histone modification and nucleosome release in obesity and associated comorbidities [324-326]. Overweight and obesity are delineated by an excessive accumulation of

body fat, which results in BMI greater than or equal to 25 kg/m² and 30 kg/m², respectively [327]. According to WHO, nearly 2 billion adults were overweight in 2016, out of which approximately 650 million were obese [328]. In line, more than one adult in ten were obese in 2016, with a prevalence that tripled in the last four decades [328], probably due to the increased intake of energy-dense foods and sedentary nature of human life [328]. Overweight and obesity also account for an important burden for public health [329], because raised BMI is often associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular and musculoskeletal diseases, diabetes, and some cancers [330]. Moreover, raised BMI could have adverse consequences on women of childbearing age, with higher risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes for women with excessive weight gain prior and during pregnancy [176, 331-336]. Additionally, children born from overweight or obese women were not only at higher risk of being born SGA [173, 333, 335, 337] and PTB [338], but also to develop metabolic disorders later in life [329-341].

To meet the need of determining the impact of lifestyles on DNA methylation levels, we performed an observational cross-sectional study in women from Catania, Southern Italy. Firstly, we evaluated correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation. Next, we defined posteriori dietary patterns that characterized dietary habits of women and investigated their association with leukocyte LINE-1 methylation level. Finally, we assessed the association of BMI and obesity with LINE-1 methylation level.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1 Study design

Women with no history of severe diseases (i.e., cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and autoimmune diseases) were selected from those who referred for routine medical examination to three clinical laboratories in Catania (Italy) from 2010 to 2017. The study protocol was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the ethics committees "Catania" and "Catania 2" with the following protocol numbers: 52/2010/VE, 16/2015/CECT2, and 227/2011/BE. All women who met inclusion criteria were invited to participate, after being informed of all aspects of the research protocol. Those who agreed to participate in the study had to sign a written informed consent. Sociodemographic and lifestyle information were collected by trained epidemiologists using a structured questionnaire. We included non-pregnant women, aged 12-87 years (median= 36 years), with complete assessment of social and behavioral characteristics and anthropometric measures. Education was categorized as low (i.e., primary school diploma or none), medium (i.e., bachelor's degree or higher). Women were also classified, according to their employment status, as employed (part-time and full-time employment) or unemployed (housewives and retired). Smoking

status was categorized as current, former, or never. BMI was calculated as the ratio between weight (kg) and squared height (m²), and participants were categorized into underweight, normal weight, overweight and obesity according to the WHO criteria [293].

At the same time, women provided a blood sample for DNA extraction and LINE-1 methylation assessment. Women with incomplete information on anthropometric measures and those who did not provide a blood sample were excluded from the current analysis.

3.2.2 Dietary assessment

Dietary data were collected by a validated 95-item semi-quantitative FFQ, with the previous month as reference period [97, 268, 297, 298]. For each food item, women were asked to report frequency of consumption (twelve categories from "almost never" to "two or more times a day") and portion size (small, medium, or large), using a photograph atlas to minimize inaccuracies. Food intakes were calculated by multiplying frequency of consumption by daily portion size of each food group. Moreover, food intakes were adjusted for total energy intake using the residual method [301].

Prior to further analyses, food items were classified into 39 predefined food groups based on the similarity of nutrient profiles or culinary usage, while individual food items that constituted a distinct item on their own (e.g., pasta, pizza, or eggs) or that represent a particular dietary pattern (e.g., alcoholic drinks and fries) were preserved [268, 278]. *A posteriori* dietary patterns were derived by Principal Component Analysis (PCA) followed by varimax rotation on energy-adjusted food group intakes. The number of dietary patterns was defined based on eigenvalues >2.0, Scree plot examination, and interpretability of components. To characterize each dietary pattern, we considered factor loadings with absolute value ≥ 0.3 . For each dietary pattern, factor scores were calculated by summing the products between observed energy-adjusted food group intakes and their factor loadings and categorized according to tertile distribution (1st tertile = low adherence, 2nd tertile = medium adherence, or 3rd tertile = high adherence).

3.2.3 LINE-1 methylation analysis

In the last decades, several methods have been proposed to determine levels of global genomic DNA methylation. These methods are based on high performance liquid chromatographyultraviolet, liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, or pyrosequencing of bisulfite converted DNA [342]. Alternatively, determining the methylation level of CpG sites located within LINE-1 sequences can be used as a surrogate marker of global DNA methylation level [316]. To allow comparison with our previous studies in this field of research, we evaluated the methylation level of three CpG sites within the LINE-1 sequence (GenBank Accession No. X58075) [97, 297]. Thus, DNA extraction and the

assessment of LINE-1 methylation were performed using standardized protocols [343]. In brief, DNA was extracted from leukocytes using the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Milan, Italy). Next, bisulphite conversion of 40 ng of the extracted DNA was performed using the EpiTect Bisulfite Kit (Qiagen, Milan, Italy). Specifically, the assessment of methylation levels was performed on three CpG sites within the LINE-1 sequence (GenBank Accession No. X58075). To do that, the LINE-1 sequence was amplified by Hot Start Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) on the Eppendorf Mastercycler (Eppendorf, Milan, Italy). The PCR reaction was conducted in a final volume of 25 µl, containing 1.5 µl of bisulfite-converted DNA, 12.5 µl of PyroMark PCR Master Mix 2×, 2.5 µl of Coral Load Concentrate 10×, and 2 µl of primers (0.2 µM for each). The sequences of forward and reverse-biotinylated primer were 5'-TTTTGAGTTAGGTGTGGGATATA-3') and 5'-biotin AAAATCAAAAAATTCC CTTTC-3', respectively [97]. The PCR conditions were the following: 1 cycle at 95°C for 15 min, 40 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 50°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 30 s, and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min. Finally, the PCR products were sequenced by pyrosequencing on the PyroMark Q24 instrument (Qiagen, Milan, Italy), using 0.3 mM of the sequencing primer 5'-AGTTAGGTGTGGGATATAGT-3'. For each CpG site, methylation level was calculated as the percentage of methylated cytosines over all cytosines. All the protocols were performed according to the manufacturers' instructions, and each sample was analysed in triplicate. All the assays included a positive (100% methylated DNA) and a negative (0% methylated DNA) control, while failed assays were repeated. Intra-observer coefficient of variability between replicates was 2.2% (SD=1.0%), as previously reported [103]. For each sample, LINE-1 methylation level was calculated as the mean of methylation level of the three CpG sites.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

Prior to analysis, quantitative variables were tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. To study the effect of dietary patterns on LINE-1 methylation levels, descriptive statistics were used to summarize categorical variables (using frequency and percentage) and quantitative variables (using median and IQR). Categorical variables were expressed frequency (percentage) and compared using the Chi-square test. In particular, we first conducted correlation analysis between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation, using Spearman test followed by Bonferroni correction for 39 tests (p<0.001 after Bonferroni correction). Next, we investigated the associations between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation levels using linear regression models on log-transformed data. In particular, we applied an unadjusted model (Model 1), followed by an adjusted model that included all the variables collected in our study (Model 2).

To study the effect of obesity on LINE-1 methylation, all variables were compared across BMI categories using the Chi-squared test for categorical variables and the Kruskal–Wallis test for quantitative variables. After that, the association of BMI with LINE-1 methylation was examined by simple linear regression, and further adjusting for age, educational level, employment status, marital status, parity, menopause, and smoking status. Similarly, the association of BMI categories with LINE-1 methylation was examined using normal weight as the reference group in unadjusted and adjusted linear regression models. Results were reported as β coefficients and their standard error (SE). All the above-mentioned analyses were two-sided and p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant, except of those reported after Bonferroni correction.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Study population

The study population consisted of 488 women, aged 15-85 years, with a complete assessment of anthropometric measures and leukocyte LINE-1 methylation. With respect to educational level, 35.2% had a primary school diploma, while 47.1% a secondary school diploma, and 17.6% a degree. Overall, 44.1% of women were part-time or full-time employed, while 50.4% lived in couple. Approximately 70% had at least a child, while less than 10% were menopausal. With respect to behaviours, 57.3% of women did not smoke, while 11.7% of them were former smokers and about one third (31.0%) were current smokers. The median total energy intake was 1935 kcal, and 17.4% used dietary supplements.

3.3.2 Dietary patterns of study population

The analysis of the effect of dietary patterns on LINE-1 methylation levels is based on a subgroup of 349 women from the above-mentioned study population, aged 12-87 years (median = 36 years), in which we derived two major dietary patterns with eigenvalues ≥ 2.0 , explaining 17.2% of total variance among 39 predefined food groups. **Figure 1** shows factor loadings, which represent the correlation between each food group and dietary pattern. The "Prudent" dietary pattern was characterized by high intake of potatoes, cooked and raw vegetables, legumes, soup, and fish. **Table 1** shows that age increased from the bottom to the top tertile of adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern. Likewise, women in the top tertile had a higher total energy intake than those in the bottom tertile. By contrast, women in the top tertile were less likely to use folic acid supplements than those in the bottom tertile. We also observed slight but significant difference in distribution of educational level across tertiles.

By contrast, the "Western" dietary pattern was characterized by high intake of canned fish, vegetable oil, processed meat, salty snacks, alcoholic drinks and dipping sauces, and low intake of

fruits. Contrary to the "Prudent" dietary pattern, age decreased from the bottom to the top tertile of adherence to the "Western" dietary. With respect to other socio-demographic variables, no significant differences were evident. Interestingly, total energy intake showed a U-shaped distribution, with lower levels in the second tertile than in the others. Moreover, being in the top tertile of adherence to the "Western" dietary pattern was associated with higher prevalence of never smokers and obesity.

3.3.3 Correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation

Overall, LINE-1 methylation levels displayed a skewed distribution with a median level of 65.0 %5mC (IQR = 7.5 %5mC). We first reported significant correlations between intake of 39 food groups and LINE-1 methylation after Bonferroni correction (**Figure 2**). Interestingly, we observed that whole-meal bread, cereals, fish, fruit, raw and cooked vegetables, legumes, soup, potatoes, fries, rice, and pizza positively correlated with average LINE-1 methylation. By contrast, vegetable oil negatively correlated with average LINE-1 methylation levels. **Figure 2** also displays similar correlations between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation at CpG site 1, 2 and 3.

3.3.4 Association between dietary patterns and LINE-1 methylation

Our analysis pointed out differences in LINE-1 methylation levels according to adherence to dietary patterns (**Figure 3**). LINE-1 methylation levels at the three CpG sites increased from the bottom to the top tertile of adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern (**Figure 3a**). Particularly, women in the top tertile exhibited higher LINE-1 methylation levels in CpG site 1 (median = 81.0 % 5mC; IQR = 3.0 % 5mC), CpG site 2 (median = 54.0 % 5mC; IQR = 6.0 % 5mC) and CpG site 3 (median = 64.0 % 5mC; IQR = 6.0 % 5mC) than those in the bottom tertile (median = 80.0 % 5mC; IQR = 4.0 % 5mC; median = 51.0 % 5mC; IQR = 21.0 % 5mC; median = 59.5 % 5mC; IQR = 16.5 % 5mC, respectively). In line, women in the top tertile of adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern showed higher average LINE-1 methylation level (median = 66.7 % 5mC; IQR = 4.67 % 5mC) than those in the bottom tertile (median = 63.1 % 5mC; IQR = 12.3 % 5mC) (p < 0.001). By contrast, no differences in LINE-1 methylation levels across tertiles of adherence to the "Western" dietary pattern were evident (**Figure 3b**).

Finally, the increasing trend of LINE-1 methylation across tertiles of adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern was confirmed by a linear regression analysis on log-transformed data, both considering the unadjusted model (Model 1), and further adjusting for age, educational level, employment and smoking status, folic acid supplement, total energy intake and BMI (Model 2) (**Table 2**). Particularly, being in the top tertile of adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern was associated with higher LINE-1 methylation levels at CpG site 1 ($\beta = 0.009$; SE = 0.003; p = 0.001), 55

CpG site 2 ($\beta = 0.030$; SE = 0.005; p < 0.001) and CpG site 3 ($\beta = 0.034$; SE = 0.003; p < 0.001), after adjusting for covariates. In line, we observed that women in the top tertile exhibited higher average LINE-1 methylation levels that those in the bottom tertile ($\beta = 0.022$; SE = 0.003; p < 0.001). By contrast, no association between "Western" dietary pattern and LINE-1 methylation was evident, in the unadjusted (Model 1) and adjusted (Model 2) models (**Table 3**). Among the covariates considered in the regression model, only increasing age (p < 0.001) and total energy intake (p < 0.001) were positively associated with LINE-1 methylation level.

3.3.5 Comparisons across BMI categories

According to their BMI (median of 23.3 kg/m2), 488 women were categorized as underweight (6.4%), normal weight (57.6%), overweight (23.6%), or obese (12.5%). We compared the abovementioned characteristics across these BMI categories (**Table 4**). Notably, the median age and the proportion of menopausal women increased from the underweight (p < 0.001) to the obese (p = 0.023). In line with increasing age, also the proportion of women who lived in couple (p < 0.001) and those who had at least a child (p = 0.004) increased. With respect to social factors, the proportion of women with low educational level increased from the underweight to the obese group, as well as of those who were unemployed (p-values < 0.001). Regarding behaviors, the proportion of current smokers decreased from the underweight to the obese category (p < 0.001), while no differences were evident for total energy intake and use of dietary supplements.

3.3.6 The relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation

We first established the relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation. As showed in the scatter plot reported in **Figure 4**, the percentage of LINE-1 methylation decreased by 0.125 for each unit increase of BMI (SE = 0.057; p = 0.029). Accordingly, we observed that LINE-1 methylation tended to decrease from the underweight to the obese category (p = 0.048) (**Figure 5**). Thus, median LINE-1 methylation level was 69.7 (IQR = 10.0) in underweight, 68.7 (IQR = 10.0) in normal weight, 67.3 (IQR = 10.7) in overweight, and 65.0 (IQR = 9.5) in obese women.

3.3.7 The association of obesity with LINE-1 methylation

Finally, we established the association of BMI and its categories with LINE-1 methylation level. As shown in **Table 5**, we first adjusted the negative relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation for the potential effect of covariates. Notably, LINE-1 methylation significantly decreased by 0.145 for each unit increase of BMI (SE = 0.058; p = 0.013). Moreover, we used normal weight women as the reference group to evaluate the association between BMI categories and LINE-1 methylation. In the unadjusted model, obese women showed lower LINE-1 methylation level than their counterpart (β = -1.971; SE = 0.876; p = 0.025), while no significant differences were evident for underweight

56

or overweight women. Interestingly, the negative association between obesity and LINE-1 methylation continued to be significant ($\beta = -2.050$; SE = 0.868; p = 0.019) after adjusting for age, educational level, employment and marital status, parity, menopause, and smoking habits.

3.4 Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate the relationship of lifestyles – especially diet and obesity – with LINE-1 methylation in healthy women from Southern Italy.

With respect to diet, previous studies reported that higher intake of vegetables and/or fruits decreased the risk of LINE-1 hypomethylation [297, 322]. We first partially confirmed these findings, suggesting how the intake of healthy foods - whole meal bread, cereals, fish, fruit, raw and cooked vegetables, legumes, and soup - positively correlated with LINE-1 methylation. The biological explanation of this relationship could be recognized in the wide variety of nutrients and bioactive compounds provided by fruits and vegetables - including phytochemicals, vitamins, minerals, and fibres - which in turn modulate pathways associated with epigenetic mechanisms [344, 345]. By contrast, we showed that intake of vegetable oil seemed to be negatively correlated with LINE-1 methylation, partially supporting a previous study on the association between whole peripheral blood fatty acids and DNA methylation measured as total level of 5-methyldeoxycytosine [346]. However, further research is needed to better investigate the effect of dietary fat intake on LINE-1 methylation.

Due to the growing interest in understanding how dietary patterns may affect DNA methylation in humans, Zhang and colleagues investigated the association between dietary patterns and leukocyte LINE-1 methylation in 149 individuals with no history of cancer [322]. First, they applied PCA on 13 food groups to derive the "Prudent" and the "Western" dietary patterns. While only the intake of dark green vegetables seemed to be significantly associated with LINE-1 methylation, the analysis of dietary patterns showed a positive association between the prudent dietary pattern and LINE-1 methylation in a dose-response manner [322]. In our subgroup of 349 women with no history of severe diseases, we identified two dietary patterns by applying PCA on 39 food groups. Similar to Zhang and colleagues, we derived the "Prudent" and their average increased from the bottom to the top tertile of adherence to the "prudent" dietary pattern. After adjusting for covariates, we confirmed the association between high adherence to the "Prudent" dietary pattern and higher LINE-1 methylation levels at CpG site 1 and CpG site 3. In line with these findings, women with high adherence to the "prudent" dietary pattern also had higher average LINE-1 methylation levels

that those with low adherence. By contrast, no association between "Western" dietary pattern and LINE-1 methylation was evident, also adjusting for covariates.

On the other hand, our study demonstrated a negative relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation. In our cohort of 388 women with no history of severe diseases, we observed lower methylation level among obese women if compared with their normal weight counterpart, as partially reported in the comprehensive review published by Samblas and colleagues in 2019 [323]. Several limitations, however, occurred in previous studies, which were heterogeneous in terms of study design, DNA source, methylation marker under investigation, and outcome of interest [323]. Thus, findings were not easy to interpret, and obesity was associated with DNA methylation both positively and negatively, depending on the genes or DNA sequences under study [323]. To the best of our knowledge, few studies investigated the association between obesity and LINE-1 methylation. Carraro and colleagues reported a positive association of waist circumference and BMI with methylation level in blood samples from 40 health professionals aged 20-59 years [347]. By contrast, a longitudinal analysis of the Bogota School Children Cohort stated a negative association between adiposity measures and LINE-1 methylation in blood samples from children aged 5-12 years [348]. A negative association was also observed in our study, which for the first time investigated the relationship between BMI, obesity, and LINE-1 methylation in a large population of healthy women. These controversies might be partially described by the fact that DNA methylation could be affected by several factors - demographic, behavioral, and physiological [323] - as we have just demonstrated through the association between healthy dietary patterns and higher LINE-1 methylation level. In line with these findings, there was also evidence that weight loss interventions might significantly increase LINE-1 methylation level in blood samples [349, 350]. Moreover, it has been proposed that LINE-1 methylation level prior to the intervention might significantly predict the amount of weight loss [350]. Despite these interesting suggestions, however, there were also studies that produced inconclusive or opposite results [351, 352].

This study had several strengths. Compared to previous studies, we obtained results from a larger cohort of individuals with no history of severe diseases. Moreover, data collection was performed through validated tools, which enabled us to investigate the effect of dietary patterns on LINE-1 methylation applying PCA on 39 food groups. With respect to DNA methylation analysis, we applied the pyrosequencing of bisulfite-treated DNA, which is a replicable methodology and the "gold standard" to evaluate LINE-1 methylation levels [353, 354]

This study had also some limitations. Its observational cross-sectional design did not allow to assess causality. Moreover, dietary data collection was performed using FFQs, which did not exclude

measurement errors. Nowadays, FFQs still remain widely used as the primary dietary assessment tool in epidemiological studies [315]. Despite its limitations, the FFQ has been previously developed and validated among a similar cohort of women from Southern Italy [296]. In addition, our PCA-derived dietary patterns were consistent with previous studies [268, 355-358]. Additionally, we used information on BMI and its classification, even if other anthropometric measures and adiposity indexes should have been also considered.

Moreover, we performed LINE-1 methylation analysis on leukocyte DNA, which included several cell type subsets. Finally, we cannot completely ignore the effect of unmeasured residual factors, such as ethnicity, drinking, physical activity, and environmental exposures. Moreover, the association between lifestyles and LINE-1 methylation may be also affected by genetic factors (e.g., polymorphisms in the *MTHFR* gene), which in turn may interact with methylation process

	Prudent					Western					
Characteristics	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	p-	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	p-			
	tertile	tertile	tertile	value	tertile	tertile	tertile	value			
A go woong	32.0	35.0	46.0	<0.001	41.0	40.0	30.0	<0.001			
Age, years	(19.0)	(19.0)	(34.0)	<0.001	(34.0)	(24.0)	(17.0)	<0.001			
Educational level											
Low	34.5%	18.8%	23.3%		24.1%	23.1%	29.3%				
Medium	37.9%	53.8%	50.9%	0.049	47.4%	49.6%	45.7%	0.832			
High	27.6%	27.4%	25.9%		28.4%	27.4%	25.0%				
Employment status	62 10/	47.00/	52 40/	0.060	52 40/	55 60/	52 40/	0.022			
(% unemployed)	02.170	47.0%	33.4%	0.009	33.4%	33.0%	33.4%	0.955			
Smoking status											
Never smokers	67.8%	69.2%	62.6%		63.5%	65.5%	70.7%				
Former smokers	11.3%	13.7%	14.8%	0.757	14.8%	19.8%	5.2%	0.011			
Current smokers	20.9%	17.1%	22.6%		21.7%	14.7%	24.1%				
Use of folic acid											
supplement (%	19.0%	18.8%	7.8%	0.024	19.8%	16.2%	9.5%	0.083			
users)											
Total energy intake,	1693.0	1940.0	2142.0	<0.001	2028.0	1781.0	2065.0	0.001			
kcal	(3581.0)	(614.0)	(563.0)	<0.001	(682.0)	(2610.0)	(744.0)	0.001			
Body Mass Index,	23.3	23.9	24.1	0.071	23.0	25.0	23.0	0.067			
kg/m ²	(6.8)	(5.8)	(23.0)	0.971	(4.8)	(5.7)	(8.1)	0.007			
Body Mass Index											
categories											
Underweight	3.5%	6.9%	5.2%		3.5%	2.6%	9.6%				
Normal weight	60.9%	50.9%	53.0%	0 403	65.2%	47.9%	51.8%	0.002			
Overweight	19.1%	28.4%	29.6%	0.403	21.7%	35.9%	19.3%	0.002			
Obese	16.5%	13.8%	12.2%		9.6%	13.7%	19.3%				

Table 1. Characteristics of study population by adherence to dietary patterns

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019

Regression	LINE-1	1 st tertile	2 nd te	ertile	ile 3 rd tertile			
model	methylation		β (SE)	р-	β (SE)	р-	trend	
				value		value		
Model 1	CpG site 1	Ref.	0.001	0.599	0.008	< 0.001	< 0.001	
			(0.002)		(0.002)			
-	CpG site 2	Ref.	0.009	0.348	0.011	0.234	0.233	
	_	-	(0.010)		(0.009)			
-	CpG site 3	Ref.	0.011	0.120	0.019	0.003	0.003	
	-	Ū.	(0.007)		(0.006)			
-	Average	Ref.	0.006	0.263	0.012	0.017	0.017	
	-	Ū.	(0.005)		(0.005)			
Model 2	CpG site 1	Ref.	0.001	0.990	0.009	0.001	< 0.001	
	_	-	(0.002)		(0.003)			
	CpG site 2	Ref.	0.015	0.001	0.030	< 0.001	< 0.001	
	-	Ū.	(0.004)		(0.005)			
	CpG site 3	Ref.	0.016	< 0.001	0.034	< 0.001	< 0.001	
	-	-	(0.003)		(0.003)			
	Average	Ref.	0.009	< 0.001	0.022	< 0.001	< 0.001	
	C	Ŭ	(0.002)		(0.003)			

 Table 2. Linear regression analysis of the association between adherence to the prudent dietary

 pattern and LINE-1 methylation level

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019

Dograssion	I INE 1		2 nd te	ertile	3 rd te	rtile	n
model	methylation	1 st tertile	β (SE)	p- value	β (SE)	p- value	p- trend
Model 1	CpG site 1	Ref.	0.001 (0.002)	0.828	-0.003 (0.002)	0.276	0.262
	CpG site 2	Ref.	-0.009 (0.008)	0.310	-0.002 (0.009)	0.838	0.835
	CpG site 3	Ref.	-0.008 (0.006)	0.202	-0.002 (0.007)	0.753	0.743
	Average	Ref.	-0.005 (0.005)	0.316	-0.002 (0.005)	0.702	0.690
Model 2	CpG site 1	Ref.	0.002 (0.002)	0.523	-0.001 (0.003)	0.676	0.760
	CpG site 2	Ref.	0.005 (0.005)	0.282	-0.003 (0.005)	0.549	0.837
	CpG site 3	Ref.	0.007 (0.004)	0.067	-0.001 (0.004)	0.834	0.705
	Average	Ref.	0.004 (0.003)	0.101	-0.001 (0.003)	0.647	0.986

 Table 3. Linear regression analysis of the association between adherence to the western dietary

 pattern and LINE-1 methylation level

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019

Characteristics	Underweight (n=31)	Normal weight (n=281)	Overweight (n=115)	Obese (n=61)	P-value
Age, years	30 (11)	39 (18)	46 (22)	44 (21)	< 0.001
Educational level					
Low	19.3%	30.4%	46.2%	53.9%	
Medium	49.1%	46.9%	44.0%	34.8%	< 0.001
High	31.6%	22.7%	9.9%	11.2%	-
Unemployed	45.6%	51.3%	59.9%	74.2%	< 0.001
Living in couple	18.6%	46.1%	68.3%	75.6%	< 0.001
Having children	36.8%	70.5%	80.9%	78.9%	0.004
Menopause	0.0%	15.2%	21.8%	15.8%	0.023
Smoking status					
Never smokers	47.7%	54.0%	60.4%	61.8%	
Former smokers	7.0%	7.9%	15.9%	13.5%	< 0.001
Current smokers	45.6%	38.1%	23.6%	24.7%	-
Total energy intake, kcal	2014 (705)	1923 (650)	1935 (708)	1950 (778)	0.335
Users of supplements	11.6%	15.7%	16.3%	15.6%	0.905

Table 4. Characteristics of the study population across categories of the body mass index

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Disease Markers 2021

Model ^a	BMI	B coefficient	Standard error	P-value
	Continuous	-0.125	0.057	0.029
	Categories			
Unadjusted	Underweight	0.194	1.173	0.868
Unaujusteu	Normal weight		Ref.	
	Overweight	0.170	0.687	0.803
	Obese	-1.971	0.876	0.025
	Continuous	-0.145	0.058	0.013
	Categories			
Adjusted	Underweight	-0.015	1.161	0.990
Adjusted	Normal weight		Ref.	
	Overweight	-0.108	0.687	0.875
	Obese	-2.050	0.868	0.019

Table 5. Linear regression analyses between BMI, its categories, and LINE-1 methylation level

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Disease Markers 2021



Figure 1. Bar graph of factor loadings characterizing dietary patterns

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019

	CpG 1	CpG 2	CpG 3	Average
White bread	-0,02	0,03	0,06	0,04
Wholemeal bread	0,08	0,24	0,20	0,21
Cereals	0,09	0,17	0,17	0,16
Butter and Margarine	-0,10	-0,10	-0,10	-0,11
Milk	-0,03	-0,05	-0,03	-0,04
Yogurt	-0,03	0,05	0,06	0,05
Olive oil	0,15	0,17	0,16	0,17
Vegetable oil	-0,13	-0,20	-0,16	-0,18
Soft cheese	-0,06	0,03	0,06	0,03
Hard cheese	0,00	0,11	0,11	0,10
Eggs	0,07	0,16	0,17	0,16
Processed meat	-0,08	-0,04	0,00	-0,02
Red meat	-0,08	-0,06	-0,05	-0,06
White meat	0,08	0,08	0,10	0,10
Offal	-0,04	0,04	0,04	0,03
Fish	0,13	0,17	0,22	0,20
Shellfish	0,12	0,04	0,11	0,08
Canned fish	-0,03	-0,02	-0,03	-0,02
Fruit	0,16	0,24	0,29	0,26
Fruit salad	0,02	0,12	0,10	0,11
Raw vegetable	0,13	0,18	0,23	0,21
Cooked vegetable	0,26	0,29	0,39	0,35
Legumes	0,27	0,23	0,32	0,30
Soup	0,22	0,24	0,29	0,28
Potatoes	0,10	0,20	0,18	0,20
Fries	0,13	0,17	0,22	0,19
Rice	0,09	0,15	0,19	0,17
Pasta	0,06	0,12	0,13	0,12
Pizza	0,14	0,26	0,27	0,26
Nuts	-0,10	0,10	0,14	0,09
Sweets	-0,10	0,10	0,12	0,08
Salty snacks	-0,08	0,02	-0,01	0,00
Dipping sauces	-0,13	-0,13	-0,15	-0,15
Wine	0,12	0,07	0,08	0,09
Beer	0,09	0,01	0,01	0,03
Alcoholic drinks	-0,04	-0,08	-0,10	-0,09
Coffee	0,01	-0,14	-0,14	-0,13
Tea	0,05	0,05	0,05	0,06
Fruit juice	0,02	0,06	0,04	0,04

Figure 2. Correlation matrix between food intakes and LINE-1 methylation level

Results are reported as Spearman's correlation coefficient and those with Bonferroni-corrected p-value<0.001 are indicated in bold font.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019







This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2019



Figure 4. Scatter plot of the relationship between body mass index and LINE-1 methylation



Figure 5. Violin plot showing the distribution of LINE-1 methylation level across categories of body mass index



This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Disease Markers 2021

4. The role of behaviors as mediators of the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level

4.1 Background

Social determinants represent a crucial target for Public Health interventions due to their involvement in health inequalities between and within countries [359]. Earlier onset of age-related chronic diseases and higher risk of death are generally associated with low socioeconomic status (SES) – usually referred as educational level, employment, and income [360, 361]. People with socio-economic disadvantaged tend to be prone worse with regards to non-communicable diseases risk factors, including unhealthy behaviors [360-364]. The promotion of healthy lifestyles, therefore, plays a crucial role in the prevention of several diseases [365], as well as in reducing health disparities.

Social disadvantages and unhealthy behaviors can occur either *in utero* or during lifetime, inducing sustainable biological changes involved in individual non-communicable diseases risk profile [366, 367]. However, the involved molecular mechanisms are still not fully clarified. For this reason, uncover the epigenetic mechanisms underpinning this relationship might help to explain the effect of SES on human health. However, even if previous studies have reported that socioeconomic disadvantage significantly affected DNA methylation process, social inequalities alone do not completely explain socioeconomic difference in DNA methylation level. With this in mind, recent studies have been conducted to investigate the effects of behaviors on global DNA methylation - using LINE-1 sequences as a surrogate marker - in exposed individuals and in future generations [224]. As previously discussed, several lines of evidence demonstrated how dietary factors [297, 320, 321, 343, 368], smoking habits [369, 370], physical activity [371] and weight status [372] might affect LINE-1 methylation levels.

In this scenario, our hypothesis was that the behaviors – including diet, physical activity, smoking habits and weight status - might act as mediator of the association between SES and LINE-1 methylation. For this reason, we conducted a cross-sectional study on women from Catania (Italy) to assess socioeconomic inequalities in LINE-1 methylation levels, and to examine whether lifestyles were potential mediators of this difference.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study design

The current cross-sectional study recruited women from those who referred for routine medical examination to three clinical laboratories in Catania (Italy) from 2010 to 2017. Healthy nonpregnant women, with no history of severe diseases - including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and autoimmune diseases - were included. Participants were fully informed of all aspects of the research protocol, which was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and invited to sign a written informed consent to participate in the study. The protocol was approved by the ethics committees (Ethics Committees "*Catania*" and "*Catania 2*") of the involved institutions (*Azienda Ospedaliero - Universitaria "Policlinico - Vittorio Emanuele"* and *Azienda Sanitaria Provinciale* of Catania, Italy) with the following protocol numbers: 52/2010/VE, 16/2015/CECT2, and 227/2011/BE. At recruitment, information on socioeconomic characteristics and lifestyles were collected by trained interviewers using structured questionnaires. Moreover, a blood sample was requested from all participating women. Next, each whole blood sample was centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 15 min, and the buffy coat was immediately frozen at -20 °C until further analyses.

4.2.2 Socioeconomic status assessment

Educational level was categorized as: low (i.e., primary school or none), medium (i.e. vocational or another secondary school) or high (i.e. university or vocational postsecondary school) level. Employment status was categorized as full-time employment, part-time employment, and unemployment (including housewives and retired). For statistical analysis, educational level and employment status were used as proxies for SES [373, 374], with low educational level and unemployment as reference groups.

4.2.3 Behavioral data collection

Height and weight were measured at recruitment using standardized procedures, and BMI was obtained as the ratio between weight (kg) and squared height (m²) [293]. Information on smoking habits - collected using a questionnaire – allowed us to categorize women as never, former, and current smokers. With respect to physical activity, it was assessed using the long form of the IPAQ-L [294]. Women were classified as inactive (i.e. no moderate or vigorous activity), moderately inactive and moderately active, and active (\geq 150 min/week moderate or \geq 75 min/ week vigorous or \geq 150 min/ week moderate + vigorous), according to the American Heart Association criteria [295]. Dietary information was collected using a semi-quantitative FFQ, previously described [97, 297, 343, 363]. Adherence to Mediterranean diet was assessed using the 9-point index of MDS and

categorized as low (MDS range: 0–3), medium (MDS range: 4–6), or high (MDS range: 7–9) [302, 303].

4.2.4 LINE-1 methylation analysis

DNA samples were extracted from buffy coats using the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Italy) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Methylation analysis was performed on three CpG sites within the LINE-1 sequence (GenBank Accession No. X58075) [97, 297] to allow comparison with our previous studies in this field of research. Bisulphite conversion of 40 ng of each DNA sample was performed using the EpiTect Bisulfite Kit (Qiagen, Italy). PCR was conducted in a reaction volume of 25 µl, which contained 1.5 µl of bisulfite-converted DNA, 12.5 µl of PyroMark PCR Master Mix 2×, 2.5 µl of Coral Load Concentrate 10×, and 2 µl of the forward primer (5'-TTTTGAGTTAGGTGTGGGGATATA-3') and the reverse-biotinylated primer (5'-biotin-AAAATCAAAAAATTCCCTTTC-3') (0.2 µM for each) [97, 102, 297, 343]. Hot start PCR conditions were as follows: 1 cycle at 95°C for 15 min, 40 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 50°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 30 s, and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min. As described elsewhere [102, 103, 297], pyrosequencing of PCR product was performed with 0.3 mM of the sequencing primer (5'-AGTTAGGTGTGGGATATAGT-3') using the PyroMark Q24 instrument (Qiagen, Italy). All assays were conducted in triplicate including positive (100% methylated DNA) and negative (0% methylated DNA) controls, while failed assays were repeated. Intra-observer coefficient of variability between replicates was 2.2% (SD=1.0%), as previously reported [103]. For each CpG site, methylation level was calculated as the ratio between methylated cytosines and the sum of methylated and unmethylated cytosines. LINE-1 methylation level was computed as the average methylation level of the three CpG sites.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

We first compared LINE-1 methylation across categories of SES proxies (i.e., educational level and employment status). Due to its skewness (p<0.001 based on the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test), LINE-1 methylation level was expressed as median and IQR and compared using the Kruskal–Wallis test. Age-adjusted linear regression models were applied to test the association of SES proxies with LINE-1 methylation, using log-transformed LINE-1 methylation level as the outcome. SES proxies were first added to the model one-by-one, and then included simultaneously. In all the analyses, the lower SES categories were used as the reference to assess associations of high SES with LINE-1 methylation.

Next, we compared behavioral characteristics across different educational levels. Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables, while continuous variables were compared using the

Kruskal–Wallis test. The association of behaviors with LINE-1 methylation was examined by ageadjusted linear regression models using log-transformed LINE-1 methylation level as the outcome. The predictors that were initially considered separately were: BMI (as continuous variable), smoking status (as ordinal categorical variable: current, former, never), physical activity (as ordinal categorical variable: active, moderately active, moderately inactive, inactive), and MDS (as ordinal categorical score from 0 to 9). We also tested for interaction between predictors that were significantly associated with log-transformed LINE-1 methylation level in the abovementioned ageadjusted linear regression models.

To evaluate the mediation effect, we performed a mediation analysis as described by Preacher and Hayes [375]. The first equation (path a) regressed the mediator (MDS) on the independent variable (educational level). The second equation (path b) regressed the dependent variable (log-transformed LINE-1 methylation) on the mediator. The third equation (path c') regressed the dependent variable on the independent variable, adjusting for the effect of the mediator. Low educational level was used as reference group and age as covariate in all the mediation models. Bias-corrected and accelerated bootstrap confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for indirect effects (a*b). Bootstrapping (5000 samples) was conducted. The percentage mediated was expressed as the percentage of the total effect (path c) accounted for by the indirect effect (a*b).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Study population

The present cross-sectional study included 349 women aged 25-64 years and with a complete assessment of SES, lifestyles, and LINE-1 methylation. Overall, 25.5% of women had a low educational level, 47.6% were in the middle educational level and 26.9% in the higher one. Moreover, 54.2% of women were unemployed while 21.2% and 24.6% were part-time or full-time employed, respectively.

4.3.2 Socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation

We first compared LINE-1 methylation levels across categories of SES, considering SES in terms of educational level (**Figure 1a**) and employment status (**Figure 1b**). We noted that LINE-1 methylation level increased with increasing educational level (p < 0.001). We confirmed our results after applying a linear regression analysis on log-transformed data, which showed the increasing trend of LINE-1 methylation across educational levels in the age-adjusted model ($\beta = 0.016$; SE = 0.003; p < 0.001). Similarly, employed women exhibited higher LINE-1 methylation level than their counterpart (p = 0.002). This trend was confirmed by age-adjusted linear regression analysis on log-transformed LINE-1 methylation level ($\beta = 0.007$; SE = 0.002; p = 0.003). However, when 72
SES indicators were evaluated simultaneously, only educational level exhibited a statistically significant association with LINE-1 methylation ($\beta = 0.016$; SE = 0.003; p < 0.001).

4.3.3 Association between educational level and behaviors

We next evaluated whether behaviors mediate the effect of SES on LINE-1 methylation, using educational level as a proxy indicator. To do that, as shown in **Table 1**, we first compared BMI, MDS, smoking status and physical activity according to educational level. Notably, BMI decreased with increasing educational level (p < 0.001). Moreover, highly educated women were more likely to be normal weight (p < 0.001) and to adhere to MD (p = 0.018). Furthermore, women with high educational level were less likely to perform physical activity (p = 0.012) than their less educated counterpart. Instead, no social differences in smoking status were evident (p = 0.508).

4.3.4 The effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation

We next applied age-adjusted linear regression analyses to assess the effects of behaviors on LINE-1 methylation. Notably, we observed a positive association between adherence to MD – evaluated by MDS score – and LINE-1 methylation ($\beta = 0.006$; SE = 0.001; p < 0.001). Moreover, former (β = 0.014; SE = 0.007; p = 0.037) and non-smokers ($\beta = 0.012$; SE = 0.005; p = 0.020) showed higher LINE-1 methylation levels than current smokers. By contrast, no association with BMI and physical activity was evident (p-values > 0.05). We also did not demonstrate an interaction between adherence to MD and smoking status on LINE-1 methylation level (p-value for interaction = 0.498).

4.3.5 Mediation analysis

Finally, we tested the mediating effect of women habits on the relationship between educational level and LINE-1 methylation. As shown in **Figure 2**, we observed a positive association of high educational level with MDS ($\beta = 0.669$; 95%CI = 0.173-1.165; p < 0.01) and LINE-1 methylation level ($\beta = 0.033$; 95%CI = 0.022-0.043; p < 0.001). Notably, there was a significant indirect effect of high educational level on LINE-1 methylation through the adherence to MD ($\beta = 0.003$; 95%CI = 0.001-0.006). The mediator could account for 9.5% of the total effect. We obtained similar results also using employment status as indicator of SES.

By contrast, we did not observe any mediation when evaluating the indirect effect of medium educational level on LINE-1 methylation ($\beta = 0.001$; 95%CI = -0.001 - 0.004). A plausible explanation is that medium educational level was not significantly associated with adherence to MD ($\beta = 0.312$; 95%CI = -0.127 - 0.752). Similarly, none of the other habits were associated with a statistically significant mediation in the relationship between educational level and LINE-1 methylation.

4.4 Discussion

The present cross-sectional study aims to investigate potential behaviors as mediators of socioeconomic differences in leukocyte LINE-1 methylation. In our analysis, we first evaluated the association of SES and LINE-1 methylation, using educational level and employment status as proxy indicators. Women in the highest socioeconomic classes showed higher LINE-1 methylation level than their counterpart. Yet, educational level seemed the strongest predictor of LINE-1 methylation when both SES indicators were evaluated simultaneously. This was in line with the current belief that life experiences affect epigenetic marks in specific loci of the genome [376]. In particular, several studies conducted on animals showed the relationship of social stress and isolation with changes in CpG methylation of promoter regions [376, 377]. In addition, epidemiological studies stated that adverse exposures in early life was related to aberrant methylation profiles in adolescents and adults [378, 379]. More recently, Fiorito and colleagues observed a graded relationship between SES and accelerated biological aging [373, 374], using two alternative predictors of accelerated biological aging based on DNA methylation at 353 CpG sites and 71 CpG sites, respectively [373, 374]. These predictors, named 'epigenetic clocks', allow to estimate biological aging as the difference between DNA methylation age and chronological age.

In our study, women with high educational level were also more likely to be normal weight, to perform more physical activity and to adhere more to MD than those with low educational level. For this reason, we also evaluated whether lifestyle-related behaviors might affect LINE-1 methylation levels. In line with previous studies [97, 297, 343], we observed that women who highly adhered to MD exhibited higher LINE-1 methylation levels that their unhealthy counterpart. These findings supported the hypothesis that adherence to MD might partially explain and mediate socioeconomic differences in LINE-1 methylation level. To test it, we assessed changes in the effect of educational level on LINE-1 methylation, adjusting for confounder (i.e., age) and mediator (i.e., adherence to MD). In particular, we considered adherence to MD as a mediator due to its relationship with educational level and, simultaneously, with LINE-1 methylation. However, only $\sim 10\%$ of socioeconomic difference in LINE-1 methylation could be explained by adherence to MD, while remaining difference was likely due to unmeasured factors. In fact, our analyses demonstrated that none of the other behaviors constituted a potential mediator of the relationship between educational level and LINE-1 methylation. Similarly, the above-mentioned study aimed to investigate the role of behaviors in mediating the association between SES and biological aging [373, 374]. However, their mediation analysis failed in demonstrating a significant reduction of the association magnitude due to the inclusion of behaviors in the model [373, 374]. They stated that the association was robust to adjustment for mediators, with a partial effect attenuation when including smoking status in the model [373, 374]. In our study, we observed that former and non-smokers showed higher LINE-1 methylation level than current smokers. Although molecular mechanisms underpinning this relationship are not clearly understood yet, our findings were consistent with the notion that cigarette smoke affects DNA methylation [380]. However, cigarette smoking did non interact with adherence to MD, and therefore the latter cannot counteract the detrimental effect on LINE-1 methylation observed among current smokers. Moreover, the lack of relationship between educational level and smoking status excluded one of the requirements for a significant mediating effect.

Our study had some limitations. Firstly, the cross-sectional design did not allow us to understand the causality between diet and LINE-1 methylation. With respect to the use of LINE-1 methylation as a surrogate marker of DNA methylation, the heterogeneity in LINE-1 methylation levels across CpG sites and tissues [381-385] hindered the comparisons between different studies. Despite these issues, aberrant LINE-1 methylation still remains an important molecular mechanism in the research on non-communicable diseases [54-56]. Finally, data collection was performed by subjective methods that did not preclude inaccuracy. However, even if the FFQ used for dietary assessment was prone to a degree of misreporting [315], this tool has been developed and validated among women from Southern Italy [296], and current findings were consistent with previous studies conducted on similar cohorts [268, 355-358]. Moreover, we cannot evaluate the potential effect of additional social factors (e.g., income, household size and composition), confounders (e.g., genetic variants and environmental exposure), and mediators (e.g., drinking habits).

To our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the role of behaviors as mediators in the relationship between SES and LINE-1 methylation. Our findings confirm previous studies that SES is a determinant of health, also through biological changes such as epigenetic mechanisms. Notably, we suggest that behaviors – and especially the adherence to MD – might mediate this association, encouraging public health interventions to promote healthy dietary habits in social disadvantaged people. However, further prospective studies should be recommended to confirm this evidence taking into account additional social factors and behaviors.

Characteristics		p-value		
	Low (n=89)	Medium (n=166)	High (n=94)	-
Age, years	40 (27)	36 (25)	34 (17)	0.739
BMI	26.0 (7.5)	23.5 (4.9)	22.3 (5.0)	<0.001
BMI categories				
Underweight	1.1%	7.9%	4.3%	<0.001
Normal weight	42.0%	53.3%	69.9%	
Overweight	31.8%	28.5%	15.1%	
Obese	25.0%	10.3%	10.8%	
Mediterranean Diet Score	4 (3)	4 (3)	4 (3)	0.291
MDS categories				
Low	39.8%	42.7%	35.1%	0.018
Medium	52.4%	43.8%	50.0%	
High	7.8%	13.5%	14.9%	
Smoking status				
Current	20.5%	22.9%	15.1%	0.508
Former	15.9%	12.7%	11.8%	
Never	63.6%	64.5%	73.1%	
Physical activity				
Inactive	8.1%	19.4%	28.6%	0.012
Moderate active	91.9%	73.1%	68.6%	
Active	0%	7.5%	2.9%	

Table 1. Population characteristics by educational level

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Scientific Reports 2020

Figure 1. Comparison of LINE-1 methylation level by educational level (A) and employment status (B)



** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001, based on the Kruskal–Wallis test.

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Scientific Reports 2020

Figure 2. Analysis of the mediating effect of Mediterranean Diet Score in the association between high educational level and LINE-1 methylation



Mediation analysis was conducted using the procedure described by Preacher and Hayes [375]. Low educational level was used as reference group and age as covariate in all the regressions. Biascorrected and accelerated bootstrap confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for indirect effects (a*b). Bootstrapping (5000 samples) was conducted. The percentage mediated was expressed as the percentage of the total effect (path c) accounted for by the indirect effect (a*b). ** p < 0.01 and *** p < 0.001.

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Scientific Reports 2020

5. The main determinants of women choices before and during pregnancy

5.1 Background

The determinants of health often influence our choices during lifetime. Among lifestyles, nutrition plays a critical role in determining maternal and infant health. During the preconception, perinatal and breastfeeding periods, a well-balanced diet is essential for fetal development and neonatal growth [228, 296]. By contrast, unhealthy food choices - such as inadequate intake of micronutrients - lead to maternal nutrient deficiencies and might affect the risk of adverse outcomes (i.e., PTB and SGA) [184]. In line, mounting evidence suggests a firmly interplay between newborn and mother metabolisms, which in turn involve nutrient stores and intakes [180-182]. For this reason, the WHO and the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) suggested several dietary recommendations and strategies for the prevention of adverse pregnancy outcomes [156] [164-166]. Similarly, the guidelines of the Italian Ministry of Health suggest that maternal diet should be as varied as possible [155]. In this context, folate - a water-soluble vitamin B present in fruits, legumes, cereals, and green leafy vegetables - is required for placental growth [386] and neural tube formation [387]. Folate acts as a methyl donor for important molecular pathways, such as methylation, synthesis and DNA repair, replication and cell maintenance [388]. For these reasons, inadequate folate concentrations are associated with a number of birth defects - including anencephaly, spina bifida and encephalocoele [185] - that can cause lifelong problems affecting health, growth and learning [185]. Folate requirement is usually of 400 µg/day among women of childbearing age and of 600 µg/day during the periconceptional period [389]. To meet this need, in 1998, the United States began the fortification of cereal flour enriched with folic acid [390], next followed by several countries policies for folate fortification [391]. Nowadays, developed countries considered the supplementation of folic acid – the synthetic form of this vitamin B - as a strategy to ensure the correct fetal development [392]. However, folic acid supplementation was often insufficient in the preconception period, with several negative effects on maternal-child health [393]. Thus, further studies are needed to investigate the relationship of social and behavioral determinants with the adherence to recommendations, also increasing the awareness about benefits of folic acid supplementation [394-397]. Given the importance of this issue, previous studies investigated the relationships of socio-demographic factors and other behaviors with dietary intakes of nutrients in women of childbearing age [398-404]. However, preventive strategies should be based on the promotion of healthy dietary patterns, rather than on single nutrients or food groups.

Despite of recommendations, maternal dietary habits seem to be influenced by socio-demographic factors (i.e., socio-economic status, educational level, employment status) and behavioral factors (i.e., smoking habits) similar to general populations [400, 403, 405, 406]. In line, several studies demonstrated that maternal food choices are affected by age, educational level, and smoking habits in several populations [398-404]. The latter, along with parity and BMI, have been also associated with the use of supplements in European populations [407].

Additionally, to increase the awareness about benefits of healthy behaviors differing from nutrition, public health strategies are also moving towards a life-course immunization approach, focusing on childhood and women of childbearing age. Since several diseases can adversely affect pregnancy, Measles - Mumps - Rubella (MMR) and HPV vaccines are recommended for women of childbearing age [408, 409]. Furthermore, active immunization during pregnancy represents a remarkably promising strategy to protect mothers and their offspring against vaccine-preventable diseases (VPDs). Several lines of evidence pointed up vaccines' safety and effectiveness during pregnancy, not only for women but also for developing fetus [410-414]. Through maternal immunization, acquired antibodies can be transferred to the fetus, conferring passive immunity until the first infant immunization [415]. With this in mind, the Italian National Immunization Plan (Piano Nazionale Prevenzione Vaccinale 2017-19; PNPV) strongly advised to administer booster doses of seasonal Influenza vaccine at any time-point during pregnancy, and vaccine against Diphtheria – Tetanus - and acellular Pertussis (DTaP) between the 27th and the 36th week of every pregnancy [416]. However, the rates of coverage for the above-mentioned vaccines among pregnant women remain very low worldwide [414, 417, 418]. Similarly, infant and childhood vaccine uptake rates are not enough to control VPDs. To prevent measles outbreaks occurred in the past decade, several countries have enacted mandatory childhood immunization legislation [419-421]. In July 2017, Italian immunization strategies on infants extended the number of mandatory vaccines from four - Diphtheria, Tetanus, Poliomyelitis, Hepatitis B vaccines - to ten, also including Pertussis, Haemophilus influenzae type b, MMR and Varicella vaccines [422, 423]. In this scenario, vaccine hesitancy - defined as "a delay in acceptance or refusal of vaccines despite availability of vaccinations services" - is believed to be responsible for decreasing vaccine coverage [424, 425]. Although socio-demographic and socio-economic factors can influence vaccination choice, disinformation, and lack of confidence in vaccination play a key role in determining low vaccine uptake among women [414, 425-427]. Thus, including transparency in policy-making decisions and providing vaccines information to the public and health providers could be counter vaccine hesitancy at the population level [428].

To meet the need to understand how determinants of health often influence women choices about healthy behaviors, we used data from the ongoing prospective "Mamma & Bambino" study, which enrols mother–child pairs from Catania, Italy. Firstly, we described the prevalence of dietary folate intake and its determinants among pregnant women, also evaluating folic acid supplement use. Moreover, we investigated the effect of folate intake and folic acid supplement use on neonatal outcomes in a subgroup of women who completed pregnancy. Next, we evaluated the association of social determinants and lifestyles with maternal dietary patterns. Finally, we evaluated vaccination adherence among mothers and their children, in order to uncover the main determinants involved in the vaccination choice and to underline the need for improving maternal knowledge about immunization programs.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Study design

In the current analyses, we used data from the Mamma & Bambino project. The ongoing motherchild cohort, settled in Catania (Italy), aims to understand the effects of social, environmental, behavioral, and molecular factors on mother-child health. Study design and protocols have been fully described elsewhere [298, 300] (and also at the website http://www.birthcohorts.net). From 2015, this cohort prospectively recruits pregnant women during their prenatal genetic counselling (median gestational age = 16 weeks) at the Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria "Policlinico-Vittorio Emanuele" (Catania, Italy). We excluded women with plurality, pre-existing medical conditions, or pregnancy complications (i.e., autoimmune and/or chronic diseases, preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, and diabetes), as well as with intrauterine fetal death and congenital malformations. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committees of the involved institutions (Ethics Committees Catania 1 and 2; Protocol Numbers 227/BE and 275/BE, 186/EMPO and 83/EMPO) and performed according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All women were fully informed of the purpose and procedures and gave written informed consent.

5.2.2 Data collection

Information on mothers and their children are collected through telephone interviews at the delivery and with planned follow-ups at 1 and 2 years. At the recruitment, a structured questionnaire is administered by trained epidemiologists to collect socio-demographic and behavioral information. Educational level is categorized as low-medium (primary school, i.e., ≤ 8 years of school) and high education level (high school education or greater, i.e., ≥ 8 years of school). Employment status was classified as unemployment - including students and housewives - and employment - including parttime and full-time. Women were also classified in those who lived alone or in couple, and in those who had children or not. With respect to smoking status, women were categorized as non-smokers, former smokers, or current smokers. Women reported their weight and height before pregnancy and pre-gestational BMI was calculated as weight in Kg divided by height in m² and categorized according to the WHO criteria [429]. Women were also asked about dietary restrictions or food intolerances.

Moreover, to evaluate vaccination adherence among mothers and their children, self-reported maternal vaccination status was collected during the follow-up interview at delivery, while children vaccination status was collected from their mothers during the follow-up interviews at 1 and 2 years. The structured questionnaire aimed to collect information referring maternal vaccination status, time of vaccination and grounds for refusal for the following vaccines: i) MMR; ii) HPV; iii) DTaP; iv) Varicella and v) Influenza. Moreover, we collected information referring children vaccination status, time of vaccination and any booster shots for the following vaccines: i) Hexavalent; ii) MMRV and iii) Pneumococcal.

5.2.3 Assessment of dietary data and dietary patterns

Dietary data - referred to the month preceding the recruitment - were obtained by a 95-item semiquantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) [268, 296]. For each food item, women reported the frequency of consumption (i.e., twelve categories from "almost never" to "two or more times a day") and portion size (i.e., small, medium, and large using an indicative photograph atlas). Dietary data were further converted into monthly and daily food intakes, multiplying the frequency of consumption for the portion size (g). Dietary folate intake was calculated using the table of food composition of the US Department of Agriculture (http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/), adapted to typical Italian consumption. Inadequate folate intake was defined as an intake < 600 μ g/day of dietary folate equivalents (DFEs) [430].

To identify dietary patterns, it has been suggested to use *a priori* and/or *a posteriori* method. The first one explores the data using predefined combinations of foods in a dietary index, such as MDS [431]. Thus, adherence to the MD was evaluated using the 9-item MDS, as previously described [302, 303]. For this reason, ranged from 0 (non-adherence) to 9 (perfect adherence), women were classified as low-adhered (MDS \leq 3), medium-adhered (MDS = 4–6), or high-adhered (MDS > 6) to MD [304]. On the other hand, a *posteriori* approaches explore the available data post hoc by either cluster or factor analysis. In this way, the nutritional variables are reduced to a smaller number of variables [431]. We performed the PCA analysis to derive dietary patterns, followed by Varimax rotation on energy-adjusted food intakes [268, 278]. In particular, we determined the

number of dietary patterns according to scree plot examination, eigenvalues >2.0 and interpretability. Factor loadings with an absolute value ≥ 0.25 were used to define food groups that characterized each dietary pattern. Women received a factor score for each of the derived factor, that indicated their adherence to each dietary pattern. Factor scores were calculated as the sum of products between the energy-adjusted food group intakes and their factor loadings. Adherence to each dietary pattern was classified as low (1st tertile), medium (2nd tertile) and high (3rd tertile) adherence, based on the distribution of factor scores.

5.2.4 Use of folic acid supplements

Women were also asked to report the use of folic acid supplements, alone or with other multivitamin supplements, before and during the first trimester of pregnancy. Italian recommendation suggests that women who plan to become pregnant should use folic acid supplements for 4 weeks before and until 12 weeks after conception [432]. Accordingly, women were classified as i) non-users, if they did not use folic acid supplements; ii) insufficient users, if they did not take folic acid supplements as recommended, and iii) recommended users.

5.2.5 Neonatal outcomes

At birth, gestational age and neonatal anthropometric measures were assessed among women who completed singleton pregnancy. At recruitment, gestational age was assessed by ultrasound evaluation, in order to define preterm birth as spontaneous delivery before 37 weeks. According to sex-specific national reference charts, birth weight and length were used to assess birth weight for gestational as follows: small for gestational age (SGA, birth weight < 10th percentile for gestational age), adequate for gestational age (AGA), or large for gestational age (LGA, birth weight > 90th percentile for gestational age) [433].

5.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

Descriptive statistics - using frequency or median and IQR - were used to characterize mothers. Frequency or median and range were used to describe the main characteristics of children. Prior to analysis, the normal distribution of continuous variables was checked using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Next, continuous variables underlying skewed distribution were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test for comparisons between two groups, and the Kruskal-Wallis test for comparisons between three groups. Categorical variables were compared using Chi-squared test. Next, logistic regression models were used: i) to identify main determinants of inadequate folate intake and folic acid supplement use. The models included variables that were significantly

associated with inadequate folate intake or folic acid supplement use in the univariate analysis; ii) to investigate the association of population characteristics (i.e., age, education level, employment status, smoking, pre-gestational BMI, use of folic acid supplements and use of multi-vitamin and/or multi-mineral supplements) with high adherence to each dietary pattern (3rd tertile vs. 1st and 2nd tertiles); iii) to identify main determinants of vaccination choice.

Results were reported as OR and 95% CI. All statistical tests were two-sided, and p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Dietary folate intake among pregnant women

In the current analysis, we included pregnant women – recruited from 2015 to 2019 – with complete assessment of dietary folate intakes and information about folic acid supplementation. Particularly, the subgroup included 397 pregnant women, aged 15–50 years old (median = 37 years), 282 out of which completed pregnancy at the time of this study.

In general, the average dietary folate intake was 533.4 μ g/day (median = 516.3 μ g/day; range = 68.9–2633.5 μ g/day). Moreover, near 65.0% of women (n = 257) did not meet the current recommendation of 600 μ g/day during pregnancy. **Figure 1** shows women distribution according to dietary folate intake and the use of supplements. **Table 1** shows women characteristics according to their dietary folate intake. Women who did not follow dietary recommendation were more likely to be smokers (p = 0.028) and with higher pre-gestational BMI (p = 0.029) than their counterpart. With respect to dietary practises, we observed that women who did not meet dietary recommendation were more likely to follow dietary restrictions (p = 0.003) and less likely to adhere to MD (p < 0.001). Notably, after applying logistic regression analysis, we demonstrated that following dietary restrictions (OR = 2.180; 95%CI = 1.085–4.378; p = 0.029), being a smoker (OR = 1.457; 95%CI = 1.046–2.030; p = 0.026), and low adherence to MD (OR = 3.194; 95%CI = 1.958–5.210; p < 0.001) were the main determinants of inadequate folate intake. In the subsample of 282 women who completed pregnancy, we also observed a higher percentage of SGA and LGA among those with inadequate folate intake (p < 0.001).

5.3.2 Use of folic acid supplements

Next, we evaluated the use of folic acid supplements among women of the Mamma & Bambino cohort. As shown in **Figure 2A**, only 2.8% of women did not take supplements. In this scenario, 74.8% of women were classified as insufficient users before pregnancy, while 22.4% met the recommendations both before and during pregnancy. **Figure 2B** shows the comparison about supplement use between women with inadequate folate intake and those with adequate folate intake.

We noted higher proportions of non-users and recommended users among women with inadequate folate intake than their counterpart. By contrast, a higher proportion of insufficient users has been reported among women with adequate dietary folate intake. However, these differences were not statistically significant. With respect to neonatal outcomes, we did not observe differences in the proportion of preterm birth (p = 0.430) and inadequate birthweight for gestational age (p = 0.770).

5.3.3 Determinants of folic acid supplement use among women with inadequate folate intake

Among 257 women who did not meet the recommendation of dietary folate intake, we next identified the main determinants of folic acid supplement use. Univariate analysis demonstrated that women who did not take supplements were less educated (p < 0001) and with lower MDS (p = 0.047) than supplement users (**Table 2**). Notably, logistic regression analysis confirmed that women with low educational level were more likely to not us folic acid supplements than their more educated counterpart (OR = 5.574; 95%CI = 1.487–21.435; p = 0.012).

5.3.4 Use of supplements and neonatal outcomes

Among 184 women with inadequate folate intake, we investigated the relationship between folic acid supplement use and neonatal outcomes. In this subsample, median gestational duration was 39 weeks, with 9.8% of preterm deliveries. With respect to neonatal anthropometric measures, median values of birth weight and length were 3.25 Kg (range = 1.0-4.75 Kg) and 50.0 cm (range = 41-56 cm), respectively. Moreover, approximately 84.1% of newborns were AGA, 5.5% were SGA and 10.4% were LGA. Compared with women who met supplement recommendation, **Figure 3A** showed a higher proportion of SGA newborns among those who did not take supplements before pregnancy and those who did not take supplements before and during pregnancy (p = 0.009). By contrast, the proportion of AGA newborns was the highest among women who took supplements both before and during pregnancy. Moreover, as shown in **Figure 3B**, the proportion of preterm births was higher among non-users and insufficient users of folic acid supplements. However, these differences were not statistically significant.

5.3.5 Dietary patterns among pregnant women

In the current analysis, we included 332 pregnant women (median age = 37 years) with complete assessment of dietary data. In general, 19.3% of women were less-educated, while 41.9% of them were unemployed. Moreover, 20.3% of pregnant women were current smokers. According to pregestational BMI (median = 22.7 Kg/m^2), 6.9% of women were underweight, 66.5% were normal weight, 17.2% were overweight and 9.4% were obese. While nearly 95% of women used folic acid supplements, 39.1% of them used multi-vitamin or multi-mineral supplements.

With respect to dietary patterns, the two-derived ones – named "western" and "prudent" - can explain 15.6% of total variance among the 39 food groups. **Figure 4** shows factor loadings retained to characterize each dietary pattern: the "western" dietary pattern was characterized by high intake of red meat, fries, dipping sauces, salty snacks, and alcoholic drinks, while the "prudent" dietary pattern was characterized by high intake of potatoes, raw and cooked vegetables, legumes, rice, and soup.

5.3.6 The association of socio-demographic characteristics and lifestyle with dietary patterns

As shown in **Table 3**, women with high adherence to the western dietary pattern were younger (p < 0.001) and less-educated (p = 0.022), compared with women who reported low or medium adherence. By contrast, women with high adherence to the prudent dietary pattern were more likely to use folic acid supplementation (p = 0.033) and exhibited lower pre-gestational BMI (p = 0.019), compared with women who reported low or medium adherence. Logistic regression analysis confirmed that high adherence to the western dietary pattern was negatively associated with age (OR = 0.885; 95%CI = 0.829-0.945; p = 0.001) and positively with low educational level and smoking (OR = 1.617; 95%CI = 1.006-3.374; p = 0.047 and OR = 1.812; 95%CI = 1.004-3.269; p = 0.048, respectively) (Table 4). By contrast, we confirmed a negative association between pregestational BMI and the adherence to the prudent dietary pattern (OR = 0.920; 95%CI = 0.865-0.978; p = 0.007). However, no associations of socio-demographic characteristics and lifestyles with the prudent dietary pattern were evident.

5.3.7 Vaccination choice among women

From the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort, we included 220 mother-child pairs with complete assessment of sociodemographic characteristics and vaccination status. With respect to social characteristics, 86.4% of women reported a high education level, while 56.8% were employed.

Firstly, we investigated the vaccination choice of recruited women at delivery. **Figure 5A** shows that the percentage of vaccinated women was heterogeneous in relation to the type of vaccine, from 8.3% (i.e., vaccine against HPV) to 65.6% (i.e., vaccine against DTaP). We next assessed whether women were vaccinated in their childhood, prior or during pregnancy. As shown in **Figure 5B**, the two different times of vaccination indicated by women were the childhood and the period immediately prior to pregnancy, while none of women has planned vaccinations during pregnancy. For instance, among vaccinated women the majority were vaccinated for MMR (84.1%), DTaP (96.4%) and Varicella (90.5%) during childhood, while a higher proportion of women were vaccinated for HPV (72.2%) before pregnancy. Specifically, we noted that 62.6% women were vaccinated for Influenza in the period immediately prior to pregnancy (**Figure 5B**). However, as

shown in **Figure 5C**, not all women were vaccinated during their lifetime due to different grounds for refusal. Among women who have not undergone the MMR vaccine, the majority declared that they have already contracted the diseases, while only a small proportion was not fully informed about vaccination programs or afraid to get vaccinated (3.8% and 0.8%, respectively). Similarly, 95.4% of unvaccinated women for Varicella have already contracted it, while only a small proportion was not fully informed about vaccination programs or afraid to get vaccination programs or afraid to get vaccinated (3.5% and 1.2%, respectively). By contrast, the proportions of unvaccinated women for HPV (97.0%), DTaP (97.2%) and Influenza (97.0%) were higher among pregnant women who were not fully informed about vaccination programs.

5.3.8 Vaccination choice among children

We next explored the vaccination status among children, using data collected during the follow-up interviews. Median age of children at the last available follow-up interview ranged from 11 to 24 months. The percentages of vaccinated children were high for Hexavalent (99.5%), Pneumococcal (98.6%) and MMRV (84.1%) vaccines (**Figure 6A**). Specifically, most children received the first dose of vaccine at a median of 3.0 months (2.0 - 12.0) for the Hexavalent and the Pneumococcal, and at a median of 13.0 month (12.0 - 36.0) for the MMRV, according to the recommended period (**Figure 6B**). We also noted high proportion of children who received the booster shots for Hexavalent (98.1%) and Pneumococcal (96.7%) vaccines (**Figure 6C**).

5.3.9 Association between age and vaccination choice

Afterwards, we aimed to investigate the relationships of age, educational level, and employment status with vaccination choice among mothers. As shown in **Figure 7**, unvaccinated women against MMR, HPV and DTaP were older if compared with their vaccinated counterparts. Notably, results from logistic regression analysis further confirmed that increasing age was associated with higher odds of not being vaccinated for MMR (OR = 1.12; 95%CI = 1.04-1.21; p = 0.003), HPV (OR = 1.18; 95%CI = 1.07-1.30; p = 0.001) and DTaP (OR = 1.09; 95%CI = 1.01-1.81; p = 0.044). Moreover, the positive association between age and no-vaccination for MMR (OR = 1.12; 95%CI = 1.04-1.21; p = 0.004), HPV (OR = 1.20; 95%CI = 1.08-1.33; p = 0.001) and DTaP (OR = 1.09; 95%CI = 1.01-1.18; p = 0.040) remained significant after adjusting for educational level and employment status. However, no association between social factors and vaccination choice was evident.

5.4 Discussion

As stated above, the determinants of health often influence our choices about healthy behaviors. Among lifestyles, nutrition in women of childbearing age plays a critical role in determining maternal and infant health. Degree of folate deficiency differs between and within countries, with higher prevalence in those without folic acid fortification of cereal-grain products [434, 435]. In line with previous studies [102, 268, 296, 297, 436], two out of three pregnant women from our cohort did not meet current recommendation.

Firstly, we aimed to uncover the main determinants of dietary folate intake in order to encourage public health strategies against folate deficiency. In particular, women with dietary restrictions and low adherence to MD were more likely to report inadequate folate intake, which in turn was higher among current smokers if compared with former or non-smoking women. During the periconceptional period, also the supplementation of folic acid represents an important strategy against adverse pregnancy outcomes [392]. However, the prevalence of folic acid supplementation remains often inadequate in several countries [395, 438], as demonstrated by previous study in which only 3% of Italian pregnant women used folic acid supplements as recommended [439]. Accordingly, we observed that ~75% of pregnant women did not take supplements as recommended (i.e., 4 weeks before conception until 8 weeks after). By contrast, in other European countries, prevalence of recommended users reached 50% [440].

Our analysis demonstrated that, among women with inadequate folate intake, those who reported low educational level were more likely to not use folic acid supplements than their counterpart. Among social factors, younger age [395], low income [441], educational level [438], and employment status [396] might affect the use of folic acid supplements, probably due to the reduced level of knowledge and awareness among the more disadvantaged groups [397]. For these reasons our findings, together with previous results, underline the need for identifying people at the highest risk for folate deficiency and, in turn, for increasing the prevalence of folic acid supplementation.

Additionally, we also evaluated the effects of folic acid supplements among women with inadequate folate intake. Our results showed a higher proportion of SGA births among women who did not take supplement before pregnancy and those who did not take supplement before and during pregnancy. Although the majority of studies demonstrated that the use of folic acid supplements before and during pregnancy reduced the risk of SGA [442-448], others reported an opposite [449, 450] or null effect [451, 452]. Thus, further research is needed to better understand the relationship between folic acid supplement use and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

In this scenario, we also described the effects of dietary patterns on maternal and neonatal health, and the main determinants involved in this relationship. To our knowledge, our study is the first evaluating the relationships between *a posteriori* dietary patterns (i.e., "prudent" and "western" dietary patterns), social determinants, and lifestyles in pregnant women from the Mediterranean area. Previous studies reported the association between high adherence to "western" dietary patterns and adverse maternal-neonatal outcomes, including GDM [453], PTB [195] and reduced birth length [195]. However, no associations with hypertension [454] and early foetal growth [455] have been established. In our cohort, young pregnant women with low educational level adhered more to the "western" dietary pattern, as previously demonstrated [398, 399]. Results from other cohorts showed that healthy dietary patterns were positively associated with education level and age [401, 402], which in turn were negatively associated with unhealthy dietary patterns [403].

In line with previous studies [404, 456], we also observed that current smokers tend to have unhealthier dietary habits than former- or non-smokers, probably due to a reduction of the senses of smell and an unhealthier lifestyle [457, 458]. Overall, our analysis confirmed the importance of exploring the relationships of dietary patterns, socio-demographic factors, and lifestyles during the peri-conceptional period.

With respect to the determinants of health, they are involved in several women choices – apart from food choices - during their reproductive age. For instance, public health increasingly seeks to focus on childhood and women of childbearing age [408, 409]. Focusing on the Italian scenario, we aimed to assess the vaccination choice among mother-child pairs enrolled in "Mamma & Bambino" cohort. Firstly, we evaluated the vaccination status of recruited women at delivery, reporting higher proportion of vaccinated women for DTaP (65.6%), than those vaccinated for MMR (38.1%), Influenza (20.1%), and Varicella (19.4%). Vaccinations against the above-mentioned diseases can be considered useful for promoting health among women of childbearing age [416, 459].

Moreover, in line with PNPV content, HPV vaccination should be recommended for adolescents aged 12 to 13 years old. However, we reported that only 8.3% of women were vaccinated for HPV, and nearly 73% of them before pregnancy. By contrast, among vaccinated women, 84.1%, 96.4% and 90.5% were vaccinated for MMR, DTaP and Varicella during childhood. With respect to Influenza, we reported that 62.6% women were vaccinated in the period immediately prior to pregnancy. In spite of these findings, we observed that no women have planned vaccinations during pregnancy. However, it is well known that infections during pregnancy have related to increased risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, longer hospitalization periods, and higher mortality rate [414]. In Italy, women should be vaccinated for DTaP between the 27th and the 36th week of every

pregnancy, regardless of prior DTaP history. Additionally, influenza vaccination is recommended for all pregnant women in any trimester [459]. In line with our findings, however, vaccination coverage among pregnant women remains steadily very low worldwide [417, 418]. In this context, the so-called "vaccine hesitancy" is a widespread behavior influenced by several factors, including: i) confidence, as low level of trust in vaccine; ii) complacency, as low awareness of vaccine usefulness and safety; iii) convenience, as lack of accessible healthcare system [426, 460]. For instance, in our study none of women reported to be informed about the recommended vaccines during the pregnancy, suggesting the need to improve women's level of knowledge during the maternal counselling. Rates of low coverage are more determined by the complacency rather than socio-demographic and/or socio-economic factors [461]. However, social determinants can vary among countries of different income levels, supporting the idea that their effects on vaccination choice should be considered for designing appropriate interventions [427]. We noted that unvaccinated women against MMR, HPV and DTaP were older if compared with their vaccinated counterparts. Notably, also after adjusting for educational level and employment status, logistic regression model showed that increasing age was associated with higher odds of not being vaccinated for MMR, HPV and DTaP. By contrast, no association between these social determinants and vaccination choice was evident. Our findings could be explained by the fact that women were more likely to get vaccinated during childhood, and younger women have benefited from better vaccination programs compared to the older ones. Thus, we supposed that age is not to be considered as direct determinant of vaccination choice, but it should suggest the need to improve the quality of vaccination offering.

Our findings should be interpreted with cautions due to some limitations, including the crosssectional design, which does not allow us to demonstrate the causality of the relationships. With respect to dietary folate intake, low sample size in the subgroups did not allow us to adjust for potential confounders. Moreover, we cannot exclude bias from residual unknown or unmeasured factors that might affect social determinants, lifestyles, and maternal diet. Moreover, future studies should evaluate folate status by measuring folate blood concentration and reviewing the size and morphology of blood cells. Secondly, data relied on self-reported interviews, which cannot completely exclude reporting errors. Furthermore, dietary assessment was referred to the first month of gestation and we were not able to account for changes in maternal dietary habits during pregnancy.

In conclusion, further research will be also directed to uncover the complex relationship between healthy/unhealthy lifestyles and adverse outcomes in both mother and child, with a focus on the

previously proposed role of gene-diet interaction [296, 298, 462] and epigenetic mechanisms [55, 102, 297, 463-465]. Moreover, our results raise the need of strategies for the promotion of healthy dietary habits among women of reproductive age, as well as for improving mothers' knowledge about vaccines and their related preventable diseases.

Characteristics	Inadequate Folate Intake (n = 257)	Adequate Folate Intake (n = 140)	<i>p</i> -Value
Age, years	37.0 (5.0)	37.5 (4.0)	0.375
Educational level	· · · ·	×	
Low	19.3%	18.7%	
Medium	51.4%	43.6%	0.214
High	29.3%	37.7%	-
Employed	56.4%	58.6%	0.679
Living in couple	92.3%	93.8%	0.973
Having children	68.5%	68.6%	0.985
Food intolerance (% yes)	16.7%	10.0%	0.150
Dietary restriction (% yes)	19.8%	8.6%	0.003
Smoking status			
Non-smoker	55.0%	57.6%	
Former smoker	15.7%	23.5%	0.028
Smoker	29.3%	18.8%	-
Pregestational BMI, Kg/m ²	23.2 (4.9)	22.1 (5.4)	0.029
Pregestational BMI categories			
Underweight	5.5%	8.6%	
Normal weight	63.7%	66.4%	0 252
Overweight	20.3%	13.6%	0.555
Obese	10.2%	11.4%	-
MDS	4 (2)	5 (2)	<0.001
Adherence to MD			
Low	45.1%	20.0%	
Medium	52.9%	63.6%	<0.001
High	1.9%	16.4%	-
Preterm birth ^c	8.4%	7.2%	0.722
Birthweight for gestational age			
SGA	13.7%	4.8%	
AGA	67.4%%	88.4%	<0.001
LGA	18.9%	6.9%	

Table 1. Characteristic	s of pregnant womer	n according to folate intake
-------------------------	---------------------	------------------------------

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020

Characteristics	Non-Users (n = 9)	Insufficient Users (n = 188)	Recommended Users (n = 60)	<i>p</i> -Value
Age, years	38.0 (8.0)	37.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0))	0.884
Educational level				
Low	44.4%	22.9%	1.7%	
Medium	55.6%	44.1%	40.0%	<0.001
High	0%	33.0%	58.3%	
Employed	55.6%	52.7%	68.3%	0.103
Living in couple	90.1%	91.2%	94.2	0.878
Having children	66.7%	70.2%	63.3%	0.603
Food intolerance (% yes)	0%	17.0%	18.3%	0.264
Dietary restriction (% yes)	33.3%	18.6%	21.7%	0.514
Smoking status				
Non-smoker	55.6%	55.1%	66.1%	
Former smoker	33.3%	21.9%	27.1%	0.078
Smoker	11.1%	23.0%	6.8%	
Pregestational BMI, Kg/m ²	22.7 (3.2)	23.6 (5.3)	22.2 (3.9)	0.256
Pregestational BMI categori	es	· · · · ·	· · · · ·	
Underweight	0%	5.9%	5.0%	
Normal weight	66.7%	60.4%	73.3%	0 575
Overweight	33.3%	20.9%	16.7%	0.575
Obese	0%	12.3%	5.0%	
MDS	3 (3)	4 (2)	4 (2)	0.047
Adherence to MD				
Low	66.7%	46.8%	36.7%	
Medium	33.3%	51.1%	61.7%	0.424
High	0%	2.1%	1.7%	

Table 2. Characteristics of folate deficient women according to supplement use

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020

Dopulation abaractoristics	Wastarn diatary nattarn			Prudent dietery nettern				
ropulation characteristics	10, 11	western dietary pattern			Frudent dietary patiern			
	l'tertile	2°tertile	3°tertile	р-	l°tertile	2°tertile	3°tertile	р-
				value				value
Age, years	38.0 (4.0)	38.0 (4.0)	36.0 4.0)	<0.001	38.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0)	0.675
Gestational age, weeks	14.7 (4.0)	16.0 (5.0)	16.0 (5.0)	0.777	16.0 (2)	16.0 (4.0)	15.0 (5.0)	0.001
Educational level, % of low-medium	20.0%	11.7%	26.4%	0.022	22.7%	19.8%	15.5%	0.389
Employment status, % of unemployed	40.9%	36.9%	47.3%	0.291	42.7%	39.6%	42.7%	0.865
Smoking status, % of current smokers	20.9%	18.0%	22.2%	0.731	20.9%	18.0%	22.2%	0.731
Use of folic acid supplements, % of users	94.5%	95.5%	94.5%	0.972	91.8%	93.6%	99.1%	0.033
Use of multi-vitamins or multi-minerals, % of users	40.7%	35.1%	40.9%	0.606	38.5%	32.4%	45.9%	0.123
Pre-gestational BMI, kg/m ^{2*}	22.5 (4.9)	22.7 (5.1)	22.9 (5.2)	0.704	23.0 (5.1)	23.2 (4.7)	21.9 (4.8)	0.019
Pre-gestational BMI								
Underweight	7.3%	7.2%	6.4%		5.5%	8.1%	7.3%	
Normal weight	63.6%	69.4%	66.1%	0 697	64.5%	65.8%	68.6%	0 575
Overweight	17.3%	13.5%	21.1%	0.08/	20.9%	13.5%	17.4%	- 0.3/3
Obese	11.8%	9.9%	6.4%		9.1%	12.6%	6.4%	

Table 3. Characteristics of study population by adherence to dietary patterns

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Ann Ig 2019

adherence to dietary patterns							
Population characteristics Western Dietary Pattern Prudent Dietary							
	OR	95%CI	p- value	OR	95%CI	p- value	
Age (continuous)	0.885	0.829-0.945	0.001	1.011	0.951-1.076	0.718	
Pre-gestational BMI (continuous)	1.002	0.950-1.056	0.947	0.920	0.865-0.978	0.007	

1.006-3.374

0.635-1.792

1.004-3.269

0.422-1.996

0.472-1.296

0.700

1.358

1.224

0.351

0.750

0.346-1.417

0.812-2.271

0.662-2.263

0.095-1.302

0.460-1.222

0.047

0.808

0.048

0.828

0.340

0.322

0.243

0.519

0.118

0.248

1.617

1.066

1.812

0.917

0.782

Educational level (low-medium)

Employment status (unemployed)

Smoking status (current smokers)

Use of folic acid supplements (users)

Use of multivitamin supplements (users)

Table 4. Logistic regression analysis of the association between population characteristics and high

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Ann Ig 2019





This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020

Figure 2. Use of folic acid supplements among pregnant women



(A) Panel A shows proportions of non-users, insufficient users, and recommended users among the overall cohort. (B) Panel B shows the categories of folic acid supplement according to folate intake.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020

Figure 3. Neonatal adverse outcomes and folic acid supplement use among women with folate deficiency



(A) Panel A shows the distribution of small for gestational age (SGA), adequate for gestational age (AGA) and large for gestational age (LGA) infants. (B) Panel B shows the distribution of preterm and at term birth. ** p-value <0.01.</p>

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020



Figure 4. Radar graph of factor loadings characterizing each dietary pattern

Red line represents the distribution of factor loadings related to the western dietary pattern. Green line represents the distribution of factor loadings related to the prudent dietary pattern.

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Ann Ig 2019



Figure 5. Vaccination choice among pregnant women

This panel shows (A) the proportion of vaccinated women for MMR, HPV, DTaP, Varicella, and Influenza; (B) the proportion of women vaccinated in the childhood or during the pre-pregnancy period; (C) and grounds of refusal among non-vaccinated women.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Vaccines 2021



Figure 6. Vaccination choice among children

А

This panel shows (A) the proportion of children who received the first dose of Hexavalent, Pneumococcal, and MMRV vaccines; (B) the timing of receiving the first dose; (C) the proportion of children who received the second dose.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Vaccines 2021



Figure 7. Comparison of age between vaccinated and non-vaccinated women

These box plots show the distribution of age between vaccinated and non-vaccinated women. Age was compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. * p-value <0.05; ** p-value<0.01.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Vaccines 2021

6. The effect of dietary habits on pregnancy outcomes

6.1 Background

Despite great efforts against the obesity epidemic worldwide, the WHO reported that more than two billion adults were overweight or obese in 2014 [466]. The first thousand days of life - from conception to the end of the second year - are a critical period for the obesity development. In early pregnancy, in fact, excessive GWG is a risk factor for increased birth weight, which is associated with higher risk of obesity both in childhood and adulthood [467, 468]. Interestingly, there has been found a link between low birth weight and higher body fat percentage/abdominal obesity in adolescents [469]. In general, excessive or reduced GWG may affect both maternal and new-born health. Indeed, excessive GWG has been associated with an increased risk of hypertension [172], diabetes [173], caesarean section [174], postpartum weight retention [175] and obesity [176]. In newborns, inadequate GWG has been associated with neonatal and infant mortality, preterm birth, and fetal growth retardation [470]. Promotion programs, addressing lifestyle behaviors and dietary habits, should be encouraged to prevent weight loss and to control excessive weight gain [471]. Although evidence is currently limited, these interventions should be promoted during the periconceptional period. The study of dietary patterns during pregnancy represents one of the suitable approaches to assess the effect of diet on maternal and neonatal health. Previous studies evaluated the association of dietary patterns with pre-pregnancy BMI and/or GWG [472-475], but none of them has focused on Southern Europe populations. Since dietary patterns differ across countries, it is crucial to identify country-specific dietary patterns that may be associated with maternal and neonatal outcomes. With this in mind, the ongoing prospective "Mamma & Bambino" study aims to explore the effect of preconception, perinatal and early life exposure on maternal and neonatal health. We supposed that the adherence to healthy dietary habits during the early phase of pregnancy might improve adequate GWG. Thus, we used data from the Mamma & Bambino cohort to identify major maternal dietary patterns and to investigate their association with pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Study design

Study design and protocols of the "Mamma & Bambino" study are described in the paragraph 5.2.1. For this analysis, we included pregnant women who completed their pregnancy, while all the mothers with plurality, pre-existing diseases, pregnancy complications, pre-term induced delivery or caesarean section, intrauterine foetal death and congenital malformations were excluded.

6.2.2 Definitions of pre-pregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain

At recruitment, we collected information on maternal pre-pregnancy weight and height, in order to calculate pre-pregnancy BMI as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared and to classify it according to WHO criteria [429]. At delivery, maternal weight, length of gestation and anthropometric measures (i.e., birth weight and birth length of newborns) were collected from clinical records. Total GWG was calculated by subtracting the self-reported pre-pregnancy weight from the weight at delivery. According to the IOM guidelines, we defined adequate GWG as 12.5-18 kg for underweight, 11.5-16 kg for normal weight, 7-11.5 kg for overweight, and 5-9 kg for obese women [476].

6.2.3. Assessment of Dietary patterns

Dietary assessment was performed as described in the paragraph 5.2.3. In particular dietary assessment was referred to the early phase of pregnancy (i.e., from the beginning to the 16 week of gestation). Diet information - obtained from the FFQ - were converted into monthly and daily food intakes, multiplying the frequency of consumption for the portion size (g). Total energy intake was calculated using the table of food composition of the US Department of Agriculture (http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/), adapted to typical Italian food consumption. Food intakes were adjusted for total energy intake using the residual method [301]. Principal component analysis (PCA) was a posteriori method used to extract dietary patterns, as described elsewhere [268, 278]. We determined the number of retained dietary patterns as described in the paragraph 5.2.3, according to scree plot examination, eigenvalues >2.0, and interpretability. Factor loadings with an absolute value ≥ 0.2 were retained to define food groups characterizing each dietary pattern. For each dietary pattern, factor scores were calculated as the sum of products between observed energy-adjusted food group intakes and their factor loadings. According to factor loading distribution, adherence to each dietary pattern was categorized as i) low (1st tertile of factor loading), ii) medium (2nd tertile), or iii) high (3rd tertile). To corroborate internal reproducibility, factor analysis was separately replicated in two randomly selected subgroups (n = 100), using the same approach as for the main analysis. Next, we tested the correlation of factors scores between the overall sample and two randomly selected subgroups. Cohen's weighted Kappa were applied to assess the correct ranking ability by comparing tertile distribution in the overall cohort and in two randomly selected subgroups.

6.2.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 22.0, SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were applied to characterize the study population using frequency or median

and IQR. Prior to analysis, the normal distribution of all variables was checked using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables underlying skewed distribution were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test for comparisons between three or more groups. Categorical variables were compared using Chi-squared test. Linear regression models were performed to explore the association of dietary patterns with pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG, using the first tertile as reference. For each dietary pattern, we also investigated the association of one-standard deviation increase in factor score with BMI and GWG. For pre-pregnancy BMI, the model was adjusted for potential confounders (i.e., age, educational level, employment status, smoking, total energy intake, and gestational age at recruitment). We also tested for interaction between gestational age at recruitment and adherence to dietary pattern on pregestational BMI. For GWG, linear regression models were applied on the overall population and stratified by pre-pregnancy BMI categories. The model was adjusted for potential variables associated with GWG, as age, length of gestation, birth weight, educational level, working status, smoking, parity, newborn sex, and total energy intake. All statistical tests were two-sided, and p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Characteristics of the study population

Overall, we included 232 women who completed singleton pregnancy, with a median age of 37 years and enrolled at a median gestational age of 16 weeks. Based on pre-gestational BMI, we classified women as: underweight (8.1%), normal weight (66.2%), overweight (16.7%) and obese (9%). According to pre-gestational BMI and GWG, we noted that 31.2% of women exhibited a reduced GWG, while 27.4% of them an excessive GWG. **Table 1** shows maternal characteristics according to GWG categories. In general, we observed U-shaped distributions of pre-pregnancy weight (p < 0.001) and (BMI p = 0.002) across GWG categories. Thus, women with adequate GWG exhibited lower pre-pregnancy weight and BMI than those with reduced or excessive GWG. Moreover, maternal weight at delivery was higher in women with excessive GWG (p < 0.001), as well as newborn birth weight (p = 0.039).

6.3.2. Dietary patterns and pre-pregnancy body mass index

We first derived two dietary patterns which explain 15.55% of total variance among 39 food groups. The analysis of dietary patterns in two randomly selected subgroups yielded similar results. Indeed, factor scores obtained in the two subgroups well correlated with those obtained in the entire cohort, with a Spearman's correlation coefficient from 0.8 to 0.9. Moreover, we observed almost perfect agreement in the ranking ability between the whole cohort and the selected subgroups, with a weighted kappa from 0.81 to 1.0.

In the whole cohort, we derived two dietary patterns: the "western" dietary pattern - characterized by high intake of red meat, fries, dipping sauces, salty snacks, and alcoholic drinks- and the "prudent" dietary patterns – characterized by high intake of boiled potatoes, cooked vegetables, legumes, pizza and soup. As shown in **Table 2**, higher adherence to the western dietary pattern was associated with decreasing age (p < 0.001) and percentage of high-educated women (p = 0.022). With respect to the prudent dietary pattern, pre-pregnancy weight and BMI decreased across tertiles (p = 0.043 and p = 0.019, respectively). As shown in **Table 3**, women who highly adhered to the prudent dietary pattern were less likely to be overweight or obese (p = 0.007). Linear regression analysis further confirmed the negative association between pre-pregnancy BMI and the adherence to the prudent dietary pattern (β = -0.631; SE = 0.318; p-trend = 0.038), after adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, educational level, employment status, smoking, total energy intake and gestational age at recruitment). Particularly, women who highly adhered to the prudent dietary pattern exhibited a ≈1.4 point reduced pre-pregnancy BMI, compared to those with low adherence to the western dietary pattern, nor interaction with gestational age at recruitment were evident.

6.3.3. Dietary patterns and gestational weight gain

Although no associations between dietary patterns and GWG were evident the univariate analysis, we applied a linear regression model adjusting for age, weight at delivery, gestational duration, educational level, working, smoking, parity, new-born sex and total energy intake (**Table 4**). In general, we observed a positive trend of GWG across tertiles of the western dietary pattern (β = -1.217; SE = 0.487; p = 0.013). A similar trend was observed in obese (β = 7.363; SE = 1.808; p = 0.005), with women in the 3rd tertile exhibiting a ≈13.7 Kg increased GWG compared to those in the 1st tertile (β = 13.701; SE = 0.887; p = 0.041). By contrast, no association between GWG and adherence to the prudent dietary pattern was found in the overall population. However, we demonstrated an opposite effect across BMI categories. Specifically, we found a positive trend of GWG across tertiles of the prudent dietary pattern among underweight (β = 4.127; SE = 1.722; p = 0.048), while a negative trend was evident in overweight (β = -4.209; SE = 1.635; p = 0.016) and obese (β = -7.356; SE = 2.304; p = 0.031). Particularly, overweight women in the 2nd and 3rd tertiles exhibited a ≈8.0 and ≈9.8 Kg reduced GWG, respectively, compared to those in the 1st tertile (β = -7.975; SE = 2.672; p = 0.010; and β = -9.736; SE = 4.302; p = 0.037).

6.4 Discussions

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to explore the association of maternal dietary patterns with pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG in Southern Europe. We demonstrated that, in the early

phase of pregnancy, "healthy" dietary habits might promote adequate GWG according to pregestational BMI. Interestingly, we first demonstrated that women with high adherence to the prudent dietary pattern reported \approx 1.3 point reduced pre-pregnancy BMI than those with low adherence. Moreover, we observed a dual opposite effect of the prudent dietary pattern on GWG across BMI categories. In fact, the adherence to this pattern was positively associated with GWG among underweight, and negatively among overweight and obese. Although some studies did not demonstrate the association between healthy diet and GWG [472, 473], results from the prospective Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study showed the association between high adherence to the New Nordic Diet - rich in fruits and vegetables - and lower risk of excessive GWG among underweight [475]. These findings and ours might be attributable to the healthy effect of fruits and vegetables on maternal health and fetal growth.

For instance, US pregnant women who consumed more than 3 servings/day of fruits and vegetables reported significantly lower GWG than those who consumed <3servings/day [477]. Similarly, a cross-sectional analysis within the NHANES project showed greater odds of exceeding GWG recommendations in pregnant women who consumed low amounts of total vegetables [478]. The adherence to a prudent dietary pattern might provide a balanced intake of energy, macro- and micronutrients [477], also promoting an adequate GWG independent of pre-pregnancy BMI. Moreover, women who adhered to a prudent diet were more likely to have healthy habits, which in turn contributed to adequate GWG independent of pre-gestational BMI [480]. In this scenario, our study demonstrated that the adherence to a prudent dietary pattern improved pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG across BMI categories, which in turn have been previously associated with increased birth weight [483]. Of note, our analysis also confirmed that birth weight was higher in infants born from mothers with excessive GWG, compared to those with adequate or reduced GWG.

With respect to the western dietary pattern, pregnant women with high adherence were more likely to be younger and less educated. In line, previous studies demonstrated that older women are more likely to have a healthy lifestyle in general [475] and that healthy food choices are a reflection of an overall healthy behavior [484, 485]. Contrary to the prudent dietary pattern, associations between the adherence to the western dietary pattern and pre-gestational BMI were not found. For this reason, it would be important to develop recommendations on healthy foods to be consumed (e.g., fruit and vegetables), instead of on foods to be avoided during pregnancy. However, among obese women, the high adherence to the western dietary pattern led to a \approx 13.7 Kg increased GWG compared to the low adherence. Although few studies investigated the association between maternal unhealthy diet and GWG [472-475, 486, 487], our findings are consistent with previous evidence

demonstrating that unhealthy dietary patterns were associated with higher GWG [472, 473]. A plausible explanation lies in the fact that unhealthy and energy-dense foods (e.g. fries, dipping sauces, salty snacks and alcoholic drinks) could increase total energy intake, confirming the positive association between energy intake and GWG [488].

Our study had some limitations. We cannot assess the causality of the association between dietary patterns and pre-pregnancy BMI in our cross-sectional study. Since we calculated GWG at delivery, instead of at each trimester, we did not investigate the effect of dietary patterns on GWG trajectories. Self-reported weight assessment restricted the power of our work, and reporting errors of weight cannot be completely excluded. Moreover, further research should evaluate components of GWG, including total body water, fat-free mass, and fat mass. Furthermore, due to the limited sample size in underweight and obese groups, we were not able to investigate the effect of adherence to dietary patterns on adequate GWG, assessed as dichotomous outcomes.

With respect to dietary assessment, the PCA-derived dietary patterns only explained 15.55% of total variance among food groups. However, we used well-established criteria to derive dietary patterns, consistent with those reported by previous studies [268, 278]. Furthermore, since dietary assessment was referred to the early phase of pregnancy, we were not able to account for changes in maternal dietary pattern, especially those related to alcoholic drinks [494]. Accordingly, previous studies did not take into account the alcohol component in their dietary assessment [474]. However, in our cohort, the western dietary pattern was characterized also by the intake of alcoholic drinks, underlining that some pregnant women did not follow the recommendations on avoiding alcohol intake during pregnancy. Despite an increased energy intake, however, dietary patterns may not change largely during pregnancy [492, 493]. Finally, we cannot exclude the possibility of bias from residual confounders that might affect both maternal dietary patterns and GWG (e.g., physical activity, sedentary lifestyle, unmeasured socio-demographic factors, psychosocial conditions, illness, and vomiting).

Thus, we demonstrated that a western dietary pattern did not affect pre-gestational BMI but increased GWG, especially in obese women. In contrast, the prudent dietary pattern ameliorated pre-gestational BMI and GWG, with different effect across BMI categories. Indeed, the adherence to this pattern was positively associated with GWG among underweight, and negatively among overweight and obese. Thus, the promotion of healthy dietary habits, even during the periconceptional period, represents a potential strategy to maintain an adequate weight independent of pre-gestational BMI.

gestational weight gain categories							
Characteristics	Reduced GWG (n=73)	Adequate GWG (n=95)	Excessive GWG (n=64)	p-value			
Age	37.0 (4.0)	38.0 (5.0)	37.0 (4.0)	0.546			
Educational level (low- medium %)	15.1%	13.4%	17.2%	0.804			
Working (%)	58.9%	63.9%	54.7%	0.495			
Smoking (%)	15.1%	17.7%	22.2%	0.553			
Pre-pregnancy weight	61.0 (13.3)	59.0 (13.0)	64.0 (17.8)	< 0.001			
Pre-pregnancy BMI	23.1 (4.4)	21.6 (3.8)	24.2 (6.5)	0.002			
Pre-pregnancy BMI							
categories							
Underweight	6.8%	8.2%	9.4%	_			
Normal weight	68.5%	77.3%	46.9%	0.001			
Overweight	15.1%	7.2%	32.8%	0.001			
Obese	9.6%	7.2%	10.9%	-			
Weight at delivery	68.0 (10.0)	72.0 (14.0)	82.0 (16.7)	< 0.001			
Length of gestation	39.0 (2.0)	39.0 (2.0)	39.2 (2.0)	0.701			
Birth weight	3.2 (0.6)	3.2 (0.6)	3.3 (0.6)	0.039			
Birth length	50.0 (2.0)	50.0 (2.0)	50.0 (2.0)	0.286			

Table 1. Characteristics of women from the Mamma & Bambino cohort (n=232) according to

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Nutrients 2019

Characteristics	1 st tertile	2 nd tertile	3 rd tertile	p-value
Age	38.0 (5.0)	38.0 (4.0)	36.0 (3.0)	< 0.001
Gestational age	16.0 (3.0)	16.0 (4.0)	16.0 (2.0)	0.777
Educational level (low-medium %)	20.0%	11.7%	26.4%	0.022
Working (%)	59.1%	63.1%	52.7%	0.291
Smoking (%)	17.4%	16.2%	27.5%	0.074
Use of folic acid supplements (%)	95.1%	94.7%	94.7%	0.949
Use of other multivitamin supplements	44.4%	33.3%	42.1%	0.334
(%)				
Pre-pregnancy weight	60.0 (14.2)	62.5 (15.0)	60.0 (15.0)	0.923
Pre-pregnancy BMI	22.3 (4.4)	22.7 (5.0)	22.8 (5.5)	0.704
Pre-pregnancy BMI categories				
Underweight	7.3%	7.2%	6.4%	0.687
Normal weight	63.6%	69.4%	66.1%	
Overweight	17.3%	13.5%	21.1%	
Obese	11.8%	9.9%	6.4%	
Weight at delivery	71.5 (16.5)	74.0 (16.0)	74.0 (14.0)	0.636
Length of gestation	39.0 (2.0)	39.0 (2.0)	39.0 (2.0)	0.976
Birth weight	3.2 (0.6)	3.2 (0.7)	3.3 (0.5)	0.800
Length	50.0 (2.0)	50.0 (1.0)	50.0 (2.0)	0.391
GWG	11.5 (7.2)	13.0 (7.0)	13.0 (9.0)	0.056
GWG classification				
Reduced	36.6%	28.0%	28.9%	0.162
Adequate	41.5%	48.0%	34.2%	
Excessive	22%	24%	36.8%	

Table 2. Characteristics of women from the Mamma & Bambino cohort (n=232) according to adherence to western dietary pattern

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Nutrients 2019
Characteristics	1 st tertile	2 nd tertile	3 rd tertile	p-value ^a
Age ^b	38.0 (5.0)	37.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0)	0.675
Gestational age ^b	16.0 (1.0)	16.0 (3.0)	15.0 (5.0)	0.001
Educational level (low-medium %) ^c	22.7%	19.8%	15.5%	0.389
Working (%)	57.3%	60.4%	57.3%	0.865
Smoking (%)	20.9%	18.0%	22.2%	0.731
Use of folic acid supplements (%)	91.7%	93.8%	98.7%	0.210
Use of other multivitamin supplements	59.7%	61.0%	59.0%	0.966
(%)				
Pre-pregnancy weight ^b	63.0 (12.0)	60.5 (14.2)	58.5 (14.0)	0.043
Pre-pregnancy BMI ^b	23.2 (4.7)	22.7 (4.7)	21.8 (5.1)	0.019
Pre-pregnancy BMI categories				
Underweight	5.5%	8.1%	7.3%	0.007
Normal weight	64.5%	65.8%	70.8%	
Overweight	20.9%	17.4%	14.5%	
Obese	9.1%	8.7%	7.4%	
Weight at delivery ^b	74.0 (17.0)	73.5 (14.2)	72.0 (15.0)	0.551
Length of gestation ^b	39.0 (2.0)	39.0 (2.0)	39.0 (2.0)	0.562
Birth weight ^b	3.2 (0.6)	3.2 (0.6)	3.3 (0.7)	0.522
Length ^b	50.0 (2.0)	50.0 (2.0)	50.0 (2.0)	0.935
GWG ^b	12.0 (8.0)	12.0 (6.2)	13.0 (7.5)	0.830
GWG classification				
Reduced	31.9%	34.1%	27.8%	0.823
Adequate	37.5%	40.2%	45.6%	
Excessive	30.6%	25.6%	26.6%	

Table 3. Characteristics of women from the Mamma & Bambino cohort (n=232) according to adherence to prudent dietary pattern

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Nutrients 2019

Dietary patterns	Total			Underweight			No	Normal weight			Overweight			Obese		
	β	SE	p-value	В	SE	p-value	В	SE	p-value	β	SE	p-value	β	SE	p-value	
	Western															
1 st tertile		Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
2 nd tertile	1.369	0.971	0.161	1.198	5.516	0.848	1.218	0.992	0.223	5.003	4.152	0.250	2.549	3.967	0.636	
3 rd tertile	1.542	1.072	0.152	2.308	10.321	0.860	0.961	1.116	0.392	1.917	3.637	0.605	13.701	0.887	0.041	
Trend	1.217	0.487	0.013	-0.425	1.651	0.804	0.372	0.542	0.493	2.695	1.828	0.152	7.363	1.808	0.005	
]	Prudent									
1 st tertile		Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
2 nd tertile	-0.353	1.019	0.730	-5.149	1.351	0.163	0.895	1.098	0.417	-7.975	2.672	0.010	-5.730	2.156	0.131	
3 rd tertile	0.184	1.067	0.863	5.382	1.678	0.274	-0.003	1.142	0.998	-9.736	4.302	0.037	-10.730	4.156	0.061	
Trend	0.118	0.513	0.818	4.127	1.722	0.048	0.046	0.538	0.932	-4.209	1.635	0.016	-7.356	2.304	0.031	

Table 4. Linear regression of the association between dietary patterns and gestational weight gain, stratified by body mass index categories

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Nutrients 2019

7. The effect of genetic variants on pregnancy outcomes

7.1 Background

Worldwide, two-thirds of the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes depend on maternal behaviors, with a key role of maternal nutrition during the pre-conceptional and gestational periods [495]. However, uncovering the main genetic risk factors of adverse pregnancy outcomes represents one of the main challenges for public health, since they conferred about a third of this risk [168-170]. In spite of improvements in health care, adverse maternal and neonatal outcomes are a major public health problem [160, 496, 497]. For instance, PTB represents the first cause of death among newborns and the second among children under five years [158]. The major risk factors associated with PTB are maternal age, short inter-pregnancy interval, multiple gestation, drug abuse, smoking, infections, low maternal pre-pregnancy weight or inadequate GWG [498-501]. However, also genetic susceptibility has been taken into account [161], with novel genomic variants that affect maternal and neonatal health [162].

Overall, vitamin D is crucial for adult health [502] and its deficiency during pregnancy is associated with potential maternal and neonatal adverse outcomes [503]. In humans, Vitamin D is mostly provided by the endogenous cutaneous synthesis of pre-vitamin D3, obtained from 7dehydrocholesterol through the exposure to ultraviolet radiation [504]. However, other sources of Vitamin D include dietary intakes of oily fish, fortified margarines and some breakfast cereals, while smaller amounts are also present in red meat and egg yolk [505]. The primary form of Vitamin D in these foods is vitamin D3 [506], which is used in fortified foods in U.S.A. and Canada [507, 508]. While Vitamin D3 represents almost 95% vitamin D serum levels [509], Vitamin D2 is also provided by foods and supplements [510]. Therefore, serum levels of 25-hydroxylated vitamin D2+D3 (25OHD) characterize the vitamin D pool of the body. With respect to Vitamin D absorption, it follows the same process of other fat-soluble vitamins. After being incorporated into micelles, vitamin D reaches intestinal epithelium where it is encapsulated into chylomicrons which enter the lymphatic circulation. In the liver, Vitamin D3 is metabolized by a number of mitochondrial and microsomal P450 enzymes [511], acting as 25 hydroxylases, into hydroxycholecalciferol [25(OH)D], which in turn passes into general circulation and binds to a specific carrier protein, named as vitamin D binding protein (DBP). Particularly, 25(OH)D serum levels vary across populations, depending on latitude, pollution, concealing clothing, sun exposure, gender, dietary habits [512]. Once in kidney, 25(OH)D can undergo several hydroxylation reactions, catalyzed by 1a-hydroxylase and 24-hydroxylase, which give rise respectively to the

active component, named 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol [1,25(OH)D] or calcitriol, and the inactive form 24,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol [24,25(OH)D] [513]. Many other tissues also retain the 1 α -hydroxylase enzyme, allowing the local conversion of 25(OH)D to the active 1,25(OH)2D [514]. The endocrine effects of 1,25(OH)D concern mineral metabolism, prevention and treatment of rickets and regulation of bone health [515]. Moreover, Vitamin D is also considered an important regulatory factor of the immune system, mainly for macrophages, B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, dendritic cells (DCs) and thymocytes [516].

During pregnancy, maternal vitamin D is provided to the fetus, also regulating placental function [504]. Maternal vitamin D deficiency may influence maternal and neonatal outcomes, such as recurrent pregnancy losses, preeclampsia, gestational diabetes, PTB, LBW and SGA [517]. However, it is not fully understood if adequate vitamin D levels may reduce the risk of adverse outcomes [517-520].

In this scenario, growing interest concerns the effect of genetic variants affecting vitamin D metabolism and functions. Vitamin D activity is mediated by the nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR), which acts as a high-affinity ligand-activated transcription factor [521]. VDR gene is located on the chromosome 12q12-14, with high expression in several human tissues (i.e. skin epithelium, osteoblasts and chondrocytes, muscles, cells from the immune system and placenta) [522]. Since VDR is a ligand-activated transcription factor which binds to genes with promoters characterized by a vitamin D response element (VDRE), it is involved in the transcription of more than 900 genes. Moreover, VDR interacts with other transcriptional factors, such as the retinoid X receptor (RXR), to form a heterodimer [523]. VDR gene, which includes two promoter regions, eight coding exons and six untranslated exons, might be commonly affected by SNPs, which change the activity of the vitamin D-VDR complex [524, 525]. Recently, some studies investigated the association between VDR polymorphisms and the risk of adverse outcomes, such as PTB, LBW and SGA births [157, 161, 526-534]. The most common described di-allelic VDR gene polymorphisms are: BsmI (rs1544410) and ApaI (rs7975232) on the last intron, FokI (rs2228570) and TaqI (rs731236) on the coding exons [524, 528]: while TaqI and FokI consist of a single base change (A to G and G to A in exons 9 and 2, respectively), BsmI and ApaI are located in the last intron of the sequence and result from a single base change (G to A and A to C, respectively). However, evidence is still inconclusive, with high heterogeneity across studies [535]. With this in mind, our study aimed to investigate the association of maternal VDR polymorphisms with neonatal anthropometric measures and the risk of PTB, even considering dietary intake of vitamin D. Next, we performed a systematic review to evaluate the effect of VDR polymorphisms on PTB risk and on neonatal anthropometric measures. Finally, we validated our results by pooling them with those described in previous studies through a meta-analysis.

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Study design

The "Mamma & Bambino" cohort is designed to explore the effect of preconception, perinatal and early life exposure on maternal and infant health. Full details on study design and protocol are reported in the paragraph 5.2.1.

In the current analysis, we included mother-child pairs with complete information on sociodemographic characteristics, lifestyle and vitamin D intake, pregnancy outcomes and maternal VDR genotype distributions. Primary outcomes were gestational duration and PTB, as spontaneous delivery before 37 weeks. Secondary outcomes were birth weight and length. Specifically, birth weight was classified as LBW (< 2.5 Kg) and macrosomia (\geq 4.0Kg). Birth weight for gestational age was defined as SGA, AGA or LGA according to sex-specific national reference charts [433]. We included women who completed pregnancy, excluding those with pre-existing diseases, pregnancy complications, pre-term induced delivery, intrauterine fetal death, plurality, and congenital malformations.

7.2.2 VDR genotyping

Maternal DNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples using QIAamp DNA Mini Kit according to the manufacturer protocol (Qiagen, Milano). VDR polymorphisms were genotyped using the following commercially available TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (Applied Biosystem): *ApaI* rs7975232 (C_28977635_10), *TaqI* rs731236 (C_2404008_10), *BsmI* rs1544410 (C_8716062_10), *FokI* rs2228570 (C_12060045_20). All reactions were performed in triplicate on the QuantStudioTM 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem) deploying conditions set by the manufacturer. Allele determination was carried out using QuantStudioTM 7 Flex System Software.

7.2.3 Assessment of vitamin D intake

Vitamin D intake was assessed by a validated 95-item semi-quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ), as described in the paragraph 5.2.3.

Vitamin D intake was calculated using the USDA Nutrient Database (http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/) adapted to the Italian food consumption. The use of multimineral or multivitamin supplements containing vitamin D was verified, but the vitamin D intake was based only on food sources, as the FFQ was not designed to establish the vitamin D intake by supplementation.

7.2.4 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS software (version 22.0, SPSS, Chicago, IL). Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population, using frequency, mean and SD, or median and IQR. The Chi-square test was performed to determine if genotype distributions in mothers with full-term delivery were deviated from the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE). Prior to analysis, the normal distribution of all variables was checked using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Based on skewed distribution, the Mann–Whitney U test or the Kruskal–Wallis test were used to compare maternal and neonatal quantitative variables across VDR genotypes. Chi-squared test was used to compare categorical. Linear and binary regression models were performed to evaluate the associations of VDR polymorphisms with pregnancy outcomes, using the non-mutated genotypes as reference. Regression models were adjusted for potential confounders (i.e., age, smoking, educational level, employment status, pre-gestational BMI, GWG, vitamin D intake, use of vitamin D supplements, type of delivery and parity). Post-hoc statistical power analysis was performed using Epi Info[™] software (version 7). All statistical tests were two-sided, and p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

7.2.5 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Search strategy

We carried out a systematic literature search in the PubMed-Medline and Web of Science databases to identify epidemiological studies evaluating the association of *BsmI, ApaI, FokI* and *TaqI* polymorphism with anthropometric measures and incidence of PTB, LBW and SGA births. The search strategy comprised the terms (Vitamin D receptor OR VDR) AND (variation OR polymorphism OR mutations OR SNP) AND (Preterm Birth OR birthweight OR birth weight OR birth length OR Low Birth Weight OR Intrauterine Growth Retardation OR Fetal Growth Retardation OR Small for Gestational Age). The databases were searched from inception to February 2018 without language restriction, excluding abstracts and unpublished studies. The preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) guidelines were followed.

7.2.6 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Selection criteria

Two researchers independently assessed the articles, and any inconsistencies were resolved through discussion. Studies included were consistent with the following criteria: i) observational studies or randomized control trials (RCTs) ii) on pregnant women of any gestational age iii) without pregnancy complications, iv) focusing on the association of *FokI*, *ApaI*, *TaqI* and *BsmI* VDR polymorphisms with PTB, LBW, and SGA. Moreover, studies were selected if they provide sufficient information on the numbers or genotype frequencies in cases and controls in order to

estimate ORs and 95% CIs. By contrast, the exclusion criteria were as follow: i) systematic reviews or meta-analyses; ii) abstracts and unpublished studies; iii) studies with insufficient or lack of data to estimate ORs and 95% CIs, after attempting to contact the corresponding authors via e-mail; iv) investigating the association with other VDR polymorphisms v) or with other adverse pregnancy outcomes; vi) studies with no control group.

7.2.7 Systematic review and Meta-analysis: Study selection and data extraction

Two researchers independently extracted the main information of the selected articles: first Author's last name, year of publication, country, ethnicity and number of participants, sample type, phenotype of the cases evaluated, genotyping method and genotype distributions in cases and controls, p-values for HWE in controls. Primary outcome was PTB since lack of data avoided the quantitative analysis for birth weight, birth length, LBW and SGA.

7.2.8 Procedures of meta-analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the Review Manager software (Version 6.1).

Strength of association between VDR polymorphisms and PTB was estimated as ORs (95% CIs) under three models: the allelic model (2 vs. 1), the dominant model (22 and 12 vs. 11) and the recessive model (22 vs. 11 and 12). The significance of pooled OR was determined by the Z test. The Q test was used to measure heterogeneity across studies, with significant statistical heterogeneity as p < 0.1. Since the Q test only shows the presence of heterogeneity and not its magnitude, we also applied the I² statistic to estimate the percentage of outcome variability that can be attributed to heterogeneity across studies. An I² value of 0% denotes no observed heterogeneity, whereas, 25%, 50% and 75% are considered as "low", "moderate" and "high" heterogeneity, respectively [536]. We also estimated the between-study variance using tau-squared (t) statistics [537]. We applied the fixed-effects model - using the Mantel–Haenszel method - when heterogeneity was negligible, while we performed the random-effects models – using DerSimonian-Laird method – if heterogeneity was significant. The presence of publication bias was evaluated by Begg's test and Egger's regression asymmetry test [538, 539]. Except for the Q test, p< 0.05 was considered statistically significant, and all tests were 2-sided.

7.3 Results

7.3.1 "Mamma & Bambino" cohort

Our analysis included 187 women from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort (median age = 37 years), enrolled at a median gestational age of 16 weeks. According to pre-gestational BMI, we observed

that 30.9% of women exhibited reduced GWG, while 27.1% of them excessive GWG. In general, gestational duration was 39 weeks (IQR = 2), while median birth length and weight were 50.0 cm (IQR = 2) and 3.2 Kg (IQR = 0.6), respectively. With respect to anthropometric measures and neonatal outcomes, nearly 8% of newborns were underweight and 7.5% was diagnosed with macrosomia. Moreover, 80.2% of newborns were AGA, while the proportion of SGA and LGA were 8% and 11.8%, respectively. Regarding maternal habits, only 10.7% of pregnant women reported the use of multimineral/multivitamin supplements containing vitamin D. Notably, vitamin D intake was not associated with neonatal anthropometric measures nor with PTB risk (**Table 1**).

As shown in **Table 1**, we also compared women with PTB (n = 17; 9%) with those with full-term delivery (n = 170; 91%). We did not find difference in terms of maternal socio-demographic characteristics, pre-gestational BMI, GWG, use of vitamin D supplements and behaviours. As expected, PTB newborns reported lower birth length (47.5 cm vs. 50.0 cm; p < 0.001) and weight (2.44 Kg vs. 3.2 Kg; p < 0.001), with a higher proportion of underweight compared to full-term new-borns (58.8% vs. 2.9%; p < 0.001).

As shown in **Figure 1A**, only *FokI* and *TaqI* VDR polymorphisms were in HWE. The comparison of neonatal anthropometric measures across *TaqI* genotypes pointed out that birth weight increased with increasing number of G allele (AA = 3.2 Kg vs. AG = 3.2 Kg vs. GG = 3.4; p=0.020). However, we did not confirm this difference after adjusting for covariates. The comparison of maternal and neonatal characteristics across *FokI* genotypes demonstrated that both gestational duration (p = 0.040) and birth weight (p = 0.010) decreased with increasing number of A allele. Accordingly, as shown in **Figure 1B**, the proportion of PTB increased with increasing number of A allele (GG = 5.2% vs. AG = 8.3% vs. AA = 33.3%; p = 0.001), whereas no statistically significant differences were reported for *BsmI, ApaI* and *TaqI*. In line, we established that the risk of PTB increased with the number of A allele both in the age-adjusted (OR = 3.010; 95% CI = 1.457-6.215; p = 003) and in the multivariable-adjusted models (OR = 4.015; 95% CI = 1.649-9.771; p = 0.002). Specifically, mothers who carried the AA genotype exhibited a higher PTB risk both in the age-adjusted (OR = 7.389; 95% CI = 2.308-23.660; p = 0.001) and in the multivariable-adjusted models (OR = 12.049; 95% CI = 2.606-55.709; p = 0.001), if compared to the GG and GA genotypes.

7.3.2 Systematic review: study characteristics

PRISMA flow diagram shows the detailed steps of study selection (**Figure 2**). A total of 67 articles were selected from the databases, while 18 duplicates were excluded. After reading titles and/or abstracts, 25 articles were excluded and 24 underwent full-text screening. Based on selection criteria, we excluded 13 studies, whereas 11 studies were included in the systematic review. We did

not find RCTs focusing on the association of VDR polymorphisms with PTB, LBW, and SGA. For this reason, we included only observational studies in the systematic review.

A total of 5 studies were from European countries [161, 528, 530, 532, 534], 4 from America [526, 527, 529, 533], and 1 from Asia [157] and Australia [531], respectively. Overall, sample sizes of mothers ranged from 189 to 615, while sample size of infants varied from 90 to 506. PTB was the most reported outcome (n = 4) [157, 161, 526, 528], while 3 studies used birth weight [529], LBW [527] or SGA [533] as primary outcome. Two studies collected maternal and cord blood samples [157, 528], while 5 of them genotyped VDR polymorphisms in cord blood [530-534]. Moreover, 3 studies genotyped VDR polymorphisms in maternal blood samples [161, 526, 529] and 1 of them in placental samples [527]. Given that the majority studies analysed more than one polymorphism, *FokI* was analysed by 7 studies [157, 161, 528, 529, 531, 532] and TaqI by 7 studies [157, 161, 528-532]. The most common genotyping method was restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis (RFLP) (n = 6) [157, 528-532, 534], followed by TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (n = 4) [161, 526, 529, 533] and Sequenom MassARRAY (n = 1) [527].

7.3.3 Systematic review: VDR polymorphisms and neonatal anthropometric measures

In 2011, Swamy and colleagues conducted a prospective study on 615 pregnant women, evaluating the association between 38 VDR polymorphisms and several neonatal outcomes. In brief, they showed that 8 of 38 SNPs studied - including *ApaI* - were significantly associated with birth weight in black women [529]. In the same year, Silvano and colleagues studied 97 pre-pubertal children from 0 to 12 years to assess phenotypes that better characterize SGA children who failed to achieve postnatal catch-up growth. At the baseline, they did not report difference in *BsmI* and *FokI* genotype distributions across categories of birth weight for gestational age [533]. Consistently with our results, Workalemahu and colleagues demonstrated that birth weight decreased with increasing number of A allele of the *FokI* polymorphism detected in placenta samples [527].

7.3.4 Systematic review: VDR polymorphisms and PTB risk

Manzon and colleagues genotyped VDR polymorphisms in both maternal and cord blood samples, compared 33 PTB and 98 full-term deliveries [528]. In line with our findings, they stated that women with the A allele of *FokI* were at higher risk of PTB than those with the G allele. By contrast, women with the T allele of TaqI polymorphism showed a lower risk of PTB [528] compared to those with non-mutated allele [528]. However, logistic regression model revealed that only maternal *FokI* variant was associated with the risk of PTB. More recently, the study conducted by Javorsky and colleagues, which compared 104 women with PTB to 85 with full-term delivery,

confirmed that *FokI* polymorphism in women was associated with a higher risk of PTB [526]. Next, Rosenfeld and colleagues added to this knowledge, showing that the proportion of mothers with PTB decreased with increasing number of A allele of *BsmI* polymorphism, after adjusting for some confounders [157]. Interestingly, among women with previous history of spontaneous miscarriage, the risk of PTB was higher if their newborns carried the non-mutated allele of *BsmI* or the mutated allele of *ApaI* [157].

7.3.5 Meta-analyses of the association between VDR polymorphisms and PTB risk

According to post-hoc statistical power analysis, only the study investigating the association between *FokI* polymorphism and PTB reached a statistical power of at least 80%, with a significance level of 0.05. Thus, we aimed to summarize evidence about the association between maternal VDR polymorphisms and PTB. For this reason, as shown in **Table 2**, we pooled our results with those reported by three previously published studies [157, 161, 526]. For the *ApaI* polymorphism, we pooled our results with findings reported by Baczyńska-Strzecha et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 161]. The Q-test and I2 statistics showed no significant heterogeneity across studies under the allelic (p = 0.41; $I^2 = 0\%$), dominant (p = 0.19; I2 = 40%) and recessive (p = 0.61; $I^2 = 0\%$) models. Thus, we used the fixed effect model for the meta-analysis, which did not show association of *ApaI* with PTB under the allelic model (C vs. A: OR = 0.89, 95%CI 0.71-1.12), dominant (CC + AC vs. AA: OR = 0.73, 95%CI 0.53-1.2) and recessive model (CC vs. AA+ AC: OR = 1.20, 95%CI 0.81-1.77) (**Figure 3**).

For the *BsmI* polymorphism, we pooled our results with findings reported by Baczyńska-Strzecha et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 161]. The Q-test and I² statistics showed no significant heterogeneity across studies under the allelic (p = 0.31; I2 = 15%), dominant (p = 0.18; I² = 42%) and recessive (p = 0.97; I2 = 0%) models. Thus, we used the fixed effect model for the meta-analysis, which showed a significant negative association with PTB under the allelic (A vs. G: OR = 0.74, 95%CI 0.59-0.93) and recessive (AA vs. GG + AG: OR = 0.62, 95%CI 0.43-0.89) models. By contrast, no statistically significant association was evident under the dominant model (AA + AG vs. GG: OR = 0.78, 95%CI 0.54-1.12) (**Figure 4**).

For the *FokI* polymorphism we pooled our results with findings reported by Javorski et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 526]. The Q-test and I² statistics showed significant heterogeneity across studies under the allelic (p = 0.002; I² = 85%), dominant (p = 0.02; I² = 74%) and recessive models (p = 0.001; I² = 77%). Thus, we used the random effect model for the meta-analysis, which showed a significant association with PTB under the recessive model (AA vs. GG + AG: OR = 3.67, 95%CI 1.18-11.43). By contrast, pooled ORs under the allelic (A vs. G: OR = 1.90, 95%CI 0.96-3.75) and

dominant (AA + AG vs. GG: OR = 1.65, 95%CI 0.80-3.42) models were not statistically significant (Figure 5).

For the *TaqI* polymorphism we pooled our results with findings reported by Baczyńska-Strzecha et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 161]. The Q-test and I² statistics showed no significant heterogeneity across studies under the allelic (p = 0.29; I² = 19%), dominant (p = 0.51; I² = 0%) and recessive (p = 0.13; I² = 55%) models. Thus, we used the fixed effect model for the meta-analysis, which did not show significant association with PTB under the allelic (G vs. A: OR = 0.94, 95%CI 0.75-1.18), dominant (GG + AG vs. AA: OR = 0.88, 95%CI 0.63-1.21), and recessive (GG vs. AA+ AG: OR = 1.00, 95%CI 0.69-1.46) models (**Figure 6**). Overall, we found no evidence of publication bias for meta-analyses of *ApaI* (Begg's p = 0.74; Egger's p = 0.89), *BsmI* (Begg's p = 0.70; Egger's p = 0.19), *FokI* (Begg's p = 0.87; Egger's p = 0.81), and *TaqI* (Begg's p = 0.42; Egger's p = 0.24).

7.4 Discussion

In the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort, maternal FokI polymorphism affected both gestational duration and birth weight, which decreased with increased number of the A mutated allele. This is in line with Workalemahu and colleagues that demonstrated how birth weight decreased with increasing number of A allele [527]. Our analyses - considering the age-adjusted and in the multivariable-adjusted models - showed that the risk of PTB increased with increasing number of A allele. Notably, women who carried the AA genotype exhibited a 12-fold increased risk of PTB, independent of potential confounders. A similar risk was also observed by Manzon et al. [528] and Javorsky et al. [526], while Rosenfeld and colleagues did not demonstrate this association. When we pooled our results with findings reported by Javorsky et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 526], we observed a significant positive association between FokI polymorphism and PTB under the recessive model. By contrast, Rosenfeld and colleagues [157] also reported that the proportion of women with PTB decreased with increasing number of mutated allele of BsmI polymorphism. Although we did not demonstrate this association, the meta-analysis suggested the protective effect of BsmI against PTB under the allelic and recessive models. By contrast, results about the effect of TaqI polymorphism on PTB risk are currently inconclusive. Manzon and colleagues demonstrated that the mutated allele of TaqI polymorphism conferred a lower PTB risk [528], while we did not confirm this association by pooling our results with those reported by Baczyńska-Strzecha et al. and Rosenfeld et al. [157, 161]. However, since we showed that birth weight increased with increasing number of mutated alleles, we cannot completely exclude the protective effect of TaqI polymorphism on foetal growth. With respect to ApaI, a prospective study conducted by Swamy and colleagues demonstrated that ApaI polymorphism significantly affected birth weight in black

women, proposing a partial explanation for the observed racial disparity in several pregnancy outcomes [529]. Nevertheless, comparisons should be interpreted with caution due to the heterogeneity across studies in terms of design, sample size and type, ethnicity, geographical diversity, sun exposure, maternal habits and outcomes of interest [157, 161, 526].

The link between VDR expression and neonatal outcome is still unclear. Although several lines of evidence suggest that vitamin D system - including VDR, its ligands and the metabolizing enzymes - plays a key role in innate immunity and implantation [540-544], the effects of VDR and its allelic variants in pregnancy are not yet clarified.

Our study had some limitations. The main weakness of our analysis was the relatively small sample size and the statistical power, with a low number of PTB. Moreover, due to inconsistency of reported outcomes, we cannot perform a meta-analysis of the association between VDR polymorphisms and neonatal anthropometric measures. Indeed, only three studies investigated the effect on neonatal anthropometric measures using birth weight [529], LBW [527] or SGA [533] as primary outcome. Furthermore, additional data regarding other anthropometric measures should be added in future studies. Another weakness was that we did not analyse VDR polymorphisms in neonatal samples, not being able to assess the contribution of foetal *VDR* gene on adverse outcomes. Moreover, the influence of unmeasured variables (e.g., sun exposure, maternal habits, and serum vitamin D levels) cannot be completely excluded. Since the FFQ did not quantify vitamin D from nutritional supplements, we did not have a precise measure of vitamin D intake status. However, the use of vitamin D supplements is not common among women from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort and no association with PTB risk was evident. Furthermore, the measurement of 250HD would be useful to evaluate whether there was a relationship between serum levels and dietary intake, including vitamin D supplements.

Despite such limitations, the strictly selection criteria ruled out potential confounders. Moreover, extensive data collection enabled to adjust our results for socio-demographic factors, lifestyle, pregestational BMI and GWG, and vitamin D dietary intake. Additional research is recommended to establish the role of vitamin D and related factors in pregnancy, and to develop and validate effective preventive strategies against adverse outcomes.

Characteristics	Study population (n=187)	PTB (n=17)	Full-term (n=170)	p-value
Age, years	37.0 (4)	37.0 (5)	38.0 (4)	0.648
Gestational age at enrolment, weeks	16.0 (4)	16.0 (4)	16.0 (4)	0.691
Educational level (% low-medium)	13.9%	5.9%	14.7%	0.316
Employment status (% employed)	55.6%	47.1%	56.5%	0.456
Smoking (% current smokers)	18.3%	5.8%	19.5%	0.165
Pre-gestational nutritional status				
Underweight	8.1%	11.8%	7.7%	
Normal weight	65.6%	58.8%	66.3%	0.522
Overweight	17.2%	11.8%	17.8%	0.322
Obese	9.1%	17.6%	8.3%	-
GWG, Kg	12.0 (7)	11.0 (10)	12.0 (6.9)	0.630
GWG classification				
Reduced	30.9%	35.3%	30.5%	_
Adequate	42%	41.2%	42.1%	0.903
Excessive	27.1%	23.5%	27.4%	-
Vitamin D intake, μg/day	3.7 (3.5)	3.7 (4.3)	3.1 (3.6)	0.808
Vitamin D supplements (% users)	10.7%	5.9%	11.2%	0.501
Gestational duration, weeks	39.0 (2)	35.5 (2)	39.0 (2)	< 0.001
Sex (% male)	50.3%	47.1%	50.6%	0.781
Birth weight, Kg	3.2 (0.6)	2.44 0.5)	3.2 (0.6)	< 0.001
Birth length, cm	50.0 (2)	47.5 (4)	50.0 (2)	< 0.001
Type of delivery				
Natural	55.1%	47.1%	55.9%	0.486
Caesarean section	44.9%	52.9%	44.1%	0.400
Underweight (%)	8%	58.8%	2.9%	< 0.001
Macrosomia (%)	7.5%	0%	8.2%	0.219
Weight for gestational age				
SGA	8%	5.9%	8.2%	
AGA	80.2%	70.6%	81.2%	0.283
LGA	11.8%	23.5%	10.6%	

Table 1.	Population	characteristics	and	comparison	between	preterm	and	full-term	births

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

Authors	Country	Study design	Ethnicity	Sample size	Sample	SNPs	Genotyping method
Baczyńska-Strzecha et al.,2016 [161]	Poland	Case-control	Caucasian	199	Maternal blood	ApaI BsmI TaqI	TaqMan Assay
Javorski et al.,2018 [526]	Brazil	Case-control	Mixed	189	Maternal blood	FokI	TaqMan Assay
Rosenfeld et al.,2017 [157]	Israel	Case-control	Mixed	375	Maternal and fetal blood	ApaI BsmI FokI TaqI	RFLP
Mamma & Bambino Cohort, 2018	Italy	Prospective cohort	Caucasian	187	Maternal blood	ApaI BsmI FokI TaqI	TaqMan Assays

 Table 2. Characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis

This table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018



Figure 1. (A) Genotype distribution of VDR polymorphisms and (B) comparison between preterm births (PTB, inner ring) and full-term births (outer ring).

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018



Figure 2. Flow diagram of study selection

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

Figure 3. Forest plots of the association between ApaI polymorphism and preterm birth under the (A) allelic, (B) dominant and (C) recessive models

A							
	С		A			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	116	232	84	166	31.5%	0.98 [0.66, 1.45]	+
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	14	134	20	240	8.3%	1.28 (0.63, 2.63)	
Rosenfeld 2017	102	287	190	463	60.3%	0.79 (0.58, 1.07)	•
Total (95% CI)		653		869	100.0%	0.89[0.71, 1.12]	4
Total events	232	000	204	000	1001017	oloo fan ii niel	1
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1.77, df = 2	(P = 0.41):	1 ² = 09	6 204				
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.99 (P	= 0.32)		*				0.01 0.1 1 10 100
	,						Term PTB
в							
D							
	CC+ A	IC	AA	_		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% C	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	71	142	29	57	25.2%	0.97 [0.52, 1.79]	
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	11	109	6	78	7.7%	1.35 [0.48, 3.81]	
Rosenfeld 2017	79	233	67	142	67.1%	0.57 [0.37, 0.88]	
Total (95% CI)		484		277	100.0%	0.73 [0.53, 1.02]	•
Total events	161		102				-
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 3.34, df = 2 (P = 0.19);	² = 40	%				
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.85 (P =	: 0.06)						U.U1 U.1 1 10 100 Term PTB
							iem rib
C							
0							
	CC		AA + A	AC		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% C	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	45	90	55	109	55.0%	0.98 [0.56, 1.72]	-
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	3	25	14	162	7.3%	1.44 [0.38, 5.42]	_
Rosenfeld 2017	23	49	123	326	37.7%	1 46 [0.80, 2.67]	+ - -
					•••••		
Total (95% CI)		164		597	100.0%	1.20 [0.81, 1.77]	
Total events	71		192				-
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.97. df = 2 (P = 0.61):	² = 0%					
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.89 (P =	: 0.37)						U.U1 U.1 1 10 100
							ierm PIB

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

Figure 4. Forest plots of the association between BsmI polymorphism and preterm birth under the (A) allelic, (B) dominant and (C) recessive models

А							
	Α		G			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	I M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	127	264	73	134	29.4%	0.77 [0.51, 1.18]	
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	14	138	20	236	7.8%	1.22 [0.59, 2.50]	
Rosenfeld 2017	122	359	170	391	62.8%	0.67 (0.50, 0.90)	-
fotal (95% CI)		761		761	100.0%	0.74 [0.59, 0.93]	•
Total events	263		263				
Heterogeneity: Chi² = 2.35, df = 2 (P = 0.31);	l²=15	%				
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.55 (P =	= 0.01)						Term PTB
В							
	AA +	AG	GG			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	86	172	14	27	18.7%	0.93 [0.41, 2.09]	
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	14	130	3	57	5.7%	2.17 [0.60, 7.88]	
Rosenfeld 2017	90	254	56	121	75.6%	0.64 [0.41, 0.99]	-
Total (95% CI)		556		205	100.0%	0.78 [0.54, 1.12]	•
Total events	190		73				-
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 3.42, df = 2.0	P = 0.18):	² = 42	%				
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.34 (P =	= 0.18)						0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Term PTR
С							
	AA		AG +	GG		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Aarzyńska, Strzecha 2016	A1	02	50	107	20 7%	0.65/0.27/1.16	

	AA		AO T	00		Ouris Matio			Ouras Maria	,	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	I	1	M-H, Fixed, 95	% CI	
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	41	92	59	107	39.7%	0.65 (0.37, 1.15)			-		
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	0	8	17	179	2.1%	0.55 [0.03, 9.87]	_				
Rosenfeld 2017	32	105	114	270	58.2%	0.60 [0.37, 0.97]			-		
Total (95% CI)		205		556	100.0%	0.62 [0.43, 0.89]			•		
Total events	73		190								
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.06, df = 2 (F	e = 0.97);	l² = 0%	ò				0.01	01		10	100
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.59 (P =	0.010)						0.01	0.1	Term PTB	10	100

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

Figure 5. Forest plots of the association between FokI polymorphism and preterm birth under the (A) allelic, (B) dominant and (C) recessive models

	Λ	
- 4		١.
		٦

	Α		G			Odds Ratio		Ode	s Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Ran	dom, 95% CI		
Javorski 2017	91	133	117	245	34.6%	2.37 [1.52, 3.69]			-		
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	18	108	16	266	28.0%	3.13 [1.53, 6.39]					
Rosenfeld 2017	102	256	190	494	37.4%	1.06 [0.78, 1.44]			†		
Total (95% CI)		497		1005	100.0%	1.90 [0.96, 3.75]			•		
Total events	211		323								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.30; Chi ² =	12.99, df=	= 2 (P =	= 0.002); I	² = 859	6		0.01	0.1	<u>.</u>	+	100
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.84 (P =	= 0.07)						0.01	U.I Tern	PTB	U	100

В

_

	AA + /	AG	GG		Odds Ratio			Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% CI		
Javorski 2017	67	105	37	84	36.1%	2.24 [1.25, 4.03]				
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	12	90	5	97	23.0%	2.83 (0.96, 8.39)				
Rosenfeld 2017	79	207	67	168	40.8%	0.93 [0.61, 1.41]		+		
Total (95% CI)		402		349	100.0%	1.65 [0.80, 3.42]		-		
Total events	158		109							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.29; Chi ² = 7 Test for overall effect: Z = 1.35 (P =	7.71, df = : 0.18)	2 (P =)	0.02); l²=	74%			0.01 (1 1 1).1 1 1 Term PTB	0 100	

С

	AA		AG +	GG		Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Tota	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Rand	om, 95% CI	
Javorski 2017	24	28	80	161	31.0%	6.08 (2.02, 18.30)				-
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	6	18	11	169	30.1%	7.18 [2.26, 22.79]				_
Rosenfeld 2017	23	49	123	326	38.9%	1.46 [0.80, 2.67]		-	-	
Total (95% CI)		95		656	100.0%	3.67 [1.18, 11.43]			-	
Total events	53		214							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.77; Chi ² = Test for overall effect: Z = 2.24 (P =	8.74, df = : 0.02)	2 (P =	0.01); l²=	77%			0.01	0.1 Term	1 10 PTB	100

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

Figure 6. Forest plots of the association between TaqI polymorphism and preterm birth under the (A) allelic, (B) dominant and (C) recessive models

А

Study or Subgroup	G A Events Total Events			Total	Odds Ratio Weight M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl			Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl				
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	96	207	104	191	37.8%	0.72 [0.49, 1.07]			-			
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	15	161	19	213	9.7%	1.05 [0.52, 2.13]			-			
Rosenfeld 2017	111	278	181	472	52.5%	1.07 [0.79, 1.45]			+			
Total (95% CI)		646		876	100.0%	0.94 [0.75, 1.18]			•			
Total events	222		304									
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 2.47, df = 2 (Test for overall effect: Z = 0.57 (P	P = 0.29);1 : 0.57)	²= 19	%				0.01	0.1	1 Term PTB	10	100	

В

	66+	AG	AA			Odds Ratio			Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M	H, Fixed, 95%	CI	
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	55	117	45	82	35.5%	0.73 [0.41, 1.29]					
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	13	128	4	59	6.2%	1.55 (0.48, 4.99)				-	
Rosenfeld 2017	82	217	64	158	58.3%	0.89 (0.59, 1.36)			+		
Total (95% CI)		462		299	100.0%	0.88 [0.63, 1.21]			•		
Total events	150		113								
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1.34, df = 2 (f	P = 0.51);	² = 0%	6				0.01	0.1		10	100
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.81 (P =	0.42)						0.01	0.1	Term PTB	10	100

С

	GG		AG +	AA		Odds Ratio			Odds Ratio		
Study or Subgroup	Events	Tota	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl		M-I	H, Fixed, 95%	CI	
Baczyńska-Strzecha 2016	41	90	59	109	53.8%	0.71 [0.40, 1.24]					
Mamma & Bambino Cohort 2018	2	33	15	154	9.2%	0.60 [0.13, 2.75]		_			
Rosenfeld 2017	29	61	117	314	37.0%	1.53 [0.88, 2.65]			+		
Total (95% CI)		184		577	100.0%	1.00 [0.69, 1.46]			•		
Total events	72		191								
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 4.13, df = 2 (P = 0.13);	I² = 52	%				0.01	0.1		10	100
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.00 (P =	= 1.00)						0.01	0.1	Term PTB	10	100

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2018

8. The effects of dietary factors on telomere length

8.1 Background

The human aging is characterized by the repeated adaptation to internal and external stressors during lifetime [59], which results in the interaction between environmental, genetic and epigenetic events [57, 58]. Despite this complexity, several molecular signatures have been suggested to reflect the aging process, also in the context of non-communicable diseases [36]. In particular, genomic instability [62-65], telomere attrition [66, 67], epigenetic alterations [68-74], mitochondrial dysfunction [77, 78], cellular senescence [79-82], steam cell exhaustion [85] and altered intercellular communication [86, 87] have been well investigated. In the last decades, telomere length has been proposed as a marker of biological aging due to its shortening in somatic cells, as a result of reducing activities of telomerase [546]. In vertebrates, telomeres are repetitive sequence of 5'-(TTAGGG)-3' at the ends of each chromosome, with a function of preventing genomic instability [547]. In particular, telomere shortening has been associated with aging [89] and age-related diseases - cardiovascular diseases [35], cancer [34], and neurological disorders [90]. Several risk factors (e.g., physical inactivity, smoking cigarette, unhealthy diet etc.) might affect telomere length before the abovementioned diseases develop [548, 549]. Thus, the high variability and the responsiveness to external and internal stressors [91] have made telomere length a biomarker of interest in other context of epidemiological research [93]. Moreover, telomere shortening is regulated by epigenetic mechanisms and influenced by DNMTs and histone methyltransferases [550, 551]. For instance, an epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) has showed that DNA methylation of more than 800 CpG sites - within genes involved in circadian rhythm, coagulation, and wound healing - is associated with telomere length [552].

In the last decades, as done for DNA methylation and histone modification [220, 318, 368, 553], several studies have explored the association between diet and telomere length, as suggested by the protective role of antioxidants and the opposite effect of high-sugar and high-calorie products [554]. During pregnancy, several maternal factors - such as stress, smoking and exposure to pollutants – have been associated with shorter telomeres in cord blood [555-557] and placenta [558]. Similarly, maternal diet affects biological aging in children [559]. In fact, the first 1,000 days of life – from conception to two years of age – represents an important window in which several exposures might shape children's health. However, the evidence is currently limited and often controversial, with the lack of studies investigating the effect of maternal diet on telomere length of cell-free circulating fetal DNA (cfDNA) from amniotic fluid [559].

With respect to alcohol – that represents a main risk factor for human health with more than 3 million deaths in 2016 [560] – several studies have investigated the role of alcohol as confounder or mediator of the relationship between telomere length and age-related diseases. Recently, several studies have investigated the primary effect of alcohol consumption and related disorders on telomere length. However, findings are inconclusive due to differences in study design, characteristics of study population, methods used for measuring telomere length, and other factors taken into consideration. Moreover, the research on the effect of alcohol consumption on telomere length during pregnancy is currently lacking. In this scenario, it is also known that alcohol represents a risk factor for mothers and their children during pregnancy – especially in the first trimester – [561], increasing considerably the risk of miscarriage, premature birth and low birthweight [562]. Although molecular mechanisms underpinning the negative effects of alcohol consumption on telomere length during pregnancy are not so clear, telomere shortening represents a plausibly involved factor. However, no studies have so far investigated the effect of maternal alcohol consumption on telomere length of newborns.

With this in mind, our study aimed to evaluate the relationship of maternal intake of nutrients in early pregnancy with telomere length of cfDNA from amniotic fluid, using data and samples from "Mamma & Bambino cohort". Next, we conducted a systematic review to discuss on the potential association between alcohol consumption, alcohol-related disorders, and telomere length. Moreover, we also conducted a pilot study to fill the gap about the relationship between maternal alcohol consumption during pregnancy and telomere length in cord blood at birth.

8.2 Methods

8.2.1 Study design

The "Mamma & Bambino" cohort is an ongoing Italian birth cohort designed to explore the effect of preconception, perinatal and early life exposure on maternal and infant health (further information can be found at http://www.birthcohorts.net). Full details on study design and protocol are reported in the paragraph 5.2.1. For the current analysis, we used data and samples from women who completed pregnancy and who provided an aliquot of amniotic fluid obtained through amniocentesis [563].

8.2.2 Data collection

For each woman, information on socio-demographic characteristics and lifestyles are collected through structured questionnaires. Full details on data collection and management are reported elsewhere [298-300, 563-566]. In particular, dietary information was assessed by a validated 95-item semi-quantitative FFQ, as described in the paragraph 5.2.3. For each item, information on

frequency of consumption and portions size are collected to calculate their daily dietary intake. Next, the intakes of calories, minerals (i.e., iron, calcium, magnesium, and zinc), fatty acids (i.e., saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated), and vitamins (i.e., A, B1, B6, C, D, and folate) are computed using the USDA Food Composition Database (http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/) adapted to typical Italian foods. Nutrient intakes are considered as continuous values or categorized according to the Recommended Dietary Allowance by the Food and Nutrition Board of the Institute of Medicine [430].

Regarding alcoholic drinks, standard portions are referred to a glass of wine, a bottle of beer or a shot of spirits, which approximately contain 10 g ethanol [567]. Although it is generally recommended to avoid drinking alcohol during pregnancy, a low proportion of pregnant women reports light-to-moderate alcohol consumption (1-7 standard drinks per week) [567].

8.2.3 DNA extraction and relative telomere length assessment

The "Mamma and Bambino" project also aims to uncover the effects of maternal exposures on several biomarkers of health and aging [298-300, 566]. To do that, biological samples from mothers and newborns are collected at recruitment (blood and amniotic fluid samples) and at delivery (cord blood whenever possible).

In the current analysis, we used an aliquot of 1ml amniotic fluid obtained from women who underwent amniocentesis, as previously reported [563]. In brief, after centrifugation at 12500 g, the cfDNA was extracted using the QIAamp Blood Kit (Qiagen, Milan Italy) on the QIAcube instrument (Qiagen, Milan, Italy). Quantity and quality of cfDNA were assessed using the dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA) on the Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer and the NanoDrop 1000 spectrometer. Next, relative telomere length of cfDNA was evaluated real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), using the Relative Human Telomere Length Quantification Assay Kit (ScienCell Research Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA) on the QuantStudio 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Different sets of primers were used: i) the telomere primer set amplified telomere sequences; ii) the single-copy reference primer set amplified a 100 bp-long region on human chromosome 17 and was used as reference for data normalization. Accordingly, each reaction contained 1 µl of DNA (5 ng/ µl), 10 µl of 2X GoldNStart TaqGreen qPCR master mix (ScienCell Research Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA), 2 µl of primer solution (telomere or single copy reference), and 7 µl of nuclease-free water. The qPCR was conducted according to the following conditions: 95°C for 10 minutes; 32 cycles of 95°C for 20 seconds, 52°C for 20 seconds and 72°C for 45 seconds. All reactions were run in duplicate and relative telomere length was expressed as telomere/single copy

reference (T/S) ratio. The procedures described above were conducted according to the manufacturers' protocols, unless otherwise stated.

Moreover, in the pilot study, we used samples of maternal blood and cord blood to measure leukocyte telomere length. In brief, Leukocyte genomic DNA was extracted from 200 μ l of maternal and cord blood samples using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit (Qiagen, Milan Italy), as described by the manufacturer's protocol. DNA purification was automated on the QIAcube instrument (Qiagen, Milan, Italy). Concentration and purity of DNA were assessed by NanoDrop 1000 spectrometer and by Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer using dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Relative telomere length was measured using the Relative Human Telomere Length Quantification Assay Kit (ScienCell Research Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA), as described above.

8.2.4 Estimation of statistical power

With respect to the pilot study, the primary hypothesis was that relative telomere length of leukocyte DNA from maternal and cord blood samples diverged between drinking and non-drinking pregnant women. In contrast, the null hypothesis was that maternal alcohol consumption was not associated with relative telomere length. However, the proportion of women who drank alcohol was very low (i.e., nearly 5%). Among them, we identified 5 non-smoking women who completed pregnancy at term (i.e., at 37 weeks of gestation) and who stated to drink alcohol during the first trimester. Thus, assuming an allocation ratio of 1:2, this pilot study had a statistical power of 80% for detecting a mean difference in relative telomere length of 1 point (standard deviation, SD = 0.5) with a two-sided significance level of 5%. Therefore, we next matched 10 non-smoking women with term pregnancy, who declared to not consume alcohol during the first trimester of pregnancy. The propensity score method was used to match the two groups for maternal age, gestational age at recruitment, pre-gestational body mass index and fetal sex.

8.2.5 Statistical analyses

All the statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 26). The characteristics of the study population were described using frequencies for qualitative variables, and median and IQR due to the skewness of quantitative variables. The correlations between maternal nutrient intakes and telomere length were tested using the Spearman's rank correlation test and adjusting for multiple comparisons with Bonferroni correction. For nutrients with a significant correlation (p < 0.05), we plotted their continuous value against relative telomere length. Next, we applied the Mann Whitney U test to compare relative telomere length between deficient and not deficient women. Finally, we tested the association between nutrient intake and relative telomere length, adjusting for potential

confounders (i.e., maternal age, smoking status, pre-gestational BMI, total daily energy intake, and supplement use).

For the pilot study, comparisons between drinking and non-drinking women were performed using the Student's t-test or the Chi-squared test. Relative telomere length was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, expressed as mean and SD, and compared using the Student's t-test. All tests were two-sided and performed at a significance level $\alpha = 0.05$.

8.2.6 Systematic review: search strategy

The systematic review was conducted according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines [568]. The literature search – done on February 12, 2021 – was carried out on PubMed, Medline, and Web of Science databases using the following key words: ((Ethanol) OR (Alcohol*) OR (Drink*)) AND ((Telomere) OR (Telomere length) OR (Telomere Shortening)).

8.2.7 Systematic review: study selection

The systematic review included: (1) epidemiological studies of any design (2) evaluating the association of alcohol consumption and/or alcohol-related disorders (3) with telomere length. By contrast, narrative and systematic reviews, editorials, studies that did not report data about the association, and those that considered alcohol consumption only as a covariate were excluded. The literature search and study selection were performed independently by two investigators and disagreements were resolved by discussion with a third investigator.

8.2.8 Systematic review: data extraction

For each study, the following data were extracted: first author, year of publication, study design, study population, method for assessing alcohol consumption and/or alcohol-related disorders, sample used for DNA extraction, method for measuring TL, results on the association between alcohol consumption, alcohol-related disorders and TL, and additional findings if present.

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Characteristics of the study population

In the current analysis we included 174 women (median age = 38; IQR = 4) from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort. Among them, 83.3% reported a high educational level, with 54.0% of them parttime or full-time employed. Moreover, nearly 80% of women were non-current smokers. The median pre-gestational BMI was 22.8 kg/m² (IQR = 4.6), with 21.3% of overweight or obese women before pregnancy. With respect to the median intake of nutrients considered in the current analysis, women had a total energy intake of 1662 kcal (IQR = 634) and their dietary deficiencies varied from 17.8% for vitamin A to 98.3% for iron. About 35% of pregnant women took multivitamin or multi-mineral supplements.

8.3.2 The relationship between relative telomere intake and nutrient intakes

The Spearman's rank correlation test was used to evaluate the correlation between relative telomere length and nutrient intakes. Among the latter, only the intakes of magnesium, vitamin B1 and iron were positively but weakly correlated with relative telomere length, with p-values < 0.05. However, only the correlation with magnesium remained significant after adjusting for multiple comparison. We next assessed relative telomere length according to nutrient deficiencies. In particular, women with magnesium deficiency (i.e., 73% of the total pregnant women included) exhibited lower relative telomere length than those with adequate dietary intake (p = 0.005). Similarly, women with vitamin B1 deficiency (i.e., 53% of the pregnant women included) showed lower values than those with adequate intake (p = 0.040). By contrast, no significant difference was evident according to iron deficiency (p = 0.240).

8.3.3 The association of magnesium intake with relative telomere length

Interestingly, we performed a linear regression model to evaluate the association of maternal nutrient intakes with relative telomere length. However, only the intake of magnesium was positively associated with relative telomere length ($\beta = 0.002$; SE = 0.001; p = 0.024), after adjusting for maternal age, smoking, pre-gestational BMI, total energy intake, and supplement use. In line, as shown in **Figure 1**, magnesium deficiency was negatively associated with relative telomere length after adjusting for the same covariates ($\beta = -0.467$; SE = 0.176; p = 0.009). Instead, no significant relationships were evident for the intakes of vitamin B1 and iron.

8.3.4 Pilot study

In the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort, 5 women declared to never smoke but to habitually drink alcohol in the first trimester of pregnancy. In addition to the above, **Table 1** showed that we matched 10 non-smoking and non-drinking women, considering maternal age, gestational age at recruitment, pre-gestational BMI, and fetal sex. As shown in **Figure 2A**, the comparison of relative telomere length measured in leukocyte DNA from maternal blood samples did not demonstrate differences between drinkers and non-drinkers. However, we observed a significant difference when analyzing relative telomere length of leukocyte DNA from cord blood samples. Interestingly, newborns from drinking women exhibited shorter relative telomere length than their counterpart (**Figure 2B**).

8.3.5 Systematic review: selection of the studies

Figure 3 summarized the study selection process. After removing duplicates, a total of 327 articles were identified from the electronic databases searched. However, 307 were excluded after reading titles and abstracts. Among the remaining 20 articles, 6 studies were excluded for the following reasons: 1 study did not report information on alcohol consumption, 3 studies did not evaluate the association with telomere length, and 2 studies considered alcohol only as a covariate. Thus, the 14 remaining studies were included in this systematic review.

8.3.6 Systematic review: study characteristics

Of the 14 studies included, 5 were conducted in North America, 4 in Asia, 4 in Europe, and 1 in South America. 10 studies featured a cross-sectional design or performed cross-sectional analyses on prospective cohort, while 4 studies were prospective. Studies were classified according to alcohol consumption (n = 9 studies) or alcohol-related disorders (n = 5 studies). Among them, 12 studies used blood samples for evaluating telomere length, while 2 studies used samples of esophageal mucosa or oral epithelium. With respect to telomere length analysis, the majority of studies (n = 9) used qPCR, while the remaining used quantitative fluorescence in situ hybridization (Q-FISH) or southern blot analysis of terminal restriction fragment lengths.

8.3.7 Systematic review: Telomere length in patients with alcohol-related disorders

Due to heterogeneities, some studies compared telomere length between patients with alcohol use disorders or dependence and controls, while others tested the effect of drinking alcohol on telomere length in other groups of people. As reported by Aida and colleagues in 2011, the normalized telomere-to-centromere ratio, calculated from telomere length of DNA extracted from esophageal mucosa, appeared significantly lower in patients with alcohol dependence than in controls [569]. In the same year, Pavanello and colleagues supported this finding, reporting that relative telomere length was lower in alcohol abusers than in controls, independently of their smoking status. The authors also suggested that the number of drinks per year was associated with relative telomere length in the entire population and among alcohol abusers [570]. These findings were next confirmed in recent years. For instance, Yamaki and colleagues showed shorter telomere length in patients with alcohol-related disorders if compared with non-alcoholic controls. However, no difference was evident compared patients with alcohol-related disorders according to their cancer diagnosis [571]. Similarly, Martins de Carvalho and colleagues demonstrated that alcohol use disorders were associated with lower relative telomere length. Yet, drinking behaviors were not associated with relative telomere length in patient and healthy control groups [572]. Finally,

Tannous and colleagues reported that, although difference was not statistically significant, relative telomere length tended to be shorter in patients with alcohol use disorder [573].

8.3.8 Systematic review: Alcohol consumption and telomere length

In line with the above-mentioned evidence, Aida and colleagues also evaluated the association of alcohol consumption with telomere length in patients and controls classified as heavy, light and non-drinkers. Although DNA from oral mucosa of patients with cancer exhibited lower normalized telomere-to-centromere ratio than healthy controls, no relationship was evident with drinking behaviors in the latter group [574]. In general, most studies support the absence of relationship between alcohol consumption and telomere length also in blood samples [575-579]. However, Strandberg and colleagues suggested a cross-sectional association at the baseline but not at the last follow-up [580]. This was partially consistent with the study by Révész and colleagues, which showed a negative association between heavy drinking and relative telomere length among 2936 participants from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety [581]. However, the association was evident only at the baseline analysis and it was not significant after adjusting for other covariates [581]. The present systematic review also included a large cross-sectional study by Shin and Baik, which did not find an association between alcohol consumption and relative telomere length in the overall population. However, they observed an inverse association with heavy drinking among participants with mutant alleles of rs2074356 [582]. This is a SNP in an uncharacterized locus on chromosome 12, and its mutant allele seemed associated with increased risk of esophageal squamous cell cancer.

8.4 Discussion

Our analysis demonstrated a positive association between magnesium intake and relative telomere length, which resulted in telomere shortening in women with magnesium deficiency. In line with previous studies conducted in other settings, the positive effect observed for magnesium remained significant after adjusting for. In fact, in vitro and in vivo studies suggested that long-term exposure to magnesium deficiency led to telomere shortening [583, 584]. By contrast, a cross-sectional analysis conducted on the Sister Study showed a positive association between magnesium intake and telomere length of leukocyte DNA from women who did not use multivitamin supplements [585]. From a biological point of view, magnesium is an important cofactor for the catalytic activity of enzymes implicated in DNA replication and repair [586-589], and in RNA synthesis [586]. Magnesium deficiency is also often associated with oxidative stress [583] and pro-inflammatory status [590], which in turn might lead to telomere shortening.

With respect to other nutrients, the evidence instead remained scarce and inconclusive. The lack of any solid evidence in this field of research, therefore, encourages further efforts to understand the influence of maternal dietary factors on biological aging, as determined by telomere length. Furthermore, future studies investigating other biomarkers of aging could help resolve this question and to translate the answers into effective public health strategies.

With respect to alcohol, our review revealed two types of evidence. Alcohol-related disorders were associated with telomere shortening, while alcohol consumption did not appear to affect telomere length in absence of alcohol-related disorders. This was also confirmed when people were classified in light, moderate, or heavy drinkers [576]. However, if the association was non-linear, classifying alcohol consumption at different threshold could influence the result. Accordingly, future studies should test the shape of the association between alcohol consumption and telomere length, before drawing definitive findings.

Our systematic review also revealed the absence of studies during the gestational period. Yet, alcohol abuse has a negative impact on many targets of the SDGs, including those related to maternal and child health [561]. Drinking alcohol, especially in the first trimester of pregnancy, increases the risk of adverse outcomes [562]. Due to the lack of evidence, therefore, we designed a pilot study using data and samples from "Mamma & Bambino" cohort. Our analysis revealed that drinking alcohol in the first trimester of pregnancy might affect telomere length in DNA from cord blood. Indeed, newborns from drinkers showed shorter telomere length than those born from non-drinkers, according to the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease theory for which *in utero* exposures program the fetus for challenges that is likely to experience later in life [129]. Indeed, our preliminary findings support the current idea that biological aging at birth might reflect maternal and neonatal characteristics related to prenatal environmental adversity [594]. For these reasons, it should be necessary to study telomere shortening as a potential molecular mechanism underpinning the effects of maternal behaviors on the development of chronic disease later in life.

Our analysis had some limitations to be considered. Firstly, the limited sample size did not allow us to perform additional analyses for residual confounders. Secondly, the FFQ that we used for dietary assessment did not preclude measurement errors and inaccuracies [595]. Moreover, this tool did not consider any changes related to food cooking. To partially address these issues, the use of some biomarkers of validation (e.g., serum level of nutrients) could have made the evidence more solid. Thirdly, the method used for the assessment of telomere length (i.e., qPCR) had higher assay variability than terminal restriction fragment analysis [596]. [73]. Finally, although amniotic fluid is

considered a relatively pure fetal sample, a low proportion of cfDNA from placenta cannot be completely excluded [90].

Moreover, differences between studies – in terms of study design, study population, assessment of alcohol consumption, assay used for measuring telomere length – hindered the possibility for applying a meta-analytic approach. In conclusion, further studies should be encouraged to understand what maternal factors affect the aging process of their children.



Figure 1. The relationship of magnesium deficiency with relative telomere length

Characteristics	Drinkers (n=5)	Non-drinkers (n=10)	p- value
Age (years) ^a	38.1 (4.2)	37.9 (3.9)	0.934
Gestational age at sampling (weeks) ^a	16.1 (2.2)	16.2 (2.3)	0.937
Pre-pregnancy BMI (kg/m ²) ^a	24.2 (3.8)	24.0 (3.9)	0.926
Gestational age at delivery (weeks) ^a	38.9 (2.1)	39.1 (2.0)	0.860
Fetal sex (male/female)	3/2	6/4	1.000

Table 1. Comparison of characteristics between drinking and non-drinking women

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021

Figure 2. Comparison of relative telomere length between drinkers and non-drinkers in (A) maternal blood and (B) cord blood



This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021



Figure 3. PRISMA flow diagram of study selection

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021

9. The relationship between telomere length and adverse pregnancy outcomes

9.1 Background

Gestational weight gain (GWG) - which depends on body composition, weight of the fetus, placenta, and amniotic fluid [476] - represents a natural response to host the growing fetus. The IOM has promoted recommendations to achieve optimal amount of GWG according to the prepregnancy BMI [476, 597-600]. However, during pregnancy more than half of women do not meet guidelines for weight gain [601-603]. The adherence to the recommendations is necessary to reduce the risk of adverse outcomes for mothers and their newborns [176, 331, 334-336]. In fact, both greater and lower weight gain contribute to short- and long-term health complications [597, 604-606]. For instance, excessive GWG is associated with maternal adverse outcomes, such as higher risk of high blood pressure [172], diabetes [173], cesarean section [174], postpartum weight retention [175] and obesity [176]. As regard newborns born from women with excessive weight gain, they are more likely to be large for gestational age [173, 333, 337] and to develop metabolic disorders during lifetime [340, 341]. By contrast, low GWG is associated with increasing risks of pre-term delivery [338]. Moreover, infant mortality in US is higher compared with other developed countries [607, 608], due to a high proportion of newborns with LBW and VLBW, particularly among blacks [609, 610]. In turn, LBW newborns are more likely to die during the neonatal period and who survive is more likely to have complications during adolescence [470]. For all these reasons, there is the need for uncovering molecular mechanisms associated with GWG to identify mothers who could benefit more from preventive strategies.

In this scenario, telomere length represents a promising biomarker for biological aging and agerelated diseases. As stated before, telomeres are repeating DNA sequences at the ends of chromosomes that protect the chromosomes from DNA damage [88]. Telomeres progressively shorten with cell division and shorter telomeres are considered as a marker of the cumulative damage to which cells have been exposed [88]. In adults, shorter telomeres are associated with several diseases – such as diabetes [33], cancer [34] and cardiovascular disease [35]. Obesity might contribute to cumulative burden of oxidative stress, accelerating the telomere shortening process. During pregnancy, adverse exposures (e.g., maternal stress, smoking and higher levels of air pollution) are associated with shorter telomeres measured in cord blood [555-557] and placenta [558]. With respect to cell-free circulating fetal DNA (cfDNA), it has been proposed as a novel biomarker for prenatal diagnosis, and its relationship with several diseases has raised much interest in investigating the role of cfDNA in different body fluids, including amniotic fluid that contains a greater amount of cell-free fetal- and pregnancy-related DNA than maternal serum [60–63]. Up to now, however, there are no study that have investigated the relationship between telomere length and adequate GWG. To do that, we used data and samples from the ongoing prospective "Mamma & Bambino" study for investigating the associations between telomere length – assessed on maternal leucocyte DNA (mlDNA) and cfDNA of amniotic fluid – and GWG.

9.2 Methods

9.2.1 Study design

The "Mamma & Bambino" cohort is an ongoing Italian birth cohort designed to explore the effect of preconception, perinatal and early life exposure on maternal and infant health (further information can be found at http://www.birthcohorts.net). Full details on study design and protocol are reported in the paragraph 5.2.1.

In the current analysis, we used data and samples from mothers who completed singleton pregnancy and with available data on GWG at delivery.

9.2.2 Assessment of Gestational Weight Gain

At recruitment, women were asked to report their height and pre-pregnancy weight to calculate prepregnancy BMI as kg/m². According to WHO criteria, women were classified as underweight, normal weight, overweight or obese based on their pre-pregnancy BMI, [429]. Firstly, maternal weight got at recruitment was calculated by subtracting the pre-pregnancy weight from the weight at recruitment. Next, maternal weight reached at delivery was collected from clinical records and total GWG was calculated by subtracting the pre-pregnancy weight from the weight at delivery. According to IOM guidelines [601], GWG was classified as reduced, adequate or excessive according to pre-pregnancy BMI.

9.2.3 Covariate Ascertainment

We considered several covariates - beyond anthropometric measures - that might affect GWG, telomere length, and their relationship. At recruitment, socio-economic information and lifestyles were collected through structured questionnaires [298-300, 563-566, 612]. Maternal age and gestational ages at recruitment and at delivery were considered because of their potential effect on sampling and telomere length. In addition, educational level and employment status were used as two proxy indicators of socio-economic status. Educational level was classified as low (i.e., primary education), medium (i.e. secondary education), or high (i.e. tertiary education). Women were categorized as employment or unemployment (that included also students and housewives).

Regarding lifestyles, we classified women according to smoking status, daily energy intake, and adherence to the MD. Specifically, dietary data were collected using a 95-item semi-quantitative FFQ, as described in the paragraph 5.2.3. Daily energy intake was calculated considering the table of food composition released by the USDA (http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/) and adapted to typical Italian foods. Adherence to MD was evaluated using the MDS, as described in detail elsewhere [304, 363].

9.2.4 DNA extraction

Biological samples are collected from mothers and newborns participating in the Mamma & Bambino cohort, at recruitment and at delivery. Sample collection and molecular analyses were fully described elsewhere. In the current study, we used the maternal blood collected at recruitment and an aliquot of amniotic fluid from women who underwent amniocentesis. Genomic mlDNA was extracted from 200 µl of maternal blood while the cfDNA was extracted from 1 ml of uncultured amniotic fluid after centrifugation at 12500 g to remove any remaining cells. DNA extraction was performed using the QIAamp Blood Kit (Qiagen, Milan Italy) on the QIAcube instrument (Qiagen, Milan, Italy), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Concentration and purity of DNA were evaluated by dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA) on the Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer and by NanoDrop 1000 spectrometer.

9.2.5 Relative telomere length

Relative telomere length of mIDNA and cfDNA was assessed using the Relative Human Telomere Length Quantification Assay Kit (ScienCell Research Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA), as previously described ⁵¹. The qPCR was performed on a QuantStudio 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Full details on the qPCR protocol are described in the paragraph 8.2.3. All reactions were run in duplicate and relative telomere length was expressed as the average of telomere/single copy reference (T/S) ratio.

9.2.6 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics was performed using frequencies, or median and IQR. The Kruskal–Wallis test was used for quantitative variables and the Chi-squared test for trend for categorical variables. Relative telomere length was also plotted against weight gain, both at recruitment and at delivery, to inspect linear or non-linear relationships. Next, we plotted relative telomere length by the tertile distribution of GWG, as well as by its classification in reduced, adequate, or excessive. Logistic regression model was performed using adequate GWG as dependent variables and the following covariates: relative telomere length, maternal age, gestational age at recruitment, educational level,

having children, pre-pregnancy BMI, total daily energy intake and gestational age at delivery. The adjusted association of relative telomere length with adequate GWG was reported as coefficient and its Standard error (SE). All tests were two-sided and performed at significance level = 0.05.

9.3 Results

9.3.1 Characteristics of study population

The current analysis included 270 women who completed singleton pregnancy, with complete information on GWG at delivery. Among them, 101 women reported adequate GWG, while 91 and 78 reported reduced and excessive weight gain, respectively. We observed strong relationships between maternal anthropometric measures and GWG (**Table 1**). For instance, women who gained adequate gestational weight were those with the lowest pre-pregnancy weight and BMI. By contrast, weight at delivery increased from reduced to excessive GWG categories. A similar trend was observed for education, with increased proportion of women with low or medium educational level from reduced to excessive GWG. Moreover, the proportion of women with at least one child was higher in those with adequate GWG than their counterparts. With respect to dietary habits, we did not find any association with adherence to MD, but total daily energy intake increased across GWG categories.

9.3.2 Relationships of telomere length with maternal characteristics

We used 252 maternal blood samples to analyse relative telomere length of mlDNA, which did not correlate with maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, total energy intake, MDS and gestational age at sampling and at delivery (p-values > 0.05). Moreover, relative telomere length of maternal DNA did not differ across categories of educational level, employment, smoking status, parity, and pre-pregnancy BMI (p-values > 0.05). Next, we used 150 samples of amniotic fluid from women who underwent amniocentesis to evaluate relative telomere length of cfDNA. Relative telomere length of cfDNA and mlDNA did not correlate with each other (p > 0.05). On the contrary, relative telomere length of cfDNA was negatively but weakly correlated with gestational age at sampling (Spearman coefficient = -0.152; p = 0.046) and positively with total energy intake (Spearman coefficient = 0.157; p = 0.038). No correlations were evident with the other maternal characteristics, as well as with birth length and weight (p-values > 0.05). Moreover, relative telomere length of cfDNA did not differ across categories of educational level, employment, smoking status, parity, pre-pregnancy BMI, type of delivery and newborn gender (p-values > 0.05).
9.3.3 Relationships between gestational weight gain and telomere length

As shown in Figure 1, we next evaluated the relationship of relative telomere length in mlDNA and cfDNA with gestational weight gain. Thus, we classified pregnant women according to the tertile distribution of GWG: i) first tertile from -2 to 9 Kg; ii) second tertile from 10 to 13 Kg; iii) third tertile from 14 to 28 Kg. Relative telomere length of mlDNA seemed to weakly increase with GWG (Figure 1A). However, we did not find a significant difference according to the tertile distribution of GWG (p = 0.559; Figure 1B). By contrast, we showed a U-shaped relationship between GWG and relative telomere length of cfDNA (Figure 1C). The U-shaped relationship was confirmed by the comparison of relative telomere length across tertiles of GWG (p = 0.016; Figure 1D). Specifically, as shown in Figure 1D, women in the third tertile exhibited shorter relative telomere length than those in the second tertile (p = 0.014). Next, we compared relative telomere length across categories of GWG, considering reduced, adequate, or excessive weight gain during pregnancy. With respect to mlDNA, women with excessive GWG showed longer telomere length than those who gained weight adequately (p = 0.017; Figure 2A). By contrast, telomere length of cfDNA was lower in amniotic fluid from pregnant women with reduced or excessive GWG than those who gained weight adequately (Figure 2B). Yet, the difference was statistically significant for mothers with excessive GWG (p = 0.044) but not for women with reduced GWG (p=0.117; Figure 2B). Moreover, the relationship was already evident if considering weight gain at recruitment. Next, we compared relative telomere length of pregnant women who gained weight adequately with those who did not. Our results showed higher relative telomere length of cfDNA in mothers with adequate GWG (p = 0.017; Figure 3). Finally, we performed logistic regression model including other maternal characteristics (i.e., age, gestational age at sampling, educational level, parity, pre-pregnancy BMI, total daily energy intake, gestational age at delivery) that might affect telomere length and/or GWG. Notably, the association between cfDNA telomere length and adequate GWG remained significant, after adjusting for the abovementioned maternal characteristics ($\beta = 0.464$; SE = 0.189; p = 0.014).

9.4 Discussion

In our study, we showed for the first time a link between relative telomere length and GWG. We noted a U-shaped relationship when analysing cfDNA in amniotic fluid, with longer relative telomere length among women who gained weight adequately. In this context, a meta-analysis of nearly 120,000 subjects suggested an inverse association between obesity and telomere length [34]. This finding is in line with a collaborative cross-sectional meta-analysis of 87 observational studies and 146,114 individuals, showing a 3.99 bp decrease in telomere length for each unit increase in

BMI [613]. However, there is high degree of heterogeneity across studies – partially due to the effect of chronological age on telomere length – and an overall lack of evidence on pregnant women [34, 613]. Martens and colleagues observed that newborn telomere length decreased with increasing maternal pre-pregnancy BMI, both in cord blood and placental tissues [614]. Notably, Clemente and colleagues demonstrated that this effect seemed to persist in childhood, using data from the Human Early-Life Exposome (HELIX) study [615]. However, the role of telomerase in the association between increased BMI and shortened telomere length is not yet well investigated.

We add to this knowledge, suggesting the influence of maternal weight gain on telomere length of cfDNA from amniotic fluid. The observed difference was already evident in early pregnancy, considering GWG at a median gestational age of 16 weeks. Moreover, the relationship remained significant at delivery, after adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, gestational ages at recruitment and at delivery, educational level, previous pregnancies, pre-pregnancy BMI and total daily energy intake). This is in line with the DOHaD hypothesis, for which *in utero* environment programs the fetus for challenges that it is likely to experience after birth [129].

In line, there is the current need for developing non-invasive tests to understand fetal well-being. These tests should be based on maternal serum or urine, avoiding invasive tests such as amniocentesis. Yet, more than 80% of cfDNA fragments in the maternal serum are shorter and fragmented than cfDNA from amniotic fluid, which represent a relatively pure fetal sample. However, it will be interesting to evaluate if fetal DNA from maternal blood reflects the same difference observed in our study.

Our results also provide further motivation to study telomere length and telomerase activity as potential molecular mechanisms underpinning the effects of maternal lifestyles on the development of chronic disease later in life. Although mechanisms by which inadequate weight gain affects telomere length are not yet fully understood, it is plausible that they relies on a chronic inflammatory and oxidative state *in utero* [616].

Our study had some limitations. Firstly, we cannot completely exclude a potential reporting bias due to self-reported information on pre-pregnancy weight. However, previous studies showed how self-reported pre-pregnancy weight well correlated with that measured [489, 490]. Secondly, we did not account for weight trajectories throughout pregnancy. Yet, our analysis at the time of recruitment already showed an effect of maternal weight gain on telomere length of fetal DNA. Thirdly, we cannot completely exclude the presence of placental cfDNA in amniotic fluid samples. Moreover, we assessed relative telomere length by qPCR, which has higher assay variability than

terminal restriction fragment analysis [596]. Finally, the presence of residual confounders cannot be completely ruled out, such as that deriving from fatherly influence [617, 618].

In conclusion, we noted an early influence of GWG on telomere length, which could represent a molecular mechanism underpinning the effects of maternal behaviours on fetal well-being. However, further studies are needed to understand biological events involved in this relationship, and to include other factors influencing the uterine environment during pregnancy.

Characteristics	Overall (n=270)	Reduced GWG	Adequate GWG	Excessive GWG	p-value
		<u>(n=91)</u>	(n=101)	<u>(n=78)</u>	
Age	37.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0)	38.0 (4.0)	37.0 (4.0)	0.699
Gestational age	16.0 (4.0)	16.0 (4.0)	16.0 (3.0)	16.0 (2.0)	0.953
at sampling					
Educational level	(%)				
Low	17.8%	16.5%	16.8%	20.5%	
Medium	47.8%	40.7%	45.5%	59.0%	0.038
High	34.4%	42.8%	37.7%	20.5%	
Working (%)					
Employment	57.4%	54.9%	61.4%	55.1%	0.502
Unemployment	42.6%	45.1%	38.6%	44.9%	0.393
Smokers (%)	20.5%	15.4%	20.0%	27.3%	0.216
Having children	67.7%	64.3%	76.8%	59.7%	0.041
(70 yes) Total an angy	1750	1667 (674)	1752 (545)	1959 (506)	
intoko	(620)	1007 (074)	1752 (545)	1838 (390)	0.045
	(020)	4.0.(2.0)	4.0.(2.0)	4.0.(2.0)	0.102
NIDS	$\frac{4.0(2.0)}{61.0}$	$\frac{4.0(2.0)}{(2.0)}$	$\frac{4.0(2.0)}{50.0(12.0)}$	$\frac{4.0(2.0)}{64.5(19.2)}$	0.102
Pre-pregnancy weight	(15.2)	62.0 (16.0)	59.0 (13.0)	64.5 (18.3)	0.012
Pre-pregnancy BMI	22.8 (5.1)	22.8 (4.8)	22.0 (3.8)	25.0 (5.7)	0.002
Pre-pregnancy B	MI categorie	5			
Underweight	6.7%	6.6%	6.9%	6.4%	
Normal weight	64.1%	68.1%	77.2%	42.3%	.0.001
Overweight	17.4%	9.9%	8.9%	37.2%	<0.001
Obese	11.9%	15.4%	7.0%	14.1%	
Weight at delivery	74.0 (15.0)	68.5 (11.5)	73.0 (12.7)	82.0 (15.2)	<0.001
Gestational age at delivery	39.0 (2.0)	38.0 (2)	39.0 (2)	39.0 (2.0)	0.383

Table 1. Characteristics of women from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort (n = 270) according to
gestational weight gain categories

This table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Biomedicines 2022



Figure 1. The relationship of gestational weight gain with relative telomere length

A) shows the relationship of gestational weight gain with maternal telomere length; (B) shows the box plots of maternal telomere length by the tertile distribution of GWG; (C) shows the relationship of gestational weight gain with telomere length of cell-free circulating DNA from amniotic fluid;
(D) shows the box plots of telomere length of cell-free circulating DNA from amniotic fluid by the tertile distribution of GWG. * p-value <0.05 based on the Mann-Whitney or Kruskal–Wallis test.

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Biomedicines 2022

Figure 2. The relationship between categories of gestational weight gain and relative telomere



(A) shows the box plots of maternal telomere length according to GWG categories; (B) shows the box plots of telomere length of cell-free circulating DNA from amniotic fluid according to GWG categories. * p-value <0.05 based on the Mann-Whitney test.</p>

This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Biomedicines 2022

Figure 3. The comparison of telomere length of cell-free circulating DNA from amniotic fluid between adequate and inadequate gestational weight gain.



* p-value <0.05 based on the Mann-Whitney test This figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Biomedicines 2022

10. The main determinants of adherence to breastfeeding practice and their impact on DNA methylation signatures

10.1 Background

Breastfeeding represents one of the most effective ways to ensure children health [619]. Due to its importance, WHO recommends that: i) mothers should initiate breastfeeding within one hour of birth; ii) infants should be breastfed exclusively for the six months of life to achieve optimal growth and iii) breastfeeding should continue up to two years. However, worldwide, 7.6 million babies each year are never breastfed, with nearly two out of three newborns that are not exclusively breastfed for the recommended six months [620]. As defined by WHO, exclusive breastfeeding means "no other food or drink, not even water, except breast milk", while predominant breastfeeding requires breast milk as the primary source of nourishment allowing for supplementation with liquid (e.g., water and water-based drinks, fruit juice) [621, 622]. Breastmilk contains a huge amount of nutrients - such as proteins, fats, sugars, vitamins and minerals - ideal for infants [623]. The long-term benefits of breastfeeding can't be obtained with infant formula, that does not contain antibodies, hormones and growth factor [624]. Notably, breastfeeding promotes healthy growth and supports healthy brain development [625], as well as protects mothers against postpartum depression, ovarian and breast cancer, cardiovascular disease and diabetes [626]. Therefore, there is the growing need to evaluate the main factors involved in the breastfeeding practice to develop public health intervention for promoting exclusive breastfeeding among women. To identify mothers who could benefit from such public health interventions, however, it is necessary to identify maternal characteristics that might be associated with adherence to recommendations. Indeed, breastfeeding could be influenced by several psychological and physiological factors, which in turn are related to environmental, socioeconomic and cultural conditions [627]. As suggested by UNICEF, one in five babies are never breastfed in high-income countries, while almost all newborns are breastfed in low-income countries. Interestingly, in highincome countries, mothers from poorer households are less likely to breastfeed than the wealthier counterpart [625]. In line, the effects of maternal education and employment status on breastfeeding practice have been investigated by several studies [628-635]. Along with socio-economics determinants, breastfeeding could be affected by others factors, including maternal age [636], smoking [637-640] caesarean delivery [641-644] and complications [645, 646], parity [641, 643] and obesity [642, 647, 648].

Therefore, breastfeeding is associated with long-term health benefits, which might be mediated by epigenetics mechanism. Although DNA methylation has been extensively investigated in several diseases - including cardiovascular diseases, obesity, type-2 diabetes, and cancer [30-32] -, its role on the long-term effects of breastfeeding is not fully understood. Moreover, several lines of evidence support the notion that epigenetic effects of breast milk may not be restricted to DNA methylation, because breastmilk also contains microRNAs, which are in turn involved in gene expression regulation at the post-transcriptional level [649, 650]. However, only few studies have investigated the association between breastfeeding and DNA methylation in humans, and all of them with a small sample size. Furthermore, the evidence is mostly based on candidate gene studies and previous studies are conducted in single cohort [650-655]. With this in mind, there is a need to investigate the relationship between breastfeeding and DNA methylation in studies with larger sample size, using an EWAS approach.

For these reasons, our study firstly aimed to evaluate breastfeeding status and main maternal factors associated with adherence to WHO recommendations among women from the "Mamma & Bambino" study. Moreover, data from the HELIX project were used to analyse the association between any breastfeeding and child blood DNA methylation.

10.2 Methods

10.2.1 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": study design

The "Mamma & Bambino" cohort is an ongoing Italian birth cohort designed to explore the effect of preconception, perinatal and early life exposure on maternal and infant health (further information can be found at http://www.birthcohorts.net). Full details on study design and protocol are reported in the paragraph 5.2.1.

In this study, we included all mothers who completed pregnancy with a full assessment of information at the 2-year follow-up. By contrast, mothers with plurality, pre-existing medical conditions and pregnancy complications were excluded.

10.2.2 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": data collection

Information on mothers and their children are collected through face-to-face interviews at recruitment, as well as with planned telephone follow-ups at delivery, at 1 and 2 years. At recruitment, a structured questionnaire was administered by trained epidemiologists to collect information on socio-demographic factors and breastfeeding status. Educational level is categorized as low (≤ 8 years of school), medium (≤ 13 years of school) and high education level (greater than 13 years of school). Pregnant women are also classified as full-time employed, part-time employed and unemployed (including students and housewives). Women were also classified as no-smokers,

former and current smokers. Moreover, self-reported maternal pre-pregnancy weight and height were collected at the recruitment to calculate pre-pregnancy BMI, as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared and classified according to WHO criteria [429]. GWG was classified as adequate, reduced, or excessive according to IOM recommendations [656]. Dietary data were collected using a 95-item semi-quantitative FFQ, which was referred to the previous month [296, 297, 343, 363, 657]. The adherence to MD was evaluated using MDS as previously described [97, 302, 303, 363]. At birth, women were classified in those who had natural birth and those who had caesarean section. For the current analysis, we also used information regarding self-reported breastfeeding status, which were collected through telephone interviews at 1- and 2-year follow-up after birth. Specifically, we collected information on breastfeeding status (i.e., yes or no) at 1 and 2 years of life, date of starting and ending breastfeeding, type of breastfeeding (i.e., exclusive or predominant), and time of change from exclusive to predominant breastfeeding, if present. Thus, women were categorized into those who have breastfed and those who did not until the 2nd year of life of their child. Moreover, we defined women as those who have exclusively breastfed if their children have received only breast milk and no other liquids or solids for at least one month. During follow-up interviews, we also collect data on complementary feeding. Given that, we considered as outcomes the adherence to WHO recommendations on breastfeeding, which require (1) to initiate breastfeeding within the first hour of life, (2) to exclusively breastfeed for the first six months of life, and (3) to continue breastfeeding receiving complementary foods until 2 years of age.

10.2.3 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Maternal characteristics were described using frequency, or median and IQR. Prior to analysis, the normal distribution of continuous variables was checked using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Accordingly, the Mann– Whitney U test was used to compare across groups the continuous variables underlying skewed distribution. Instead, binary and categorical variables were compared using the simple Chi-square test or the Chi-square test for trend, respectively. For categorical variables, the Cochran–Armitage test for linear trend was used to calculate the statistical power of our analyses. Since statistical power depends on sample size, group weights, and probabilities of exposure, we separately calculated it for each exposure variable according to sample distribution. Specifically, the statistical power ranged from 69% to 97%, assuming a difference of 15% between alternative group probabilities of exposure. We also performed logistic regression analyses to identify main factors associated with breastfeeding status in the general population, and with adherence to the WHO recommendation of exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months in women who

have breastfed. In both analyses, the logistic regression model simultaneously included educational level and employment status, which were associated with general breastfeeding status and/or with adherence to the WHO recommendation in univariate analyses. Both analyses were adjusted for maternal age and tested for interaction between educational level and employment status. Results were reported as OR and 95%CI. All statistical tests were two-sided, and p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

10.2.4 The HELIX project: study design

In the context of my Erasmus experience at the Barcelona Institute for Global Health, ISGlobal (Barcelona, Spain), we used data from the HELIX project. HELIX project involves six existing prospective birth cohort studies in Europe [658]: the Born in Bradford (BiB) study in the United Kingdom [659], the Etude de cohorte généraliste, menée en France sur les Déterminants pré et post natals précoces du développement psychomoteur et de la santé de l'Enfant (EDEN) study in France [660], the INfancia y Medio Ambiente (INMA) cohort in Spain [661], the Kaunas cohort (KANC) in Lithuania [662], the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa) [663], and the RHEA Mother and Child Cohort study in Crete, Greece [664]. The HELIX 'early-life exposome' approach involves combining all environmental hazards that mothers and children are exposed to, and linking this to the health, growth, and development of children. Local ethical committees approved the studies that were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All participating women provided informed written consent. In this study, the population consisted of 788 mothers and their singleton children with information on breastfeeding and DNA methylation. Between December 2013 and February 2016, we obtained information about maternal diet and exposure to environmental contaminants during pregnancy, as well as information on child diet. Moreover, mothers and their singleton offspring were followed up until the children were aged 6 to 12 years. However, in the current analysis we included only European children based on self-reported data.

10.2.5 The HELIX project: exposure and DNA methylation assessment

We assessed breastfeeding status during the follow-up between 6 and 11 years old. Breastfeeding used in this study included: i) any breastfeeding, defined as never breastfed and ever breastfed babies, regardless of the introduction of formula feed and/or solid foods; ii) any breastfeeding duration, as total months that the mother breastfed the baby, considering upper limit of 12 months.

Moreover, detailed information on maternal age at birth, gestational age, maternal BMI, maternal education, smoking status during pregnancy, parity, and type of delivery from each study participant was obtained by each cohort during the follow-up interview through a structured

questionnaire. Full details are described elsewhere [658]. In addition, DNA methylation levels in peripheral blood was measured at mean of 8 years. Full details are described elsewhere [658].

10.2.6 The HELIX project: statistical analysis

We performed statistical analysis using R studio. We checked the normal distribution of continuous variables using the Shapiro-test. Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population using frequency (%) or median and IQR. We explored the association between breastfeeding and the covariates - including cell type proportions - by using Mann-Whitney U for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variables. Robust linear regression models were performed to test the association between breastfeeding and child blood DNA methylation, taking into account only complete cases and adjusting for batch effect and cohort. Q-Q plot was used to compare our samples vs. theorical distributions by plotting their quantiles against each other, while Volcano Plot allowed to see the most highly differentially methylated CpGs, by plotting the negative log of the p value on the y axis and the beta coefficients for each CpGs in the x axis. Two methods were applied to control multiple-testing: Bonferroni correction, that sets the significance cut-off at α/n , and FDR correction, defined as the proportion of false positives among all significant results (FDR < α).

10.3 Results

10.3.1 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": characteristics of study population

The present analysis included 220 pregnant women (median = 37 years; median gestational age = 16 weeks) from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort, with available information on breastfeeding status. In brief, 66.7% of women had at least one child. Moreover, 85.0% women exhibited a medium-high education level, while 58.2% were employed. With respect to lifestyles, 17.4% were current smokers and nearly 60.0% reported a medium adherence to MD. According to BMI (mean = 23.38; SD = 4.39), nearly 26% of women were overweight or obese, with 37.0% of pregnant women with adequate GWG. According to breastfeeding, 181 women declared to have breastfed. Specifically, 123 of them (68.0%) initiated breastfeeding within one hour of birth, out of which 81 (65.9%) have exclusively breastfed for the first 6 months. However, only 14 women (7.7%) who have breastfed continued until 2 years of age. (Figure 1).

10.3.2 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": association between maternal characteristics and breastfeeding status

As shown in **Table 1**, according to the breastfeeding status, the proportion of women who have breastfed increased with increasing educational level (p = 0.001). Logistic regression analysis

confirmed that medium (OR = 3.171; 95% CI = 1.285-7.822; p = 0.012) and high educational level (OR = 4.549; 95% CI = 1.525-13.570; p = 0.007) were positively associated with breastfeeding if compared with low educational level. By contrast, no association with employment status was evident (**Table 2**).

10.3.3 The "Mamma & Bambino cohort": association between maternal characteristics and adherence to breastfeeding recommendations

As shown in **Table 3**, we next compared maternal characteristics according to their adherence to the WHO recommendation of exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months. Interestingly, the proportion of women who have exclusively breastfed for six months increased with increasing educational level (p = 0.018). Moreover, the proportion of pregnant women who adhered to this recommendation was higher among those who were employed than those who were unemployed (p = 0.015). In line, medium–high educational level and being employed were positively associated with exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months. Specifically, the logistic regression analysis demonstrated that full-time employed women (OR = 2.158; 95% CI = 1.033–4.508; p = 0.041) and those who reported medium educational level (OR = 4.632; 95% CI = 1.227–17.484; p = 0.024) were more likely to adhere to the WHO recommendation than their less educated and unemployed counterparts. A borderline significant association of part-time employment and high educational level with adherence to the WHO recommendation was also evident (**Table 4**).

10.3.4 The HELIX project: study population

Overall, 788 European children were included in the present analysis. Each cohort made its contribution: UK (BiB) with 72 samples, France (EDEN) with 136 samples, Norway (MoBA) with 189 samples, Greece (RHEA) with 187 samples and Spain (INMA) with 204 samples. Among women, 84.1% of them have breastfed. Particularly, proportion of women who breastfed ranged from 94.7% (Norwegian women) to 61.8% (French women). About women characteristics, we observed that nearly 51% of women reported high educational level, and only 9% of women were smokers during pregnancy.

10.3.5 The HELIX project: major determinants of breastfeeding

We next evaluated major determinants of breastfeeding. Firstly, we tested the relationship between breastfeeding and quantitative variables, such as child and maternal age, maternal BMI, birth weight, gestational age, and cell types, using any breastfeeding (ever vs. never) as exposure. Particularly, we observed that child age (p = 0.01) and maternal BMI (p = 0.009) were higher among the ones who had never breastfed, while birth weight was higher among who had breastfed

(p = 0.02). With regard to cell proportions, B-cell and CD8T proportions were higher among who had breastfed (p = 0.003 and p = 0.02, respectively). By contrast, granulocytes proportion was lower among who had breastfed (p = 0.001). These results were similar when testing the association between breastfeeding duration and cell proportions. Particularly, Natural Killer (NK) cells and lymphocytes increased with increasing breastfeeding duration. Next, we tested the relationship between breastfeeding and qualitative variables, such as sex, maternal education, parity, type of delivery and smoking, using any breastfeeding (yes or no) as exposure. Interestingly, the proportion of women who breastfeed increased with increasing educational level (71.1% vs. 80.4% vs. 89.2%; p = 0.01), while proportion of women who breastfeed was higher among no-smokers (86.1% vs. 61.3%; p<0.01).

10.3.6 The HELIX project: association between breastfeeding and DNA methylation

We first conducted a robust linear regression model using any breastfeeding (ever vs. never) as exposure and adjusting for all the covariates. We noted that the two distributions were similar, with almost all the points in the line y=x, and there was no strong indication of genome-wide inflation for breastfeeding ($\lambda = 0.97$). Moreover, only few CpGs were under the suggestive threshold that we used (p-value <1E-05). However, no CpGs passed multiple-testing (i.e Bonferroni correction and FDR). Next, we conducted a robust linear regression model using breastfeeding duration as exposure and adjusting for all the covariates. Similarly, we noted that the two distributions were similar, with almost all the points in the line y=x, and there was no strong indication of genome-wide inflation for breastfeeding ($\lambda = 1.04$). Moreover, only few CpGs were under the threshold that we used (p-value <1E-05). However, no CpGs passed multiple-testing (i.e Bonferroni correction and FDR).

10.4 Discussion

Worldwide, human breast milk is considered the optimal source for infant nutrition due to its shortterm and long-term health benefits [619, 665] that might be mediated by molecular mechanisms [463]. Similarly, long-term breastfeeding has been associated with benefits for mothers [666-668]. In this scenario, we found that 82.3% of women have breastfed, regardless of breastfeeding type (i.e., exclusive or predominant). Interestingly, we noted that the proportion of women who have breastfed increased with increasing educational level. As suggested by logistic regression analysis, medium and high educational level were positively associated with breastfeeding after adjusting for maternal age and employment status. This pointed out the socioeconomic gaps in breastfeeding

attitudes between mothers with different educational level. According to previous studies [669, 670], women with high educational level were more likely to seek medical advice and exploit health services with regard to breastfeeding [671]. Interestingly, socioeconomic factors could also influence breastfeeding duration and its exclusivity. However, in our study, maternal characteristics did not seem associated with between exclusive or predominant breastfeeding. In a public health point of view, it is important that newborns are breastfed exclusively during the first six months of life. However, compliance with breastfeeding recommendations depends on several sociocultural factors [636]. In our study, nearly 64.0% of women declared to have exclusively breastfed for six months, and we noted that the proportion of women who adhered to breastfeeding recommendations increased with increasing educational level. Moreover, we demonstrated that full-time employed women were more likely to breastfeed. These findings could be explained by the positive effects that education has on breastfeeding knowledge in general, and on compliance with recommendations. With respect to employment status, it is important to consider the positive impact of Italian parental leave, which allows employed women to continue exclusive breastfeeding for the recommended period. Taking into account socioeconomic factors, few studies demonstrated that younger mothers with low educational level were more likely to interrupt breastfeeding before six months [672], as well as that the combined effects of age and educational level was so strong that others socioeconomic factors were no significant in the adjustment model [636]. With respect to employment status, healthcare advisors should inform women how best to continue breastfeeding when returning to work. Six studies evaluated the association between returning to work within 12week post-birth and the cessation of breastfeeding before six months of life [628-633]. In particular, women who started working early after delivery were more likely to use infant formula, giving up exclusive breastfeeding [629]. Thus, time chosen for re-start working and types of job could explain differences in adherence to breastfeeding recommendations among mothers. Aside from socioeconomics determinants, breastfeeding could be affected by others factors (maternal pre-pregnancy obesity, higher risk of non-initiation and shorter breastfeeding duration [673, 674], and smoking during lactation) [675, 676] However, in our study we did not find significant association between the above-mentioned factors and breastfeeding. In this scenario, breastfeeding programs should be implemented for all mothers, with specific interventions tailored toward less educated mothers. Particularly, public health strategies are needed to identify cultural factors that support infant feeding, in order to promote exclusive breastfeeding, which in turn affects maternal and neonatal health. Moreover, long-term effects might be mediated by epigenetic mechanisms, but evidence in humans is scarce and mostly based on candidate gene studies and on single cohort [650-655].

However, EWASs can offer new insights into DNA-environment interactions in determining child development and health [650]. The novelty of the analysis conducted in the HELIX cohorts was the multi-cohort study with larger sample size and the use of an EWAS approach to find DNA methylation changes associated with breastfeeding. Firstly, our results indicated that the proportion of Lymphocytes (CD4T and CD8T) were higher among who had breastfed, and increased with increasing breastfeeding duration, as well as the proportion of NK cells. By contrast, the proportion of Granulocytes were lower among who had breastfed and decreased with increasing breastfeeding duration. These cells are involved in several diseases and conditions, such as respiratory disorders [677, 678]. Thus, breastfeeding might protect for asthma, which in turn involves all the cells type above-mentioned [679]. However, further analysis is needed to better explain the twofold contribution of the reduction of granulocytes - that could explain the protective effect of breastfeeding on asthma – and, by contrast, of the increased proportion of lymphocytes and NK cell - that are involved in the asthmatic process. Furthermore, our list of top CpGs mapped to protein coding genes, but also to non-coding RNAs, such as microRNAs. Among the top associations, we identified that methylation of cg15118824 - located in the Human Leucocyte Antigen E (HLA-E gene) - decreased with increasing breastfeeding duration. In general, decreased methylation is associated with increased gene expression. HLA-E has been involved in the inhibitory effect on the cytotoxic activity of the NK cell, which in turn could link with the beneficial effects of breastfeeding on allergic diseases. None of the genes detected could be functionally linked to other beneficial effects of breastfeeding, such as obesity or neurodevelopment. However, further studies are needed to better understand the potential relationship and effect of breastfeeding on the methylation sites that we are detected. With respect to scientific literature, our top ten CpGs with lowest p-value were not reported among top CpGs in other studies. Thus, the current study was preliminary for more detailed analysis useful for a better interpretation of the results.

Both analyses had some limitations. With respect to the "Mamma & Bambino cohort", we cannot completely exclude potential associations in those tests with low statistical power, as well as potential association with factors that were previously related to breastfeeding. Moreover, data on breastfeeding were self-reported through telephone interviews, which did not preclude potential reporting errors. With respect to socio-demographic information on mothers, we collected the information at recruitment, without considering any changes occurred during the follow-ups at 1 and 2 years. Moreover, the proportion of infants who were breastfed until 2 years was low, not allowing us to determine what factors might be associated with prolonged breastfeeding with complementary feeding. With respect to the analysis conducted in the HELIX cohorts, the first

weakness was the definition of exposure, because the results are related to the binary categorisation, which includes highly heterogeneous individual regarding breastfeeding quality and type of foods given concurrently with breastmilk (for individuals that were not-exclusively breastfeed). Moreover, results are related to the duration of breastfeeding, which is likely prone to substantial measurement error in the self-reported months of duration. In addition, samples are restricted to peripheral blood. Further analyses in larger samples with more detailed definitions of breastfeeding will be useful to understand the biological basis of long-term associations between breastfeeding and healthy growth.

Characteristics	Overall (n=220)	Breastfeeding	Not Breastfeeding	p-value
		(n=181)	(n=39)	
Age (years)	37.0 (5.0)	37.0 (4.0)	38.0 (4.0)	0.656
Educational level				
Low	33 (15.0%)	20 (11.0%)	13 (33.3%)	0.001
Medium	106 (48.2%)	89 (49.2%)	17 (43.6%)	
High	81 (36.8%)	72 (39.8%)	9 (23.1%)	
Employment status				
Full-time employed	88 (40.0%)	77 (42.5%)	11 (28.2%)	0.240
Part-time employed	36 (16.4%)	29 (16.0%)	7 (17.9%)	
Unemployed	96 (43.6%)	75 (41.4%)	21 (53.8%)	_
Smoking status				
Current	38 (17.4%)	30 (16.8%)	8 (20.5%)	0.601
Former	52 (23.9%)	45 (25.1%)	7 (17.9%) %	_
Never	128 (58.7%)	104 (58.1%)	24 (61.5%)	_
Pre-gestational BMI	22.7 (4.5)	22.6 (4.5)	23.2 (4.9)	0.768
Gestational weight gain				
Reduced	86 (39.3%)	72 (40.0%)	14 (35.9%)	0.291
Adequate	81 (37.0%)	69 (38.3%)	12 (30.8%)	_
Excessive	52 (23.7%)	39 (21.7%)	13 (33.3%)	_
Parity				
Yes	138 (66.7%)	115 (68.5%)	23 (59.0%)	0.258
No	69 (33.3%)	53 (31.5%)	16 (41.0%)	_
Adherence to Mediterranean diet				
Low	76 (34.7%)	61 (33.9%)	15 (38.5%)	0.638
Medium	131 (59.8%)	110 (61.1%)	21 (53.8%)	
High	12 (5.5%)	9 (5.0%)	3 (7.7%)	_
Type of delivery				
Natural	121 (57.3%)	100 (57.8%)	21 (55.3%)	0.774
Caesarean	90 (42.7%)	73 (42.2%)	17 (44.7%)	

Table 1. Maternal characteristics according to breastfeeding practice	Table 1	. Maternal	characteristics	according to	breastfeeding]	practice
---	---------	------------	-----------------	--------------	-----------------	----------

Characteristics	OR	95% CI	p-value
Educational level			
Low	ref		
Medium	3.171	1.285-7.822	0.012
High	4.549	1.525-13.570	0.007
Employment status			
Unemployed	ref		
Part-time employed	0.922	0.339-2.508	0.874
Full-time employed	1.206	0.489-2.977	0.684

Table 2. Association between educational level and employment status with breastfeeding

		8	
Characteristics	Adherent (n=81)	Non-adherent (n=100)	p-value
Age (vears)	37.0 (4.0)	38.0 (4.0)	0.293
Educational level			
Low	3 (3.7%)	17 (17.0%)	0.018
Medium	43 (53.1%)	46 (46.0%)	
High	35 (43.2%)	37 (37.0%)	
Employment status			
Full-time employed	41 (50.6%)	36 (36.0%)	0.015
Part-time employed	16 (19.8%)	13 (13.0%)	
Unemployed	24 (29.6%)	51 (51.0%)	
Smoking status			
Current	13 (16.3%)	17 (16.3%)	0.983
Former	20 (25.0%)	25 (25.3%)	
Never	47 (58.8%)	57 (57.6%)	
Pre-gestational BMI	22.3 (4.2)	22.7 (4.8)	0.236
Gestational weight gain			
Reduced	37 (46.3%)	35 (35.0%)	0.304
Adequate	27 (33.8%)	42 (42.0%)	
Excessive	16 (20.0%)	23 (23.0%)	
Parity			
Yes	48 (66.7%)	67 (69.8%)	0.666
No	24 (33.3%)	29 (30.2%)	
Adherence to Mediterranean di	iet		
Low	25 (30.9%)	36 (36.4%)	0.730
Medium	52 (64.2%)	58 (58.6%)	_
High	4 (4.9%)	5 (5.1%)	_
Type of delivery			
Natural	45 (58.4%)	55 (57.3%)	0.879
Caesarean	32 (41.6%)	41 (42.7%)	

Table 3. Characteristics of women who have breastfed, according to the WHO recommendation of

 6-month exclusive breastfeeding.

Characteristics	OR	95% CI	p-value
Educational level			
Low	ref		
Medium	4.632	1.227-17.484	0.024
High	3.727	0.925-15.009	0.064
Employment status			
Unemployed	ref		
Part-time employed	2.423	0.978-5.999	0.056
Full-time employed	2.158	1.033-4.508	0.041

Table 4. Association between educational level and employment status with adherence to the WHO recommendation of 6-month exclusive breastfeeding



Figure 1. Distribution of women according to breastfeeding status and WHO recommendations

This figure is adapted from Magnano San Lio et al., Medicina 2021

11. The effects of antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet on the risk of HPV infection and cervical cancer

11.1 Background

Bioactive food components, as well as the adherence to specific dietary patterns, might be associated with the risk of female cancer. Cervical cancer represents the fourth most common cancer in women after breast, colorectal and lung cancers [680]. The persistency of high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) infection is a necessary but not a sufficient event for the progression of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) to cervical cancer [681] [612, 682-685]. Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress might be involved in the etiology of cervical cancer, activating HPV-associated carcinogenesis and sustain tumor progression [686-688]. In fact, a chronic inflammatory process leads to the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the release of pro-inflammatory factors, such as IL-1 and IL-6, tumor necrosis factor- α , and interferon gamma [682]. Moreover, chronic inflammation seems also associated with a decreased level of antioxidants in HPV-infected cells [689], with a decreasing antioxidant activity against ROS at cellular level, and hence an increasing oxidative DNA damage [686, 687]. Although oxidative stress is considered a mechanism underpinning the host cellular response to viral infection, it has also been demonstrated that some viruses could thrive in an oxidative environment [690]. With respect to HPV, the virus induces oxidative stress and DNA damage, leading to cancer progression [687, 691]. The interaction between chronic inflammation and oxidative stress can partially explain the biological aspects underpinning the effect of various factors implicated in cervical cancer development - as smoking status, dietary deficiencies, sedentary lifestyle, and use of contraceptives [268, 683, 686, 687, 692, 693]. Among these, diet have been estimated to contribute to 20-60% of cancers [694]. The adherence to a healthy dietary pattern protects against several noncommunicable diseases, including cervical cancer [268, 276-278, 362, 695]. In this scenario, several studies have investigated the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory impact of specific foods and nutrients against HPV infection and cervical cancer progression (i.e., polyphenols, vitamins A, C, and E, folates, carotenoids, and minerals) [264, 268, 686, 696, 697]. Notably, several lines of evidence have proposed an inverse relationship between antioxidant plasma concentrations and the risk of HPV infection [698-704]. However, findings are currently inconclusive [252].

The combined effect of foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity remains to be clarified. On one hand, only one study reported the relationship between the adherence to a proinflammatory diets and an increased risk of cervical cancer, warranting further studies to confirm their findings [705].On the other hand, instead, there is a lack of supporting evidence about the effect dietary antioxidant intake on the risk of cervical cancer. In a previous study on women with normal cervical epithelium, we showed a negative association between dietary antioxidant intake and the risk of HPV infection [657].

Here, we first aimed to evaluate the associations of the Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index (CDAI) and the Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII) with the prevalence of cervical cancer among Italian women. Next, we have assessed dietary intake of antioxidants and CDAI among women with normal cervical cytology from Catania, Italy. Moreover, we aimed to evaluate differences in dietary antioxidant intake and CDAI between hrHPV positive and hrHPV negative women to test the association between cumulative antioxidant intake and hrHPV infection

11.2 Methods

11.2.1 Study design

In the present cross-sectional analysis, we used data from a previously published study on women who referred to the Cervical Cancer Screening Unit of the Azienda Sanitaria Provinciale (ASP) in Catania, Italy [102, 268]. Full details have been described elsewhere [102, 268]. The study has been approved by the ethics committee of the involved Institution (CE Catania 2; Prot. N. 227/BE and 275/BE) and conducted in line with the Declaration of Helsinki. In brief, during a three-year period, the study recruited women with an abnormal Papanicolaou (PAP) test prior to undergoing treatment. Women were tested for high-risk HPV infection using the Digene HC2 HPV DNA Test (Qiagen, Milan, Italy), and then classified as: i) women with normal cervical epithelium or CIN1 (Controls) and ii) women with a diagnosis of CIN2 or more severe lesions (CIN2+) according to histological diagnosis. All women who completed the interview and subjected to HPV DNA test and histological examination were included in the first analysis to evaluate the associations of the CDAI and the DII – with the prevalence of cervical cancer among Italian women. Next, we have assessed dietary intake of antioxidants and CDAI among the subgroup of women with normal cervical and complete assessment of dietary antioxidant intake, sociodemographic and behavioral information. Each woman was tested for hrHPV using the Digene HC2 HPV DNA Test (Qiagen, Milan, Italy), and categorized as hrHPV positive or hrHPV negative.

11.2.2 Data collection

At recruitment, women were interviewed to collect sociodemographic information and behavioral factors. With respect to social characteristics, women were classified as having a low (primary education) or medium-high (secondary and tertiary education) educational level, and as being employed or unemployed. Regarding behaviors, women were asked to report their height and

weight to calculate their BMI as defined by the WHO [293]. Women were also classified according to their smoking status as current or non-current smokers (i.e., including both former and never smokers). Finally, women were asked to indicate if they used oral contraceptives and supplements (i.e., including multivitamin and/or multi-mineral supplements). However, no information about the regimen and dose of specific antioxidant administration were available.

11.2.3 Dietary assessment

Dietary assessment and the semi-quantitative FFQ used in this study were fully described elsewhere [97, 268, 297, 343, 363]. In brief, the FFQ was used to calculate daily intake of foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti- or pro-inflammatory properties during the month before the recruitment. In particular, nutrient composition of each food was determined using the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Food Composition Database.

Prior to further analyses, dietary intakes were adjusted for total energy intake using the residual method [706]. Based on energy-adjusted nutrient intakes, we computed two dietary indexes which reflected the cumulative dietary antioxidant intake and the inflammatory potential of diet. In particular, we adapted the CDAI - proposed by Wright and colleagues [707] - and the DII developed by Shivappa and colleagues [708]. The CDAI was calculated as the sum of z-scores of the dietary intakes of zinc, selenium, magnesium, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin E, β -carotene, and flavonoids. With respect to the DII, we first calculated the z-score for each dietary factor. Next, zscores were converted into percentile-scores, with a symmetrical distribution (i.e., mean 0 and range from -1 to 1). The DII was then calculated as the sum of the products of percentile-scores of dietary factors and their respective inflammatory effect scores. Inflammatory effect scores were previously derived from a systematic review of studies investigating the inflammatory potential of 45 dietary factors based on six inflammatory markers (i.e. C-reactive protein, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha) [708]. In the current study, we used the following 33 of the 45 dietary factors considered in the original DII: alcohol, vitamin B12, vitamin B6, β -carotene, coffee, carbohydrates, cholesterol, calories, total fats, fiber, folic acid, iron, magnesium, MUFA, niacin, proteins, PUFA, riboflavin, saturated fats, selenium, thiamin, trans fats, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin D, vitamin E, zinc, black/green tea, flavan-3-ol, flavones, flavonols, flavonones, and anthocyanidins. Finally, women were classified according to the tertile distribution of each dietary index, so that the cumulative dietary antioxidant intake and the pro-inflammatory potential increased from the 1st to the 3rd tertile.

11.2.4 Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed on Stata (version 16.0) and SPSS software (version 22.0). Prior to analysis, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to test the normality of quantitative variables. Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population, using percentages for qualitative variables and median with IQR for quantitative variables. Mann-Whitney U test or the Kruskal–Wallis test were used for comparisons of quantitative variables, and the Chi-square test for qualitative variables. For instance, continuous variables underlying non-normal distribution were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test for comparisons between hrHPV positive and negative women or using the Kruskal–Wallis test for comparisons across CDAI categories.

The Bonferroni method was applied to adjust for multiple comparisons. Different regression models were used for the analysis. Specifically, logistic regression models were applied to evaluate the association of dietary indexes with histological diagnosis of CIN2 or more severe lesions. For the DII index, results were reported as OR and 95% CI of women in the 2nd or 3rd tertile compared with those in the 1st tertile. For the CDAI index, the reference group was constituted by women in the 3rd tertile. Model 1 was adjusted for age and HPV status, while Model 2 further adjusted for several confounders (i.e., educational level, BMI, smoking status, parity, use of oral contraceptives and supplements.

Moreover, linear regression models were used to evaluate the association of social and behavioral factors with CDAI. Next, logistic regression models were used to investigate the associations of dietary antioxidant intake with hrHPV status. The models included the standardized dietary intake of antioxidants (i.e., either separately or simultaneously) or the CDAI (i.e., both as continuous and as categorical) as independent variables, and were adjusted for age, smoking status, BMI, parity, educational level, marital status, and use of supplements and oral contraceptives. All statistical tests were two-sided, and p value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

11.3 Results

11.3.1 Study population

Overall, the present study recruited 539 women with a mean age of 40.2 years (SD = 10.0 years). All women satisfied the inclusion criteria for the analysis of the association of antioxidant and inflammatory potential of diet with cervical cancer. **Figure 1** shows the study population according to high-risk HPV status and histological diagnosis. Specifically, this study included 237 HPV-negative women with normal cervical epithelium and 302 HPV-positive women. Among the latter, 175 women showed normal cervical epithelium or a diagnosis of CIN1, while the remaining 127 were diagnosed with CIN2 or more serious lesions.

11.3.2 Intake of foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential

As shown in **Figure 2** and **Table 1**, CIN2+ women reported lower intakes of calories and other foods with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential (i.e., coffee, black and green tea, carbohydrates, fiber, PUFA, vitamins A, B6, C, and E, β -carotene, niacin, magnesium, and flavonoids). However, none of the abovementioned foods and nutrients was significantly associated with histological diagnosis after adjusting for multiple comparison.

11.3.3 Composite dietary antioxidant index

Next, we used the CDAI to investigate the synergistic effect of dietary antioxidants, classifying women into tertiles. Women with higher CDAI were older (p < 0.001) and heavier (p < 0.001). Moreover, women with higher CDAI were less educated (p = 0.001), more likely to have children (p < 0.001), and less prone to use oral contraceptives than their counterpart (1st tertile). We also observed a lower proportion of HPV-positive among women with higher CDAI (p < 0.001) (**Table 2**).

11.3.4 Dietary inflammatory index

Similarly, we computed the DII and categorized women into tertiles. Women with higher DII were younger (p < 0.001) and thinner (p < 0.001). Moreover, women in the 3rd tertile were more educated (p < 0.001), less likely to have children (p < 0.001) and more likely to be smokers (p < 0.001) than those in the 1st tertile. Women with higher DII were also more prone to use oral contraceptives (p < 0.001) and less prone to use supplements (p = 0.020) than their counterpart. With respect to HPV status, we noted more HPV-positive women among those with higher DII (p < 0.001) (Table 2).

11.3.5 The associations of dietary antioxidant and inflammatory indexes with cervical cancer

In line with findings presented above, we next evaluated the associations of CDAI and DII with CIN2+ status. As shown in **Figure 3A**, the proportion of women with CIN2 (or more severe lesions) decreased from the 1st tertile to the 3rd tertile of CDAI. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.070). In fact, as shown in **Table 3**, we did not demonstrate an association between CDAI and CIN2+ status also considering the effect of covariates. In contrast, **Figure 3B** shows that the proportion of women with CIN2 or more severe lesions significantly increased from the 1st tertile to the 3rd tertile of DII (p < 0.001). Accordingly, prevalence of CIN2 or more severe lesions increased with increasing diet's inflammatory potential. In fact, women with medium (2nd tertile) or high DII (3rd tertile) had higher odds than those with low DII (1st tertile) (OR = 2.02; 95%CI = 1.05–3.88; p = 0.035 and OR = 2.51; 95%CI = 1.33–4.73; p = 0.004,

respectively) after adjusting for age and HPV status. Notably, women in the 2nd and the 3rd tertiles exhibited higher odds of CIN2+ than those in the 1st tertile (OR = 2.15; 95%CI =1.11-4.17; p = 0.024 and OR = 3.14; 95%CI = 1.50-6.56; p = 0.002, respectively) after adjusting for age, HPV status, educational level, BMI, smoking status, parity, use of oral contraceptives and supplements (**Table 3**).

11.3.6 Dietary intake of antioxidants according to HPV status

Next, we aimed to assess dietary intake of antioxidants and CDAI among women with normal cervical cytology, evaluating differences in dietary antioxidant intake and CDAI between hrHPV positive and hrHPV negative women. Thus, for this analysis we included 251 women with a median age = 46.5 years (IQR = 19.0). The characteristics of women according to their hrHPV diagnosis were fully reported in a previous study [268]. In brief, 33.5% of women (n = 84) were hrHPV positive and, if compared to their hrHPV negative counterpart, they were younger (p < 0.001), more likely to be smokers (p = 0.003), less likely to be obese (p < 0.004) and to have children (p < 0.001).

Table 4 shows total energy intake and dietary intake of antioxidants according to hrHPV diagnosis. In general, hrHPV positive women reported a lower total energy intake than their hrHPV negative counterpart. This was consistent with a lower intake of zinc, manganese, vitamins A and C among hrHPV positive women. In particular, we noted a negative association between dietary intake of zinc and hrHPV positive status (OR = 0.49; 95%CI = 0.27-0.89; p = 0.018, for one-unit increase in the standardized intake) after adjusting for potential confounders (i.e., age, smoking status, BMI, parity, educational level, marital status, and use of supplements and oral contraceptives). Notably, this negative relationship remained significant when considering the effect of all antioxidants simultaneously (OR = 0.46; 95%CI = 0.27-0.80; p = 0.006, for one-unit increase in the standardized intake).

11.3.7 Population characteristics according to the Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index

Next, we computed the CDAI and classified each woman according to the tertile distribution to evaluate the synergistic effect of dietary antioxidants. As reported in **Table 5**, women with higher CDAI were older and more likely to live in couple, to be less educate, and to have children, but less likely to be normal weight and to use oral contraceptives than those with lower CDAI. However, only age remained positive associated with CDAI when all these factors were evaluated simultaneously ($\beta = 0.34$; SE = 0.04; p < 0.001).

11.3.8 Association of Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index with HPV status

Our results suggested that CDAI was lower among hrHPV positive women than their negative counterpart (**Figure 4A**). In line, the proportion of hrHPV positive women decreased with increasing CDAI (**Figure 4B**). Interestingly, we noted that the odds of being hrHPV positive decreased by 8% for each one-unit increase in CDAI (OR = 0.92; 95%CI = 0.86-0.98; p = 0.020), after adjusting for age, smoking status, BMI, parity, educational level, marital status, and use of supplements and oral contraceptives. Similarly, women with high CDAI had lower odds of being hrHPV positive than those with low CDAI (OR = 0.39; 95%CI = 0.18–0.85; p = 0.018), after adjusting for covariates.

11.4 Discussion

Several studies have already demonstrated how dietary habits might affect the risk of cancer in women [709, 710]. Bioactive foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential might reduce the risk of HPV infection and cervical cancer progression. In a previous study, we demonstrated the twofold effect of diet on the risk of hrHPV infection. On one hand, the risk increased among women who highly adhered to a western dietary pattern; on the other hand, it decreased among those who adhered to the Mediterranean diet [268]. However, epidemiological studies using specific dietary indexes are still scarce.

Firstly, our cross-sectional study evaluated dietary intakes of foods and nutrients with antioxidant, anti- or pro-inflammatory potential among women with abnormal PAP test results. In this population, we previously demonstrated the association between the adherence to an healthy dietary pattern and the lower risk of CIN2 or more severe lesions [268]. Here, we reported that women with CIN2 or more severe lesions had a lower intake of calories, as well as of other dietary factors with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential than their counterpart with negative histological diagnosis or CIN1. Thus, we hypothesized that the cumulative antioxidant intake and the inflammatory potential of diet might be associated with the odds of having CIN2+ lesions.

With respect to the CDAI, the proportion of HPV positive women decreased with increasing antioxidant score [657]. In fact, dietary antioxidant intake might counteract oxidative stress and DNA damage induced by HPV persistence [687, 691], producing a positive environment for viral clearance [252, 689]. Yet, despite antioxidants also prevent cervical cancer progression [252], we did not find an association between CDAI and CIN2+ status after adjusting for HPV status and other covariates. Further research are needed to understand if antioxidants have a protective role in the entire carcinogenesis process or, on the contrary, only in the first phase [657].

Moreover, we also evaluated the DII, a cumulative score based on the anti- and pro-inflammatory potential of foods and nutrients [708]. Our results demonstrated that the proportion of HPV positive women increased with increasing dietary inflammatory potential. Interestingly, women with higher DII – and hence women with a pro-inflammatory diet – were more likely to have CIN2 or more severe lesions than those with lower index. The association between DII and CIN2+ status remained significant after adjusting for HPV status and other covariates. This was consistent with a previous study [705], that is the first attempt in this field of research. Thus, dietary inflammatory potential might modulate the risk of cervical cancer independent of HPV infection and other risk factors (e.g., age, cigarette smoking, parity, use of oral contraceptives).

Additionally, we evaluated whether dietary antioxidant intake was associated with hrHPV status among women with normal cervical cytology. We did not find differences in dietary intake of carotenoids between hrHPV positive and negative women. However, we showed a lower dietary intake of zinc, manganese, vitamin A and C among women with hrHPV infection. Among these, when all antioxidants were considered simultaneously, dietary zinc intake remained negative associated with the risk of hrHPV positive status. This finding supports the notion that zinc is involved in the immunomodulatory pathways [711-715]. To our knowledge, our study is also the first evaluating the influence of a combination of dietary antioxidants on hrHPV status using the CDAI. Notably, women with higher dietary antioxidant intake had lower odds of being infected by hrHPV than those who reported a lower intake. However, further research is needed to understand to what extent dietary intake of antioxidants could prevent HPV infection and promote its clearance. Moreover, further studies are encouraged to understand molecular mechanisms underpinning the protective or detrimental effect of dietary factors against cervical cancer, also considering genetic susceptibility and epigenetic markers [612, 720].

The current analyses had some limitations. First, the cross-sectional design did not allow us to evaluate the causality of observed associations. With respect to dietary assessment, we used a FFQ that might be affected by measurement errors and inaccuracies. To partially manage reporting bias, we excluded women with the lowest and highest values of total energy intake, and we also adjusted food and nutrient intakes for total energy intake prior to further analyses. Although the FFQ used in this study allowed us to obtain the intake of 33 of the 45 dietary factors included in the DII, the residual effect of other foods and nutrients with anti- or pro-inflammatory potential was not evaluated. Moreover, we cannot rule out the possible impact of unmeasured factors, which might be associated with dietary habits or cervical cancer risk.

In conclusion, further large-scale prospective studies are encouraged to evaluate additional factors and inflammatory markers in the serum of patients. Similarly, further research is needed to understand whether antioxidants exert their effect on hrHPV infection, rather than on its persistence.

Foods and Nutrients	Controls	CIN2+	p-value
Proteins (g)	71.0 (64.9)	65.5 (50.6)	0.381
Alcohol (mg)	3.2 (5.1)	2.2 (4.8)	0.059
Vitamin B12 (µg)	8.6 (10.1)	8.4 (8.0)	0.851
Vitamin B6 (mg)	1.9 (0.7)	1.8 (0.6)	0.030
β-Carotene (mg)	1.7 (1.9)	1.3 (1.3)	0.044
Coffee (g)	10.2 (6.0)	8.9 (5.9)	0.033
Carbohydrates (g)	304.9 (288.1)	225.4 (198.0)	0.004
Cholesterol (g)	0.2 (0.2)	0.2 (0.1)	0.972
Calories (kcal)	2016 (546)	1859 (442)	0.003
Total fats (g)	64.1 (42.0)	62.0 (36.0)	0.610
Fiber (g)	10.2 (13.2)	7.0 (8.4)	0.010
Folic Acid (µg)	188.5 (111.7)	188.5 (115.3)	0.999
Iron (mg)	13.4 (5.0)	12.7 (4.7)	0.146
Magnesium (mg)	297.5 (84.2)	271.9 (68.1)	0.002
MUFA (g)	49.6 (17.3)	45.3 (16.4)	0.014
Niacin (mg)	41.5 (20.3)	35.1 (18.3)	0.002
PUFA (g)	14.6 (5.8)	13.0 (4.8)	0.005
Riboflavin (mg)	4.7 (3.7)	4.2 (2.8)	0.180
Saturated fats (g)	3.7 (1.4)	3.5 (1.4)	0.125
Selenium (µg)	59.9 (51.6)	57.9 (42.0)	0.680
Thiamin (mg)	1.5 (0.5)	1.4 (0.4)	0.076
Trans fats (g)	1.2 (1.5)	1.1 (1.3)	0.625
Vitamin A (IU)	1084.5 (553.1)	961.7 (454.2)	0.023
Vitamin C (mg)	122.5 (90.7)	105.67.6	0.049
Vitamin D (µg)	4.8 (3.5)	4.5 (5.3)	0.581
Vitamin E (mg)	6.7 (5.4)	5.4 (3.7)	0.012
Zinc (mg)	9.0 (2.8)	8.6 (3.0)	0.124
Black/green tea (g)	6.3 (12.6)	3.4 (7.8)	0.017
Flavan-3-ol (mg)	75.3 (144.4)	42.5 (89.8)	0.016
Flavones (mg)	1.0 (1.1)	0.7 (0.9)	0.016
Flavonols (mg)	34.5 (52.7)	20.6 (33.8)	0.005
Flavonones (mg)	36.5 (73.9)	22.1 (56.9)	0.045
Anthocyanidins (mg)	54.3 (118.3)	36.8 (99.4)	0.132

Table 1. Comparison of daily dietary intakes between controls and cases

The table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021

Characteristics	Dietary Inflammatory Index (DII)			Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index				
						(CD	AI)	
	1st	2nd	3rd	p-value	1st	2nd	3rd	p-value
	tertile	tertile	tertile		tertile	tertile	tertile	
Age, years	51.0 (7)	40.0 (5)	29.0	< 0.001	30.0	40.0 (9.0)	50.0	< 0.001
			(6)		(8.0)		(10.0)	
Smokers	31.1%	40.2%	51.1%	0.001	46.6%	41.7%	34.1%	0.052
BMI, kg/m2	23.5	22.8 (4.9)	20.8	< 0.001	21.1	23.0 (5.0)	23.4 (5.2)	< 0.001
	(4.8)		(4.3)		(4.1)			
BMI categories								
Underweight	1.1%	7.3%	15.7%	< 0.001	14.0%	7.3%	2.8%	< 0.001
Normal weight	58.1%	64.6%	69.7%		70.9%	61.8%	59.6%	
Overweight	30.2%	18.5%	9.6%		11.2%	20.8%	26.4%	
Obese	10.6%	9.6%	5.1%		3.9%	10.1%	11.2%	
Employed	46.7%	45.8%	46.9%	0.976	46.4%	49.4%	43.6%	0.537
Having children	92.8%	78.8%	35.2%	< 0.001	42.5%	72.8%	91.6%	< 0.001
Low educational level	50.0%	40.8%	25.8%	< 0.001	28.5%	40.6%	47.5%	0.001
Oral contraceptive use	2.8%	10.1%	15.6%	< 0.001	12.8%	11.7%	3.9%	0.007
Supplement use	15.6%	14.5%	6.7%	0.020	9.5%	11.7%	15.6%	0.199
High-risk HPV	38.3%	59.2%	70.9%	< 0.001	69.8%	56.7%	41.9%	< 0.001
infection								

Table 2. Comparison of population's characteristics across tertiles of Dietary Inflammatory Index and Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index

The table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021

Regression models	Dietary index	OR (95%CI)	p-value
	group		
Dietary Inflammatory Index			
Model 1	1st tertile	Ref	
	2nd tertile	2.02 (1.05-3.88)	0.035
	3rd tertile	2.51 (1.33-4.73)	0.004
Model 2	1st tertile	Ref	
	2nd tertile	2.15 (1.11-4.17)	0.024
	3rd tertile	3.14 (1.50-6.56)	0.002
Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index			
Model 1	3rd tertile	Ref	
	2nd tertile	1.18 (0.70-2.01)	0.532
	1st tertile	1.12 (0.62-2.00)	0.711
Model 2	3rd tertile	Ref	
	2nd tertile	1.20 (0.69-2.09)	0.523
	1st tertile	1.17 (0.61-2.23)	0.637

Table 3. Association of Dietary Inflammatory Index and Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index with

 CIN2 or more severe lesions

The table is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021

Dietary intake	HPV negative (n=167)	HPV positive (n=84)	p-value
Total energy intake, kcal	2080 (703)	1747 (722)	<0.001
Zinc, mg	9.21 (2.93)	7.60 (3.80)	<0.001
Selenium, µg	319.14 (485.53)	311.63 (461.46)	0.272
Manganese, mg	314.64 (93.03)	266.33 (101.19)	<0.001
Vitamin A, IU	1097.59 (538.14)	827.32 (586.10)	0.002
Vitamin C, mg	116.71 (107.55)	82.21 (84.34)	0.001
Vitamin E, mg	37.97 (23.44)	34.08 (20.49)	0.158
Carotenoids, µg	9267.17 (7369.62)	7749.60 (6973.24)	0.052
Flavonoids, µg	1624.20 (6850.78)	819.81 (4964.17)	0.163

Table 4. Dietary intake of antioxidants according to high-risk HPV status

The table is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2020

Table 5. Characteristics of the study population according to tertile distribution of Composite

	Composit	e Dietary Antioxi	dant Index		
Characteristics	1st tertile (n=73)	2nd tertile (n=89)	3rd tertile (n=89)	– p- value	
Age, years	31.0 (8.0)	41.0 (7.0)	52.0 (9.0)	<0.001	
Current smokers (%)	40.3%	38.2%	25.8%	0.102	
BMI, Kg/m2	20.8 (4.2)	23.4 (4.8)	23.7 (5.4)	<0.001	
BMI categories (%)					
Underweight	12.3%	6.8%	1.1%		
Normal weight	74.0%	61.4%	55.7%	- <0.001	
Overweight	6.8%	18.2%	31.8%	- <0.001	
Obese	6.8%	13.6%	11.4%	_	
Living in couple (%)	39.7	61.8%	74.2%	<0.001	
Employed (%)	46.6%	47.2%	40.4%	0.613	
Low educational level (%)	26.0%	39.3%	47.2%	0.022	
Having children (%)	50.7%	78.7%	91.0%	<0.001	
Use of oral contraceptive (%)	16.4%	9.0%	4.5%	0.036	
Use of multivitamin supplements (%)	8.2%	12.4%	16.9%	0.258	

The table was adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2020

Figure 1. Description of the study population according to high-risk HPV status and histological diagnosis. Abbreviations: CIN, cervical intraepithelial neoplasia; HPV, human papillomavirus.



The figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021





This plot shows the z-scores of dietary factors and their comparison between cases (CIN2+ women; blue line) and controls (women with diagnosis of normal cervical epithelium or CIN1; green line)

The figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021
Figure 3. Proportions of cases and controls across tertiles of Dietary Inflammatory Index (A) and Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index (B)



The bars represent the proportion women with CIN2 or more severe lesions (cases; blue bars) and those with diagnosis of normal cervical epithelium or CIN1 (controls; green bars). *** p-value<0.001 based on the Chi-Squared test

The figure is adapted from Maugeri et al., Public Health Nutrition 2021





(A) Comparison of Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index between high-risk HPV positive and negative women using the Mann-Whitney U test (***p<0.001); (B) Distribution of women by high-risk HPV status and tertiles of Composite Dietary Antioxidant Index (***p<0.001 based on the Chi-Squared test)

The figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Nutrients 2020

12. Dietary interventions effective for improving the quality of life of breast cancer survivors

12.1 Background

The promotion of healthy dietary habits might be crucial for sustaining the survival and the quality of life (QoL) of women diagnosed with cancer. Among female cancers, breast cancer is the most common one [234], accounting for 2.09 million cases and 627.000 deaths in 2018 [721]. Since breast cancer and its treatments are also associated with adverse effects [722, 723], the survivors are an important target population for developing and promoting preventive strategies [246].

As suggested by previous evidence, the promotion of healthy diet – rich in vegetables, fruits and whole grains regularly - might reduce risk of recurrence [724], stress and breast/arm symptoms [725]. Specifically, breast cancer patients showed reduced QoL than their healthy counterpart, with dietary problems such as dyspepsia, nausea and anorexia [726]. Changes in health-related habits were evident among breast cancer survivors [727], even if it was not clear the relationship between diet and QoL. For instance, one study did not demonstrate correlations between healthy eating index score and QoL [728]. By contrast, another study showed a negative correlation with depression, assessed by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale (CES-D) score [729]. Others reported better global health status [730, 731] and social, emotional, cognitive and role functioning [731], lower risk of dyspnea [732], but higher risk of insomnia [732] among breast cancer survivors with healthy dietary habits. For these reasons, 9 out of 10 women asked for a personalized dietary counseling after a breast cancer diagnosis [726]. However, dietary interventions did not modify dietary habits, with no significant changes in fruit/vegetable servings per day or take-away and fastfood frequency per week [733].

Beyond dietary habits, guidelines for cancer survivors also recommend to achieve and maintain a healthy weight and to practice physical activity, in order to improve health status and QoL of breast cancer survivors [734-738]. Moreover, a multidisciplinary rehabilitation program – with occupational and physical counseling – supported return to work by reducing fatigue and increasing working ability and QoL [739]. A trend analysis showed a positive association between the number of recommendations and QoL in breast cancer survivors [246], which, however, was limited to those with stage II or III cancer [734]. In line, increasing adherence to the guidelines was positively associated with several QoL subscales [726]. Yet, recent population-based studies [740-742] in the United States and Australia have reported that up to 70% of cancer survivors ignore these recommendations.

Here, we first conducted a cross-sectional study to evaluate the association of adherence to MD, physical activity, and weight status with QoL of Italian breast cancer survivors. Next, we performed a systematic review of experimental studies to summarize whether dietary interventions – alone or in combination with physical activity recommendations – might significantly improve QoL among women with a breast cancer diagnosis.

12.2 Methods

12.2.1 Cross-sectional study: study population

From 2013 to 2014, we conducted a cross-sectional study on Italian women with breast cancer (stage I-III breast) and on those who completed radiotherapy or chemotherapy treatment at least 6 months prior to the recruitment. Among 162 invited women, 42% (n = 68) completed the assessment of behavioral and dietary data, anthropometric measures, and QoL. The recruitment phase was supported by A.N.D.O.S. Onlus (Associazione Nazionale Donne Operate al Seno). The study protocol was approved by the ethical committees of the involved institutions, all women signed an informed consent, and the study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

A structured questionnaire designed *ad-hoc* was administered to collect information on age, on adherence to MD and physical activity, and on self-reported anthropometric measures, that were used to calculate and categorize BMI according to the WHO criteria [293]. Physical activity level was assessed using the long form of the IPAQ-L [294], and categorized as low (no moderate and vigorous activities), moderate (1–149 min/ week moderate or 1–74 min/ week vigorous or 1–149 min/ week moderate + vigorous), or high (\geq 150 min/week moderate or \geq 75 min/ week vigorous or \geq 150 min/ week moderate + vigorous) according to the American Heart Association recommendations [743].

12.2.2 Cross-sectional study: dietary assessment

The adherence to the MD was assessed using the Mediterranean Diet Assessment Tool proposed by Martinez-Gonzalez and colleagues [744-747]. The tool was developed in a Spanish case-control study of myocardial infarction [748], and includes 14 items. Based on the overall score, the adherence to MD was categorized as i) low (\leq 5 positive items); ii) medium (6-9 positive items) or iii) high (\geq 10 positive items).

12.2.3 Cross-sectional study: assessment of Quality of Life

The assessment of functional status and global QoL was performed using the European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality-of-Life (EORTC) Questionnaire–Core 30 (QLQ-C30) [749]. In particular, the QLQ-C30 includes the global health status/QoL, the

functional, and the symptom scales [749]. Moreover, QoL assessment was accompanied by the administration of the Quality of Life Questionnaire Breast Cancer Module 23 (QLQ-BR23) [750, 751]. The QLQ-BR23 is composed by 23 items organized in functional and symptom scales. The raw scores of the 4-point or 7-point scales were transformed to a 0 to 100 scale based on the EORTC scoring manual, with higher score reflecting better QoL in functioning and global health status/quality of life and a worst QoL in symptoms [750, 751].

12.2.4 Cross-sectional study: statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 21.0, SPSS, Chicago, IL). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to test the normality for continuous variables, reported as mean and SD. Moreover, the Student t-test was used for comparison between two groups, while the one-way ANOVA for comparison between more than two groups. All statistical tests were two-sided, and p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. We also reported statistically significant results after Bonferroni correction (p-values ≤ 0.003 for QLQ-C30 and ≤ 0.006 for QLQ-BR23).

12.2.5 Systematic review: literature search and study selection

From the inception to May 2019, two researchers independently conducted a literature search in the PubMed-Medline and Web of Science databases. The MeSH terms used for the research were: "Breast Cancer" AND "Quality of Life" AND ("Diet" OR "Exercise"). We included: (1) experimental studies (2) on women with a history of stage I-III breast cancer diagnosis, (3) focusing on the effect of dietary interventions (alone or in combination with physical activity recommendations) on QoL. The preferred reporting items for literature search (PRISMA) guidelines were followed [752].

12.2.6 Systematic review: data extraction

From all the selected articles, two researchers independently extracted the following information: first author's last name, year of publication, study design, country, ethnicity, number of participants, and method for QoL assessment, and the main findings of the effects of dietary intervention, alone or in combination with other recommendations, on QoL and secondary outcomes (changes in weight status, dietary habits, physical activity).

12.2.7 Systematic review: risk of bias assessment

For randomized controlled trials included in the systematic review, two researchers also evaluated the risk of bias using the Cochrane's Collaboration tool [537]. For each study, a score ('low risk of bias', 'unclear risk of bias' or 'high risk of bias') was assigned to the following items: random

sequence generation; concealment of the allocation sequence; blinding of outcome assessment; incomplete outcome data; selective outcome reporting; and other biases. Disagreements were resolved by discussion with a third Author.

12.3 Results

12.3.1 Cross-sectional study: study population and Quality of Life

In the current cross-sectional analysis, we included 68 stage I-III breast cancer women, aged 36-68 years. We first compared QoL of our study population with reference values from the EORTC Quality of Life Group's Cross-Cultural Analysis Project [753]. With respect to the QLQ-C30 module, study participants exhibited worst scores for emotional (p = 0.015) and cognitive functioning (p = 0.023), financial impact (p = 0.002) and insomnia (p < 0.001) scales than the EORTC reference values. By contrast, they showed better scores for loss of appetite (p = 0.003). However, only insomnia, financial impact and loss appetite remained significantly different from reference values after Bonferroni correction (p-values ≤ 0.003). Interestingly, regarding QLQ-BR23 module, study participants reported worst scores for all scales than those reported by the EORTC project also after adjusting for multiple comparisons (p-values ≤ 0.006).

12.3.2 Cross-sectional study: Mediterranean Diet and Quality of Life

Firstly, in our cross-sectional study we evaluated the association of adherence to MD and its typical food groups with QoL. The comparison between women who met MD criteria with who did not demonstrated the beneficial effects of several food groups. In particular, women who consumed less than 1 serving of red meat per day exhibited better scores for dyspnea (p = 0.035) and financial difficulties (p = 0.008). Women who drank less than 2 servings of carbonated beverages per day showed better scores for dyspnea (p = 0.004) and insomnia (p = 0.016). Moreover, women who drank 7 or more glasses of wine per week exhibited better score for sexual enjoyment (p = 0.025); women who consumed 2 or more dishes seasoned with sofrito per week showed better score for sexual functioning (p = 0.035). By contrast, we also noted the negative effects of other food groups on QoL: women who used olive oil as main culinary fat reported worst scores for sexual functioning (p = 0.044) and enjoyment (p = 0.008). Moreover, women who consumed 3 or more fish servings per week reported worst scores for emotional (p = 0.049) and cognitive functioning (p =0.034), financial difficulties (p = 0.034), side effects (p = 0.019), and breast symptoms (p = 0.008). Additionally, women who consumed less than 3 servings of commercial sweets or pastries per week showed worst scores for loss of appetite (p = 0.043), body image (p = 0.027), and arm symptoms (p= 0.045); women who consumed 3 or more servings of nuts per week reported worst score for role functioning (p = 0.004). However, no differences were evident after correction for multiple comparisons. Similarly, the comparison across categories of adherence to MD showed that it did not affect overall QoL and its subscales (Figure 1).

12.3.3 Cross-sectional study: physical activity and Quality of Life

Next, we observed that 24.7% of women reported low physical activity, while 50.5% and 24.7% showed moderate or high physical activity, respectively. As shown in **Figure 2**, we observed better QLQ-C30 scores for emotional (p = 0.028) and cognitive (p = 0.016) functioning, loss of appetite (p = 0.008), and diarrhea (p = 0.001) among moderately physically active women than those who performed less or more physical activity. These findings resulted in better global health status in women who performed moderate physical activity (p = 0.035). However, only diarrhea subscale remained significantly better among moderately physically active women after Bonferroni correction ($p \le 0.003$). With respect to the QLQ-BR23 module, no differences were evident.

12.3.4 Cross-sectional study: weight status and Quality of Life

According to BMI (mean = 26.4 kg/m2; SD = 4.8 kg/m2), we classified women in underweight (0.7%), normal weight (44.9%), overweight (33.1%), and obese (21.3%). In particular, we noted that several QoL sub-scores (i.e., physical and role functioning, fatigue, nausea, pain, dyspnea, insomnia, appetite loss, constipation, diarrhea, and financial difficulties) decreased from underweight to obese women (p-values < 0.05). As reported in **Figure 3**, the comparison between underweight/normal weight and overweight/obese women demonstrated worst scores for physical (p = 0.001) and role functioning (p = 0.004), fatigue (p = 0.025), pain (p = 0.009), dyspnea (p = 0.003) in the latter group. However, only physical functioning and dyspnea remained significantly better among underweight/normal weight women after Bonferroni correction (p-values ≤ 0.003). Similar results were obtained with respect to the QLQ-BR23 module, no differences by weight status were evident.

12.3.5 Systematic review: principal findings

The detailed steps of the study selection are given as a PRISMA flow diagram in **Figure 4.** The current systematic review finally included 9 experimental studies from Europe (n = 4), America (n = 4) and Asia (n = 1), and different tools for assessing QoL in breast cancer survivors were reported. With respect to study design, we included 6 randomized controlled trials, 2 single-arm trials, and 1 randomized cross-over pilot study. Duration of intervention ranged from 2 weeks to 12 months. In general, all the studies demonstrated significant improvements in overall QoL and/or its subscales after the interventions. However, differences in study design, interventions and tools used for QoL

assessment does not allow to provide an overall estimate. Moreover, only one study evaluated the effect of an intervention based exclusively on dietary recommendations, demonstrating that short-term fasting followed by normo-caloric diet counteracted the reduction of QoL in the first half of chemotherapy [754].

The remaining studies, instead, proposed various combined interventions to promote healthy diet and regular physical activity among breast cancer survivors, including stage-matched telephone counselling [755], automated prompts [756], physical and nutritional interventions in hydrothermal centers [757], and weight loss programs [758, 759]. Befort and colleagues conducted a single-arm trial on obese stage I-III breast cancer survivors that were instructed to follow dietary (i.e., consuming \geq 5 fruit and vegetable servings per day, prepackaged frozen entrees and shakes) and physical activity (i.e., 225 minutes per week of moderate intensity activity) recommendations [760]. This intervention significantly improved several QoL domains, such as mood, body image, and sexuality, and determined improvements in weight, waist circumference, daily energy intake, fruit and vegetables consumption, and physical activity level [760]. The randomized controlled trial by Demark-Wahnefried and colleagues confirmed the efficacy of diet and physical activity recommendations for improving QoL among overweight/obese breast cancer survivors [761].

The randomized controlled trial by Kim and colleagues evaluated the effects of a telephone counseling with personal prescription for regular exercise and balanced diet based on guidelines. They reported that the intervention group showed significantly improvement in emotional functioning, fatigue, and depression than the control arm, as well as in motivational readiness for exercise and diet [755]. Similarly, Kwiatkowski and colleagues conducted a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the effect of a two-week intervention in hydrothermal centers [757], consisting of daily group supervised physical training, dietary education, physiotherapy, and psychological support. The intervention significantly improved QoL after 6 and 12 months, with greater improvements in mental and physical sub-scores [757]. In line with these findings, the randomized controlled trial by Morey and colleagues was based on a 12-month diet and exercise intervention via telephone counseling and tailored mailed materials [756]. The authors demonstrated a significant improvement in physical activity, dietary behaviors, and overall QoL in the intervention arm. Moreover, after 12 months, the mean function scores declined less rapidly in the intervention group compared with controls group [756]. The randomized controlled trial by Travier and colleagues aimed to promote weight loss evaluating the effect of a 12-week intervention based on dietary and physical activity recommendations [759]. Participants who completed the intervention reported significant improvements in QoL and its sub-scores, and beneficial effects on weight loss

and cardiorespiratory fitness [759]. Similarly, two studies aimed to investigated beneficial effects of interventions based on aerobic exercise and dietary counselling [762, 763]. Ghavami and colleagues reported that a 24-week intervention significantly improved symptom relief, functional and global health status [763]. In line, Swisher and colleagues observed significant improvements in overall physical wellbeing, as well as in breast-cancer specific subscales and total score. The intervention also reduced body fat and sedentary time [762].

With respect to risk of-bias assessment in randomized controlled trials, we identified low risk of selection bias due to random sequence generation and allocation concealment. In 4 studies, we noted an unclear risk of detection bias due to insufficient information on the blinding of outcome assessment. For the other domains (i.e., attrition, reporting and other bias), low risk was evident.

12.4 Discussion

Our cross-sectional analysis aimed to investigate the potential effect of MD on QoL of stage I-III breast cancer patients who completed radiotherapy/chemotherapy treatment at least 6 months prior to the recruitment. Our results showed that low consumption of red meat and carbonated beverages, daily consumption of wine, and high consumption of dishes seasoned with sofrito were associated with better scores for several QoL subscales. This was partially in line with previous studies reporting better scores in some QoL subscales among women who adhered to healthy dietary patterns [730, 732]. Other studies, however, reported a positive effect of healthy diet on depressive symptoms [729], but no direct correlation with overall QoL was evident [764]. Accordingly, in our study population, we did not demonstrate association between adherence to MD and QoL. Indeed, MD is also characterized by some typical products – for instance olive oil, fish, and nuts - that seemed to have a negative effect on several QoL subscales. The low sample size did not allow us to adjust for potential confounders (e.g., age and other social and demographic factors) nor evaluate a mediating effect.

Moreover, worst scores for physical and role functioning, fatigue, pain, dyspnea were observed among overweight or obese women compared with their normal weight counterpart. Regarding exercise, the most positive effect on QoL was among women who performed moderate physical activity, with better scores for global health status, emotional and cognitive functioning, loss of appetite, and diarrhea. Several observational studies already demonstrated benefits from more engagement in physical activity on QoL of breast cancer survivors [735-737]. Interestingly, a metaanalysis of thirty-three randomized controlled trials stated that QoL was significantly improved in exercise intervention group. Besides, exercise was also associated with positive outcomes in BMI, and in the serum concentration of insulin [765]. While benefits of physical activity are already well known, findings about a potential effect of dietary intervention are still inconclusive. Thus, we also conducted a systematic review of experimental studies investigating the effect of dietary interventions - alone or in combination with other recommendations - on QoL of breast cancer survivors. Although all the studies demonstrated significant improvements in QoL after the interventions, only a trial evaluated the exclusive effect of dietary intervention [754]. Beyond that, differences in study design and in tools used for QoL assessment did not allow to provide an overall estimate. Thus, QoL increased with increasing number of lifestyle recommendations. However, more efforts are needed to understand the exclusive effect of dietary interventions on the QoL of breast cancer survivors.



Figure 1. Comparison of quality of life according to adherence to Mediterranean Diet.

Data were compared using the one-way ANOVA.

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Cancer 2020





Data were compared using the one-way ANOVA. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Cancer 2020

Figure 3. Comparison of quality of life between overweight/obese and underweight/normal weight women



Data were compared using the Student t-test. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01

This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Cancer 2020

Figure 4. PRISMA flow diagram of study selection



This figure is adapted from Barchitta et al., Cancer 2020

13. Discussion and Conclusions

Women's health represents an important target for Public Health strategies due to several biological and socio-cultural reasons. During the reproductive period - especially in pregnancy - environmental factors and lifestyles can affect physiological and pathological conditions both in women and in future generations. The set of individual features that characterize each woman makes them susceptible to environmental stressors. Indeed, the interplay between health status, physiology, genetics, and epigenetics, as well as changes in these individual components caused by previous exposures, can influence the effects of current or future exposures.

For this reason, understanding the role of determinants of health and its interaction with the exposome is become a Public Health priority. Several studies already demonstrated how the determinants of health might act on some behaviors, such as the adherence to healthy dietary patterns, which in turn can reduce the risk of many non-communicable diseases [276-278]. With the purpose of overcoming the approach of assessing the association between single nutrients or food groups and the occurrence of disease [280-283], an increasing number of studies has focused on summing mix of foods considered to be important for health [284]. In this scenario, greater adherence to MD — estimated a priori using dietary scores based on the characteristic components of the traditional diet of the Mediterranean area-has been found to be associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular and cancer mortality, as well as of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's incidence [286, 287]. Due to its positive effect on health status, we aimed to identify social and behavioral factors associated with adherence to MD in different cohorts of women during their reproductive age. Specifically, we first performed a cross-sectional study on women, without history of severe diseases, to assess the major determinants of adherence to MD in general, and the consumption of its specific food components. Our findings indicated that more engagement in physical activity is a positive determinant of the ideal consumption of vegetables and legumes, resulting in a high adherence to MD. By contrast, the coexistence of unhealthy dietary choices with sedentary behaviors exacerbates their deleterious effects on health. People who perform more physical activity tend to be healthier than their sedentary counterparts [305], probably also due to their variegated diet and social contacts [306]. Instead, it has been demonstrated that sedentary individuals consume more fast-food products and fewer fruits and vegetables [289, 290]. Although a direct relationship between physical activity and food choices has not been yet elucidated, it has been well established that a lack of exercise and an unhealthy diet tend to coexist among individuals [307]. Similarly, we found that current smoking was a negative determinant of the ideal consumption of meat products, which means that people who smoked tobacco reported a higher

intake of red and processed meats. In this context, a meta-analysis of 51 studies showed an association between smoking status and a higher intake of energy, total and saturated fat, and cholesterol, while a lower intake of vitamins and fiber than non-smokers [309]. The positive aspect, however, is that changes in one of these behaviors could lead to an overall improvement of lifestyle [766-768]. Additionally, healthy dietary habits are more common among high-educated individuals since they are more aware about benefits and risks of their food choices [311]. In our study, after adjusting for other factors, having a medium or high educational level was the only positive determinant of an ideal consumption of alcohol. Moreover, living in couple was associated with an ideal consumption of cereals, while having children was the only positive determinant of an ideal consumption of an ideal consumption of fruits.

In general, we focused on women since they have a crucial role in food choice by providing meals for their families and making up most of the workforce in food-related jobs, health care and education. The role of women is even more prominent during pregnancy, because maternal diet - as well as other behaviors - plays a critical role in determining maternal and newborns health. Recent evidence highlighted the influence of both social determinants and lifestyles on the adherence to different dietary patterns [398-404], suggesting the need of robust evidence for both Public Health professionals and for the scientific community. Thus, we evaluated the relationships between a posteriori dietary patterns, social determinants, and lifestyles in a cohort of pregnant women from the Mediterranean area. In our cohort, we found that young women with low educational level adhered more to the "western" dietary pattern, which was characterized by high intake of red meat, junk foods and alcoholic drinks. This partially supports previous evidence that healthy diet is more common among old women with higher educational level [398, 399], though we demonstrated no association of socio-demographic characteristics with the adherence to a "prudent" dietary pattern rich in vegetables. Moreover, we also pointed out the positive association between the adherence to the western dietary pattern and smoking status, even adjusting for socio-demographic factors. Generally, non-smokers follow dietary recommendations better than smokers, while who smoke tend to have unhealthier dietary habits than former- or non-smokers [404]. A possible explanation is that women who smoke have an attenuation of the senses of smell and taste, and an unhealthier lifestyle compared to former and non-smokers [457, 458].

Since the high adherence to western dietary patterns is associated with adverse maternal and infant outcomes - including GDM [453], PTB [195] and reduced birth length [195] - our results raise the need for strategies to promote of healthy dietary habits among women of reproductive age, with a particular focus on young women with low educational level.

It therefore remains important to better identify the determinants of health involved not only in food choices, but in women's choices in general. Since pregnancy is a crucial stage of life for the health of women and their children, we investigated the main determinants of some women's choices – i.e., breastfeeding practice and vaccination choices – in the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort.

With respect to breastfeeding, its short-term and long-term health benefits on newborns [619, 665], which in turn might be mediated by molecular mechanisms [463], have been already clarified. However, women do not always adhere to WHO recommendation, according to which women should i) initiate breastfeeding within one hour of birth; ii) exclusively breastfeed for the first six months; and iii) continue breastfeeding until two years of age. In a subsample of 220 pregnant women, we firstly noted that the proportion of women who have breastfed increased with increasing educational level. This is probably because more educated women are more likely to seek medical advice and exploit health-related services. This pointed out the widening socioeconomic gaps in breastfeeding attitudes between mothers with different educational level [669, 670]. Interestingly, different socioeconomic factors might also influence the duration of breastfeeding and its exclusivity. In a public health perspective, it is important that newborns are breastfed exclusively during their first six months of life. However, compliance with WHO recommendations depends on several sociocultural factors [636]. In our study, we noted that the proportion of women who adhered was higher among those with medium-high educational level and those who were employed. In line, we demonstrated that full time employed women and those with medium educational level were more likely to breastfeed than their counterparts. These findings could be explained by the positive effects of education on breastfeeding knowledge in general, and on compliance with recommendations. Moreover, with respect to employment status, the Italian parental leave allows full-time and part-time employed women to continue exclusive breastfeeding for the recommended period. Aside from socio-demographic determinants, breastfeeding could be affected by other factors. For instance, studies conducted in developed countries stated an association between maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and higher risk of non-initiation and shorter breastfeeding duration [673, 674]. Similarly, smoking was also associated with higher rates of early cessation, probably due to nicotine effects on milk volume and sleeping patterns [675, 676]. However, in our study, we did not find a significant association between the above-mentioned factors and breastfeeding. In this scenario, socioeconomic factors should be considered through public health strategies for improving maternal knowledge about health benefits of exclusive breastfeeding. In general, breastfeeding programs should be implemented for all mothers, with specific interventions tailored toward less educated mothers.

Additionally, since long-term effects of breastfeeding on human health might be mediated by epigenetic mechanisms, further research is needed to investigate the association between breastfeeding and DNA methylation in humans. For this reason, the study conducted on the HELIX cohorts may constitute a starting point for evaluating the role of epigenetic mechanisms on breastfeeding in the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort.

In a specular way, we conducted an analysis on the main determinants of vaccination choices among pregnant women from the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort. Our study underlined the need for improving women knowledge about recommendations for vaccination. For instance, in our study none of women reported to be informed about the recommended vaccines during the pregnancy, suggesting the need to increase healthcare providers' availability and to improve women's level of knowledge during the maternal counselling. Moreover, common determinants of non-vaccination also include the belief of vaccines unsafety, due to the facts that their long-term effects are unknown or that risks exceed benefits. Rates of low coverage are more determined by the complacency rather than socio-demographic and/or socio-economic factors [461]. However, social determinants can vary among countries of different income levels, supporting the idea that their effects on vaccination choice should be considered for designing appropriate interventions [427]. Although we proposed a positive association between age and no-adherence to vaccine programs, further research is encouraged to investigate other determinants involved in vaccination choice.

Among the appropriate public health strategies developed for women health, the WHO and the FAO proposed several dietary recommendations for the prevention of adverse pregnancy outcomes [156].

Particularly, during the pre-conceptional and gestational periods, inadequate intake of micronutrients might affect the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes [184]. Our hypothesis is that folate deficiency leads to PTB [769] and SGA [442, 444-452, 770-778], but further studies are necessary to better investigate the potential protective role of adequate folate intake and/or folic acid supplementation. In fact, magnitude of folate deficiency varies between and within countries, with higher prevalence in those without folic acid fortification of cereal-grain products [434, 435]. In our study on pregnant women, the proportion of women who did not meet current recommendation was in line with high prevalence of deficient women showed by previous studies in Italy [102, 268, 296, 297, 436]. Since MD is characterized by high intakes of green leafy vegetables, dark green vegetables, legumes, and some fruits [437], which in turn are rich in folates, our results confirmed that women with dietary restrictions and low adherence to MD were more likely to report inadequate folate intake. We also reported higher odds of inadequate folate intake

among current smokers, underlying the prevalence of unhealthy diet among smokers [291, 292, 308], with greater intake of saturated fat and cholesterol, and lower intake of vitamins and fiber [309]. In this context, also the prevalence of folic acid supplementation remains often inadequate in several countries [395, 438]. In our study, the proportions of insufficient users or non-users were not significantly different according to dietary folate status. However, among women with inadequate folate intake, those with low educational level were more likely to not use folic acid supplements than their more educated counterpart. Among the main determinants of health, younger age [395], low income [441], educational level [438], and employment status [396] might affect the use of folic acid supplements. Our findings supported the need for increasing the prevalence of folic acid supplementation through the identification of people at the highest risk for folate deficiency. This would also allow to develop preventive strategies to reduce the higher proportions of SGA and LGA births among women with inadequate folate intake, as well as the higher proportion of SGA births among women who did not take supplement before pregnancy and those who did not take at all. However, although we proposed a protective effect of folic acid supplements against the risk of SGA, previous studies were heterogeneous. The majority of them demonstrated that supplement use before and during pregnancy reduced the risk of SGA [442-448], while others showed an opposite [449, 450] or null effect [451, 452]. Thus, further research is encouraged not only to identity the social determinants affecting the prevalence of folate and folic acid deficiency, but also to better investigate the role of folic acid supplement on the reduced burden of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

It has become clear that the first thousand days of life, from conception to the end of the second year, represent a critical period for the development of obesity. In early pregnancy, excessive GWG is a risk factor for increased birth weight, which in turn has been associated with higher risk of obesity in childhood and adulthood [467, 468]. Beyond birth weight, the amount of GWG may affect both maternal and new-born health. In mothers, excessive GWG has been associated with an increased risk of hypertension [172], diabetes [173], cesarean section [174], postpartum weight retention [175] and obesity [176]. In newborns, the most common outcomes of inadequate GWG are neonatal and infant mortality, PTB and fetal growth retardation [470]. Our hypothesis was that dietary habits during the early phase of pregnancy - specifically those referred as "healthy" - might improve adequate GWG according to pre-gestational BMI. Specifically, we first demonstrated that the adherence to the prudent dietary pattern was negatively associated with pre-pregnancy BMI, with \approx 1.3 point reduced pre-pregnancy BMI for women with high adherence to this pattern. We also reported a dual opposite effect of the prudent dietary pattern on GWG across BMI categories: while the adherence to this pattern was positively associated with GWG among underweight, it was

negatively associated among overweight and obese. This is in line with the previous evidence from the prospective Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study [475]. These results might be attributable to the healthy effect of fruits and vegetables on women's health and fetal growth, as demonstrated by previous studies on US pregnant women [477] [478]. Thus, the adherence to a prudent dietary pattern might provide a balanced intake of energy, macro- and micronutrients [477] and, therefore, promote an adequate GWG independent of pre-gestational BMI. Moreover, women who adhered to a prudent diet were more likely to have a healthy lifestyle, which in turn contributed to adequate GWG independent of pre-pregnancy BMI [480]. With respect to the dual effect across BMI categories, it can be partially explained by dietary reporting errors [481] and/or in different composition of GWG [482] - which consists of gains in total body water, fat-free mass and fat mass - across BMI categories. Thus, our study demonstrated that adherence to a prudent dietary pattern ameliorated pre-pregnancy BMI and GWG across BMI categories, which in turn have been previously associated with increased birth weight [38]. Of note, our study also confirmed that birthweight was higher in infants born from mothers with excessive GWG, compared to those with adequate or reduced GWG.

With respect to the western dietary pattern, we demonstrated that it did not affect pre-gestational BMI but increased GWG, reporting a \approx 13.7 Kg increased GWG among obese women with high adherence compared to women with low adherence. In conclusion, the promotion of healthy dietary habits, even during the periconceptional period, represents a potential strategy to maintain an adequate weight independent of pre-gestational BMI.

Aside from pregnancy, women nutrition plays a key role in determining the risk for several diseases in other stages of life [694]. It is now well established that the adherence to a dietary pattern rich in healthy foods – characterized by fruit, vegetables, whole grains, and fish – protects against several non-communicable diseases, including cervical cancer [268, 276-278, 362, 695]. In this scenario, several studies have been conducted to investigate the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effect of specific foods and nutrients against HPV infection and cervical cancer progression [264, 268, 686, 696, 697]. However, the combined effect of foods and nutrients with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity remains to be clarified. Our cross-sectional study - conducted on women with abnormal PAP test and tested for high-risk HPV infection – demonstrated that the risk of CIN2+ was higher among women with medium or high DII than in those with low DII, after adjusting for covariates. In contrast, increasing CDAI was negatively associated with the prevalence of HPV positive women but not with the prevalence of cervical cancer. In general, dietary antioxidant intake might counteract oxidative stress and DNA damage induced by HPV persistence [687, 691],

producing a cellular environment that could help viral clearance [252, 689]. Yet, despite it has been suggested that antioxidants also prevent cervical cancer progression [252], we did not find an association between CDAI and CIN2+ status after adjusting for HPV status and other covariates. In this context, further research is needed to understand if antioxidants exercise their protective role in the entire carcinogenesis process or, on the contrary, if they intervene only in the first phase [657]. By contrast, our results on the associated DII and CIN2+ were consistent with the study by Sreeja and colleagues [705], which represented the first attempt in this field of research. This was in line with previous studies showing how higher DII was associated with the risk of other cancers [779-781]. Although other studies did not consider the relationship with cervical cancer, our results are in line with the notion that healthy nutrients and dietary patterns might reduce the risk of cervical cancer. By contrast, the consumption of high-calorie, high-fat, and processed foods might increase the risk [268]. Moreover, our analyses conducted in a subgroup of women with normal cervical cytology found a negative association between dietary intake of zinc and hrHPV positive status when all antioxidants were considered simultaneously. With respect to cumulative dietary antioxidant intake, we demonstrated that women with high CDAI had lower odds of being hrHPV positive than those with low CDAI. To our knowledge, this is the first study demonstrating that a diet based on the combined intake of nutrients with antioxidant properties might reduce the risk of hrHPV infection. Thus, our findings, if confirmed by large-scale prospective research, might inform novel preventive strategies against HPV infection based on dietary recommendations, especially in regions where vaccination is not implemented yet or vaccination coverage levels are not sufficient for prevention of infections. However, further studies are needed to understand molecular mechanisms underpinning the protective or detrimental effect of dietary factors against cervical cancer, also considering genetic susceptibility and epigenetic markers [612, 720].

In this context, the American Cancer Society (ACS) guidelines for cancer survivors recommend consuming healthy foods, as well as to maintain a healthy weight to engage in regular physical activity. With respect to diet, recommendations for cancer survivors regards the frequent consumption vegetables, fruits and whole grains regularly [694], and previous evidence showed that the promotion of healthy diet might reduce risk of recurrence [724], stress and breast/arm symptoms [725]. Among female cancers, breast cancer survivors exhibit an increased risk for secondary tumors, cardiovascular disease, diabetes [782-784], and reduced QoL [785, 786]. Thus, breast cancer survivors represent an important target population for promoting prevention strategies [246]. With this in mind, we evaluated the association of adherence to MD, physical activity, and weight status with QoL of Italian breast cancer survivors – who have completed treatments at least 6

months prior. We showed that low consumption of red meat and carbonated beverages, daily consumption of wine, and high consumption of dishes seasoned with sofrito had beneficial effects on several QoL subscales. By contrast, using olive oil as main culinary fat, low consumption of commercial sweets, and high consumption of nuts were associated with negative effects. Overall, these findings resulted in a null effect of adherence to MD on QoL. Furthermore, we observed better QoL sub-scores among women who performed moderate physical activity (i.e., diarrhea) and those who were underweight/normal weight (i.e., physical functioning and dyspnea) if compared with their counterparts. Next, our systematic review on dietary interventions for improving QoL of breast cancer patients demonstrated significant improvements in overall QoL and/or its subscales after the interventions. However, differences in study design, interventions and tools used for QoL assessment did not allow to provide an overall estimate. Thus, our study confirmed that more efforts are needed to understand the exclusive effect of diet and dietary interventions on QoL of breast cancer survivors. Instead, evidence of benefits from physical activity and weight management is already well established. Our results therefore raise the need for understanding whether tackling sedentary habits represents the best strategy to improve QoL instead of promoting intensive exercise. To fill these gaps, further research on the effects of physical activity and healthy diet on QoL among breast cancer survivors should be based on more homogenous methods, larger population-based studies and further randomized controlled trials which might allow us to evaluate the interactions of healthy behaviors and to improve the robustness of current evidence.

Given the need to promote women health through novel preventive strategies, the present thesis aims to investigate the effects of environmental exposures and lifestyles on genetic, epigenetic, and aging biomarkers in women during their reproductive age. With this in mind, increasing interest concerns the effect of genetic variants affecting vitamin D metabolism and functions during pregnancy. Vitamin D activity is mediated by the vitamin D receptor (VDR), a nuclear receptor that acts as a high-affinity ligand-activated transcription factor [521]. Since some studies proposed the potential association between VDR polymorphisms and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes (i.e., PTB, LBW and SGA births) [157, 161, 526-534], we aimed to evaluate their effects even considering dietary intake of vitamin D. In line with a previous study [527], for the *FokI* polymorphism, we showed that gestational duration and birth weight decreased with increasing number of mutated allele (A). Compared to the GG and GA, mothers who carried the AA genotype exhibited higher PTB risk, independent of socio-demographic characteristics, lifestyle, vitamin D intake, use of vitamin D supplements, type of delivery and parity. The meta-analysis – conducted for corroborating our results – confirmed this association under the recessive model, also pointing

out the protective effect of BsmI polymorphism against the risk of PTB. Thus, our results suggest the association between some maternal VDR polymorphisms with neonatal anthropometric measures and the risk of PTB, even if the mechanistic link between VDR expression and foetal outcome is still unclear. Although several studies suggest that vitamin D system - including VDR, its ligands and the metabolizing enzymes - plays a key role in innate immunity and implantation [540-544], the functional effects of VDR and its allelic variants in pregnancy are not yet clarified. In a personalized medicine perspective, it should be necessary to identify groups of women at risk of adverse outcomes and that could benefit from specific interventions. For these reasons, additional research - including observational prospective studies and clinical trials - is recommended to develop and validate effective preventive strategies against adverse outcomes, also taking into account the potential role of vitamin D and its related factors.

Not only biomarkers of susceptibility, but also biomarkers of aging could define a panel of measures for women health during lifetime. Despite its enormous complexity, a slight number of molecular mechanisms underpin the aging process, which represents an important risk factor for many non-communicable diseases [36]. Age-related changes in DNA methylation patterns, as those included in the so-called epigenetic clock, are among the best-studied aging biomarkers. Along with epigenetic mechanisms, also telomere length has been proposed as a marker of biological aging. In this context, we presented results from a systematic review of epidemiological studies to investigate the potential association between alcohol consumption, alcohol-related disorders, and telomere length. Our analyses showed that people with alcohol-related disorders exhibited shorter telomere length, but also that alcohol consumption per se did not appear to affect telomere length in absence of alcohol abuse or dependence. However, due to the lack of evidence during the periconceptional period, we also conducted a pilot study in the "Mamma & Bambino" cohort, comparing five nonsmoking but drinking women with ten non-smoking and non-drinking women. Interestingly, we detected a significant difference when analysing relative telomere length of leukocyte DNA of cord blood samples from newborns. In particular, newborns from drinking women exhibited shorter relative telomere length than those born from non-drinking women. This was in line with the DOHaD theory that in utero exposures program the fetus for challenges that is likely to experience later in life [129]. Indeed, our preliminary findings support the current hypothesis that biological aging of the offspring at birth might reflect maternal and neonatal characteristics related to prenatal environmental adversity [594]. This provides further motivations to study telomere shortening as a potential molecular mechanism underpinning the effects of maternal behaviors on the development of chronic disease later in life. However, molecular mechanisms underpinning the effects of

maternal alcohol consumption on biological aging of the offspring are not yet well understood. Although it is plausible that our findings rely on an alcohol-related state of inflammation and oxidative stress *in utero* [616], further studies are necessary – if possible, by including more mother-child pairs from different birth cohorts – to shed light into this relationship.

To better understand the high variability and the responsiveness to environmental exposures and lifestyles [91], our research was also focused on the relationship of nutrient and dietary patterns with telomere length. As summarized by Freitas-Simoes and colleagues, for instance, the intake of antioxidants and the consumption of plant-derived foods help protect against telomere shortening, while the intake of saturated fats and the consumption of high-sugar and high-calorie products seem to be associated with shorter telomere length [554]. In addition, a recent systematic review by Habibi and colleagues has sought to unravel how the diet of pregnant women affects telomere length in their offspring [559]. Due to controversial and limited evidence, we investigated the effect of maternal dietary factors on telomere length of cfDNA from amniotic fluid, showing a positive association between maternal intake of magnesium and telomere length. Our result is consistent with previous studies [583, 584], even if it is the first evidence of an early effect of dietary intakes of mothers on biological aging of their offspring. From a biological point of view, magnesium is an important cofactor for the catalytic activity of enzymes implicated in DNA replication and repair [586-589], and in RNA synthesis [586]. Magnesium deficiency is also often associated with oxidative stress [583] and pro-inflammatory status [590], which in turn might lead to telomere shortening. The lack of any solid evidence in this field of research, therefore, encourages further efforts to understand the influence of maternal dietary factors on biological aging, as determined by telomere length.

In this scenario, telomere length represents a potential molecular mechanism also associated with maternal GWG during pregnancy. Our hypothesis was that measuring telomere length of mlDNA and cfDNA in early pregnancy could be helpful for identifying women who adequately or inadequately gain weight at delivery. Notably, relative telomere length of cfDNA was able to discriminate women who gained weight adequately, also after adjusting for other maternal characteristics.

Moreover, according to the DOHaD theory, the effect of maternal weight gain on telomere length of cfDNA was already evident in early pregnancy. Due to its relevance, further experimental studies are needed to understand molecular mechanisms underpinning this relationship and to take into account other factors influencing the uterine environment during pregnancy.

Since diet, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, and metabolic status can potentially modify epigenetic signatures [224], we also evaluated their effects on DNA methylation in a cancer-free population. Although the molecular mechanisms underpinning the relationship between exposome and several adverse outcomes are currently not clarified, Epigenetics offers a partial explanation of this concern [787]. In fact, the transgenerational nature of epigenetic events suggests the pathways of transmission of the associated risk from mother to child [42]. For this reason, recent studies have proposed a remarkable link between epigenetic and environmental exposure, suggesting how nutrients, pollutants and other environmental factors can influence the turnover of epigenetic marks [318]. With respect to dietary patterns – towards which the research is moving – our study found that intake of "healthy" foods - such as wholemeal bread, cereals, fish, fruit, raw and cooked vegetables, legumes, and soup - positively correlated with LINE-1 methylation, which in turn was negatively associated with chromosomal instability and aberrant genome function. These findings partially confirmed previous studies reporting that higher intake of vegetables and/or fruits decreased the risk of LINE-1 hypomethylation [297, 322], probably due to the wide variety of nutrients and bioactive compounds provided by fruits and vegetables. Moreover, our analysis described how women with high adherence to the prudent dietary pattern showed increased LINE-1 methylation level than those with low adherence. Although our study suggested LINE-1 methylation as a molecular mechanism underpinning the protective effect of healthy diet, further outcome-driven research and mechanistic studies should be encouraged to evaluate the causal relationship between dietary intake and DNA methylation.

The importance of the adherence to a healthy dietary pattern is also linked to the consequences that an unhealthy lifestyle could have on human health, such as obesity. Indeed, overweight and obesity account for an important burden for public health [329], because raised BMI is often associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, musculoskeletal disorders, and some cancers [330]. It is also noteworthy that raised BMI could have adverse consequences on women of childbearing age and especially during pregnancy [176, 331-336] and at delivery [173, 333, 335, 337]. In this complex scenario, it would be interesting to uncover molecular mechanisms associated with raised BMI and obesity. Among them, epigenetic mechanisms surely attracted the attention of many researchers, due to their potential role in development of obesity from the early stages of life [323]. For instance, previous studies already suggested the involvement of DNA methylation, aberrant miRNA expression, histone modification and nucleosome release in obesity and associated comorbidities [324-326]. In addition to what has been demonstrated [323], our study on healthy women showed a negative relationship between BMI and LINE-1 methylation, which resulted in lower methylation level among obese women. These findings – adding to the current knowledge on the relationship between obesity and DNA methylation – sustained the hypothesis that measuring obesity-related DNA methylation markers could be helpful to understand the molecular effects of inadequate weight gain. Moreover, it could be also useful for identifying people at higher risk of obesity or those who respond well to weight loss programs. However, at present, these are just interesting perspectives that merit further investigation through longitudinal and well-structured studies.

Summarizing what addressed in the above-mentioned studies, an integrated approach is necessary to understand the relationship between exposome, molecular mechanisms and human health. Nowadays, strategies aiming to reduce health disparities should also include the promotion of healthy behaviors (e.g., diet, smoking habits and physical activity), which are considered as risk factors for several health conditions and diseases [365]. Social disadvantages and unhealthy behaviors – occurring either *in utero* or during lifetime – may induce sustainable biological changes involved in individual non-communicable risk profile [366, 367]. Despite recent strides in this field of research, molecular mechanisms involved are still not fully understood. For this reason, uncovering the epigenetic mechanisms underpinning this relationship might offer a plausible explanation.

Previous studies suggested some social disparities in epigenetic markers, including DNA methylation levels. However, the social status alone cannot explain these inequalities that might be mediated by behavioral factors. For this reason, we tested the mediating effect of behaviors (i.e., adherence to MD, smoking status, physical activity, and weight status) in the relationship between socioeconomic status and LINE-1 methylation level. Our findings confirm previous evidence that SES is a determinant of health, also through biological changes such as epigenetic mechanisms. Notably, we propose that behaviors – especially the adherence to MD – might mediate this association, leaving room for public health interventions aimed at promoting healthy dietary habits in social disadvantaged people. However, further prospective studies should be recommended to confirm this evidence taking into account additional social factors and behaviors.

In conclusion, we reported results from different cohorts of women of childbearing age to study the relationship between individual characteristics, environmental exposure during the lifetime, behaviors and molecular mechanisms involved in different physiological and pathological conditions. The integrated approach that we applied would be important for developing personalized strategies to prevent, diagnose and treat diseases and to improve the quality of life of women in all the phases of their life. The novelty of our study lies on this innovative approach for

204

the epidemiological research, but further efforts are needed. Indeed, some of the relationships observed in healthy women should be confirmed – or at least investigated – in other cohorts. For this reason, our promising results lay the foundation for future studies to identify subgroups of women that need tailored interventions of Public Health.

14. References

- Avery, O.T., C.M. MacLeod, and M. McCarty, *Studies on the chemical nature of the substance inducing transformation of pneumococcal types. Induction of transformation by a desoxyribonucleic acid fraction isolated from Pneumococcus type III. 1944.* Mol Med, 1995. 1(4): p. 344-65.
- 2. Sanger, F., S. Nicklen, and A.R. Coulson, *DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors*. 1977. Biotechnology, 1992. 24: p. 104-8.
- 3. Min Jou, W., et al., *Nucleotide sequence of the gene coding for the bacteriophage MS2 coat protein.* Nature, 1972. **237**(5350): p. 82-8.
- Sanger, F., et al., Nucleotide sequence of bacteriophage phi X174 DNA. Nature, 1977.
 265(5596): p. 687-95.
- 5. Gonzaga-Jauregui, C., J.R. Lupski, and R.A. Gibbs, *Human genome sequencing in health and disease*. Annu Rev Med, 2012. **63**: p. 35-61.
- 6. International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium, *Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome*. Nature, 2004. **431**(7011): p. 931-45.
- 7. Venter, J.C., et al., *The sequence of the human genome*. Science, 2001. **291**(5507).
- 8. Church, G.M., *The personal genome project*. Mol Syst Biol, 2005. 1: p. 2005.0030.
- Klein, R.J., et al., Complement factor H polymorphism in age-related macular degeneration. Science, 2005. 308(5720): p. 385-9.
- 10. The Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, *Psychiatric genome-wide association study analyses implicate neuronal, immune and histone pathways.* Nat Neurosci, 2015. **18**(2): p. 199-209.
- 11. Arking, D.E., et al., *Genetic association study of QT interval highlights role for calcium signaling pathways in myocardial repolarization.* Nat Genet, 2014. **46**(8): p. 826-36.
- Surakka, I., et al., *The impact of low-frequency and rare variants on lipid levels*. Nat Genet, 2015. 47(6): p. 589-97.
- Köttgen, A., et al., New loci associated with kidney function and chronic kidney disease. Nat Genet, 2010. 42(5): p. 376-84.
- 14. Chambers, J.C., et al., *Genome-wide association study identifies loci influencing concentrations of liver enzymes in plasma*. Nat Genet, 2011. **43**(11): p. 1131-8.

- 15. Perry, J.R., et al., *Parent-of-origin-specific allelic associations among 106 genomic loci for age at menarche*. Nature, 2014. **514**(7520): p. 92-97.
- DeBord, D.G., et al., Use of the "Exposome" in the Practice of Epidemiology: A Primer on -Omic Technologies. Am J Epidemiol, 2016. 184(4): p. 302-14.
- Vineis, P., et al., *The exposome in practice: Design of the EXPOsOMICS project*. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 2017. 220(2 Pt A): p. 142-151.
- Wild, C.P., Complementing the genome with an "exposome": the outstanding challenge of environmental exposure measurement in molecular epidemiology. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2005. 14(8): p. 1847-50.
- 19. Vrijheid, M., *The exposome: a new paradigm to study the impact of environment on health.* Thorax, 2014. **69**(9): p. 876-8.
- 20. Wild, C.P., *The exposome: from concept to utility*. Int J Epidemiol, 2012. **41**(1): p. 24-32.
- Rappaport, S.M. and M.T. Smith, *Epidemiology. Environment and disease risks*. Science, 2010. 330(6003): p. 460-1.
- 22. Rappaport, S.M., *Implications of the exposome for exposure science*. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol, 2011. **21**(1): p. 5-9.
- 23. Canali, S., *What Is New about the Exposome? Exploring Scientific Change in Contemporary Epidemiology.* Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2020. **17**(8).
- 24. Biomarkers Definitions Working Group, *Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework*. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 2001. **69**(3): p. 89-95.
- 25. World Health Organization (WHO), International Programme on Chemical Safety. Biomarkers and Risk Assessment: Concepts and Principles. 1993.
- 26. Looney, S.W. and J.L. Hagan, *Analysis of Biomarker Data*. 2015.
- 27. World Health Organization (WHO), Biomarkers and risk assessment: concept and principles.
- Eichler, E.E., Genetic Variation, Comparative Genomics, and the Diagnosis of Disease. N Engl J Med, 2019. 381(1): p. 64-74.
- 29. García-Giménez, J.L., et al., *Epigenetic biomarkers: A new perspective in laboratory diagnostics*. Clin Chim Acta, 2012. **413**(19-20): p. 1576-82.
- 30. Milagro, F.I., et al., *A dual epigenomic approach for the search of obesity biomarkers: DNA methylation in relation to diet-induced weight loss.* FASEB J, 2011. **25**(4): p. 1378-89.
- 31. Maier, S. and A. Olek, *Diabetes: a candidate disease for efficient DNA methylation profiling*. J Nutr, 2002. **132**(8 Suppl): p. 2440S-2443S.

- 32. Chowdhury, S., et al., *Maternal genome-wide DNA methylation patterns and congenital heart defects*. PLoS One, 2011. **6**(1): p. e16506.
- 33. World Health Organization (WHO), *Obesity and overweight*, 2012.
- 34. Mundstock, E., et al., *Effect of obesity on telomere length: Systematic review and metaanalysis.* Obesity (Silver Spring), 2015. **23**(11): p. 2165-74.
- 35. Njajou, O.T., et al., *Shorter telomeres are associated with obesity and weight gain in the elderly*. Int J Obes (Lond), 2012. **36**(9): p. 1176-9.
- 36. Xia, X., et al., *Molecular and phenotypic biomarkers of aging*. F1000Res, 2017. 6: p. 860.
- 37. Novelli, G., et al., *Genetic tests and genomic biomarkers: regulation, qualification and validation.* Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab, 2008. **5**(2): p. 149-54.
- Johnson, A.D., Single-nucleotide polymorphism bioinformatics: a comprehensive review of resources. Circ Cardiovasc Genet, 2009. 2(5): p. 530-6.
- 39. Butler, J., Advanced Topics in Forensic DNA Typing: Methodology. 2009.
- 40. Shastry, B.S., *SNP alleles in human disease and evolution*. J Hum Genet, 2002. **47**(11): p. 561-6.
- 41. Ottman, R., *Gene-environment interaction: definitions and study designs*. Prev Med, 1996.
 25(6): p. 764-70.
- 42. Hammoud, S.S., B.R. Cairns, and D.A. Jones, *Epigenetic regulation of colon cancer and intestinal stem cells*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2013. **25**(2): p. 177-83.
- 43. Relton, C.L., F.P. Hartwig, and G. Davey Smith, *From stem cells to the law courts: DNA methylation, the forensic epigenome and the possibility of a biosocial archive.* Int J Epidemiol, 2015. **44**(4): p. 1083-93.
- 44. Auclair, G. and M. Weber, *Mechanisms of DNA methylation and demethylation in mammals*. Biochimie, 2012. **94**(11): p. 2202-11.
- 45. Rauch, T. and G.P. Pfeifer, *Methylated-CpG island recovery assay: a new technique for the rapid detection of methylated-CpG islands in cancer.* Lab Invest, 2005. **85**(9): p. 1172-80.
- 46. Lander, E.S., et al., *Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome*. Nature, 2001.
 409(6822): p. 860-921.
- 47. Yu, F., et al., Methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 represses LINE-1 expression and retrotransposition but not Alu transcription. Nucleic Acids Research, 2001. 29(21): p. 4493-4501.
- 48. Steinhoff, C. and W.A. Schulz, *Transcriptional regulation of the human LINE-1 retrotransposon L1.2B.* Mol Genet Genomics, 2003. **270**(5): p. 394-402.

- 49. Jiang, M.H., et al., *Hypermethylation of hepatic Gck promoter in ageing rats contributes to diabetogenic potential.* Diabetologia, 2008. **51**(8): p. 1525-33.
- 50. Cai, L., et al., Association of obesity with socio-economic factors and obesity-related chronic diseases in rural southwest China. Public Health, 2013. **127**(3): p. 247-51.
- 51. Yang, A.S., et al., *A simple method for estimating global DNA methylation using bisulfite PCR of repetitive DNA elements.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2004. **32**(3): p. e38.
- 52. Wilson, A.S., B.E. Power, and P.L. Molloy, *DNA hypomethylation and human diseases*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2007. **1775**(1): p. 138-62.
- 53. Iskow, R.C., et al., *Natural mutagenesis of human genomes by endogenous retrotransposons*. Cell, 2010. **141**(7): p. 1253-61.
- 54. Woo, H.D. and J. Kim, *Global DNA hypomethylation in peripheral blood leukocytes as a biomarker for cancer risk: a meta-analysis.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(4): p. e34615.
- 55. Barchitta, M., et al., *LINE-1 hypomethylation in blood and tissue samples as an epigenetic marker for cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(10): p. e109478.
- 56. Baccarelli, A., M. Rienstra, and E.J. Benjamin, *Cardiovascular epigenetics: basic concepts and results from animal and human studies.* Circ Cardiovasc Genet, 2010. **3**(6): p. 567-73.
- 57. Cevenini, E., et al., *Human models of aging and longevity*. Expert Opin Biol Ther, 2008.
 8(9): p. 1393-405.
- 58. Colloca, G., M. Santoro, and G. Gambassi, *Age-related physiologic changes and perioperative management of elderly patients*. Surg Oncol, 2010. **19**(3): p. 124-30.
- Franceschi, C., et al., Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2000. 908: p. 244-54.
- 60. López-Otín, C., et al., The hallmarks of aging. Cell, 2013. 153(6): p. 1194-217.
- 61. Engelfriet, P.M., et al., *Biochemical markers of aging for longitudinal studies in humans*. Epidemiol Rev, 2013. **35**: p. 132-51.
- Zhang, L., et al., Single-cell whole-genome sequencing reveals the functional landscape of somatic mutations in B lymphocytes across the human lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2019. 116(18): p. 9014-9019.
- 63. Franco, I., et al., Somatic mutagenesis in satellite cells associates with human skeletal muscle aging. Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 800.
- 64. Bae, T., et al., *Different mutational rates and mechanisms in human cells at pregastrulation and neurogenesis.* Science, 2018. **359**(6375): p. 550-555.

- 65. Lodato, M.A., et al., *Aging and neurodegeneration are associated with increased mutations in single human neurons*. Science, 2018. **359**(6375): p. 555-559.
- 66. Greider, C.W., *Telomerase discovery: the excitement of putting together pieces of the puzzle* (*Nobel lecture*). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 2010. **49**(41): p. 7422-39.
- 67. Vera, E., et al., *The rate of increase of short telomeres predicts longevity in mammals*. Cell Rep, 2012. **2**(4): p. 732-7.
- 68. Hannum, G., et al., *Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal quantitative views of human aging rates.* Mol Cell, 2013. **49**(2): p. 359-367.
- 69. Horvath, S., DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. Genome Biol, 2013.
 14(10): p. R115.
- 70. Gensous, N., et al., *The epigenetic landscape of age-related diseases: the geroscience perspective*. Biogerontology, 2017. **18**(4): p. 549-559.
- 71. Levine, M.E., et al., *An epigenetic biomarker of aging for lifespan and healthspan*. Aging (Albany NY), 2018. **10**(4): p. 573-591.
- 72. Chen, B.H., et al., *DNA methylation-based measures of biological age: meta-analysis predicting time to death.* Aging (Albany NY), 2016. **8**(9): p. 1844-1865.
- 73. Degerman, S., et al., *Maintained memory in aging is associated with young epigenetic age.* Neurobiol Aging, 2017. **55**: p. 167-171.
- 74. Gale, C.R., et al., *The epigenetic clock and objectively measured sedentary and walking behavior in older adults: the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936.* Clin Epigenetics, 2018. **10**: p. 4.
- 75. Cuervo, A.M., et al., *Autophagy and aging: the importance of maintaining "clean" cells.* Autophagy, 2005. **1**(3): p. 131-40.
- Raz, Y., et al., Activation-Induced Autophagy Is Preserved in CD4+ T-Cells in Familial Longevity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2017. 72(9): p. 1201-1206.
- 77. Zane, A.C., et al., *Muscle strength mediates the relationship between mitochondrial energetics and walking performance*. Aging Cell, 2017. **16**(3): p. 461-468.
- 78. Dikalov, S.I. and D.G. Harrison, *Methods for detection of mitochondrial and cellular reactive oxygen species*. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2014. **20**(2): p. 372-82.
- 79. Childs, B.G., et al., *Senescent cells: an emerging target for diseases of ageing*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2017. **16**(10): p. 718-735.
- 80. Andriani, G.A., et al., *Whole Chromosome Instability induces senescence and promotes* SASP. Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 35218.

- 81. Baker, D.J. and R.C. Petersen, *Cellular senescence in brain aging and neurodegenerative diseases: evidence and perspectives.* J Clin Invest, 2018. **128**(4): p. 1208-1216.
- 82. Tanaka, T., et al., *Plasma proteomic signature of age in healthy humans*. Aging Cell, 2018.
 17(5): p. e12799.
- Barzilai, N., et al., *The critical role of metabolic pathways in aging*. Diabetes, 2012. 61(6):
 p. 1315-22.
- 84. Anderson, R.M., D.G. Le Couteur, and R. de Cabo, *Caloric Restriction Research: New Perspectives on the Biology of Aging.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2017. **73**(1): p. 1-3.
- Ren, R., et al., *Regulation of Stem Cell Aging by Metabolism and Epigenetics*. Cell Metab, 2017. 26(3): p. 460-474.
- 86. Bektas, A., et al., *Aging, inflammation and the environment*. Exp Gerontol, 2018. **105**: p. 10-18.
- 87. Fabbri, E., et al., *Aging and the burden of multimorbidity: associations with inflammatory and anabolic hormonal biomarkers.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2015. **70**(1): p. 63-70.
- Blackburn, E.H., E.S. Epel, and J. Lin, *Human telomere biology: A contributory and interactive factor in aging, disease risks, and protection.* Science, 2015. 350(6265): p. 1193-8.
- 89. Kimura, M., et al., *Telomere length and mortality: a study of leukocytes in elderly Danish twins*. Am J Epidemiol, 2008. **167**(7): p. 799-806.
- 90. Eitan, E., E.R. Hutchison, and M.P. Mattson, *Telomere shortening in neurological disorders: an abundance of unanswered questions*. Trends Neurosci, 2014. **37**(5): p. 256-63.
- 91. Hastings, W.J., I. Shalev, and D.W. Belsky, *Translating Measures of Biological Aging to Test Effectiveness of Geroprotective Interventions: What Can We Learn from Research on Telomeres*? Front Genet, 2017. 8: p. 164.
- 92. Sanders, J.L. and A.B. Newman, *Telomere length in epidemiology: a biomarker of aging, age-related disease, both, or neither?* Epidemiol Rev, 2013. **35**: p. 112-31.
- 93. Gorenjak, V., et al., *The future of telomere length in personalized medicine*. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 2018. **23**: p. 1628-1654.
- 94. Jones, M.J., S.J. Goodman, and M.S. Kobor, *DNA methylation and healthy human aging*.
 Aging Cell, 2015. 14(6): p. 924-32.
- 95. Jung, M. and G.P. Pfeifer, Aging and DNA methylation. BMC Biol, 2015. 13: p. 7.
- 96. Wang, Y., et al., *Epigenetic influences on aging: a longitudinal genome-wide methylation study in old Swedish twins*. Epigenetics, 2018. **13**(9): p. 975-987.

- 97. Barchitta, M., et al., Mediterranean Diet and Particulate Matter Exposure Are Associated With LINE-1 Methylation: Results From a Cross-Sectional Study in Women. Front Genet, 2018. 9: p. 514.
- 98. Issa, J.P., et al., *Methylation of the oestrogen receptor CpG island links ageing and neoplasia in human colon.* Nat Genet, 1994. 7(4): p. 536-40.
- Calvanese, V., et al., *The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases*. Ageing Res Rev, 2009. 8(4): p. 268-76.
- 100. Christensen, B.C., et al., Aging and environmental exposures alter tissue-specific DNA methylation dependent upon CpG island context. PLoS Genet, 2009. **5**(8): p. e1000602.
- 101. Teschendorff, A.E., J. West, and S. Beck, *Age-associated epigenetic drift: implications, and a case of epigenetic thrift?* Hum Mol Genet, 2013. **22**(R1): p. R7-R15.
- 102. Barchitta, M., et al., *LINE-1 hypermethylation in white blood cell DNA is associated with high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia*. BMC Cancer, 2017. **17**(1): p. 601.
- 103. Maugeri, A., et al., *Characterization of SIRT1/DNMTs Functions and LINE-1 Methylation in Patients with Age-Related Macular Degeneration*. J Clin Med, 2019. **8**(2).
- 104. Baker, G.T. and R.L. Sprott, *Biomarkers of aging*. Exp Gerontol, 1988. 23(4-5): p. 223-39.
- 105. Warner, H.R., Support for basic gerontological research in the USA. Exp Gerontol, 2001.
 36(3): p. 403-12.
- 106. Mendelson, M.M., *Epigenetic Age Acceleration: A Biological Doomsday Clock for Cardiovascular Disease?* Circ Genom Precis Med, 2018. **11**(3): p. e002089.
- 107. Weidner, C.I., et al., *Aging of blood can be tracked by DNA methylation changes at just three CpG sites.* Genome Biol, 2014. **15**(2): p. R24.
- 108. Marioni, R.E., et al., DNA methylation age of blood predicts all-cause mortality in later life.Genome Biol, 2015. 16: p. 25.
- 109. Henney, A.M., *The promise and challenge of personalized medicine: aging populations, complex diseases, and unmet medical need.* Croat Med J, 2012. **53**(3): p. 207-10.
- Hood, L., et al., Systems biology and new technologies enable predictive and preventative medicine. Science, 2004. 306(5696): p. 640-3.
- 111. Weston, A.D. and L. Hood, Systems biology, proteomics, and the future of health care: toward predictive, preventative, and personalized medicine. J Proteome Res, 2004. 3(2): p. 179-96.
- 112. Hood, L., R. Balling, and C. Auffray, *Revolutionizing medicine in the 21st century through systems approaches*. Biotechnol J, 2012. 7(8): p. 992-1001.

- 113. Khoury, M.J., et al., *A population approach to precision medicine*. Am J Prev Med, 2012.
 42(6): p. 639-45.
- 114. Maier, M., T. Takano, and R. Sapir-Pichhadze, Changing Paradigms in the Management of Rejection in Kidney Transplantation: Evolving From Protocol-Based Care to the Era of P4 Medicine. Can J Kidney Health Dis, 2017. 4: p. 2054358116688227.
- 115. Pravettoni, G. and A. Gorini, *A P5 cancer medicine approach: why personalized medicine cannot ignore psychology*. J Eval Clin Pract, 2011. **17**(4): p. 594-6.
- Hood, L. and S.H. Friend, *Predictive, personalized, preventive, participatory (P4) cancer medicine*. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2011. 8(3): p. 184-7.
- 117. Younesi, E. and M. Hofmann-Apitius, *From integrative disease modeling to predictive, preventive, personalized and participatory (P4) medicine.* EPMA J, 2013. **4**(1): p. 23.
- 118. Carlsten, C., et al., Genes, the environment and personalized medicine: We need to harness both environmental and genetic data to maximize personal and population health. EMBO Rep, 2014. 15(7): p. 736-9.
- 119. Sagner, M., et al., Creating a pro-active health care system to combat chronic diseases in Sri Lanka: the central role of preventive medicine and healthy lifestyle behaviors. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther, 2016. 14(10): p. 1107-17.
- 120. Flores, M., et al., *P4 medicine: how systems medicine will transform the healthcare sector and society.* Per Med, 2013. **10**(6): p. 565-576.
- 121. Regitz-Zagrosek, V., Sex and gender differences in health. Science & Society Series on Sex and Science. EMBO Rep, 2012. **13**(7): p. 596-603.
- 122. Ferretti, M.T., et al., Sex differences in Alzheimer disease the gateway to precision medicine. Nat Rev Neurol, 2018. 14(8): p. 457-469.
- Kim, H.I., H. Lim, and A. Moon, Sex Differences in Cancer: Epidemiology, Genetics and Therapy. Biomol Ther (Seoul), 2018. 26(4): p. 335-342.
- 124. Guggenmos, M., et al., *Quantitative neurobiological evidence for accelerated brain aging in alcohol dependence*. Transl Psychiatry, 2017. **7**(12): p. 1279.
- Varì, R., et al., *Gender-related differences in lifestyle may affect health status*. Ann Ist Super Sanita, 2016. 52(2): p. 158-66.
- 126. World Health Organization (WHO), *Determinants of health*. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/determinants-of-health.

- 127. Morton, S., D. Pencheon, and N. Squires, *Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and their implementation: A national global framework for health, development and equity needs a systems approach at every level.* Br Med Bull, 2017. **124**(1): p. 81-90.
- 128. Gillman, M.W., Mothers, Babies, and Disease in Later Life. 1994.
- Barker, D.J., *The origins of the developmental origins theory*. J Intern Med, 2007. 261(5): p. 412-7.
- 130. Wadsworth M., Family and education as determinants of health. 1996.
- 131. World Health Organization (WHO), *Social determinants of health*. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab 1</u>.
- 132. Adler, N.E. and J.M. Ostrove, *Socioeconomic status and health: what we know and what we don't*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1999. **896**: p. 3-15.
- 133. Bradley, E.H., et al., *Expanding the Andersen model: the role of psychosocial factors in long-term care use.* Health Serv Res, 2002. **37**(5): p. 1221-42.
- 134. Whitehead, N.S., *The relationship of socioeconomic status to preterm contractions and preterm delivery*. Matern Child Health J, 2012. **16**(8): p. 1645-56.
- 135. Zeitlin, J., et al., Socioeconomic inequalities in stillbirth rates in Europe: measuring the gap using routine data from the Euro-Peristat Project. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2016. 16: p. 15.
- Hemmingsson, E., Early Childhood Obesity Risk Factors: Socioeconomic Adversity, Family Dysfunction, Offspring Distress, and Junk Food Self-Medication. Curr Obes Rep, 2018. 7(2): p. 204-209.
- 137. Moure-Eraso, R., et al., *A review of employment conditions as social determinants of health part II: the workplace.* New Solut, 2006. **16**(4): p. 429-48.
- 138. Broom, D.H., et al., *The lesser evil: bad jobs or unemployment? A survey of mid-aged Australians.* Soc Sci Med, 2006. **63**(3): p. 575-86.
- 139. Graham, H. and P.C. White, *Social determinants and lifestyles: integrating environmental and public health perspectives.* Public Health, 2016. **141**: p. 270-278.
- 140. Commission on Social Determinants of Health. World Health Organizion (WHO), *Closing the gap in a generation Health equity through action on the social determinants of health.*
- 141. Eibich, P., et al., Associations between Neighborhood Characteristics, Well-Being and Health Vary over the Life Course. Gerontology, 2016. **62**(3): p. 362-70.

- 142. França, M.H., et al., Mental disorders and employment status in the São Paulo Metropolitan Area, Brazil: gender differences and use of health services. Cad Saude Publica, 2017. 33(9):
 p. e00154116.
- 143. Huang, J.V., G.M. Leung, and C.M. Schooling, *The Association of Air Pollution With Pubertal Development: Evidence From Hong Kong's "Children of 1997" Birth Cohort.* Am J Epidemiol, 2017. 185(10): p. 914-923.
- 144. Luo, K., et al., Effect modification of the association between temperature variability and daily cardiovascular mortality by air pollutants in three Chinese cities. Environ Pollut, 2017. 230: p. 989-999.
- 145. Morisco, F., et al., Prevalence and risk factors of HCV infection in a metropolitan area in southern Italy: Tail of a cohort infected in past decades. J Med Virol, 2017. 89(2): p. 291-297.
- 146. Herricks, J.R., et al., *The global burden of disease study 2013: What does it mean for the NTDs?* PLoS Negl Trop Dis, 2017. **11**(8): p. e0005424.
- 147. Hänninen, O., et al., Environmental burden of disease in Europe: assessing nine risk factors in six countries. Environ Health Perspect, 2014. 122(5): p. 439-46.
- 148. Leipert, B.D. and L. Reutter, *Women's health in northern British Columbia: the role of geography and gender*. Can J Rural Med, 2005. **10**(4): p. 241-53.
- 149. Davies, M. and F. Adshead, Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. An international conference based on the work of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health, 6--7 November 2008, London. Glob Health Promot, 2009. Suppl 1: p. 7-8; 95-6; 108-9.
- 150. Laurie Zephyrin , L.S., Pavitra Viswanathan , Jared Augenstein , Deborah Bachrach, Transforming Primary Health Care for Women — Part 1: A Framework for Addressing Gaps and Barriers.
- 151. Antonio Caiazzo, M.C., Ester Cois, Giuseppe Costa, Chiara Marinacci, Teresa Spadea, Francesca Vannoni, Lorenzo Venturini, *Diseguaglianze di salute in Italia*.
- 152. Kwon, E.J. and Y.J. Kim, *What is fetal programming?: a lifetime health is under the control of in utero health.* Obstet Gynecol Sci, 2017. **60**(6): p. 506-519.
- 153. World Health Organization (WHO). *Maternal Health*. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/maternal-health#tab=tab 1</u>.
- 154. Say, L., et al., Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health, 2014. 2(6): p. e323-33.

- 155. Linee-guida, Gravidanza fisiologica. 2011.
- 156. Carducci, B. and Z.A. Bhutta, *Care of the growth-restricted newborn*. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol, 2018.
- 157. Rosenfeld, T., et al., *Maternal-fetal vitamin D receptor polymorphisms significantly associated with preterm birth.* Arch Gynecol Obstet, 2017. **296**(2): p. 215-222.
- 158. Howson, C.P., et al., *Born too soon: preterm birth matters*. Reprod Health, 2013. 10 Suppl 1: p. S1.
- 159. Liu, L., et al., Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet, 2016. 388(10063): p. 3027-3035.
- 160. Goldenberg, R.L., et al., *Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth*. Lancet, 2008.
 371(9606): p. 75-84.
- 161. Baczyńska-Strzecha, M. and J. Kalinka, Influence of Apa1 (rs7975232), Taq1 (rs731236) and Bsm1 (rs154410) polymorphisms of vitamin D receptor on preterm birth risk in the Polish population. Ginekol Pol, 2016. 87(11): p. 763-768.
- York, T.P., et al., *The contribution of genetic and environmental factors to the duration of pregnancy*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2014. 210(5): p. 398-405.
- 163. Butler, A.S. and R.E. Behrman, Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention. 2006.
- 164. Lee, P.A., et al., International Small for Gestational Age Advisory Board consensus development conference statement: management of short children born small for gestational age, April 24-October 1, 2001. Pediatrics, 2003. **111**(6 Pt 1): p. 1253-61.
- 165. Kramer, M.S., *The epidemiology of low birthweight*. Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser, 2013.
 74: p. 1-10.
- 166. Gabbe, S., J. Niebyl, and J. Simpson, Obstetrics: Normal and Problem Pregnancies 2016.
- 167. Owen, P., et al., *Standards for ultrasound fetal growth velocity*. Br J Obstet Gynaecol, 1996.
 103(1): p. 60-9.
- 168. Lieberman, E., et al., *Low birthweight at term and the timing of fetal exposure to maternal smoking*. Am J Public Health, 1994. **84**(7): p. 1127-31.
- 169. Pietrantoni, M. and R.A. Knuppel, *Alcohol use in pregnancy*. Clin Perinatol, 1991. 18(1): p. 93-111.
- 170. Fowles, E.R., *Prenatal nutrition and birth outcomes*. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs, 2004.
 33(6): p. 809-22.
- 171. Hales, C.N. and D.J. Barker, *Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. 1992.* Int J Epidemiol, 2013. **42**(5): p. 1215-22.
- 172. de la Torre, L., et al., *The effect of new antepartum weight gain guidelines and prepregnancy body mass index on the development of pregnancy-related hypertension.* Am J Perinatol, 2011. **28**(4): p. 285-92.
- 173. Mamun, A.A., et al., Associations of excess weight gain during pregnancy with long-term maternal overweight and obesity: evidence from 21 y postpartum follow-up. Am J Clin Nutr, 2010. 91(5): p. 1336-41.
- 174. Crane, J.M., et al., *The effect of gestational weight gain by body mass index on maternal and neonatal outcomes.* J Obstet Gynaecol Can, 2009. **31**(1): p. 28-35.
- 175. Mannan, M., S.A. Doi, and A.A. Mamun, Association between weight gain during pregnancy and postpartum weight retention and obesity: a bias-adjusted meta-analysis. Nutr Rev, 2013. 71(6): p. 343-52.
- Rooney, B.L., C.W. Schauberger, and M.A. Mathiason, *Impact of perinatal weight change* on long-term obesity and obesity-related illnesses. Obstet Gynecol, 2005. **106**(6): p. 1349-56.
- 177. Painter, R.C., T.J. Roseboom, and O.P. Bleker, *Prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine and disease in later life: an overview*. Reprod Toxicol, 2005. **20**(3): p. 345-52.
- 178. Lawlor, D.A., et al., Association of existing diabetes, gestational diabetes and glycosuria in pregnancy with macrosomia and offspring body mass index, waist and fat mass in later childhood: findings from a prospective pregnancy cohort. Diabetologia, 2010. 53(1): p. 89-97.
- 179. van Uitert, E.M. and R.P. Steegers-Theunissen, *Influence of maternal folate status on human fetal growth parameters*. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2013. **57**(4): p. 582-95.
- 180. Bhutta, Z.A., et al., *Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition: what can be done and at what cost?* Lancet, 2013. **382**(9890): p. 452-477.
- 181. Black, R.E., et al., Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet, 2013. 382(9890): p. 427-451.
- 182. Rush, D., *Nutrition and maternal mortality in the developing world*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2000.
 72(1 Suppl): p. 212S-240S.
- 183. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK), Antenatal Care: Routine Care for the Healthy Pregnant Woman. 2008.

- 184. Gernand, A.D., et al., *Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: health effects and prevention*. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 2016. **12**(5): p. 274-89.
- Murray, C.J. and A.D. Lopez, Regional patterns of disability-free life expectancy and disability-adjusted life expectancy: global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet, 1997. 349(9062): p. 1347-52.
- 186. Holick, M.F., *The D-lightful vitamin D for child health*. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr, 2012.
 36(1 Suppl): p. 9S-19S.
- 187. Ullah, M.I., et al., *Vitamin D deficiency and the risk of preeclampsia and eclampsia in Bangladesh*. Horm Metab Res, 2013. **45**(9): p. 682-7.
- 188. Shahgheibi, S., F. Farhadifar, and B. Pouya, The effect of vitamin D supplementation on gestational diabetes in high-risk women: Results from a randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Res Med Sci, 2016. 21: p. 2.
- 189. Ringrose, J.S., et al., *Vitamin D and hypertension in pregnancy*. Clin Invest Med, 2011.
 34(3): p. E147-54.
- 190. Takiishi, T., et al., *Vitamin D and diabetes*. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am, 2010. **39**(2): p. 419-46, table of contents.
- 191. Kramer, C.K., et al., Vitamin D and parathyroid hormone status in pregnancy: effect on insulin sensitivity, β-cell function, and gestational diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2014. 99(12): p. 4506-13.
- 192. Leffelaar, E.R., T.G. Vrijkotte, and M. van Eijsden, *Maternal early pregnancy vitamin D* status in relation to fetal and neonatal growth: results of the multi-ethnic Amsterdam Born Children and their Development cohort. Br J Nutr, 2010. **104**(1): p. 108-17.
- 193. Mikkelsen, T.B., et al., Association between a Mediterranean-type diet and risk of preterm birth among Danish women: a prospective cohort study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand, 2008.
 87(3): p. 325-30.
- 194. Englund-Ögge, L., et al., *Maternal dietary patterns and preterm delivery: results from large prospective cohort study.* BMJ, 2014. **348**: p. g1446.
- 195. Grieger, J.A., L.E. Grzeskowiak, and V.L. Clifton, *Preconception dietary patterns in human pregnancies are associated with preterm delivery*. J Nutr, 2014. **144**(7): p. 1075-80.
- 196. Knudsen, V.K., et al., *Major dietary patterns in pregnancy and fetal growth*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2008. **62**(4): p. 463-70.
- 197. Thompson, J.M., et al., *Maternal dietary patterns in pregnancy and the association with small-for-gestational-age infants.* Br J Nutr, 2010. **103**(11): p. 1665-73.

- 198. ACOG Committee Obstetric Practice, *ACOG committee opinion*. *Exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period*. *Number 267, January 2002*. *American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists*. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 2002. **77**(1): p. 79-81.
- 199. Mourtakos, S.P., et al., *Maternal lifestyle characteristics during pregnancy, and the risk of obesity in the offspring: a study of 5,125 children.* BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2015. 15: p. 66.
- 200. Hinton, P.S. and C.M. Olson, *Predictors of pregnancy-associated change in physical activity in a rural white population*. Matern Child Health J, 2001. **5**(1): p. 7-14.
- 201. Lee, C.F., et al., A preliminary study on the pattern of weight change from pregnancy to 6 months postpartum: a latent growth model approach. Int J Obes (Lond), 2011. 35(8): p. 1079-86.
- 202. Villamor, E. and S. Cnattingius, *Interpregnancy weight change and risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes: a population-based study*. Lancet, 2006. **368**(9542): p. 1164-70.
- 203. Walsh, J.M. and D.J. Murphy, Weight and pregnancy. BMJ, 2007. 335(7612): p. 169.
- 204. Office on Smoking and Health (US), *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General.* 2006.
- 205. Office of the Surgeon General (US) and Office on Smoking and Health (US), *The Health Consequences of Smoking: A Report of the Surgeon General*. 2004.
- 206. Needham, L.L., A.M. Calafat, and D.B. Barr, *Assessing developmental toxicant exposures via biomonitoring*. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol, 2008. **102**(2): p. 100-8.
- 207. Goodman, A., J. Schorge, and M.F. Greene, *The long-term effects of in utero exposures--the DES story*. N Engl J Med, 2011. 364(22): p. 2083-4.
- 208. Herbst, A.L., et al., Adenocarcinoma of the vagina. Association of maternal stilbestrol therapy with tumor appearance in young women. 1971. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1999. 181(6): p. 1574-5.
- 209. Berti, C., et al., *Pregnancy and Infants' Outcome: Nutritional and Metabolic Implications*. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, 2016. 56(1): p. 82-91.
- 210. Yamada, H., et al., Genetic factors in fetal growth restriction and miscarriage. Semin Thromb Hemost, 2005. 31(3): p. 334-45.
- 211. Grishkevich, V. and I. Yanai, *The genomic determinants of genotype* × *environment interactions in gene expression*. Trends Genet, 2013. **29**(8): p. 479-87.
- 212. Qi, L. and Y.A. Cho, *Gene-environment interaction and obesity*. Nutr Rev, 2008. **66**(12): p. 684-94.

- 213. Bhupathiraju, S.N. and K.L. Tucker, *Coronary heart disease prevention: nutrients, foods, and dietary patterns.* Clin Chim Acta, 2011. **412**(17-18): p. 1493-514.
- 214. Simopoulos, A.P., *Nutrigenetics/Nutrigenomics*. Annu Rev Public Health, 2010. **31**: p. 53-68.
- 215. Feinberg, A.P., *Epigenomics reveals a functional genome anatomy and a new approach to common disease*. Nat Biotechnol, 2010. **28**(10): p. 1049-52.
- 216. Gerhauser, C., Impact of dietary gut microbial metabolites on the epigenome. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2018. 373(1748).
- 217. Ronteltap, A., et al., *Nutrigenomics-based personalised nutritional advice: in search of a business model?* Genes Nutr, 2013. **8**(2): p. 153-63.
- 218. Cozzolino, S., The Bioavailability of Nutrients. 2013.
- 219. Cozzolino, S. and C. Cominetti, *Biochemical and Physiological Bases of Nutrition inDifferent Stages of Life in Health and Disease.* 2013.
- 220. Choi, S.W., et al., *Nutritional epigenomics: a portal to disease prevention*. Adv Nutr, 2013.
 4(5): p. 530-2.
- 221. Sales, N.M., P.B. Pelegrini, and M.C. Goersch, *Nutrigenomics: definitions and advances of this new science*. J Nutr Metab, 2014. **2014**: p. 202759.
- 222. Choi, S.W. and S. Friso, *Epigenetics: A New Bridge between Nutrition and Health*. Adv Nutr, 2010. 1(1): p. 8-16.
- 223. Ong, T.P., F.S. Moreno, and S.A. Ross, *Targeting the epigenome with bioactive food components for cancer prevention.* J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics, 2011. **4**(5): p. 275-92.
- 224. Burris, H.H. and A.A. Baccarelli, *Environmental epigenetics: from novelty to scientific discipline*. J Appl Toxicol, 2014. **34**(2): p. 113-6.
- 225. Seki, Y., et al., *Minireview: Epigenetic programming of diabetes and obesity: animal models.* Endocrinology, 2012. **153**(3): p. 1031-8.
- 226. Warner, M.J. and S.E. Ozanne, *Mechanisms involved in the developmental programming of adulthood disease*. Biochem J, 2010. **427**(3): p. 333-47.
- 227. Burdge, G.C. and K.A. Lillycrop, *Nutrition, epigenetics, and developmental plasticity: implications for understanding human disease*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2010. **30**: p. 315-39.
- Ramakrishnan, U., et al., *Effect of women's nutrition before and during early pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes: a systematic review.* Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 2012. 26
 Suppl 1: p. 285-301.

- 229. Koukoura, O., et al., *Loss of imprinting and aberrant methylation of IGF2 in placentas from pregnancies complicated with fetal growth restriction*. Int J Mol Med, 2011. **28**(4): p. 481-7.
- 230. Mouillet, J.F., et al., *The levels of hypoxia-regulated microRNAs in plasma of pregnant women with fetal growth restriction*. Placenta, 2010. **31**(9): p. 781-4.
- 231. Pinney, S.E., et al., *Exendin-4 increases histone acetylase activity and reverses epigenetic modifications that silence Pdx1 in the intrauterine growth retarded rat.* Diabetologia, 2011.
 54(10): p. 2606-14.
- 232. Torre, L.A., et al., *Global Cancer in Women: Burden and Trends*. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2017. **26**(4): p. 444-457.
- 233. Franceschi, S. and C.P. Wild, *Meeting the global demands of epidemiologic transition the indispensable role of cancer prevention*. Mol Oncol, 2013. 7(1): p. 1-13.
- 234. Ferlay, J., et al., *Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012.* Int J Cancer, 2015. **136**(5): p. E359-86.
- Bradbury, A.R. and O.I. Olopade, *Genetic susceptibility to breast cancer*. Rev Endocr Metab Disord, 2007. 8(3): p. 255-67.
- 236. Colditz, G.A. and K. Bohlke, *Priorities for the primary prevention of breast cancer*. CA Cancer J Clin, 2014. **64**(3): p. 186-94.
- 237. Dierssen-Sotos, T., et al., *Reproductive risk factors in breast cancer and genetic hormonal pathways: a gene-environment interaction in the MCC-Spain project.* BMC Cancer, 2018.
 18(1): p. 280.
- Lee, K., et al., *The Impact of Obesity on Breast Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment*. Curr Oncol Rep, 2019. 21(5): p. 41.
- 239. Carter, B.D., N.D. Freedman, and E.J. Jacobs, *Smoking and mortality--beyond established causes*. N Engl J Med, 2015. **372**(22): p. 2170.
- 240. McDonald, J.A., A. Goyal, and M.B. Terry, *Alcohol Intake and Breast Cancer Risk: Weighing the Overall Evidence*. Curr Breast Cancer Rep, 2013. **5**(3).
- 241. Islami, F., et al., Breastfeeding and breast cancer risk by receptor status--a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol, 2015. 26(12): p. 2398-407.
- 242. Danaei, G., et al., Causes of cancer in the world: comparative risk assessment of nine behavioral and environmental risk factors. Lancet, 2005. **366**(9499): p. 1784-93.
- 243. Ganz, P.A., et al., Supportive care after curative treatment for breast cancer (survivorship care): resource allocations in low- and middle-income countries. A Breast Health Global Initiative 2013 consensus statement. Breast, 2013. 22(5): p. 606-15.

- 244. Howard-Anderson, J., et al., Quality of life, fertility concerns, and behavioral health outcomes in younger breast cancer survivors: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2012. 104(5): p. 386-405.
- 245. Pinto, A.C. and E. de Azambuja, *Improving quality of life after breast cancer: dealing with symptoms*. Maturitas, 2011. **70**(4): p. 343-8.
- 246. Blanchard, C.M., et al., *Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations* and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J Clin Oncol, 2008. **26**(13): p. 2198-204.
- 247. Bouvard, V., et al., *A review of human carcinogens--Part B: biological agents*. Lancet Oncol, 2009. **10**(4): p. 321-2.
- 248. Li, N., et al., Human papillomavirus type distribution in 30,848 invasive cervical cancers worldwide: Variation by geographical region, histological type and year of publication. Int J Cancer, 2011. 128(4): p. 927-35.
- 249. Moscicki, A.B., et al., *Updating the natural history of human papillomavirus and anogenital cancers*. Vaccine, 2012. **30 Suppl 5**: p. F24-33.
- 250. Martin-Hirsch, P.L. and N.J. Wood, *Cervical cancer*. BMJ Clin Evid, 2011. 2011.
- 251. Crosbie, E.J., et al., *Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer*. Lancet, 2013. 382(9895):
 p. 889-99.
- 252. García-Closas, R., et al., *The role of diet and nutrition in cervical carcinogenesis: a review of recent evidence*. Int J Cancer, 2005. **117**(4): p. 629-37.
- 253. Park, S.Y., et al., *Quality of life and sexual problems in disease-free survivors of cervical cancer compared with the general population.* Cancer, 2007. **110**(12): p. 2716-25.
- 254. Park, J., et al., Gene-Environment Interactions Relevant to Estrogen and Risk of Breast Cancer: Can Gene-Environment Interactions Be Detected Only among Candidate SNPs from Genome-Wide Association Studies? Cancers (Basel), 2021. **13**(10).
- 255. Nickels, S., et al., Evidence of gene-environment interactions between common breast cancer susceptibility loci and established environmental risk factors. PLoS Genet, 2013.
 9(3): p. e1003284.
- 256. Thomas, D., *Gene--environment-wide association studies: emerging approaches*. Nat Rev Genet, 2010. **11**(4): p. 259-72.
- 257. Baylin, S.B., *DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer*. Nat Clin Pract Oncol, 2005. 2
 Suppl 1: p. S4-11.

- 258. Søes, S., et al., *Hypomethylation and increased expression of the putative oncogene ELMO3 are associated with lung cancer development and metastases formation*. Oncoscience, 2014. 1(5): p. 367-74.
- 259. Dumitrescu, R.G., Interplay Between Genetic and Epigenetic Changes in Breast Cancer Subtypes. Methods Mol Biol, 2018. **1856**: p. 19-34.
- 260. Jovanovic, J., et al., The epigenetics of breast cancer. Mol Oncol, 2010. 4(3): p. 242-54.
- 261. Levenson, V.V., *Biomarkers for early detection of breast cancer: what, when, and where?* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2007. 1770(6): p. 847-56.
- Zhang, S., et al., Cervical cancer: Epidemiology, risk factors and screening. Chin J Cancer Res, 2020. 32(6): p. 720-728.
- 263. Zhou, X. and Y. Meng, *Association between serum folate level and cervical cancer: a metaanalysis.* Arch Gynecol Obstet, 2016. **293**(4): p. 871-7.
- 264. Zhang, X., et al., Vitamin A and risk of cervical cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol, 2012. 124(2): p. 366-73.
- 265. Cao, D., et al., Association between vitamin C Intake and the risk of cervical neoplasia: A meta-analysis. Nutr Cancer, 2016. **68**(1): p. 48-57.
- 266. Hwang, J.H., et al., *The association between fruit and vegetable consumption and HPV viral load in high-risk HPV-positive women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia*. Cancer Causes Control, 2010. **21**(1): p. 51-9.
- 267. Siegel, E.M., et al., *Dietary consumption of antioxidant nutrients and risk of incident cervical intraepithelial neoplasia*. Gynecol Oncol, 2010. **118**(3): p. 289-94.
- Barchitta, M., et al., The Association of Dietary Patterns with High-Risk Human Papillomavirus Infection and Cervical Cancer: A Cross-Sectional Study in Italy. Nutrients, 2018. 10(4).
- 269. Alsbeih, G., et al., *HPV prevalence and genetic predisposition to cervical cancer in Saudi Arabia.* Infect Agent Cancer, 2013. 8(1): p. 15.
- 270. Saavedra, K.P., P.M. Brebi, and J.C. Roa, *Epigenetic alterations in preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions of the cervix*. Clin Epigenetics, 2012. **4**(1): p. 13.
- 271. Tost, J., *DNA methylation: an introduction to the biology and the disease-associated changes of a promising biomarker.* Mol Biotechnol, 2010. **44**(1): p. 71-81.
- 272. Piyathilake, C.J., et al., *A higher degree of LINE-1 methylation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells, a one-carbon nutrient related epigenetic alteration, is associated with a lower risk of developing cervical intraepithelial neoplasia.* Nutrition, 2011. **27**(5): p. 513-9.

- 273. Lorincz, A.T., Virtues and Weaknesses of DNA Methylation as a Test for Cervical Cancer Prevention. Acta Cytol, 2016. **60**(6): p. 501-512.
- 274. Lorincz, A.T., *Cancer diagnostic classifiers based on quantitative DNA methylation*. Expert Rev Mol Diagn, 2014. **14**(3): p. 293-305.
- 275. Bishop, K.S. and L.R. Ferguson, *The interaction between epigenetics, nutrition and the development of cancer*. Nutrients, 2015. 7(2): p. 922-47.
- 276. Willett, W.C., *The Mediterranean diet: science and practice*. Public Health Nutr, 2006.9(1A): p. 105-10.
- 277. Maugeri, A., et al., Dietary antioxidant intake decreases carotid intima media thickness in women but not in men: A cross-sectional assessment in the Kardiovize study. Free Radic Biol Med, 2019. 131: p. 274-281.
- 278. Agodi, A., et al., Association of Dietary Patterns with Metabolic Syndrome: Results from the Kardiovize Brno 2030 Study. Nutrients, 2018. **10**(7).
- 279. Hu, F.B., *Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology*. Curr Opin Lipidol, 2002. **13**(1): p. 3-9.
- 280. de Lorgeril, M., et al., Mediterranean diet, traditional risk factors, and the rate of cardiovascular complications after myocardial infarction: final report of the Lyon Diet Heart Study. Circulation, 1999. **99**(6): p. 779-85.
- 281. Kromhout, D., E.B. Bosschieter, and C. de Lezenne Coulander, *The inverse relation between fish consumption and 20-year mortality from coronary heart disease*. N Engl J Med, 1985. **312**(19): p. 1205-9.
- 282. Genkinger, J.M. and A. Koushik, *Meat consumption and cancer risk.* PLoS Med, 2007.4(12): p. e345.
- 283. Genkinger, J.M., et al., *Consumption of dairy and meat in relation to breast cancer risk in the Black Women's Health Study*. Cancer Causes Control, 2013. **24**(4): p. 675-84.
- 284. Bach, A., et al., *The use of indexes evaluating the adherence to the Mediterranean diet in epidemiological studies: a review.* Public Health Nutr, 2006. **9**(1A): p. 132-46.
- 285. Martinez-Lacoba, R., et al., *Mediterranean diet and health outcomes: a systematic metareview*. Eur J Public Health, 2018. **28**(5): p. 955-961.
- 286. Sofi, F., et al., Adherence to Mediterranean diet and health status: meta-analysis. BMJ, 2008. **337**: p. a1344.

- 287. Sofi, F., et al., Mediterranean diet and health status: an updated meta-analysis and a proposal for a literature-based adherence score. Public Health Nutr, 2014. 17(12): p. 2769-82.
- 288. Darmon, N. and A. Drewnowski, *Does social class predict diet quality?* Am J Clin Nutr, 2008. 87(5): p. 1107-17.
- 289. Dunneram, Y. and R. Jeewon, A Scientific Assessment of Sociodemographic Factors, Physical Activity Level, and Nutritional Knowledge as Determinants of Dietary Quality among Indo-Mauritian Women. J Nutr Metab, 2013. 2013: p. 572132.
- 290. Yannakoulia, M., et al., *Eating patterns may mediate the association between marital status, body mass index, and blood cholesterol levels in apparently healthy men and women from the ATTICA study.* Soc Sci Med, 2008. **66**(11): p. 2230-9.
- 291. Palaniappan, U., et al., *Fruit and vegetable consumption is lower and saturated fat intake is higher among Canadians reporting smoking.* J Nutr, 2001. **131**(7): p. 1952-8.
- 292. Birkett, N.J., Intake of fruits and vegetables in smokers. Public Health Nutr, 1999. 2(2): p. 217-22.
- 293. World Health Organization (WHO), *Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry. Report of a WHO Expert Committee.* World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser, 1995. **854**: p. 1-452.
- 294. Craig, C.L., et al., International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2003. **35**(8): p. 1381-95.
- 295. Lloyd-Jones, D.M., et al., *Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond*. Circulation, 2010. **121**(4): p. 586-613.
- 296. Agodi, A., et al., Increase in the prevalence of the MTHFR 677 TT polymorphism in women born since 1959: potential implications for folate requirements. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2011. 65(12): p. 1302-8.
- 297. Agodi, A., et al., *Low fruit consumption and folate deficiency are associated with LINE-1 hypomethylation in women of a cancer-free population.* Genes Nutr, 2015. **10**(5): p. 480.
- 298. Barchitta, M., et al., Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Vitamin D Receptor Gene Affect Birth Weight and the Risk of Preterm Birth: Results From the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort and A Meta-Analysis. Nutrients, 2018. **10**(9).

- 299. Maugeri, A., et al., Maternal Dietary Patterns Are Associated with Pre-Pregnancy Body Mass Index and Gestational Weight Gain: Results from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort. Nutrients, 2019. 11(6).
- 300. Maugeri, A., et al., *The impact of social determinants and lifestyles on dietary patterns during pregnancy: evidence from the "Mamma & Bambino" study.* Ann Ig, 2019. **31**.
- 301. Willett, W. and M.J. Stampfer, *Total energy intake: implications for epidemiologic analyses*. Am J Epidemiol, 1986. **124**(1): p. 17-27.
- 302. Couto, E., et al., *Mediterranean dietary pattern and cancer risk in the EPIC cohort.* Br J Cancer, 2011. **104**(9): p. 1493-9.
- 303. Trichopoulou, A., et al., *Diet and overall survival in elderly people*. BMJ, 1995. **311**(7018):p. 1457-60.
- 304. Barchitta, M., et al., *Tumor necrosis factor-alpha -308 G>A polymorphism, adherence to Mediterranean diet, and risk of overweight/obesity in young women.* Biomed Res Int, 2014.
 2014: p. 742620.
- 305. Entrala-Bueno, A., C. Iglesias, and F. de Jesús, *Diet and physical activity: a healthful binomial*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2003. 57 Suppl 1: p. S63-5.
- 306. Krondl, M., et al., Food use and perceived food meanings of the elderly. J Am Diet Assoc, 1982. 80(6): p. 523-9.
- 307. Deshmukh-Taskar, P., et al., Does food group consumption vary by differences in socioeconomic, demographic, and lifestyle factors in young adults? The Bogalusa Heart Study. J Am Diet Assoc, 2007. 107(2): p. 223-34.
- 308. Dyer, A.R., et al., *Dietary intake in male and female smokers, ex-smokers, and never smokers: the INTERMAP study.* J Hum Hypertens, 2003. **17**(9): p. 641-54.
- 309. Dallongeville, J., et al., *Cigarette smoking is associated with unhealthy patterns of nutrient intake: a meta-analysis.* J Nutr, 1998. **128**(9): p. 1450-7.
- Berg, C.J., et al., *Change in smoking, diet, and walking for exercise in Blacks*. Health Educ Behav, 2012. 39(2): p. 191-7.
- 311. Dallongeville, J., et al., *Association between nutrition knowledge and nutritional intake in middle-aged men from Northern France*. Public Health Nutr, 2001. **4**(1): p. 27-33.
- 312. Kaplan, G.A. and J.E. Keil, *Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature*. Circulation, 1993. **88**(4 Pt 1): p. 1973-98.

- 313. Winkleby, M.A., et al., Socioeconomic status and health: how education, income, and occupation contribute to risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Am J Public Health, 1992.
 82(6): p. 816-20.
- 314. Pelto, G.H., et al., *Household size, food intake and anthropometric status of school-age children in a highland Mexican area.* Soc Sci Med, 1991. **33**(10): p. 1135-40.
- 315. Shim, J.S., K. Oh, and H.C. Kim, *Dietary assessment methods in epidemiologic studies*. Epidemiol Health, 2014. **36**: p. e2014009.
- 316. Suzuki, M.M. and A. Bird, DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nat Rev Genet, 2008. 9(6): p. 465-76.
- 317. Agodi, A., et al., *Unveiling the Role of DNA Methylation in Kidney Transplantation: Novel Perspectives toward Biomarker Identification.* Biomed Res Int, 2019. **2019**: p. 1602539.
- 318. Zhang, Y. and T.G. Kutateladze, *Diet and the epigenome*. Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 3375.
- 319. Mertens, E., et al., *Geographic and socioeconomic diversity of food and nutrient intakes: a comparison of four European countries.* Eur J Nutr, 2018.
- 320. Maugeri, A., et al., Curcumin Modulates DNA Methyltransferase Functions in a Cellular Model of Diabetic Retinopathy. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2018. **2018**: p. 5407482.
- 321. Maugeri, A., et al., Resveratrol Modulates SIRT1 and DNMT Functions and Restores LINE-1 Methylation Levels in ARPE-19 Cells under Oxidative Stress and Inflammation. Int J Mol Sci, 2018. 19(7).
- 322. Zhang, F.F., et al., *Dietary patterns are associated with levels of global genomic DNA methylation in a cancer-free population.* J Nutr, 2011. **141**(6): p. 1165-71.
- 323. Samblas, M., F.I. Milagro, and A. Martínez, *DNA methylation markers in obesity, metabolic syndrome, and weight loss.* Epigenetics, 2019. **14**(5): p. 421-444.
- 324. Oses, M., et al., Circulating miRNAs as Biomarkers of Obesity and Obesity-Associated Comorbidities in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review. Nutrients, 2019. **11**(12).
- 325. Ortiz-Dosal, A., P. Rodil-García, and L.A. Salazar-Olivo, *Circulating microRNAs in human obesity: a systematic review*. Biomarkers, 2019. **24**(6): p. 499-509.
- 326. Macchia, P.E., et al., *Epigenetic regulation of adipogenesis by histone-modifying enzymes*. Epigenomics, 2021. **13**(3): p. 235-251.
- 327. González-Muniesa, P., et al., *Obesity*. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2017. 3: p. 17034.
- 328. World Health Organization (WHO), *Obesity and overweight*. Available from: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight.

- 329. Kroes, M., et al., Impact of weight change on quality of life in adults with overweight/obesity in the United States: a systematic review. Curr Med Res Opin, 2016.
 32(3): p. 485-508.
- 330. Williams, E.P., et al., *Overweight and Obesity: Prevalence, Consequences, and Causes of a Growing Public Health Problem.* Curr Obes Rep, 2015. 4(3): p. 363-70.
- 331. Cedergren, M., *Effects of gestational weight gain and body mass index on obstetric outcome in Sweden*. Int J Gynaecol Obstet, 2006. **93**(3): p. 269-74.
- 332. Gillman, M.W., *Gestational weight gain: now and the future*. Circulation, 2012. **125**(11): p. 1339-40.
- 333. Lucia Bergmann, R., et al., *Does maternal docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during pregnancy and lactation lower BMI in late infancy?* J Perinat Med, 2007. **35**(4): p. 295-300.
- 334. Johnston, J.C., et al., A growth status measurement pilot in four Calgary area schools: perceptions of grade 5 students and their parents. J Sch Nurs, 2011. 27(1): p. 61-9.
- 335. Nohr, E.A., et al., Pregnancy outcomes related to gestational weight gain in women defined by their body mass index, parity, height, and smoking status. Am J Clin Nutr, 2009. 90(5): p. 1288-94.
- 336. Rooney, B.L. and C.W. Schauberger, *Excess pregnancy weight gain and long-term obesity: one decade later*. Obstet Gynecol, 2002. **100**(2): p. 245-52.
- 337. Herring, S.J., et al., *Optimizing weight gain in pregnancy to prevent obesity in women and children*. Diabetes Obes Metab, 2012. **14**(3): p. 195-203.
- 338. Han, Z., et al., Low gestational weight gain and the risk of preterm birth and low birthweight: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand, 2011.
 90(9): p. 935-54.
- 339. Hinkle, S.N., et al., *Excess gestational weight gain is associated with child adiposity among mothers with normal and overweight prepregnancy weight status*. J Nutr, 2012. 142(10): p. 1851-8.
- 340. Poston, L., Gestational weight gain: influences on the long-term health of the child. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care, 2012. 15(3): p. 252-7.
- 341. Sridhar, S.B., et al., *Maternal gestational weight gain and offspring risk for childhood overweight or obesity.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2014. **211**(3): p. 259.e1-8.
- 342. Kurdyukov, S. and M. Bullock, DNA Methylation Analysis: Choosing the Right Method. Biology (Basel), 2016. 5(1).

- Barchitta, M., et al., Dietary Patterns are Associated with Leukocyte LINE-1 Methylation in Women: A Cross-Sectional Study in Southern Italy. Nutrients, 2019. 11(8).
- 344. Saura-Calixto, F. and I. Goñi, *Definition of the Mediterranean diet based on bioactive compounds*. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, 2009. **49**(2): p. 145-52.
- 345. Liu, R.H., *Dietary bioactive compounds and their health implications*. J Food Sci, 2013. 78
 Suppl 1: p. A18-25.
- 346. de la Rocha, C., et al., *Associations between whole peripheral blood fatty acids and DNA methylation in humans*. Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 25867.
- 347. Carraro, J.C., et al., *LINE-1 and inflammatory gene methylation levels are early biomarkers of metabolic changes: association with adiposity.* Biomarkers, 2016. **21**(7): p. 625-32.
- 348. Perng, W., et al., A prospective study of LINE-1DNA methylation and development of adiposity in school-age children. PLoS One, 2013. 8(4): p. e62587.
- 349. Delgado-Cruzata, L., et al., *Dietary modifications, weight loss, and changes in metabolic markers affect global DNA methylation in Hispanic, African American, and Afro-Caribbean breast cancer survivors.* J Nutr, 2015. **145**(4): p. 783-90.
- 350. Garcia-Lacarte, M., et al., *LINE-1 methylation levels, a biomarker of weight loss in obese subjects, are influenced by dietary antioxidant capacity.* Redox Rep, 2016. **21**(2): p. 67-74.
- 351. Martín-Núñez, G.M., et al., Methylation levels of the SCD1 gene promoter and LINE-1 repeat region are associated with weight change: an intervention study. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2014. 58(7): p. 1528-36.
- 352. Duggan, C., et al., No effect of weight loss on LINE-1 methylation levels in peripheral blood leukocytes from postmenopausal overweight women. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2014. 22(9): p. 2091-6.
- 353. Beck, S. and V.K. Rakyan, *The methylome: approaches for global DNA methylation profiling*. Trends Genet, 2008. **24**(5): p. 231-7.
- Rakyan, V.K., et al., *Epigenome-wide association studies for common human diseases*. Nat Rev Genet, 2011. 12(8): p. 529-41.
- 355. Heidemann, C., et al., *Dietary patterns are associated with cardiometabolic risk factors in a representative study population of German adults.* Br J Nutr, 2011. **106**(8): p. 1253-62.
- 356. Barbaresko, J., et al., *Comparison of two exploratory dietary patterns in association with the metabolic syndrome in a Northern German population.* Br J Nutr, 2014. **112**(8): p. 1364-72.
- 357. Suliga, E., et al., Dietary Patterns in Relation to Metabolic Syndrome among Adults in Poland: A Cross-Sectional Study. Nutrients, 2017. 9(12).

- 358. Wagner, A., et al., Sedentary behavior, physical activity and dietary patterns are independently associated with the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab, 2012. 38(5): p. 428-35.
- 359. Marmot, M., Social determinants of health inequalities. Lancet, 2005. 365(9464): p. 1099-104.
- 360. d'Errico, A., et al., Socioeconomic indicators in epidemiologic research: A practical example from the LIFEPATH study. PLoS One, 2017. **12**(5): p. e0178071.
- 361. Stringhini, S., et al., Socioeconomic status and the 25 × 25 risk factors as determinants of premature mortality: a multicohort study and meta-analysis of 1.7 million men and women. Lancet, 2017. 389(10075): p. 1229-1237.
- 362. Maugeri, A., et al., *The association of social and behavioral factors with dietary risks in adults: Evidence from the Kardiovize Brno 2030 study.* Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2020.
- 363. Maugeri, A., et al., Determinants of Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet: Findings from a Cross-Sectional Study in Women from Southern Italy. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2019. 16(16).
- 364. Kunzova, S., et al., Determinants of Metabolic Health Across Body Mass Index Categories in Central Europe: A Comparison Between Swiss and Czech Populations. Front Public Health, 2020. 8: p. 108.
- 365. Lopez, A.D., et al., *Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data.* Lancet, 2006. **367**(9524): p. 1747-57.
- 366. Pillas, D., et al., Social inequalities in early childhood health and development: a Europeanwide systematic review. Pediatr Res, 2014. **76**(5): p. 418-24.
- 367. Marmot, M., et al., *WHO European review of social determinants of health and the health divide*. Lancet, 2012. **380**(9846): p. 1011-29.
- 368. Maugeri, A. and M. Barchitta, *How Dietary Factors Affect DNA Methylation: Lesson from Epidemiological Studies. Medicina*, 2020. 56.
- 369. Wangsri, S., et al., *Patterns and possible roles of LINE-1 methylation changes in smokeexposed epithelia.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(9): p. e45292.
- 370. Shigaki, H., et al., *LINE-1 hypomethylation in noncancerous esophageal mucosae is associated with smoking history*. Ann Surg Oncol, 2012. **19**(13): p. 4238-43.
- 371. Ferrari, L., et al., Effects of Physical Exercise on Endothelial Function and DNA Methylation. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2019. 16(14).

- Lopes, L.L., et al., in Obesity and Cardiometabolic Diseases: A Systematic Review. J Am Coll Nutr, 2019. 38(5): p. 478-484.
- 373. Fiorito, G., et al., Social adversity and epigenetic aging: a multi-cohort study on socioeconomic differences in peripheral blood DNA methylation. Sci Rep, 2017. 7(1): p. 16266.
- 374. Fiorito, G., et al., Socioeconomic position, lifestyle habits and biomarkers of epigenetic aging: a multi-cohort analysis. Aging (Albany NY), 2019. 11(7): p. 2045-2070.
- 375. Preacher, K.J. and A.F. Hayes, Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. Behav Res Methods, 2008. 40(3): p. 879-91.
- Champagne, F.A., *Epigenetic influence of social experiences across the lifespan*. Dev Psychobiol, 2010. 52(4): p. 299-311.
- 377. Meaney, M.J., *Epigenetics and the biological definition of gene x environment interactions*. Child Dev, 2010. 81(1): p. 41-79.
- Galea, S., M. Uddin, and K. Koenen, *The urban environment and mental disorders:* Epigenetic links. Epigenetics, 2011. 6(4): p. 400-4.
- 379. Renthal, W. and E.J. Nestler, *Epigenetic mechanisms in drug addiction*. Trends Mol Med, 2008. 14(8): p. 341-50.
- 380. Breitling, L.P., et al., *Tobacco-smoking-related differential DNA methylation: 27K discovery and replication.* Am J Hum Genet, 2011. **88**(4): p. 450-7.
- 381. Nelson, H.H., C.J. Marsit, and K.T. Kelsey, *Global methylation in exposure biology and translational medical science*. Environ Health Perspect, 2011. **119**(11): p. 1528-33.
- 382. Nüsgen, N., et al., Inter-locus as well as intra-locus heterogeneity in LINE-1 promoter methylation in common human cancers suggests selective demethylation pressure at specific CpGs. Clin Epigenetics, 2015. 7: p. 17.
- 383. Koestler, D.C., et al., *Blood-based profiles of DNA methylation predict the underlying distribution of cell types: a validation analysis.* Epigenetics, 2013. **8**(8): p. 816-26.
- 384. Tarantini, L., et al., Blood hypomethylation of inflammatory genes mediates the effects of metal-rich airborne pollutants on blood coagulation. Occup Environ Med, 2013. 70(6): p. 418-25.
- 385. Zhu, Z.Z., et al., *Predictors of global methylation levels in blood DNA of healthy subjects: a combined analysis.* Int J Epidemiol, 2012. **41**(1): p. 126-39.

- 386. Suliburska, J., et al., *Evaluation of folate concentration in amniotic fluid and maternal and umbilical cord blood during labor*. Arch Med Sci, 2019. **15**(6): p. 1425-1432.
- 387. Castillo-Lancellotti, C., J.A. Tur, and R. Uauy, *Impact of folic acid fortification of flour on neural tube defects: a systematic review*. Public Health Nutr, 2013. **16**(5): p. 901-11.
- 388. De-Regil, L.M., et al., *Effects and safety of periconceptional oral folate supplementation for preventing birth defects*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2015(12): p. CD007950.
- 389. Peake, J.N., A.J. Copp, and J. Shawe, Knowledge and periconceptional use of folic acid for the prevention of neural tube defects in ethnic communities in the United Kingdom: systematic review and meta-analysis. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol, 2013. 97(7): p. 444-51.
- 390. Badiga, S., et al., A lower degree of PBMC L1 methylation in women with lower folate status may explain the MTHFR C677T polymorphism associated higher risk of CIN in the US post folic acid fortification era. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(10): p. e110093.
- 391. Hertrampf, E. and F. Cortés, *National food-fortification program with folic acid in Chile*.Food Nutr Bull, 2008. 29(2 Suppl): p. S231-7.
- 392. McStay, C.L., et al., Maternal Folic Acid Supplementation during Pregnancy and Childhood Allergic Disease Outcomes: A Question of Timing? Nutrients, 2017. 9(2).
- 393. Caut, C., M. Leach, and A. Steel, *Dietary guideline adherence during preconception and pregnancy: A systematic review.* Matern Child Nutr, 2019: p. e12916.
- 394. Popa, A.D., et al., *Nutritional knowledge as a determinant of vitamin and mineral supplementation during pregnancy*. BMC Public Health, 2013. **13**: p. 1105.
- 395. Nasr Hage, C., et al., Awareness and intake of folic acid for the prevention of neural tube defects among Lebanese women of childbearing age. Matern Child Health J, 2012. 16(1): p. 258-65.
- 396. Roth, C., et al., *Use of folic acid supplements in early pregnancy in relation to maternal plasma levels in week 18 of pregnancy*. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2013. **57**(4): p. 653-60.
- 397. Tamim, H., et al., *Preconceptional folic acid supplement use in Lebanon*. Public Health Nutr, 2009. **12**(5): p. 687-92.
- 398. de Castro, M.B., et al., *Sociodemographic characteristics determine dietary pattern adherence during pregnancy*. Public Health Nutr, 2016. **19**(7): p. 1245-51.

- 399. Teixeira, J.A., et al., Dietary patterns are influenced by socio-demographic conditions of women in childbearing age: a cohort study of pregnant women. BMC Public Health, 2018.
 18(1): p. 301.
- 400. Northstone, K., P.M. Emmett, and I. Rogers, *Dietary patterns in pregnancy and associations with nutrient intakes*. Br J Nutr, 2008. **99**(2): p. 406-15.
- 401. Northstone, K., P. Emmett, and I. Rogers, *Dietary patterns in pregnancy and associations with socio-demographic and lifestyle factors*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2008. **62**(4): p. 471-9.
- 402. Völgyi, E., et al., Dietary patterns in pregnancy and effects on nutrient intake in the Mid-South: the Conditions Affecting Neurocognitive Development and Learning in Early Childhood (CANDLE) study. Nutrients, 2013. 5(5): p. 1511-30.
- 403. Arkkola, T., et al., Seven distinct dietary patterns identified among pregnant Finnish women--associations with nutrient intake and sociodemographic factors. Public Health Nutr, 2008. 11(2): p. 176-82.
- 404. Thompson, R.L., et al., *Cigarette smoking and food and nutrient intakes in relation to coronary heart disease*. Nutr Res Rev, 1992. **5**(1): p. 131-52.
- 405. Cucó, G., et al., Association of maternal protein intake before conception and throughout pregnancy with birth weight. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand, 2006. **85**(4): p. 413-21.
- 406. Lenz, A., et al., *Socioeconomic, demographic and lifestyle factors associated with dietary patterns of women living in Southern Brazil.* Cad Saude Publica, 2009. **25**(6): p. 1297-306.
- 407. Aronsson, C.A., et al., Use of dietary supplements in pregnant women in relation to sociodemographic factors a report from The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study. Public Health Nutr, 2013. 16(8): p. 1390-402.
- 408. Haralambieva, I.H., et al., *Rubella virus-specific humoral immune responses and their interrelationships before and after a third dose of measles-mumps-rubella vaccine in women of childbearing age.* Vaccine, 2020. **38**(5): p. 1249-1257.
- 409. Zacharis, K., et al., Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) and Fertilization: A Mini Review. Medicina (Kaunas), 2018. 54(4).
- 410. Baxter, R., et al., *Effectiveness of Vaccination During Pregnancy to Prevent Infant Pertussis.* Pediatrics, 2017. **139**(5).
- 411. Nunes, M.C., et al., Efficacy of Maternal Influenza Vaccination Against All-Cause Lower Respiratory Tract Infection Hospitalizations in Young Infants: Results From a Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Infect Dis, 2017. 65(7): p. 1066-1071.

- 412. Skoff, T.H., et al., Impact of the US Maternal Tetanus, Diphtheria, and Acellular Pertussis Vaccination Program on Preventing Pertussis in Infants <2 Months of Age: A Case-Control Evaluation. Clin Infect Dis, 2017. 65(12): p. 1977-1983.
- 413. Zerbo, O., et al., *No association between influenza vaccination during pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes.* Vaccine, 2017. **35**(24): p. 3186-3190.
- 414. D'Alessandro, A., et al., *Vaccination knowledge and acceptability among pregnant women in Italy*. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2018. **14**(7): p. 1573-1579.
- 415. Blanchard-Rohner, G. and C. Eberhardt, *Review of maternal immunisation during pregnancy: focus on pertussis and influenza*. Swiss Med Wkly, 2017. **147**: p. w14526.
- 416. Piano Nazionale Prevenzione Vaccinale (PNPV). Available at: <u>http://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2571_allegato.pdf</u>.
- 417. Laenen, J., et al., *Influenza and pertussis vaccination coverage in pregnant women*. Vaccine, 2015. 33(18): p. 2125-31.
- 418. Ding, H., et al., Influenza Vaccination Coverage Among Pregnant Women in the U.S., 2012-2015. Am J Prev Med, 2019. 56(4): p. 477-486.
- 419. Delamater, P.L., T.F. Leslie, and Y.T. Yang, Change in Medical Exemptions From Immunization in California After Elimination of Personal Belief Exemptions. JAMA, 2017.
 318(9): p. 863-864.
- 420. Ricciardi, W., S. Boccia, and R. Siliquini, *Moving towards compulsory vaccination: the Italian experience*. Eur J Public Health, 2018. **28**(1): p. 2-3.
- 421. Ward, J.K., J. Colgrove, and P. Verger, *Why France is making eight new vaccines mandatory*. Vaccine, 2018. **36**(14): p. 1801-1803.
- 422. Signorelli, C., et al., *Childhood vaccine coverage in Italy after the new law on mandatory immunization*. Ann Ig, 2018. **30**(4 Supple 1): p. 1-10.
- 423. Rezza, G., *Mandatory vaccination for infants and children: the Italian experience*. Pathog Glob Health, 2019. **113**(7): p. 291-296.
- 424. Ammon, A. and X. Prats Monné, *Vaccines, trust and European public health*. Euro Surveill, 2018. **23**(17).
- 425. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), Let's talk about hesitancy. Enhancing confidence in vaccination and uptake. Stockholm: ECDC; 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/lets-</u> talk-about-hesitancy-vaccination-guide.pdf.

- 426. Dubé, E., et al., *Vaccine hesitancy: an overview*. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2013. **9**(8): p. 1763-73.
- 427. Glatman-Freedman, A. and K. Nichols, *The effect of social determinants on immunization programs*. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2012. **8**(3): p. 293-301.
- 428. MacDonald, N.E., et al., *Mandatory infant & childhood immunization: Rationales, issues and knowledge gaps.* Vaccine, 2018. **36**(39): p. 5811-5818.
- 429. Eveleth, P.B., et al., Uses and interpretation of anthropometry in the elderly for the assessment of physical status. Report to the Nutrition Unit of the World Health Organization: the Expert Subcommittee on the Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry in the Elderly. J Nutr Health Aging, 1998. **2**(1): p. 5-17.
- 430. Institute of Medicine Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes and its Panel on Folate, O.B.V.a.C., *The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health*, in *Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin*, *Riboflavin*, *Niacin*, *Vitamin B6*, *Folate*, *Vitamin B12*, *Pantothenic Acid*, *Biotin*, *and Choline*. 1998, National Academies Press (US).
- 431. Hearty, A.P. and M.J. Gibney, *Comparison of cluster and principal component analysis techniques to derive dietary patterns in Irish adults.* Br J Nutr, 2009. **101**(4): p. 598-608.
- 432. Network Italiano Promozione Acido Folico per la Prevenzione Primaria diDifetti Congeniti.
- RACCOMANDAZIONE PER LA RIDUZIONE DEL RISCHIO DI DIFETTI CONGENITI. Available online: http://old.iss.it/binary/acid4/cont/raccomandazione.pdf
- 433. Bertino, E., et al., *Neonatal anthropometric charts: the Italian neonatal study compared with other European studies.* J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 2010. **51**(3): p. 353-61.
- 434. McLean, E., B. de Benoist, and L.H. Allen, *Review of the magnitude of folate and vitamin B12 deficiencies worldwide*. Food Nutr Bull, 2008. **29**(2 Suppl): p. S38-51.
- 435. Metz, J., *Haematological implications of folate food fortification*. S Afr Med J, 2013.
 103(12 Suppl 1): p. 978-81.
- 436. Agodi, A., et al., Folate deficiency is not associated with increased mitochondrial genomic instability: results from dietary intake and lymphocytic mtDNA 4977-bp deletion in healthy young women in Italy. Mutagenesis, 2014. **29**(2): p. 101-6.
- 437. Lamers, Y., et al., *Periconceptional intake of folic acid among low-risk women in Canada: summary of a workshop aiming to align prenatal folic acid supplement composition with current expert guidelines.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2018. **108**(6): p. 1357-1368.

- 438. De Santis, M., et al., *Folic acid use in planned pregnancy: an Italian survey*. Matern Child Health J, 2013. **17**(4): p. 661-6.
- 439. Anomalies, E.S.o.C., Special Report: Prevention of Neural Tube Defects by Periconceptional Folic Acid Supplementation in Europe. 2009.
- 440. de Walle, H.E. and L.T. de Jong-van den Berg, *Insufficient folic acid intake in the Netherlands: what about the future?* Teratology, 2002. **66**(1): p. 40-3.
- 441. Vitale, K., et al., *Is level of knowledge, attitude and use of folic acid among pregnant women in Croatia a call for public health action?* Period Biol, 2009. **111**: p. 329-35.
- 442. Catov, J.M., et al., Periconceptional multivitamin use and risk of preterm or small-forgestational-age births in the Danish National Birth Cohort. Am J Clin Nutr, 2011. 94(3): p. 906-12.
- 443. Waterland, R.A., *Is epigenetics an important link between early life events and adult disease?* Horm Res, 2009. **71 Suppl 1**: p. 13-6.
- 444. Hodgetts, V.A., et al., *Effectiveness of folic acid supplementation in pregnancy on reducing the risk of small-for-gestational age neonates: a population study, systematic review and meta-analysis.* BJOG, 2015. **122**(4): p. 478-90.
- 445. Li, N., et al., Impact of Periconceptional Folic Acid Supplementation on Low Birth Weight and Small-for-Gestational-Age Infants in China: A Large Prospective Cohort Study. J Pediatr, 2017. **187**: p. 105-110.
- 446. Papadopoulou, E., et al., *The effect of high doses of folic acid and iron supplementation in early-to-mid pregnancy on prematurity and fetal growth retardation: the mother-child cohort study in Crete, Greece (Rhea study).* Eur J Nutr, 2013. **52**(1): p. 327-36.
- 447. Rolschau, J., et al., *The influence of folic acid supplement on the outcome of pregnancies in the county of Funen in Denmark. Part I.* Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 1999. 87(2): p. 105-10; discussion 103-4.
- 448. Timmermans, S., et al., Periconception folic acid supplementation, fetal growth and the risks of low birth weight and preterm birth: the Generation R Study. Br J Nutr, 2009. 102(5): p. 777-85.
- 449. Navarrete-Muñoz, E.M., et al., [Folic acid intake from diet and supplements in a population of pregnant women in Valencia, Spain]. Med Clin (Barc), 2010. **135**(14): p. 637-43.
- 450. Pastor-Valero, M., et al., Periconceptional folic acid supplementation and anthropometric measures at birth in a cohort of pregnant women in Valencia, Spain. Br J Nutr, 2011. 105(9): p. 1352-60.

- 451. Bukowski, R., et al., *Preconceptional folate supplementation and the risk of spontaneous preterm birth: a cohort study.* PLoS Med, 2009. **6**(5): p. e1000061.
- 452. Wang, S., et al., Maternal Continuing Folic Acid Supplementation after the First Trimester of Pregnancy Increased the Risk of Large-for-Gestational-Age Birth: A Population-Based Birth Cohort Study. Nutrients, 2016. 8(8).
- 453. Schoenaker, D.A., et al., Pre-pregnancy dietary patterns and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: results from an Australian population-based prospective cohort study. Diabetologia, 2015. 58(12): p. 2726-35.
- 454. Schoenaker, D.A., et al., Prepregnancy dietary patterns and risk of developing hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: results from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Am J Clin Nutr, 2015. 102(1): p. 94-101.
- 455. Bouwland-Both, M.I., et al., *A periconceptional energy-rich dietary pattern is associated with early fetal growth: the Generation R study.* BJOG, 2013. **120**(4): p. 435-45.
- 456. Nuttens, M.C., et al., *Relationship between smoking and diet: the MONICA-France project.*J Intern Med, 1992. 231(4): p. 349-56.
- 457. Wood, D.A., et al., *Linoleic and eicosapentaenoic acids in adipose tissue and platelets and risk of coronary heart disease*. Lancet, 1987. **1**(8526): p. 177-83.
- 458. Oliver, M.F., Cigarette smoking, polyunsaturated fats, linoleic acid, and coronary heart disease. Lancet, 1989. 1(8649): p. 1241-3.
- 459. Ministero della Salute, Vaccinazioni raccomandate per le donne in età fertile e in gravidanza, Novembre 2018. Available from: <u>http://www.trovanorme.salute.gov.it/norme/renderNormsanPdfanno=2018&codLeg=66751&parte=1%20&serie=null</u>.
- 460. McClure, C.C., J.R. Cataldi, and S.T. O'Leary, *Vaccine Hesitancy: Where We Are and Where We Are Going*. Clin Ther, 2017. **39**(8): p. 1550-1562.
- 461. Alexandre de Figueiredo, et al., Changing socioeconomic determinants of childhood vaccines: a global analysis over three decades. Meeting abstract, 2015.
- 462. Agodi, A., et al., *The link between MTHFR C677T polymorphism, folate metabolism and global DNA methylation: A literature review, in Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR) in Health and Disease, R. Evans, Editor. 2015. p. 71-82.*
- 463. Barchitta, M., et al., *The Role of miRNAs as Biomarkers for Pregnancy Outcomes: A Comprehensive Review.* Int J Genomics, 2017. **2017**: p. 8067972.

- 464. Maugeri, A., Resveratrol modulates SIRT1 and DNMT functions and restores LINE-1 methylation levels in ARPE-19 cells under oxidative stress and inflammation.
- 465. Maugeri, A., et al., *Curcumin modulates DNA methyltransferases functions in a cellular model of diabetic retinopathy.* Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2018. *in press.*
- 466. World Health Organization (WHO), Obesity and overweight. 2015.
- 467. Yu, Z., et al., Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One, 2013. 8(4): p. e61627.
- 468. Maugeri, A., et al., Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation During Pregnancy on Birth Size: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Nutrients, 2019. 11(2).
- 469. Labayen, I., et al., Early life programming of abdominal adiposity in adolescents: The HELENA Study. Diabetes Care, 2009. 32(11): p. 2120-2.
- 470. Shapiro, S., et al., *Relevance of correlates of infant deaths for significant morbidity at 1 year of age.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1980. **136**(3): p. 363-73.
- 471. Swinburn, B.A., et al., *The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments*. Lancet, 2011. **378**(9793): p. 804-14.
- 472. Uusitalo, U., et al., Unhealthy dietary patterns are associated with weight gain during pregnancy among Finnish women. Public Health Nutr, 2009. **12**(12): p. 2392-9.
- 473. Shin, D., K.W. Lee, and W.O. Song, *Pre-Pregnancy Weight Status Is Associated with Diet Quality and Nutritional Biomarkers during Pregnancy*. Nutrients, 2016. **8**(3): p. 162.
- 474. Rifas-Shiman, S.L., et al., *Dietary quality during pregnancy varies by maternal characteristics in Project Viva: a US cohort.* J Am Diet Assoc, 2009. **109**(6): p. 1004-11.
- 475. Hillesund, E.R., et al., *Development of a New Nordic Diet score and its association with gestational weight gain and fetal growth a study performed in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa).* Public Health Nutr, 2014. **17**(9): p. 1909-18.
- 476. Institute of Medicine (US) and National Research Council (US) Committee to Reexamine IOM Pregnancy Weight Guidelines, *Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines*. 2009.
- 477. Olson, C.M. and M.S. Strawderman, Modifiable behavioral factors in a biopsychosocial model predict inadequate and excessive gestational weight gain. J Am Diet Assoc, 2003. 103(1): p. 48-54.

- 478. Shin, D., et al., *Is gestational weight gain associated with diet quality during pregnancy?* Matern Child Health J, 2014. 18(6): p. 1433-43.
- 479. Lampe, J.W., *Health effects of vegetables and fruit: assessing mechanisms of action in human experimental studies.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1999. **70**(3 Suppl): p. 475S-490S.
- 480. Wei, X., et al., *The influence of maternal dietary patterns on gestational weight gain: A large prospective cohort study in China*. Nutrition, 2019. **59**: p. 90-95.
- 481. Freisling, H., et al., Dietary reporting errors on 24 h recalls and dietary questionnaires are associated with BMI across six European countries as evaluated with recovery biomarkers for protein and potassium intake. Br J Nutr, 2012. **107**(6): p. 910-20.
- 482. Butte, N.F., et al., *Composition of gestational weight gain impacts maternal fat retention and infant birth weight.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2003. **189**(5): p. 1423-32.
- 483. Leddy, M.A., M.L. Power, and J. Schulkin, *The impact of maternal obesity on maternal and fetal health.* Rev Obstet Gynecol, 2008. **1**(4): p. 170-8.
- 484. Randall, E., et al., *High-risk health behaviors associated with various dietary patterns*. Nutr Cancer, 1991. **16**(2): p. 135-51.
- 485. Kerver, J.M., et al., *Dietary patterns associated with risk factors for cardiovascular disease in healthy US adults*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2003. **78**(6): p. 1103-10.
- 486. Tielemans, M.J., et al., *A Priori and a Posteriori Dietary Patterns during Pregnancy and Gestational Weight Gain: The Generation R Study.* Nutrients, 2015. 7(11): p. 9383-99.
- 487. Wrottesley, S.V., P.T. Pisa, and S.A. Norris, *The Influence of Maternal Dietary Patterns on Body Mass Index and Gestational Weight Gain in Urban Black South African Women*. Nutrients, 2017. 9(7).
- 488. Tielemans, M.J., et al., *Macronutrient composition and gestational weight gain: a systematic review*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2016. **103**(1): p. 83-99.
- 489. Harris, H.E. and G.T. Ellison, *Practical approaches for estimating prepregnant body weight*. J Nurse Midwifery, 1998. **43**(2): p. 97-101.
- 490. Oken, E., et al., *Gestational weight gain and child adiposity at age 3 years*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2007. **196**(4): p. 322.e1-8.
- 491. Austin, P.C. and E.W. Steyerberg, *The number of subjects per variable required in linear regression analyses.* J Clin Epidemiol, 2015. **68**(6): p. 627-36.
- 492. Talai Rad, N., et al., Longitudinal analysis of changes in energy intake and macronutrient composition during pregnancy and 6 weeks post-partum. Arch Gynecol Obstet, 2011.
 283(2): p. 185-90.

- 493. Crozier, S.R., et al., *Women's dietary patterns change little from before to during pregnancy*. J Nutr, 2009. **139**(10): p. 1956-63.
- 494. Inskip, H.M., et al., *Women's compliance with nutrition and lifestyle recommendations before pregnancy: general population cohort study.* BMJ, 2009. **338**: p. b481.
- 495. Chavarro, J.E., et al., *Iron intake and risk of ovulatory infertility*. Obstet Gynecol, 2006.
 108(5): p. 1145-52.
- 496. Chiavaroli, V., et al., Incidence of infants born small- and large-for-gestational-age in an Italian cohort over a 20-year period and associated risk factors. Ital J Pediatr, 2016. 42: p. 42.
- 497. Lawn, J.E., et al., *Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count?* Lancet, 2011. **377**(9775): p. 1448-63.
- 498. Vogel, J.P., et al., *The global epidemiology of preterm birth*. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol, 2018.
- 499. Vitale, S.G., et al., *Cellular and biochemical mechanisms, risk factors and management of preterm birth: state of the art.* Minerva Ginecol, 2014. **66**(6): p. 589-95.
- 500. Giunta, G., et al., *Influence of lactoferrin in preventing preterm delivery: a pilot study*. Mol Med Rep, 2012. **5**(1): p. 162-6.
- 501. Pino, A., et al., *Bacterial biota of women with bacterial vaginosis treated with lactoferrin: an open prospective randomized trial.* Microb Ecol Health Dis, 2017. **28**(1): p. 1357417.
- 502. Ji, J.L., et al., *Immunological function of vitamin D during human pregnancy*. Am J Reprod Immunol, 2017. **78**(2).
- 503. Kiely, M., A. Hemmingway, and K.M. O'Callaghan, *Vitamin D in pregnancy: current perspectives and future directions.* Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis, 2017. **9**(6): p. 145-154.
- 504. Holick, M.F., Vitamin D: a d-lightful solution for health. J Investig Med, 2011. 59(6): p. 872-80.
- 505. Atkinson, S.A., *Defining the process of Dietary Reference Intakes: framework for the United States and Canada*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2011. **94**(2): p. 655S-7S.
- 506. Ovesen, L., C. Brot, and J. Jakobsen, Food contents and biological activity of 25hydroxyvitamin D: a vitamin D metabolite to be reckoned with? Ann Nutr Metab, 2003.
 47(3-4): p. 107-13.
- 507. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D and Calcium, *Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D*. 2011: Washington, DC.

- 508. Calvo, M.S., S.J. Whiting, and C.N. Barton, *Vitamin D fortification in the United States and Canada: current status and data needs*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2004. **80**(6 Suppl): p. 1710S-6S.
- 509. Holick, M.F., Vitamin D: A millenium perspective. J Cell Biochem, 2003. 88(2): p. 296-307.
- 510. Norman, A.W., *The history of the discovery of vitamin D and its daughter steroid hormone*. Ann Nutr Metab, 2012. **61**(3): p. 199-206.
- 511. Andersson, S., et al., Cloning, structure, and expression of the mitochondrial cytochrome P-450 sterol 26-hydroxylase, a bile acid biosynthetic enzyme. J Biol Chem, 1989. 264(14): p. 8222-9.
- 512. Fukushima, M., et al., 25-Hydroxylation of lalpha-hydroxyvitamin D3 in vivo and in perfused rat liver. FEBS Lett, 1976. 65(2): p. 211-4.
- 513. Need, A.G. and B.E. Nordin, *Misconceptions vitamin D insufficiency causes malabsorption of calcium*. Bone, 2008. **42**(6): p. 1021-4.
- 514. Lewis, S., et al., *Vitamin D deficiency and pregnancy: from preconception to birth*. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2010. **54**(8): p. 1092-102.
- 515. Bikle, D., Nonclassic actions of vitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2009. 94(1): p. 26-34.
- 516. Di Rosa, M., et al., Immuno-modulatory effects of vitamin D3 in human monocyte and macrophages. Cell Immunol, 2012. **280**(1): p. 36-43.
- 517. Harvey, N.C., et al., *Vitamin D supplementation in pregnancy: a systematic review.* Health Technol Assess, 2014. **18**(45): p. 1-190.
- 518. De-Regil, L.M., et al., Vitamin D supplementation for women during pregnancy. Sao Paulo Med J, 2016. 134(3): p. 274-5.
- 519. Pérez-López, F.R., et al., *Effect of vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy on maternal and neonatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* Fertil Steril, 2015. **103**(5): p. 1278-88.e4.
- 520. Thorne-Lyman, A. and W.W. Fawzi, *Vitamin D during pregnancy and maternal, neonatal and infant health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 2012. **26 Suppl 1**: p. 75-90.
- 521. Strugnell, S.A. and H.F. Deluca, *The vitamin D receptor--structure and transcriptional activation*. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1997. **215**(3): p. 223-8.
- 522. Wang, Y., J. Zhu, and H.F. DeLuca, *Where is the vitamin D receptor?* Arch Biochem Biophys, 2012. **523**(1): p. 123-33.
- 523. Zhang, J., et al., *DNA binding alters coactivator interaction surfaces of the intact VDR-RXR complex*. Nat Struct Mol Biol, 2011. **18**(5): p. 556-63.

- 524. Uitterlinden, A.G., et al., *Genetics and biology of vitamin D receptor polymorphisms*. Gene, 2004. **338**(2): p. 143-56.
- 525. Vaughan-Shaw, P.G., et al., The impact of vitamin D pathway genetic variation and circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D on cancer outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Cancer, 2017. 116(8): p. 1092-1110.
- 526. Javorski, N., et al., Vitamin D receptor (VDR) polymorphisms are associated to spontaneous preterm birth and maternal aspects. Gene, 2018. 642: p. 58-63.
- 527. Workalemahu, T., et al., *Placental genetic variations in vitamin D metabolism and birthweight*. Placenta, 2017. **50**: p. 78-83.
- 528. Manzon, L., et al., Vitamin D receptor polymorphism FokI is associated with spontaneous idiopathic preterm birth in an Israeli population. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2014.
 177: p. 84-8.
- 529. Swamy, G.K., et al., *Maternal vitamin D receptor genetic variation contributes to infant birthweight among black mothers*. Am J Med Genet A, 2011. **155A**(6): p. 1264-71.
- 530. Lorentzon, M., R. Lorentzon, and P. Nordström, Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism is associated with birth height, growth to adolescence, and adult stature in healthy caucasian men: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2000. **85**(4): p. 1666-70.
- 531. Tao, C., et al., Vitamin D receptor alleles predict growth and bone density in girls. Arch Dis Child, 1998. 79(6): p. 488-93; discussion 493-4.
- 532. Suarez, F., et al., Association between vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism and sexdependent growth during the first two years of life. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1997. 82(9): p. 2966-70.
- 533. Silvano, L., et al., Comparative analysis of clinical, biochemical and genetic aspects associated with bone mineral density in small for gestational age children. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab, 2011. 24(7-8): p. 511-7.
- 534. Suarez, F., C. Rossignol, and M. Garabédian, *Interactive effect of estradiol and vitamin D* receptor gene polymorphisms as a possible determinant of growth in male and female infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1998. **83**(10): p. 3563-8.
- 535. Knabl, J., et al., Role of Placental VDR Expression and Function in Common Late Pregnancy Disorders. Int J Mol Sci, 2017. 18(11).
- 536. Higgins, J.P. and S.G. Thompson, *Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis*. Stat Med, 2002. **21**(11): p. 1539-58.

- 537. Higgins, J. and S. Green, *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*. Version 5.1.0 ed. 2008.
- 538. Begg, C.B. and M. Mazumdar, *Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias*. Biometrics, 1994. **50**(4): p. 1088-101.
- 539. Egger, M., et al., *Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test.* BMJ, 1997.
 315(7109): p. 629-34.
- 540. Evans, K.N., et al., *Vitamin D and placental-decidual function*. J Soc Gynecol Investig, 2004. **11**(5): p. 263-71.
- 541. Stephanou, A., R. Ross, and S. Handwerger, *Regulation of human placental lactogen expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3*. Endocrinology, 1994. **135**(6): p. 2651-6.
- 542. Avila, E., et al., Regulation of Vitamin D hydroxylases gene expression by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 and cyclic AMP in cultured human syncytiotrophoblasts. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 2007. 103(1): p. 90-6.
- 543. Evans, K.N., et al., *Effects of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on cytokine production by human decidual cells.* Biol Reprod, 2006. **75**(6): p. 816-22.
- 544. Murthi, P., et al., Role of the Placental Vitamin D Receptor in Modulating Feto-Placental Growth in Fetal Growth Restriction and Preeclampsia-Affected Pregnancies. Front Physiol, 2016. 7: p. 43.
- 545. Jelliffe-Pawlowski, L.L., et al., *Correction: Prediction of preterm birth with and without preeclampsia using mid-pregnancy immune and growth-related molecular factors and maternal characteristics.* J Perinatol, 2018. **38**(7): p. 946.
- 546. Mirabello, L., et al., *The association of telomere length and genetic variation in telomere biology genes.* Hum Mutat, 2010. **31**(9): p. 1050-8.
- 547. Wong, J.M. and K. Collins, *Telomere maintenance and disease*. Lancet, 2003. **362**(9388): p. 983-8.
- 548. Martens, D.S., et al., *Newborn telomere length predicts later life telomere length: Tracking telomere length from birth to child- and adulthood.* EBioMedicine, 2021. **63**: p. 103164.
- 549. Demanelis, K., et al., *Determinants of telomere length across human tissues*. Science, 2020.
 369(6509).
- 550. García-Cao, M., et al., *Epigenetic regulation of telomere length in mammalian cells by the Suv39h1 and Suv39h2 histone methyltransferases.* Nat Genet, 2004. **36**(1): p. 94-9.
- 551. Gonzalo, S., et al., *DNA methyltransferases control telomere length and telomere recombination in mammalian cells*. Nat Cell Biol, 2006. **8**(4): p. 416-24.

- 552. Lee, Y., et al., *Epigenome-wide association study of leukocyte telomere length*. Aging (Albany NY), 2019. **11**(16): p. 5876-5894.
- 553. Kadayifci, F.Z., S. Zheng, and Y.X. Pan, *Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Link* between Diet and DNA Methylation. Int J Mol Sci, 2018. **19**(12).
- 554. Freitas-Simoes, T.M., E. Ros, and A. Sala-Vila, *Nutrients, foods, dietary patterns and telomere length: Update of epidemiological studies and randomized trials.* Metabolism, 2016. **65**(4): p. 406-15.
- 555. Gorenjak, V., et al., *Telomere length determinants in childhood*. Clin Chem Lab Med, 2020.
 58(2): p. 162-177.
- 556. Liu, B., et al., Prenatal second-hand smoke exposure and newborn telomere length. Pediatr Res, 2020. 87(6): p. 1081-1085.
- 557. Salihu, H.M., et al., Association Between Maternal-Perceived Psychological Stress and Fetal Telomere Length. South Med J, 2016. **109**(12): p. 767-772.
- 558. Martens, D.S., et al., *Prenatal Air Pollution and Newborns' Predisposition to Accelerated Biological Aging*. JAMA Pediatr, 2017. **171**(12): p. 1160-1167.
- 559. Habibi, N., et al., *Maternal diet and offspring telomere length: a systematic review*. Nutr Rev, 2021. **79**(2): p. 148-159.
- 560. World Health Organization (WHO), Global status report on alcohol and health. 2018.
- 561. How science can put the Sustainable Development Goals back on track. Nature, 2021.
 589(7842): p. 329-330.
- 562. Warren, K.R., *A Review of the History of Attitudes Toward Drinking in Pregnancy*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2015. **39**(7): p. 1110-7.
- 563. Maugeri, A., et al., The Effect of Alcohol on Telomere Length: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological Evidence and a Pilot Study during Pregnancy. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2021. 18(9).
- 564. Magnano San Lio, R., et al., *The Impact of Socio-Demographic Factors on Breastfeeding: Findings from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort.* Medicina (Kaunas), 2021. **57**(2).
- 565. Barchitta, M., et al., Vaccination Status of Mothers and Children from the 'Mamma & Bambino' Cohort. Vaccines, 2021. 9(2): p. 168.
- 566. Barchitta, M., et al., Dietary Folate Intake and Folic Acid Supplements among Pregnant Women from Southern Italy: Evidence from the "Mamma & Bambino" Cohort. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2020. 17(2).

- 567. Maugeri, A., et al., *Is Drinking Alcohol Really Linked to Cardiovascular Health? Evidence from the Kardiovize 2030 Project*. Nutrients, 2020. **12**(9).
- 568. Moher, D., et al., Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev, 2015. 4: p. 1.
- 569. Aida, J., et al., *Alcoholics show reduced telomere length in the oesophagus*. J Pathol, 2011.
 223(3): p. 410-6.
- 570. Pavanello, S., et al., *Shortened telomeres in individuals with abuse in alcohol consumption*. Int J Cancer, 2011. **129**(4): p. 983-92.
- 571. Yamaki, N., et al., *Telomere shortening in alcohol dependence: Roles of alcohol and acetaldehyde.* J Psychiatr Res, 2019. **109**: p. 27-32.
- 572. Martins de Carvalho, L., et al., *Effect of alcohol use disorder on cellular aging*. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 2019. **236**(11): p. 3245-3255.
- 573. Tannous, J., et al., Measures of possible allostatic load in comorbid cocaine and alcohol use disorder: Brain white matter integrity, telomere length, and anti-saccade performance. PLoS One, 2019. 14(1): p. e0199729.
- 574. Aida, J., et al., *Telomere shortening in the oral epithelium in relation to alcohol intake, alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH-1B), and acetaldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH-2) genotypes and clinicopathologic features.* J Oral Pathol Med, 2020. **49**(1): p. 82-90.
- 575. Dixit, S., et al., *Alcohol consumption and leukocyte telomere length*. Sci Rep, 2019. **9**(1): p. 1404.
- 576. Latifovic, L., et al., *The Influence of Alcohol Consumption, Cigarette Smoking, and Physical Activity on Leukocyte Telomere Length.* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2016. 25(2): p. 374-80.
- 577. Liu, J.J., et al., One-carbon metabolism factors and leukocyte telomere length. Am J Clin Nutr, 2013. 97(4): p. 794-9.
- 578. Needham, B.L., et al., Socioeconomic status, health behavior, and leukocyte telomere length in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2002. Soc Sci Med, 2013.
 85: p. 1-8.
- 579. Weischer, M., S.E. Bojesen, and B.G. Nordestgaard, *Telomere shortening unrelated to smoking, body weight, physical activity, and alcohol intake: 4,576 general population individuals with repeat measurements 10 years apart.* PLoS Genet, 2014. **10**(3): p. e1004191.

- 580. Strandberg, T.E., et al., Association between alcohol consumption in healthy midlife and telomere length in older men. The Helsinki Businessmen Study. Eur J Epidemiol, 2012. 27(10): p. 815-22.
- 581. Révész, D., et al., *Baseline biopsychosocial determinants of telomere length and 6-year attrition rate.* Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2016. **67**: p. 153-62.
- 582. Shin, C. and I. Baik, Associations Between Alcohol Consumption and Leukocyte Telomere Length Modified by a Common Polymorphism of ALDH2. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2016.
 40(4): p. 765-71.
- 583. Martin, H., et al., *Effects of long-term dietary intake of magnesium on oxidative stress, apoptosis and ageing in rat liver.* Magnes Res, 2008. **21**(2): p. 124-30.
- 584. Killilea, D.W. and B.N. Ames, *Magnesium deficiency accelerates cellular senescence in cultured human fibroblasts*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(15): p. 5768-73.
- 585. Xu, Q., et al., *Multivitamin use and telomere length in women*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2009. 89(6): p. 1857-63.
- 586. Hartwig, A., Role of magnesium in genomic stability. Mutat Res, 2001. 475(1-2): p. 113-21.
- 587. Batra, V.K., et al., *Magnesium-induced assembly of a complete DNA polymerase catalytic complex*. Structure, 2006. **14**(4): p. 757-66.
- 588. Sirover, M.A. and L.A. Loeb, *Metal activation of DNA synthesis*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1976. **70**(3): p. 812-7.
- 589. Mazia, D., THE PARTICULATE ORGANIZATION OF THE CHROMOSOME. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1954. 40(6): p. 521-7.
- 590. Guerrero-Romero, F. and M. Rodríguez-Morán, *Relationship between serum magnesium levels and C-reactive protein concentration, in non-diabetic, non-hypertensive obese subjects.* Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord, 2002. **26**(4): p. 469-74.
- 591. Marcon, F., et al., *Diet-related telomere shortening and chromosome stability*. Mutagenesis, 2012. **27**(1): p. 49-57.
- 592. Aviv, A., Leukocyte telomere length: the telomere tale continues. Am J Clin Nutr, 2009.89(6): p. 1721-2.
- 593. Lund, E.K., et al., Oral ferrous sulfate supplements increase the free radical-generating capacity of feces from healthy volunteers. Am J Clin Nutr, 1999. **69**(2): p. 250-5.
- 594. Girchenko, P., et al., Associations between maternal risk factors of adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes and the offspring epigenetic clock of gestational age at birth. Clin Epigenetics, 2017. 9: p. 49.

- 595. Mozaffarian, D., I. Rosenberg, and R. Uauy, *History of modern nutrition science-implications for current research, dietary guidelines, and food policy.* BMJ, 2018. **361**: p. k2392.
- 596. Aviv, A., et al., Impartial comparative analysis of measurement of leukocyte telomere length/DNA content by Southern blots and qPCR. Nucleic Acids Res, 2011. **39**(20): p. e134.
- 597. Cedergren, M.I., *Optimal gestational weight gain for body mass index categories*. Obstet Gynecol, 2007. **110**(4): p. 759-64.
- 598. Beyerlein, A., et al., *Optimal gestational weight gain ranges for the avoidance of adverse birth weight outcomes: a novel approach.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2009. **90**(6): p. 1552-8.
- 599. Cheikh Ismail, L., et al., Gestational weight gain standards based on women enrolled in the Fetal Growth Longitudinal Study of the INTERGROWTH-21st Project: a prospective longitudinal cohort study. BMJ, 2016. **352**: p. i555.
- Rasmussen, K.M., P.M. Catalano, and A.L. Yaktine, New guidelines for weight gain during pregnancy: what obstetrician/gynecologists should know. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol, 2009.
 21(6): p. 521-6.
- 601. Chung, J.G., et al., *Gestational weight gain and adverse pregnancy outcomes in a nulliparous cohort.* Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2013. **167**(2): p. 149-53.
- 602. Durie, D.E., L.L. Thornburg, and J.C. Glantz, *Effect of second-trimester and third-trimester rate of gestational weight gain on maternal and neonatal outcomes*. Obstet Gynecol, 2011.
 118(3): p. 569-575.
- 603. Simas, T.A., et al., *Impact of updated Institute of Medicine guidelines on prepregnancy body mass index categorization, gestational weight gain recommendations, and needed counseling.* J Womens Health (Larchmt), 2011. **20**(6): p. 837-44.
- 604. Ferraro, Z.M., et al., *Gestational weight gain and medical outcomes of pregnancy*. Obstet Med, 2015. **8**(3): p. 133-7.
- 605. DeVader, S.R., et al., *Evaluation of gestational weight gain guidelines for women with normal prepregnancy body mass index*. Obstet Gynecol, 2007. **110**(4): p. 745-51.
- 606. Margerison Zilko, C.E., D. Rehkopf, and B. Abrams, *Association of maternal gestational weight gain with short- and long-term maternal and child health outcomes.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2010. **202**(6): p. 574.e1-8.
- 607. McCormick, M.C., *The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity*. N Engl J Med, 1985. **312**(2): p. 82-90.
- 608. Wegman, M.E., Mortality rates and health progress. Pediatrics, 1988. 82(4): p. 671-2.

- 609. Kessel, S.S., et al., *The changing pattern of low birth weight in the United States--1970 to 1980.* JAMA, 1984. **251**(15): p. 1978-82.
- 610. Kleinman, J.C. and S.S. Kessel, *Racial differences in low birth weight. Trends and risk factors.* N Engl J Med, 1987. **317**(12): p. 749-53.
- 611. Papiernik, E. and M. Kaminski, *Multifactorial study of the risk of prematurity at 32 weeks of gestation. I. A study of the frequency of 30 predictive characteristics.* J Perinat Med, 1974.
 2(1): p. 30-6.
- 612. Agodi, A., et al., *Distribution of p53, GST, and MTHFR polymorphisms and risk of cervical intraepithelial lesions in sicily.* Int J Gynecol Cancer, 2010. **20**(1): p. 141-6.
- 613. Gielen, M., et al., Body mass index is negatively associated with telomere length: a collaborative cross-sectional meta-analysis of 87 observational studies. Am J Clin Nutr, 2018. 108(3): p. 453-475.
- 614. Martens, D.S., et al., *Maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index and newborn telomere length*. BMC Med, 2016. **14**(1): p. 148.
- 615. Clemente, D.B.P., et al., *Obesity is associated with shorter telomeres in 8 year-old children*. Sci Rep, 2019. **9**(1): p. 18739.
- 616. de Heredia, F.P., S. Gómez-Martínez, and A. Marcos, *Obesity, inflammation and the immune system.* Proc Nutr Soc, 2012. **71**(2): p. 332-8.
- 617. Soubry, A., et al., Newborns of obese parents have altered DNA methylation patterns at imprinted genes. Int J Obes (Lond), 2015. **39**(4): p. 650-7.
- 618. Soubry, A., et al., *Paternal obesity is associated with IGF2 hypomethylation in newborns: results from a Newborn Epigenetics Study (NEST) cohort.* BMC Med, 2013. **11**: p. 29.
- 619. Victora, C.G., et al., Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. Lancet, 2016. **387**(10017): p. 475-90.
- 620. World Health Organization (WHO), Health topics: Breastfeeding. 2020.
- 621. WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group, *Breastfeeding in the WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study* 2006.
- 622. World Health Organization (WHO), Indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices: part 1: definitions: conclusions of a consensus meeting held 6-8 November 2007 in Washington D.C., US. 2008.
- 623. Andreas, N.J., B. Kampmann, and K. Mehring Le-Doare, *Human breast milk: A review on its composition and bioactivity*. Early Hum Dev, 2015. **91**(11): p. 629-35.

- 624. Martin, C.R., P.R. Ling, and G.L. Blackburn, *Review of Infant Feeding: Key Features of Breast Milk and Infant Formula*. Nutrients, 2016. **8**(5).
- 625. UNICEF, Breastfeeding: a mother's gift for every child. 2018.
- 626. Chowdhury, R., et al., *Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Acta Paediatr, 2015. **104**(467): p. 96-113.
- 627. Gartner, L.M., et al., *Breastfeeding and the use of human milk*. Pediatrics, 2005. **115**(2): p. 496-506.
- 628. Taveras, E.M., et al., *Clinician support and psychosocial risk factors associated with breastfeeding discontinuation*. Pediatrics, 2003. **112**(1 Pt 1): p. 108-15.
- 629. Tarrant, M., et al., *Breastfeeding and weaning practices among Hong Kong mothers: a prospective study.* BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2010. **10**: p. 27.
- 630. Bick, D.E., C. MacArthur, and R.J. Lancashire, *What influences the uptake and early cessation of breast feeding?* Midwifery, 1998. **14**(4): p. 242-7.
- 631. McCarter-Spaulding, D., J. Lucas, and R. Gore, *Employment and breastfeeding outcomes in a sample of black women in the United States*. J Natl Black Nurses Assoc, 2011. 22(2): p. 38-45.
- 632. Schwartz, K., et al., *Factors associated with weaning in the first 3 months postpartum*. J Fam Pract, 2002. **51**(5): p. 439-44.
- 633. Cameron, A.J., et al., Influence of peers on breastfeeding discontinuation among new parents: the Melbourne InFANT Program. Pediatrics, 2010. **126**(3): p. e601-7.
- 634. Nkrumah, J., *Maternal work and exclusive breastfeeding practice: a community based cross-sectional study in Efutu Municipal, Ghana.* Int Breastfeed J, 2016. **12**: p. 10.
- 635. Bertini, G., et al., *Maternal education and the incidence and duration of breast feeding: a prospective study.* J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 2003. **37**(4): p. 447-52.
- 636. Dubois, L. and M. Girard, Social determinants of initiation, duration and exclusivity of breastfeeding at the population level: the results of the Longitudinal Study of Child Development in Quebec (ELDEQ 1998-2002). Can J Public Health, 2003. **94**(4): p. 300-5.
- 637. Horta, B.L., M.S. Kramer, and R.W. Platt, *Maternal smoking and the risk of early weaning: a meta-analysis*. Am J Public Health, 2001. **91**(2): p. 304-7.
- 638. Giglia, R., C.W. Binns, and H. Alfonso, *Maternal cigarette smoking and breastfeeding duration*. Acta Paediatr, 2006. **95**(11): p. 1370-4.

- 639. Clifford, T.J., et al., Factors influencing full breastfeeding in a southwestern ontario community: assessments at 1 week and at 6 months postpartum. J Hum Lact, 2006. 22(3): p. 292-304.
- 640. Liu, J., K.D. Rosenberg, and A.P. Sandoval, *Breastfeeding duration and perinatal cigarette smoking in a population-based cohort.* Am J Public Health, 2006. **96**(2): p. 309-14.
- 641. Hauck, Y.L., et al., *A Western Australian survey of breastfeeding initiation, prevalence and early cessation patterns.* Matern Child Health J, 2011. **15**(2): p. 260-8.
- 642. Ayton, J., et al., *Cumulative risks and cessation of exclusive breast feeding: Australian cross-sectional survey.* Arch Dis Child, 2015. **100**(9): p. 863-8.
- 643. Agboado, G., et al., *Factors associated with breastfeeding cessation in nursing mothers in a peer support programme in Eastern Lancashire*. BMC Pediatr, 2010. **10**: p. 3.
- 644. Prior, E., et al., *Breastfeeding after cesarean delivery: a systematic review and metaanalysis of world literature.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2012. **95**(5): p. 1113-35.
- 645. Brown, A. and S. Jordan, *Impact of birth complications on breastfeeding duration: an internet survey*. J Adv Nurs, 2013. **69**(4): p. 828-39.
- 646. Oakley, L.L., et al., *The role of support and other factors in early breastfeeding cessation: an analysis of data from a maternity survey in England*. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2014.
 14: p. 88.
- 647. Kronborg, H., M. Vaeth, and K.M. Rasmussen, *Obesity and early cessation of breastfeeding in Denmark*. Eur J Public Health, 2013. **23**(2): p. 316-22.
- 648. Bartok, C.J., et al., *Role of body mass index and gestational weight gain in breastfeeding outcomes.* Breastfeed Med, 2012. 7(6): p. 448-56.
- 649. Verduci, E., et al., *Epigenetic effects of human breast milk*. Nutrients, 2014. 6(4): p. 1711-24.
- 650. Hartwig, F.P., et al., *Breastfeeding effects on DNA methylation in the offspring: A systematic literature review.* PLoS One, 2017. **12**(3): p. e0173070.
- 651. Hartwig et al., Association between breastfeeding and DNA methylation over the life course: findings from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC). 2019.
- 652. Obermann-Borst, S.A., et al., *Duration of breastfeeding and gender are associated with methylation of the LEPTIN gene in very young children*. Pediatr Res, 2013. **74**(3): p. 344-9.
- 653. Pauwels, S., et al., *The Influence of the Duration of Breastfeeding on the Infant's Metabolic Epigenome*. Nutrients, 2019. **11**(6).

- 654. Odintsova, V.V., et al., DNA Methylation Signatures of Breastfeeding in Buccal Cells Collected in Mid-Childhood. Nutrients, 2019. **11**(11).
- 655. Naumova et al., *A Study of the Association between Breastfeeding and DNA Methylation in Peripheral Blood Cells of Infants.* 2019.
- 656. Moore Simas, T.A., et al., *Institute of medicine 2009 gestational weight gain guideline knowledge: survey of obstetrics/gynecology and family medicine residents of the United States.* Birth, 2013. **40**(4): p. 237-46.
- 657. Barchitta, M., et al., *Dietary Antioxidant Intake and Human Papillomavirus Infection: Evidence from a Cross-Sectional Study in Italy.* Nutrients, 2020. **12**(5).
- 658. Maitre, L., et al., *Human Early Life Exposome (HELIX) study: a European population*based exposome cohort. BMJ Open, 2018. **8**(9): p. e021311.
- 659. Wright, J., et al., *Cohort Profile: the Born in Bradford multi-ethnic family cohort study*. Int J Epidemiol, 2013. **42**(4): p. 978-91.
- 660. Heude, B., et al., Cohort Profile: The EDEN mother-child cohort on the prenatal and early postnatal determinants of child health and development. Int J Epidemiol, 2016. **45**(2): p. 353-63.
- 661. Guxens, M., et al., Cohort Profile: the INMA--INfancia y Medio Ambiente--(Environment and Childhood) Project. Int J Epidemiol, 2012. **41**(4): p. 930-40.
- 662. Grazuleviciene, R., et al., Maternal smoking, GSTM1 and GSTT1 polymorphism and susceptibility to adverse pregnancy outcomes. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2009. 6(3): p. 1282-97.
- 663. Magnus, P., et al., Cohort Profile Update: The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). Int J Epidemiol, 2016. **45**(2): p. 382-8.
- 664. Chatzi, L., et al., *Metabolic syndrome in early pregnancy and risk of preterm birth*. Am J Epidemiol, 2009. **170**(7): p. 829-36.
- 665. Ip, S., et al., *Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries*.
 Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep), 2007(153): p. 1-186.
- 666. Hoddinott, P., D. Tappin, and C. Wright, Breast feeding. BMJ, 2008. 336(7649): p. 881-7.
- 667. Sámano, R., et al., *Effects of breastfeeding on weight loss and recovery of pregestational weight in adolescent and adult mothers.* Food Nutr Bull, 2013. **34**(2): p. 123-30.
- Binns, C., M. Lee, and W.Y. Low, *The Long-Term Public Health Benefits of Breastfeeding*.Asia Pac J Public Health, 2016. 28(1): p. 7-14.

- 669. Yang, S., et al., *Do population-based interventions widen or narrow socioeconomic inequalities? The case of breastfeeding promotion.* Int J Epidemiol, 2014. **43**(4): p. 1284-92.
- 670. Webb, A.L., et al., *Maternal years of schooling but not academic skills is independently associated with infant-feeding practices in a cohort of rural Guatemalan women.* J Hum Lact, 2009. **25**(3): p. 297-306.
- 671. Menon, S.T., Toward a model of psychological health empowerment: implications for health care in multicultural communities. Nurse Educ Today, 2002. 22(1): p. 28-39; discussion 40-3.
- 672. Mangrio, E., K. Persson, and A.C. Bramhagen, Sociodemographic, physical, mental and social factors in the cessation of breastfeeding before 6 months: a systematic review. Scand J Caring Sci, 2018. 32(2): p. 451-465.
- 673. Verret-Chalifour, J., et al., *Breastfeeding initiation: impact of obesity in a large Canadian perinatal cohort study.* PLoS One, 2015. **10**(2): p. e0117512.
- 674. Mäkelä, J., et al., *Maternal overweight impacts infant feeding patterns--the STEPS Study*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2014. **68**(1): p. 43-9.
- 675. Donath, S.M., L.H. Amir, and A.S. Team, *The relationship between maternal smoking and breastfeeding duration after adjustment for maternal infant feeding intention*. Acta Paediatr, 2004. **93**(11): p. 1514-8.
- 676. Vio, F., G. Salazar, and C. Infante, *Smoking during pregnancy and lactation and its effects* on breast-milk volume. Am J Clin Nutr, 1991. **54**(6): p. 1011-6.
- 677. Uddin, M., et al., *NETopathic Inflammation in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and Severe Asthma*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 47.
- 678. Amin, K., *The Role of the T lymphocytes and Remodeling in Asthma*. Inflammation, 2016.39(4): p. 1475-82.
- 679. Oddy, W.H., *Breastfeeding, Childhood Asthma, and Allergic Disease*. Ann Nutr Metab, 2017. **70 Suppl 2**: p. 26-36.
- 680. Arbyn, M., et al., *Estimates of incidence and mortality of cervical cancer in 2018: a worldwide analysis.* Lancet Glob Health, 2020. **8**(2): p. e191-e203.
- 681. Bray, F., et al., Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin, 2018. 68(6): p. 394-424.
- 682. Koshiyama, M., *The Effects of the Dietary and Nutrient Intake on Gynecologic Cancers*. Healthcare (Basel), 2019. 7(3).
- 683. Louie, K.S., et al., Smoking and passive smoking in cervical cancer risk: pooled analysis of couples from the IARC multicentric case-control studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2011. 20(7): p. 1379-90.
- 684. zur Hausen, H., Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. 2(5): p. 342-50.
- 685. Agodi, A., et al., *Human papillomavirus infection: low-risk and high-risk genotypes in women in Catania, Sicily.* Int J Gynecol Cancer, 2009. **19**(6): p. 1094-8.
- 686. Di Domenico, F., et al., *Antioxidants in cervical cancer: chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic effects of polyphenols.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2012. **1822**(5): p. 737-47.
- 687. De Marco, F., et al., Oxidative stress in HPV-driven viral carcinogenesis: redox proteomics analysis of HPV-16 dysplastic and neoplastic tissues. PLoS One, 2012. 7(3): p. e34366.
- 688. Salganik, R.I., *The benefits and hazards of antioxidants: controlling apoptosis and other protective mechanisms in cancer patients and the human population*. J Am Coll Nutr, 2001.
 20(5 Suppl): p. 464S-472S; discussion 473S-475S.
- 689. Chih, H.J., et al., *A review of dietary prevention of human papillomavirus-related infection of the cervix and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia*. Nutr Cancer, 2013. **65**(3): p. 317-28.
- 690. Peterhans, E., Oxidants and antioxidants in viral diseases: disease mechanisms and metabolic regulation. J Nutr, 1997. **127**(5 Suppl): p. 962S-965S.
- 691. De Marco, F., Oxidative stress and HPV carcinogenesis. Viruses, 2013. 5(2): p. 708-31.
- 692. Kerr, J., C. Anderson, and S.M. Lippman, *Physical activity, sedentary behavior, diet, and cancer: an update and emerging new evidence.* Lancet Oncol, 2017. **18**(8): p. e457-e471.
- 693. Asthana, S., V. Busa, and S. Labani, Oral contraceptives use and risk of cervical cancer-A systematic review & meta-analysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2020. 247: p. 163-175.
- 694. Kushi, L.H., et al., *American Cancer Society Guidelines on nutrition and physical activity* for cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. CA Cancer J Clin, 2012. **62**(1): p. 30-67.
- 695. Steck, S.E. and E.A. Murphy, *Dietary patterns and cancer risk*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2020.
 20(2): p. 125-138.
- 696. Guo, L., et al., Associations between antioxidant vitamins and the risk of invasive cervical cancer in Chinese women: A case-control study. Sci Rep, 2015. 5: p. 13607.
- 697. Myung, S.K., et al., Vitamin or antioxidant intake (or serum level) and risk of cervical neoplasm: a meta-analysis. BJOG, 2011. **118**(11): p. 1285-91.

- 698. Basu, J., et al., *Plasma ascorbic acid and beta-carotene levels in women evaluated for HPV infection, smoking, and cervix dysplasia.* Cancer Detect Prev, 1991. **15**(3): p. 165-70.
- 699. Potischman, N., et al., *A case-control study of nutrient status and invasive cervical cancer*. *II. Serologic indicators*. Am J Epidemiol, 1991. **134**(11): p. 1347-55.
- 700. Potischman, N., et al., *The relations between cervical cancer and serological markers of nutritional status*. Nutr Cancer, 1994. **21**(3): p. 193-201.
- 701. Peterson, C.E., et al., *Combined antioxidant carotenoids and the risk of persistent human papillomavirus infection*. Nutr Cancer, 2010. **62**(6): p. 728-33.
- 702. Goodman, M.T., et al., Hawaii cohort study of serum micronutrient concentrations and clearance of incident oncogenic human papillomavirus infection of the cervix. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(12): p. 5987-96.
- 703. Siegel, E.M., et al., Associations between serum carotenoids and tocopherols and type-specific HPV persistence: the Ludwig-McGill cohort study. Int J Cancer, 2007. 120(3): p. 672-80.
- 704. Giuliano, A.R., et al., *Antioxidant nutrients: associations with persistent human papillomavirus infection*. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 1997. **6**(11): p. 917-23.
- 705. Sreeja, S.R., et al., Dietary Inflammatory Index and Its Relationship with Cervical Carcinogenesis Risk in Korean Women: A Case-Control Study. Cancers (Basel), 2019.
 11(8).
- 706. Willett, W., Nutritional Epidemiology, ed. O.U. Press. 2012.
- 707. Wright, M.E., et al., Development of a comprehensive dietary antioxidant index and application to lung cancer risk in a cohort of male smokers. Am J Epidemiol, 2004. 160(1): p. 68-76.
- 708. Shivappa, N., et al., *Designing and developing a literature-derived, population-based dietary inflammatory index.* Public Health Nutr, 2014. **17**(8): p. 1689-96.
- 709. Si, C.J., et al., *Dietary patterns and endometrial cancer: a meta-analysis*. Eur J Cancer Prev, 2017. 26(4): p. 336-345.
- 710. Brennan, S.F., et al., *Dietary patterns and breast cancer risk: a systematic review and metaanalysis.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2010. **91**(5): p. 1294-302.
- 711. Haase, H. and L. Rink, *The immune system and the impact of zinc during aging*. Immun Ageing, 2009. **6**: p. 9.

- 712. Bao, B., et al., Zinc decreases C-reactive protein, lipid peroxidation, and inflammatory cytokines in elderly subjects: a potential implication of zinc as an atheroprotective agent. Am J Clin Nutr, 2010. 91(6): p. 1634-41.
- 713. Prasad, A.S., *Clinical, immunological, anti-inflammatory and antioxidant roles of zinc*. Exp Gerontol, 2008. **43**(5): p. 370-7.
- 714. Maywald, M., I. Wessels, and L. Rink, *Zinc Signals and Immunity*. Int J Mol Sci, 2017.
 18(10).
- 715. Rink, L. and H. Haase, *Zinc homeostasis and immunity*. Trends Immunol, 2007. 28(1): p. 1-4.
- 716. Shivappa, N., et al., Association between dietary inflammatory index and inflammatory markers in the HELENA study. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2017. **61**(6).
- 717. Maugeri, A., et al., *Resveratrol modulates SIRT1 and DNMT functions and restores LINE-1 methylation levels in ARPE-19 cells under oxidative stress and inflammation*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2018.
- 718. Piyathilake, C.J., et al., *A dietary pattern associated with LINE-1 methylation alters the risk of developing cervical intraepithelial neoplasia.* Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 2012. **5**(3): p. 385-92.
- 719. Piyathilake, C.J., et al., *Folate is associated with the natural history of high-risk human papillomaviruses.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(23): p. 8788-93.
- 720. Agodi, A., et al., *DAPK1 Promoter Methylation and Cervical Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and a Meta-Analysis.* PLoS One, 2015. **10**(8): p. e0135078.
- 721. World Health Organization (WHO). 2018, *Cancer*. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer</u>.
- 722. Ahn, S.H., et al., *Health-related quality of life in disease-free survivors of breast cancer with the general population*. Ann Oncol, 2007. **18**(1): p. 173-82.
- Vallance, J.K., et al., *Randomized controlled trial of the effects of print materials and step pedometers on physical activity and quality of life in breast cancer survivors*. J Clin Oncol, 2007. 25(17): p. 2352-9.
- 724. Demark-Wahnefried, W. and C.L. Rock, *Nutrition-related issues for the breast cancer survivor*. Semin Oncol, 2003. **30**(6): p. 789-98.
- 725. Alfano, C.M., et al., *Exercise and dietary change after diagnosis and cancer-related symptoms in long-term survivors of breast cancer: CALGB 79804*. Psychooncology, 2009.
 18(2): p. 128-33.

- 726. Lee, Y., et al., Aspects of Health-Related Factors and Nutritional Care Needs by Survival Stage among Female Cancer Patients in South Korea. PLoS One, 2016. 11(10): p. e0163281.
- 727. Miller, A.M., et al., *Contextual factors influencing health-related quality of life in African American and Latina breast cancer survivors.* J Cancer Surviv, 2015. **9**(3): p. 441-9.
- 728. Orchard, T.S., et al., Diet Quality, Inflammation, and Quality of Life in Breast Cancer Survivors: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of Pilot Study Data. J Acad Nutr Diet, 2018. 118(4): p. 578-588.e1.
- 729. Tangney, C.C., et al., Self-reported dietary habits, overall dietary quality and symptomatology of breast cancer survivors: a cross-sectional examination. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2002. **71**(2): p. 113-23.
- 730. Wayne, S.J., et al., *Diet quality is directly associated with quality of life in breast cancer survivors*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2006. **96**(3): p. 227-32.
- 731. Mohammadi, S., et al., *Impact of healthy eating practices and physical activity on quality of life among breast cancer survivors*. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 2013. **14**(1): p. 481-7.
- 732. Kim, N.H., et al., *Dietary pattern and health-related quality of life among breast cancer survivors*. BMC Womens Health, 2018. **18**(1): p. 65.
- 733. Lawler, S., et al., *Get Healthy after Breast Cancer examining the feasibility, acceptability and outcomes of referring breast cancer survivors to a general population telephonedelivered program targeting physical activity, healthy diet and weight loss.* Support Care Cancer, 2017. **25**(6): p. 1953-1962.
- 734. Song, S., et al., Adherence to Guidelines for Cancer Survivors and Health-Related Quality of Life among Korean Breast Cancer Survivors. Nutrients, 2015. 7(12): p. 10307-19.
- 735. Boehmer, U., A. Ozonoff, and J. Potter, *Sexual Minority Women's Health Behaviors and Outcomes After Breast Cancer*. LGBT Health, 2015. **2**(3): p. 221-7.
- 736. Mosher, C.E., et al., Associations between lifestyle factors and quality of life among older long-term breast, prostate, and colorectal cancer survivors. Cancer, 2009. 115(17): p. 4001-9.
- 737. Shin, W.K., et al., *The association between physical activity and health-related quality of life among breast cancer survivors*. Health Qual Life Outcomes, 2017. **15**(1): p. 132.
- Gong, X.H., et al., *Physical exercise, vegetable and fruit intake and health-related quality of life in Chinese breast cancer survivors: a cross-sectional study.* Qual Life Res, 2017. 26(6): p. 1541-1550.

- 739. Leensen, M.C.J., et al., *Return to work of cancer patients after a multidisciplinary intervention including occupational counselling and physical exercise in cancer patients: a prospective study in the Netherlands.* BMJ Open, 2017. 7(6): p. e014746.
- 740. Bellizzi, K.M., et al., *Health behaviors of cancer survivors: examining opportunities for cancer control intervention.* J Clin Oncol, 2005. **23**(34): p. 8884-93.
- 741. Coups, E.J. and J.S. Ostroff, A population-based estimate of the prevalence of behavioral risk factors among adult cancer survivors and noncancer controls. Prev Med, 2005. 40(6): p. 702-11.
- 742. Eakin, E.G., et al., *Health behaviors of cancer survivors: data from an Australian population-based survey.* Cancer Causes Control, 2007. **18**(8): p. 881-94.
- 743. Eckel, R.H., et al., 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2014. 63(25 Pt B): p. 2960-84.
- 744. Zazpe, I., et al., *A large randomized individual and group intervention conducted by registered dietitians increased adherence to Mediterranean-type diets: the PREDIMED study.* J Am Diet Assoc, 2008. **108**(7): p. 1134-44; discussion 1145.
- 745. Martínez-González, M., et al., Cohort profile: design and methods of the PREDIMED study. Int J Epidemiol, 2012. 41(2): p. 377-85.
- 746. Bulló, M., et al., Association between a healthy lifestyle and general obesity and abdominal obesity in an elderly population at high cardiovascular risk. Prev Med, 2011. 53(3): p. 155-61.
- 747. Estruch, R., et al., *Effects of a Mediterranean-style diet on cardiovascular risk factors: a randomized trial.* Ann Intern Med, 2006. **145**(1): p. 1-11.
- Martínez-González, M.A., et al., *Mediterranean diet and reduction in the risk of a first acute myocardial infarction: an operational healthy dietary score*. Eur J Nutr, 2002. 41(4): p. 153-60.
- 749. Aaronson, N.K., et al., The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1993. 85(5): p. 365-76.
- 750. Yun, Y.H., et al., Cross-cultural application of the Korean version of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Breast-Cancer-Specific

Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-BR23). Support Care Cancer, 2004. **12**(6): p. 441-5.

- 751. Yun, Y.H., et al., *Validation of the Korean version of the EORTC QLQ-C30*. Qual Life Res, 2004. 13(4): p. 863-8.
- 752. Moher, D., et al., *Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement.* Int J Surg, 2010. **8**(5): p. 336-41.
- 753. Scott, N.W., et al., *Comparing translations of the EORTC QLQ-C30 using differential item functioning analyses.* Qual Life Res, 2006. **15**(6): p. 1103-15; discussion 1117-20.
- 754. Bauersfeld, S.P., et al., *The effects of short-term fasting on quality of life and tolerance to chemotherapy in patients with breast and ovarian cancer: a randomized cross-over pilot study.* BMC Cancer, 2018. **18**(1): p. 476.
- 755. Kim, S.H., et al., *Randomized pilot test of a simultaneous stage-matched exercise and diet intervention for breast cancer survivors.* Oncol Nurs Forum, 2011. **38**(2): p. E97-106.
- Morey, M.C., et al., Effects of home-based diet and exercise on functional outcomes among older, overweight long-term cancer survivors: RENEW: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 2009. 301(18): p. 1883-91.
- 757. Kwiatkowski, F., et al., Long-term improvement of breast cancer survivors' quality of life by a 2-week group physical and educational intervention: 5-year update of the 'PACThe' trial. Br J Cancer, 2017. 116(11): p. 1389-1393.
- 758. Travier, N., et al., Effect of a diet and physical activity intervention on body weight and nutritional patterns in overweight and obese breast cancer survivors. Med Oncol, 2014.
 31(1): p. 783.
- 759. Travier, N., et al., *Is Quality of Life Related to Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Overweight and Obese Breast Cancer Survivors?* Women Health, 2015. **55**(5): p. 505-24.
- 760. Befort, C.A., et al., *Outcomes of a weight loss intervention among rural breast cancer survivors*. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2012. **132**(2): p. 631-9.
- 761. Demark-Wahnefried, W., et al., *Quality of life outcomes from the Exercise and Nutrition* Enhance Recovery and Good Health for You (ENERGY)-randomized weight loss trial among breast cancer survivors. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2015. **154**(2): p. 329-37.
- 762. Swisher, A.K., et al., *Exercise and dietary advice intervention for survivors of triplenegative breast cancer: effects on body fat, physical function, quality of life, and adipokine profile.* Support Care Cancer, 2015. **23**(10): p. 2995-3003.

- 763. Haleh, G. and A. Neriman, *Effects of a Lifestyle Interventions Program on Quality of Life in Breast Cancer Survivors*. International Journal of Hematology and Oncology, 2017.
- 764. Lua, P.L., N.Z. Salihah, and N. Mazlan, *Nutritional status and health-related quality of life of breast cancer patients on chemotherapy*. Malays J Nutr, 2012. **18**(2): p. 173-84.
- 765. Zhu, G., et al., *Effects of exercise intervention in breast cancer survivors: a meta-analysis of* 33 randomized controlled trails. Onco Targets Ther, 2016. **9**: p. 2153-68.
- 766. King, T.K., et al., *Cognitive-behavioral mediators of changing multiple behaviors: smoking and a sedentary lifestyle.* Prev Med, 1996. **25**(6): p. 684-91.
- 767. Marcus, B.H., et al., *Exercise enhances the maintenance of smoking cessation in women*.Addict Behav, 1995. 20(1): p. 87-92.
- 768. Marcus, B.H., et al., *The efficacy of exercise as an aid for smoking cessation in women: a randomized controlled trial.* Arch Intern Med, 1999. **159**(11): p. 1229-34.
- 769. Tamura, T. and M.F. Picciano, *Folate and human reproduction*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2006.
 83(5): p. 993-1016.
- 770. Baker, B.C., et al., *Placental dysfunction is associated with altered microRNA expression in pregnant women with low folate status.* Mol Nutr Food Res, 2017. **61**(8).
- 771. Bergen, N.E., et al., *Homocysteine and folate concentrations in early pregnancy and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes: the Generation R Study.* BJOG, 2012. **119**(6): p. 739-51.
- 772. Chen, S., et al., *The prevalence and risk factors of preterm small-for-gestational-age infants: a population-based retrospective cohort study in rural Chinese population.* BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2017. **17**(1): p. 237.
- 773. Dwarkanath, P., et al., *High folate and low vitamin B-12 intakes during pregnancy are associated with small-for-gestational age infants in South Indian women: a prospective observational cohort study.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2013. **98**(6): p. 1450-8.
- 774. Furness, D.L., et al., *Maternal red blood cell folate concentration at 10-12 weeks gestation and pregnancy outcome*. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med, 2012. **25**(8): p. 1423-7.
- 775. Goldenberg, R.L., et al., Serum folate and fetal growth retardation: a matter of compliance? Obstet Gynecol, 1992. 79(5 (Pt 1)): p. 719-22.
- 776. Kim, M.W., et al., *Preventive effects of folic acid supplementation on adverse maternal and fetal outcomes.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(5): p. e97273.
- 777. Ronnenberg, A.G., et al., *Preconception homocysteine and B vitamin status and birth outcomes in Chinese women.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2002. **76**(6): p. 1385-91.

- Yan, S.Q., et al., [Relationship between folic acid supplements during peri-conceptional period and the adverse pregnancy outcomes: a cohort study]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi, 2013. 34(1): p. 1-4.
- 779. Zheng, J., et al., *Inflammatory potential of diet and risk of pancreatic cancer in the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO) Cancer Screening Trial.* Int J Cancer, 2018. 142(12): p. 2461-2470.
- 780. Shivappa, N., et al., *Dietary Inflammatory Index and Risk of Bladder Cancer in a Large Italian Case-control Study*. Urology, 2017. **100**: p. 84-89.
- 781. Fowler, M.E. and T.F. Akinyemiju, *Meta-analysis of the association between dietary inflammatory index (DII) and cancer outcomes.* Int J Cancer, 2017. **141**(11): p. 2215-2227.
- 782. Bines, J. and W.J. Gradishar, Primary care issues for the breast cancer survivor. Compr Ther, 1997. 23(9): p. 605-11.
- 783. Brown, B.W., C. Brauner, and M.C. Minnotte, Noncancer deaths in white adult cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1993. 85(12): p. 979-87.
- 784. Talamini, R., et al., Selected medical conditions and risk of breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 1997. 75(11): p. 1699-703.
- 785. Andersen, B.L., *Biobehavioral outcomes following psychological interventions for cancer patients*. J Consult Clin Psychol, 2002. **70**(3): p. 590-610.
- 786. Shephard, R.J., *Exercise in the prevention and treatment of cancer. An update.* Sports Med, 1993. 15(4): p. 258-80.
- 787. Esteller, M., *Epigenetics in cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2008. **358**(11): p. 1148-59.